

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture Volume 6 | Issue 2









BLACK SEA JOURNAL OF AGRICULTURE (BSJ AGRI)



Black Sea Journal of Agriculture (BSJ Agri) is a double-blind peer-reviewed, open-access international journal published electronically 6 times (January, March, May, July, September, and November) in a year since January 2018. It publishes, in English, full-length original research articles, innovative papers, conference papers, reviews, mini-reviews, rapid communications or technical note on various aspects of agricultural science like agricultural economics, agricultural engineering, animal science, agronomy, including plant science, theoretical production ecology, horticulture, plant breeding, plant fertilization, plant protect and soil science, aquaculture, biological engineering, including genetic engineering and microbiology, environmental impacts of agriculture and forestry, food science, husbandry, irrigation and water management, land use, waste management etc.

ISSN: 2618 - 6578 Phone: +90 362 408 25 15 Fax: +90 362 408 25 15 Email: bsjagri@blackseapublishers.com Web site: http://dergipark.gov.tr/bsagriculture Sort of publication: Periodically 6 times (January, March, May, July, September, and November) in a year Publication date and place: March 01, 2023- Samsun, TÜRKİYE Publishing kind: Electronically

PUBLISHER - OWNER

Prof. Dr. Hasan ÖNDER

DIRECTOR IN CHARGE

Assoc. Prof. Uğur ŞEN

EDITOR BOARDS

EDITOR IN CHIEF

Prof. Dr. Hasan ÖNDER, Ondokuz Mayis University, TÜRKİYE Assoc. Prof. Uğur ŞEN, Ondokuz Mayis University, TÜRKİYE

SECTION EDITORS*

Prof. Dr. Berna KILIÇ, Ege University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Kürşat KORKMAZ, Ordu University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Mahmut KESKİN, Hatay Mustafa Kemal University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Mehmet KURAN, Ondokuz Mayis University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Muharrem ÖZCAN, Ondokuz Mayis University, TÜRKİYE Assoc. Prof. Dr. Hasan Gökhan DOĞAN, Kirsehir Ahi Evran University, TÜRKİYE Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kadir Ersin TEMİZEL, Ondokuz Mayis University, TÜRKİYE Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kadir Ersin TEMİZEL, Ondokuz Mayis University, TÜRKİYE Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kadyrbay CHEKİROV, Kyrgyz Turkish Manas University, KYRGYZSTAN Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kemal Çağatay SELVİ, Ondokuz Mayis University, TÜRKİYE Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ömer SÖZEN, Kirsehir Ahi Evran University, TÜRKİYE Assoc. Prof. Dr. Şerife Evrim ARICI, Süleyman Demirel University, TÜRKİYE

 $\ensuremath{^*}$ The ranking is arranged alphabetically within the academic title

EDITORIAL - ADVISORY BOARD*

Prof. Dr. Ahmet BALKAYA, Ondokuz Mayis University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Alireza TERINEJAD, Azarbaijan Shahid Madani University, IRAN Prof. Dr. Ercan EFE, Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Gheorghe VOICU, Politehnica University of Bucharest, ROMANIA Prof. Dr. Savaş ATASEVER, Ondokuz Mayis University, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Sherein Saeid ABDELGAYED, Cairo University, EGYPT Prof. Dr. Habil Sorin STEFAN BIRIS, Politehnica University of Bucharest, ROMANIA Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mustafa BOĞA, Nigde Ömer Halisdemir University, TÜRKİYE Dr. Jiban SHRESTHA, Nepal Agricultural Research Council, NEPAL Dr. Mikó JÓZSEFNÉ JÓNÁS, University of Szeged, HUNGARY Dr. Valentin VLADUT, National Research and Development Institute, ROMANIA

 $\ensuremath{^*}$ The ranking is arranged alphabetically within the academic title

STATISTIC EDITOR

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Taner TUNÇ, Ondokuz Mayis University, TÜRKİYE

ENGLISH EDITOR

Prof. Dr. Muhammad KHALID, University of London, UNITED KINGDOM

REVIEWERS OF THE ISSUE*

Prof. Dr. Cengiz MUTLU, Giresun University, Department of Hydrobiology, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Dariusz PIWCZYŃSKI, Bydgoszcz University of Science and Technology, Department of Animal Science, POLAND

Prof. Dr. Güray ERENER, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Department of Animal Science, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Hanife MUT, Bilecik Şeyh Edebali University, Department of Field Crops, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Mehmet Serhat ODABAŞ, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Department of Field Crops, TÜRKİYE

Prof. Dr. Mustafa Numan BUCAK, Selçuk University, Department of Veterinary, TÜRKİYE Prof. Dr. Osman OLGUN, Selçuk University, Department of Animal Science, TÜRKİYE Assoc. Prof. Dr. Aykut GRAM, Erciyes University, Department of Veterinary, TÜRKİYE

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Barış BAYRAKLI, Sinop University, Department of Processing Technology, TÜRKİYE

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Canan KOP BOZBAY, Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Department of Animal Science, TÜRKİYE

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Deren TAHMAS KAHYAOĞLU, Kastamonu University, Department of Food Sciences and Engineering, TÜRKİYE

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Emre SİRİN, Kirşehir Ahi Evran University, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, TÜRKİYE

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ercüment AKSAKAL, Akdeniz University, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, TÜRKİYE

Assoc. Prof. Dr. İbrahim DEMİRKALE, Çukurova University, Department of Aquaculture, TÜRKİYE

Assoc. Prof. Dr. İsa COŞKUN, Kirşehir Ahi Evran University, Department of Animal Science, TÜRKİYE

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mesut YILMAZ, Akdeniz University, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, TÜRKİYE

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Murat ŞENTÜRK, Ağrı İbrahim Çeçen University, Department of Organic Chemistry, TÜRKİYE

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Selçuk ÖZYÜREK, Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University, Department of Animal Science, TÜRKİYE

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Tayfun ARSLAN, Girsun University, Department of Organic Chemistry, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. Abdurrahim YILMAZ, Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. Bayram YURT, Bingöl University, Department of Food Sciences and Engineering, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. Ekrem ÖGÜR, Selçuk University, Department of Plant Protection, TÜRKİYE Asist. Prof. Dr. Emrah GÜLER, Abant İzzet Baysal University, Department of Horticulture, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. Esra KAPLAN, Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, Department of Agricultural Economics, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. Hüseyin UYSAL, Akdeniz University, Department of Field Crops, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. İbrahim ÇELİK, Pamukkale University, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. İsmail Oğuz ÖZDEMİR, Sakarya Applied Science University, Department of Plant Protection, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. Koray KIRIKÇI, Kirşehir Ahi Evran University, Department of Animal Science, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. Mehmet Macit ERTUŞ, Hakkari University, Department of Field Crops, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. Necati Emre GÜR, Mugla Sitki Kocman University, Department of Veterinary, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. Orhan ERMETİN, Yozgat Bozok University, Department of Animal Science, TÜRKİYE

Asist. Prof. Dr. Tanju MUTLU, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan University, Department of Aquaculture, TÜRKİYE

Dr. Damla ÇİL, Hazelnut Research Institute, Department of Horticulture, TÜRKİYE

Dr. Ebru ERGÜNEŞ BERKİN, İslahiye District Directorate of Agriculture and Forestry, Department of Animal Science, TÜRKİYE

Dr. Mehmet YAMAN, Erciyes University, Department of Horticulture, TÜRKİYE

Dr. Muhammet KAPTAN, Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Department of Animal Science, TÜRKİYE

Dr. Semih SEVİM, Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Department of Animal Science, TÜRKİYE

* The ranking is arranged alphabetically within the academic title

Volume 6, Issue 2 (2023)

Table of Contents

Research Articles

1. THE EFFECT OF BIODEGRADATION ON SWEET ORANGE PEEL AND ITS FEED VALUE IN **STARTER BROILER CHICK'S DIET** Esther Taiwo AFOLABI, Oluwabiyi OLUREMI, Kenan Collins ORAYAGA......108-112 THE EFFECT OF DIFFERENT PLANT GROWTH HORMONES AND CONCENTRATIONS 2. ON THE REPRODUCTION OF ROSMARINUS OFFICINALIS L. WITH SEEDLING PRODUCTION Meryem YEŞİL, Emel KARACA ÖNER......113-116 3. **GENETIC VARIABILITY OF SMALL HORSE POPULATIONS FROM GREEK ISLANDS** Myrina EMILIO KATSOULAKOU, Dimitris PAPACHRISTOU, Nikolaos KOSTARAS, George P. Iosif BIZELIS, Ernest Gus COTHRAN, Rvtis JURAS. LALIOTIS. Panaaiota THE EFFECT OF SALT STRESS ON THE GERMINATION AND SEEDLING GROWTH 4. PARAMETERS IN BIRDSFOOT TREFOIL (Lotus Corniculatus L.) THE EFFECT OF REGION ON NUT AND BIOCHEMICAL TRAITS OF MINCANE 5. HAZELNUT CULTIVAR 6. PARTIAL PURIFICATION OF CATALASE ENZYME FROM MUSCLE TISSUE OF DUSKY **SPINEFOOT** (Siganus Luridus) Büşra ÇEVİK, Sibel BAHADIR, Deniz EKİNCİ......140-142 INTESTINAL FATTY ACID BINDING PROTEIN GENE VARIATION IN EUROPEAN SEA 7. BASS (Dicentrarchus Labrax) Emel ÖZCAN GÖKÇEK, Raziye IŞIK......143-147 8. E-FOOD TRADE EFFECTS ON PURCHASING APPROACH REGARDING CUSTOMER **BEHAVIOR** Rıza EROL, Mecit Ömer AZABAĞAOĞLU......148-156 GROWTH PERFORMANCE AND SOME SERUM, BONE AND FECAL PARAMETERS OF 9. **BROILERS FED WITH DIFFERENT LEVELS OF CALCIUM AND PHOSPHORUS** Ahmet AKDAĞ, Zekeriya KIYMA......157-163 DETERMINATION OF TOLERANCE AND SENSITIVITY OF SAFFLOWER GENOTYPES 10. BASED ON GERMINATION INDICES AND COMPARISON OF BIOCHEMICAL CONTENTS **UNDER SALT STRESS** Sercan ÖNDER, Nagihan YAVUZ, Muhammet TONGUÇ......164-173 SOCIO-ECONOMIC VIEW OF FISHERIES PROCESSING SECTOR EMPLOYEES: BLACK 11. SEA REGION-TÜRKİYE Muhammed Ali ALTUN, Emre ÇAĞLAK......174-182

12. ECONOMIC DAMAGE LEVELS OF THE GREEN SHIELD BUG (Palomena Prasina,
Hemiptera: Pentatomidae) IN TÜRKİYE HAZELNUT ORCHARDS
İslam SARUHAN, Mehmet Kürşat TUNÇER, Celal TUNÇER
13. SOME PATHOGENIC BACTERIA ISOLATED AND IDENTIFIED FROM TRADITIONALLY
PRODUCED TURKISH WHITE CHEESE
Emine MACİT190-196
14. DISTRIBUTION OF BIRTHS OF BAFRA SHEEP REARED IN THE MEDITERRANEAN
REGION DURING THE DAY
Özcan ŞAHİN197-203
15. SOME BIOLOGICAL FEATURES OF TENCH (<i>Tinca tinca</i> , L., 1758) INHABITING SIDDIKLI
DAM
Okan YAZICIOĞLU, Ramazan YAZICI204-209

Review Articles

16. AN OVERVIEW OF ADDING RHO-ASSOCIATED COILED-COIL KINASE AND KNOCKOUT SERUM REPLACEMENT WITH TREHALOSE TO A LOW GLYCEROL TRIS-BASED SEMEN EXTENDER

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1193499



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578

Research Article

Volume 6 - Issue 2: 108-112 / March 2023

THE EFFECT OF BIODEGRADATION ON SWEET ORANGE PEEL AND ITS FEED VALUE IN STARTER BROILER CHICK'S DIET

Esther Taiwo AFOLABI^{1,3*}, Oluwabiyi OLUREMI², Kenan Collins ORAYAGA³

¹Georg-August University, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Integrated Plant and Animal Breeding, 37073, Gottingen, Germany

²National University of Lesotho, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Animal Science, 180, Roma, Lesotho

³Federal University of Agriculture, Faculty of Animal Science, Department of Animal Nutrition, 2373, Makurdi, Nigeria

Abstract: A twenty-eight-day feeding trial was conducted to evaluate maize replacement value of rumen filtrate biodegraded sweet orange peel (SOP) in the starter broiler chick's diet. Sweet orange fruit peels were collected from retailers of peeled sweet orange fruits. Fresh rumen content was collected from a government abattoir, mixed with water at the ratio of 1 kg: 1 liter, and the mixture sieved to obtain rumen filtrate (RF). Rumen filtrate was mixed with sweet orange peels at the ratio of 1 liter: 2.5 kg, poured into polythene bags, tied at the open end, and allowed a 48-hour for biodegradation. The fermented sweet orange peels were sun-dried to about 10% moisture, milled and incorporated into each of five broiler starter diets as a replacement for maize at levels of 0%, 5%, 10%, 15%, and 20% to give diets T1, T2, T3, T4, and T5, respectively. Biodegraded SOP contained 8.80% crude protein, 13.25% crude fibre, 8.65% ether extract, 9.90% ash, and 59.40% NFE, and metabolizable energy of 3720.67 Kcal/kg. The experimental diets had significant effect (P<0.05) on daily feed intake, final body weight and body weight gain. There was no significant difference (P>0.05) among other performance indices measured across the dietary treatments. Dietary incorporation of SOP meal as a replacement for maize did not support the growth of starter broiler chicks, and further studies are necessary to investigate other processing methods that can further reduce its fibre content, to enhance its feed value as a replacement for maize in the diets of broiler chicks.

Keywords: Sweet orange peel, Biodegradation, Feed value, Growth response, Chicks

*Corresponding author: Georg-August University, Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Integrated Plant and Animal Breeding, 37073, Gottingen, Germany E mail: estherafolabi48@gmail.com (E. T. AFOLABI) Esther Taiwo AFOLABI https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2842-0408 Ð Received: October 26, 2022 Oluwabivi OLUREMI Ð https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5440-4807 Accepted: January 04, 2023 Published: March 01, 2023 Kenan Collins ORAYAGA Ð https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8325-0942 Cite as: Afolabi ET, Oluremi O, Orayaga KC. 2023. The effect of biodegradation on sweet orange peel and its feed value in starter broiler chick's diet. BSJ Agri, 6(2): 108-112.

1. Introduction

The poultry industry offers a quick solution for providing the thronging population with the necessary animal protein. Broiler birds are probably the most universal and important of all poultry as producers of meat for human consumption. Animal protein shortage in the diet of the average Nigerian is shown in the consumption of 3.24g per caput which is far below the 35g daily requirement recommended by FAO (Hon et al., 2009). Energy is key to metabolism and if it is limited, dietary protein will be used inefficiently as another source of energy instead of being converted into body protein, hence, adequate energy must be supplied by the diet to make efficient use of dietary protein. Some agroindustrial by-products like composite mango fruits reject (Orayaga, 2016), palm oil sludge (Famurewa and Olarewaju, 2013), citrus by-products like sweet orange peel meal (Oluremi et al., 2018) have been used in nonruminant animal's diets to partly replace cereals. Sweet orange (Citrus sinensis) fruit peel is an agricultural produce waste in Nigeria and with no cost attached to it, and it is high in energy (Oluremi et al., 2010). Rumen content is another important agricultural by-product, in the abattoir industry in Nigeria (Ahemen and Zahradden, 2010) and can be converted into beneficial use by taking advantage of its microbial population rather than its present status as agricultural waste (Oluremi et al., 2010). Its utilisation by taking advantage of its microbial content for the processing of sweet orange fruit (*Citrus sinensis*) peel can result in value addition to the peel to increase its suitability as a dietary energy source for livestock production. This study aimed to determine the effect of partial replacement of dietary maize with graded levels of bovine rumen filtrate-treated sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) fruit peel meal on the performance response of starter broiler chicks.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study Area

The study was carried out at the Poultry Unit of the Livestock Teaching and Research Farm of the College of Animal Science, Federal University of Agriculture Makurdi, Benue State, Nigeria. Makurdi is situated in the north-central zone of Nigeria with a latitude of 7°.43′N and a longitude of 8°.53′N (Microsoft Encarta 2008).

2.2. Test Ingredients Collection and Preparation

Sweet orange fruit peels were collected from some sweet orange retail sellers around the Makurdi metropolis. Fresh rumen content was collected from cattle immediately after slaughter at the government-owned Wurukum Abattoir. Rumen content was mixed with water at a ratio of 1 kg: 1 liter, and thereafter sieved to obtain rumen filtrate (RF). The rumen filtrate was mixed with sweet orange peels at the ratio of 1 liter: 2.5 kg, and the mixture put in polythene bags, tied at the open end, allowed a 48-hour biodegradation, and sun-dried to below 10% moisture for safe storage before final use in diet preparation. The sun-dried sweet orange peel material was milled, analyzed for proximate constituent using the standard methods (AOAC, 2015), and used in formulating starter diets replacing maize at levels of 0%, 5%, 10%, 15%, and 20% to give diets T₁, T₂, T₃, T₄, and T₅, respectively as shown in Table 1.

2.3. Experimental Animal, Design and Procedure

A hundred and fifty (150) day-old, unsexed broiler chicks were used for this experiment. The birds were weighed and grouped into five (5) equal numbers and similar live weights. Each group was randomly assigned to one of the five (5) dietary treatments T_1 , T_2 , T_3 , T_4 , and T_5 . There were 3 replicates per treatment with 10 birds per replicate. Each treatment replicate was randomly allotted to the experimental pens. The experiment was a completely randomized design. The birds were raised in a deep litter of wood shavings. Feed and drinking water were provided ad libitum, and standard routine management practices (feeding, watering, and washing of drinkers, cleaning of feeders, and pen passages) were followed. The birds were vaccinated against Newcastle disease (i/o) at day old, infectious bursal disease at day 14, Newcastle disease (Lasota) at day 21, and infectious bursal disease at day 28 as recommended by the manufacturer, National Veterinary Research Institute, Vom - Jos, Nigeria. An anti-stress supplement which contains vitamins A, B1, B12, C, D3, E, Biotin and Niacin, was administered prior to and after each vaccination, and pre-and post-weekly weighing of the birds, to maintain the optimum level of vitamins, reduce mortality due to stress, improve vaccination titre, enhance immune response and improve growth. Coccidiostat was administered at alternate weeks to stem the occurrence of coccidiosis which is endemic in the study environment, and antibiotics was given if and when necessary as prophylactics. Data collected was used for the evaluation of growth performance.

Table 1. Ingredients composition of experimental diets for starter broiler chicks

		Exp	perimental Diets		
Ingredients (kg/100kg)	T1	T2	Т3	T4	T5
Maize	49.22	46.76	44.30	41.84	39.38
SOP	-	2.46	4.92	7.38	9.84
Soybean meal	37.08	37.08	37.08	37.08	37.08
Maize offal	4.30	4.30	4.30	4.30	4.30
Brewers dried grain	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00
Bone ash	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00
Fish meal	0.70	0.70	0.70	0.70	0.70
Limestone	1.20	1.20	1.20	1.20	1.20
Palm oil	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50
Broiler Premix*	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
Common salt	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25
Lysine	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20
Methionine	0.30	0.30	0.30	0.30	0.30
Total	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00
Calculated analysis					
ME (Kcal/kg)	2855.66	2841.44	2827.23	2813.01	2800.78
Crude protein (%)	22.73	22.70	22.66	22.63	22.60
Ether extract (%)	4.21	4.18	4.14	4.11	4.08
Crude fibre (%)	4.73	4.94	5.16	5.36	5.56
Calcium (%)	1.60	1.60	1.60	1.60	1.60
Avail. P (%)	0.72	0.72	0.71	0.70	0.69
Lysine (%)	1.10	1.09	1.09	1.08	1.07
Methionine (%)	0.37	0.37	0.36	0.36	0.35
Cost/Kg diet (\$)	0.38	0.37	0.36	0.35	0.34

SOP= sweet orange peel meal, BDG=body weight gain, T1= 0% maize replacement with SOP (Control diet), T2= 5% maize replacement with SOP, T3= 10% maize replacement with SOP, T4= 15% maize replacement with SOP, T5= 20% maize replacement with SOP.

2.4. Statistical Analysis

Data collected were subjected to a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using SPSS (2012), and the means of significantly different (P<0.05) parameters were separated using Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) of the same package (Genç and Soysal, 2018).

3. Results

The chemical composition of the biodegraded sweet orange peel meal is presented in Table 2. The SOP contained dry matter (DM) content of 92.5%, 8.80% crude protein (CP), 13.25% crude fibre (CF), 8.65% ether extract (EE), 9.90% ash and 59.40% nitrogen-free extract (NFE). The effect of the experimental diet on the performance response of broiler chicks is shown in Table 3. The initial live weight of the chicks varied from 46.59g to 47.74g with no significant (P>0.05) difference among the treatments. However, there were significant differences (P<0.05) among treatments in the final body weight, average body weight gain and daily feed intake of the birds fed graded levels of biodegraded sweet orange peel meal. The experimental diets did not have a significant effect (P>0.05) on feed conversion ratio, protein intake and protein efficiency ratio and mortality among the treatment groups. The chicks in T1 (control) had the highest feed intake of 36.19g which was significantly different (P<0.05) from chicks in T5 while the chicks in T5 recorded the lowest feed intake of 28.22g. The broiler chicks in T1 performed significantly (P<0.05) better in final body weight than other treatments while, its daily body weight gain was only significantly (P<0.05) better than chicks on diet T4 and T5 containing 15 % and 20 % of biodegraded sweet orange peel meal in their diets respectively.

Table 2. Proximate composition of biodegraded sweet orange peel meal (% DM)

Nutrients (% DM)	Sweet orange peel meal ¹	Maize ²
Dry matter	92.50	86.50
Crude protein	8.80	9.00
Crude fibre	13.25	1.30
Ether extract	8.65	4.00
Ash	9.90	2.70
Nitrogen free extract	59.40	83.00
³ Metabolizable energy (Kcal/kg)	3720.67	3432.00

¹Laboratory Analysis, ²Aduku (2005), ³Metabolizable energy as determined using Carpenter and Clegg (1956).

Table 3. Effect of biodegraded sweet orange peel meal on the growth response of starter broiler chick (day old – 28 dayold)

	Experimental Diets									
Parameters	T1	T2	Т3	T4	T5	SEM				
Initial body weight (g/bird)	47.02	47.74	47.29	46.59	46.88	0.42 ^{ns}				
Final body weight (g/bird)	525.37ª	468.48 ^b	466.17 ^{bc}	427.77 ^c	406.10 ^c	14.19*				
BWD (g/day/bird)	17.08ª	15.03 ^{ab}	14.96 ^{ab}	13.62 ^b	12.83 ^b	0.51*				
Feed intake (g/bird/day)	36.19ª	29.63 ^{ab}	31.94 ^{ab}	29.80 ^{ab}	28.22 ^b	1.07*				
Feed conversion ratio	2.12	1.96	2.15	2.19	2.19	0.04 ^{ns}				
Protein intake (g/bird/day)	8.40	6.87	7.39	6.90	6.51	0.25 ^{ns}				
Protein efficiency ratio	2.03	2.20	2.03	1.97	1.98	0.04 ^{ns}				
Mortality rate (%)	0.67	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.00	0.11 ^{ns}				

^{a,b,c}Means with different superscripts in the same row are significantly different (P<0.05), *(P<0.05), ^{nS}Not significantly different (P>0.05), SEM= standard error of mean, SOP= sweet orange peel meal, BDG= daily body weight gain, T1= 0% maize replacement with SOP (Control diet), T2= 5% maize replacement with SOP, T3= 10% maize replacement with SOP, T4= 15% maize replacement with SOP, T5= 20% maize replacement with SOP.

4. Discussion

The proximate composition of biodegraded sweet orange fruit peel meal showed it contained 92.5% DM, 8.80% CP, 13.25% CF, 8.65% EE, 9.90% ash, and 59.40% NFE. Ojabo et al. (2014) reported a DM of 86.20%, 7.40% CP, 8.19% ash, 7.19% EE, 13.50% CF, 62.65% NFE and 3674.44 Kcal/kg ME for sundried sweet orange peel meal. Agu et al. (2010) reported 89.65% DM, 10.74% CP, 7.86% ash, 12.00% EE, 11.90% CF, 56.91% NFE and 3988.70 kcal/kg ME. Also, 7.0 % CP, 12.50% CF, and ME of 3420 kcal/kg were reported by Ashbell and Weinbegger (1999) in Israel for sweet orange peel. The crude fibre level in SOP the test ingredient is high, like what has been reported by some other workers. The nutrient quality of feed ingredients is one of the major prerequisites for the production of good-quality feeds. The basic nutrients that cannot be compromised in the choice of ingredients for

feed formulation are protein and energy. The dry matter of 92.28% in this study was higher than 87.60% for sweet orange peel (SOP) biodegraded with rumen content for 48 hours reported by Oluremi et al. (2008). The possible anti-nutritional factors of sweet orange peels are phytic acid, saponin, tannin, and oxalate, they can interfere with digestive processes and prevents effective absorption and utilization of micro/macro nutrients, but these can be prevented by some processing methods such fermentation, chemical treatments, sundrying, soaking and various other processing methods which helps to prevent/lower the effect of these antinutritional factors and improve the nutritive value of sweet orange peel.

The SOP meal with a CP of 8.80% was higher than 7.40% reported by Ojabo et al. (2014), and 7.50% by Akpe et al. (2019). The disparity in crude protein composition could be attributed to the type of pasture consumed by the cattle which will affect the type and the population of the ruminal microorganism, the ratio of rumen content to sweet orange peel used for processing, and the stage of digesta degradation in the rumen when cattle was slaughtered. The CP is however slightly lower than CP in maize, a conventional energy feedstuff with 9.10% CP (Aduku, 2005), while crude fibre (CF) of 13.25% in the peel was lower than 13.50 % and 14.60% reported by Ojabo et al. (2014) and Ani et al. (2015), respectively. The slight reduction may be due to the processing method used in this study. The high CF in the peel may reduce its feeding value compared to conventional dietary maize in poultry nutrition, even though it has a high metabolizable energy of 3720.67 kcal/kg. The high CF content in the biodegraded SOP in this study most probably caused the reduction of its NFE, the digestible carbohydrate and energy nutrient in feed ingredients. Hence, the energy yield of biodegraded SOP will be of inferior value compared to that of maize in practical broiler chicken feeding.

The ash content of 9.90% obtained in this study was higher than 4.47% (Ani et al., 2015), and 8.19% (Ojabo et al., 2014). The implication of the high ash content is that it may lower the dietary caloric yield because of the limitation of mineral elements to yield energy in the metabolic process of oxidation. Therefore, the results of the proximate composition of biodegraded SOP meal showed that, while its high crude protein content can be of nutritional benefit to monogastric animals, including broiler chicken, its content of crude fibre and ash can be adverse to the good performance of these farm animals.

The highest feed intake of 36.19 g was lower than 56.16 g reported by Oluremi et al. (2010) who fed fermented sweet orange peel-based diets to broiler chicks, and 37 g reported by Aduku (2005) as the mean daily feed intake for starter broiler chicks. This may be attributed to the low fibre content of the control maize-based diet (T1) compared to the high fibre content in the biodegraded SOP meal-based diets, the overall feed composition, dietary nature, and strain/breed of broiler chicks used.

Abbas et al. (2013) also reported dietary fibre effect on broiler chicks fed sweet orange peel-based diet. The body weight gain, like the feed intake of the chicks, significantly (P<0.05) decreased as the percent maize replacement with biodegraded SOP increased from 0% to 20%. Consequently, the daily weight gain was highest in T1 (17.08 g) and lowest in T5 (12.83 g). The range was less than 32.44 g to 43.17 g (Medugu et al., 2010) but comparable with 11.97 g to 21.70 g (Oluremi et al., 2010). Furthermore, feed intake appeared to have a direct effect on body weight gain and, thus, a cumulative effect on the final body weight. Feed intake and utilization of the nutrients present are the major factors influencing both body weight gain and feed efficiency in meat-type birds. The final body weight of the chicks was significantly (P<0.05) different among the dietary groups decreasing from T1 (525.37 g) to T5 (406.10 g) for the same reason as for body weight gain.

The experimental diets did not have any significant (P>0.05) effect on feed conversion ratio, protein intake, protein efficiency ratio, and mortality rate across the dietary groups. This showed that the replacement of maize with biodegraded SOP in the range of 0% to 20% did not negatively impact on the quantitative values of all these performance indicators in the starter broiler chicks. The rate of mortality among the experimental birds in this study was less than 5% regarded as normal for broiler chicks (Oluyemi and Roberts, 2000). Furthermore, since mortality did not show any significant difference among the dietary treatments, biodegraded SOP meal may be a safe ingredient to use in compounding broiler chick diet if its other nutritional limitations can be mitigated.

5. Conclusion

From the result obtained in this study, it was concluded that the rumen filtrate biodegraded sweet orange peel meal is comparable with maize in crude protein and higher in metabolizable energy content but inferior in crude fibre and can thus be transformed from being an agricultural waste into a feed resource in broiler chicken production. The utilization of SOP meal as replacement maize did not support the growth of starter broiler chicks, and further studies are therefore necessary to investigate other processing methods that can further reduce the fibre content of sweet orange peel meal to enhance its feed value as a replacement for maize in the diets of broiler chicks.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	E.T.A.	0.0.	K.C.O.
С	100		
D	40	30	30
S		50	50
DCP	100		
DAI	100		
L	40	30	30
W	50	50	
CR		100	
SR	75	25	
РМ	50	50	
FA	100		

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

The authors confirm that the ethical policies of the journal, as noted on the journal's author guidelines page, have been adhered to. The experimental procedures were approved by the Local Animal Care and Ethics Committee of the Federal University of Agriculture, 2373, Makurdi, Nigeria.

References

- Abbas E, Ali AAQ, Alireza S, Vito L, Vincenzo T. 2013. Effect of different levels of dried sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) peels on broiler chickens growth performance. Italian J Anim Sci, (2): 11-17.
- Aduku AO. 2005. Tropical feedstuff analysis table. Department of Animal Science, Ahmadu Bello University, Samaru, Zaria, Nigeria, pp: 4.
- Ahemen T, Zahradden D. 2010. Species contribution as a source of meat and their fetal wastage in Taraba State, Nigeria. Arch Appl Sci Res, 2(5): 85-91.
- Akpe ME, Oluremi OIA, Tuleun CDT. 2019. Haematological and serum biochemical indices of broiler chickens fed diets containing graded levels of biodegraded sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) Peel. IOSR J Agri Vet Sci, 12(8): 54-59.

Ani AO, Iloh EA, Akinsola OO. 2015. Dietary effect of processed

orange peels on growth performance of broiler finisher birds. British J Appl Sci Tech, 9(6): 576-583.

- AOAC. 2015. Official methods of analysis. Association of official Analytical Chemist, 16th Ed. William Try Press, Virginia, USA, pp: 17-34.
- Ashbell G, Weinberger ZG. 1999. Silage production and utilization. URL: http://www.fao.org/ag/AGP/AGPC//doc/ silage/silage-Israel/silage-Israel.htm#8. (access date: February 23, 2022).
- Famurewa AV, Olarewaju A. 2013. Investigating the potentials of dried palm oil mill effluents from pressing and water displacement methods for animal feed. Asian J Nat Appl Sci, 2(3): 58-68.
- Carpenter KJ, Clegg KM. 1956. The metabolizable energy of poultry feeding stuffs in relation to their chemical composition. J Sci Food Agri, 7(1): 45-51.
- Genç S, Soysal Mİ. 2018. Parametric and nonparametric post hoc tests. BSJ Eng Sci, 1(1): 18-27.
- Hon FM, Oluremi OIA, Anugwa FOI. 2009. Effect of dried sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) fruit pulp meal on the growth performance of Rabbits. Pakistan J Nutri, 8: 1150-1155.
- Microsoft Encarta. 2008. World map. Microsoft Corporation, US. Medugu CI, Kwari ID, Igwebuike J, Nkama J, Mohammed ID, Hamaker M. 2010. Carcass and blood components of broiler chickens fed sorghum or millet as a replacement for maize in the semi-arid zone of Nigeria. Agri Biol J North Amer, 1(3): 326-329.
- Ojabo LD, Oluremi OIA, Uza DV. 2014. Effect of feeding sundried sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) fruit peel on pullet chick performance. Research Opinion. Anim Vet Sci, 4(9): 484-488.
- Oluremi OIA, Mou PM, Adenkola AY. 2008. Effect of fermentation of sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) fruit peels on its maize replacement value in broiler diets. Livestock Res Rural Devel, 20(2): 1-7.
- Oluremi OIA, Okafor FN, Adenkola AY, Orayaga KT. 2010. Effect of ensiling Sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) fruit peel on its Phytonutrients and the performance of broiler starter. Int J Poultry Sci, 9(6): 546-549.
- Oluremi OIA, Gabriel OS, Ipirakwagh EN, Ikwue CO, Afolabi ET. 2018. Performance and blood profile of rabbits fed biodegraded sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) peel-based diet. Nigerian J Anim Sci, 20(3): 287-294.
- Oluyemi JA, Roberts FA. 2000. Poultry production in warm wet climates. Spectrum Books Ltd, Ibadan, Nigeria, 2nd ed., pp:48.
- Orayaga KT. 2016. Effect of composite Mango (Mangifera indica) fruit rejects meal on growth performance, digestibility, and economics of production of tabbing. Nigerian J Anim Sci, 1: 65-75.
- SPSS. 2012. IBM® SPSS®. Advantage for Microsoft ®IBM. Corporation 2010, IBM corporation route, 100 Somers, N4.10589.

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1213642



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578

Research Article Volume 6 - Issue 2: 113-116 / March 2023

THE EFFECT OF DIFFERENT PLANT GROWTH HORMONES AND CONCENTRATIONS ON THE REPRODUCTION OF *ROSMARINUS OFFICINALIS* L. WITH SEEDLING PRODUCTION

Meryem YEŞİL¹, Emel KARACA ÖNER^{1*}

¹Ordu University, Vocational School of Technical Sciences, Department of Crop and Animal Production, 52200, Ordu, Türkiye

Abstract: To evaluate the proper concentration of plant growth hormone and the suitable plant growth hormone in *Rosmarinus officinalis* L, a significant fragrant, medicinal and herbaceous plant, the study was carried out in a greenhouse during the vegetative period of 2022. In the experiment, peat and vermicompost mixture (3 peat / 1 vermicompost) as the rooting medium, Indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), Indole-3-butyric acid (IBA) and 1-Naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA) hormones were used as plant growth regulators and the concentrations of these hormones were 0, 1000, 2000, 3000, 4000 ppm The Randomised Plot Experiment Design were established three times in the Multiple Comparison Test "LSD". In seedlings removed three months after planting, properties such as seedling height (cm), number of roots (pieces), root length (cm), maximum root length (cm), number of laterals (pieces) and lateral length (cm) were examined. The highest seedling length (19.88 cm) and number of shoots (12.60 pcs), 3000 ppm concentration of Indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), root length (16.30 cm), and 3000 ppm concentration of 1-Naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA) at the highest root length (22.82 cm) came to the fore. In terms of root number, the values found at 3000 ppm concentration of indole acetic acid (19.25 pieces) and naphthalene acetic acid (20.09 pcs) were combined into one statistical group and made up the maximum number of roots. The lateral length control seedlings statistically prevented other applications and produced the highest lateral length (1.99 cm). Therefore, it can be said that Indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) and 1-Naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA), both of which have a concentration of 3000 ppm, are the most suited growth hormones.

Keywords: Growth hormones, Rosmarinus officinalis L., Vegetative reproduction

*Corresponding author: Ordu University, Vocational School of Technical Sciences, Department of Crop and Animal Production, 52200, Ordu, Türkiye

 E mail: emelkar55@hotmail.com (E. KARACA ÖNER)

 Meryem YEŞİL
 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9246-2362

 Emel KARACA ÖNER
 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1714-7426

Received: December 02, 2022 Accepted: January 10, 2023 Published: March 01, 2023

Cite as: Yeşil M, Karaca Öner E. 2023. The effect of different plant growth hormones and concentrations on the reproduction of Rosmarinus officinalis L. with seedling production. BSJ Agri, 6(2): 113-116.

1. Introduction

The rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis L.) plant, known by names such as kusdili, hasalbal, and akpuren according to the regions in Turkish, is an important medicinal, aromatic and herbaceous plant that belongs to the Lamiaceae family (Begum et al., 2013). Rosemary is a coniferous, occasionally leafless shrub that grows in the Mediterranean region's environment (Satya et al., 2017). It is recognized by the European Union as a safe and effective food preservative (E 392) (Andrade et al., 2018) and is a rich source of antioxidants (Nieto et al., 2018). Tea is used in traditional medicine to treat intestinal parasites, coughing, and colds, whereas oil is used to alleviate rheumatism and joint discomfort (Calvo et. al., 2011; Satya et. al., 2017). It is being researched for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease in modern medicine (Habtemariam, 2016).

In medicinal aromatic plants, some species reproduce vegetatively through organs like lateral stems, root parts like rhizome and stolon, onion, tuber, and corm, while some species reproduce generatively through the use of seeds (Baydar, 2019). As a result of the generative reproduction method's prolonged duration from emergence to flowering and maturation in medicinal aromatic plants, slow growth, issues with seed germination, modifications to the plant's morphology, and a change in the amount of active substance content (essential oil composition) are all consequences (Kara et al., 2011, Baydar, 2019). For plants with low seed retention rates, poor germination power, or opening due to foreign fertilization, the vegetative propagation method is widely used (Parađiković et al., 2013; Baydar, 2019). The plant rosemary is also capable of vegetative and generative reproduction. However, seed production is uncommon since the seeds are very hard and small and the germination rate is very low (Baydar, 2019). To produce high-quality seedlings, many growth hormones are used in vegetative production. These hormones are chemical compounds that are used topically to aid in rooting, speed up rooting, increase the quantity of roots and steels, and shorten rooting time (Parlak, 2008; Boyer and Graves, 2009). Gibberellins, and cytokines are classified as growth promoters among these regulators, while abscisic acid (dormines) inhibitors and ethylene

are classified as ripeners (Algül et al., 2016).

Effective rooting hormones from the auxin group include IAA, IBA, and NAA. In today's world, IBA is the hormone most frequently applied and has a long-lasting impact on rooting plants (Boyer and Graves, 2009; Grunewald et al., 2009).

Obtaining quality seedlings depends significantly on the type and concentration of plant growth regulators. The goal of this study was to examine how hormones and concentrations of the auxin class chemicals NAA, IAA, and IBA, which are the most frequently used in aquaculture, affected the growth of the *Rosmarinus officinalis* L plant from cuttings.

2. Materials and Methods

A trial specimen of the Rosmarinus officinalis species was taken from the collection garden of the medical and aromatic plants program at Ordu University's Technical Sciences Vocational School, and body steels measuring 12 cm long from the plant were employed. IAA, IBA and NAA concentrations of 0 ppm, 1000 ppm, 2000 ppm, 3000 ppm, and 4000 ppm were utilized as growth regulators of and vermicompost mixture peat (3 peat/1vermicompost) as rooting medium. On May 16, 2022, the randomized plot experiment design was used to plant the trial in the vials by dipping the hormone concentrations of IAA, IBA, and NAA for 5 seconds with 3 repetitions and 15 sheets of steel in each repetition. According to the needs of the steels, necessary irrigation was made, and the seedlings were removed after three months. The seedling length (cm), the number of roots (pieces), root length (cm), maximum root length (cm), the number of laterals (pieces), and lateral length (cm) were determined.

The study's data were analyzed using the SAS-JMP 10.0 program by the randomized plot experiment design, and one of the multiple comparison test "LSD" was applied.

3. Results and Discussion

Table 1 presents the analysis findings and the standard deviation values demonstrating the impact of hormone administrations on seedling length, root number, root length, maximum root length, number of laterals, and lateral length of steels. The tested characters' responses to different hormone kinds and hormone concentrations were very significant (P<0.01).

3.1. Seedling Length (cm)

The average seedling height was found 19.88 cm for IAA at 3000 ppm and 15.50 cm for NAA at 4000 ppm; this difference was statistically significant (P<0.01). 1000 ppm (17.07 cm), 4000 ppm (18.39 cm) of IAA, 1000 ppm (17.78 cm), 2000 ppm (17.60 cm) and 3000 ppm (18.37 cm) of IBA, and 3000 ppm (16.86 cm) of NAA are in the same group according to the multiple comparison test.

In terms of hormone kinds, the resulting seedling lengths varied between 16.42 (Control) and 19.88 (3000 ppm) cm in IAA, 15.81 cm (4000 pmm) and 18.37 cm (3000 ppm) in IBA application, and 15.50 cm (4000 pmm) and 16.86 cm (3000 ppm) in NAA hormone. The auxin group includes the plant growth regulators employed in the study. These hormones promote growth by boosting cell division and longitudinal extension (Deytieux-Belleau et al., 2007; Algül et al., 2016). According to the study's findings, in line with the results of the researchers, the maximum seedling size was attained at a 3000 ppm concentration of IAA hormone, one of the auxin growth regulators.

3.2. Number of Roots (pcs)

The highest concentration of 20.09 roots and 3000 ppm of NAA also emerged in the control group with the lowest number of 7.28 roots. The highest values, 19.25 roots measured at 3000 ppm IAA hormone concentration and 20.09 roots that emerged at 3000 ppm NAA concentration, were included in the same statistical group. The results of the study showed that, compared to control seedlings, hormone concentrations increased the number of roots.

Table 1. Descriptive statistical values for Rosmarinus officinalis L. seedlings

	-			-		
HC (ppm)	SL (cm)	RN (piece)	RL (cm)	LRL (cm)	NL (piece)	LL (cm)
Control	16.42 ± 2.16 b	7.28 ± 3.48 °	$10.05 \pm 2.75 \ ^{bc}$	14.36 ± 4.49 b	8.28 ± 2.08 °	1.99 ± 0.54 ª
IAA 1000	17.07 ± 2.58 ^{ab}	16.71 ± 8.42 ab	13.83 ± 4.965 ab	17.95 ± 7.14 ab	9.76 ± 2.98 abc	1.51 ± 0.38 abc
IAA 2000	16.55 ± 3.99 ^b	12.20 ± 6.36 abc	12.33 ± 2.95 abc	15.76 ± 4.48 ab	10.10 ± 3.16 abc	1.39 ± 0.38 bc
IAA 3000	19.88 ± 3.10 ª	19.25 ± 8.33 ª	$11.02 \pm 4.47 \text{ bc}$	$14.00 \pm 5.07 \ ^{\rm b}$	12.60 ± 3.47 ^a	1.62 ± 0.46 abc
IAA 4000	18.39 ± 1.97 ^{ab}	17.00 ± 6.82 ab	10.68 ± 3.23 bc	14.44 ± 4.19 ^b	10.94 ± 2.94 abc	1.56 ± 0.58 abc
IBA 1000	17.78 ± 4.44 ^{ab}	8.22 ± 6.22 bc	7.77 ± 5.00 °	11.94 ± 6.72 ^b	8.89 ± 1.76 ^{abc}	1.39 ± 0.265 bc
IBA 2000	17.60 ± 3.75 ^{ab}	15.10 ± 7.59 ^{ab}	12.94 ± 4.73 ^{abc}	17.53 ± 5.98 ^{ab}	11.40 ± 3.17 ^{ab}	1.28 ± 0.33 °
IBA 3000	18.37 ± 3.24 ^{ab}	14.40 ± 8.22 abc	11.57 ± 4.50 abc	15.87 ± 8.60 ab	10.53 ± 2.59 abc	1.49 ± 0.80 abc
IBA 4000	15.81 ± 2.76 ^b	15.88 ± 6.44 ^{ab}	$10.58 \pm 3.85 \ ^{bc}$	15.34 ± 4.12 ^{ab}	9.56 ± 1.86 ^{abc}	1.42 ± 0.39 abc
NAA 1000	15.90 ± 2.26 ^b	12.85 ± 4.56 ^{abc}	8.97 ± 4.56 °	13.75 ± 4.11 ^b	9.15 ± 2.32 bc	1.38 ± 0.39 bc
NAA 2000	16.00 ± 3.17 ^b	13.81 ± 7.17 ^{abc}	12.32 ± 7.17 abc	17.03 ± 3.53 ab	11.38 ± 3.34 ^{abc}	1.88 ± 0.98 ab
NAA 3000	16.86 ± 2.19 ^{ab}	20.09 ± 9.18 ª	16.30 ± 9.18 ª	22.82 ± 5.33 ª	11.18 ± 3.49 ^{abc}	1.15 ± 0.29 °
NAA 4000	$15.50 \pm 2.78 \ ^{b}$	11.75 ± 4.89 abc	13.28 ± 4.89 abc	11.69 ± 4.66 ^b	8.50 ± 2.62 bc	1.51 ± 0.32 abc

HC= hormone concentrations, SL= seedling length, RN= root number, RL= root length, LRL=longest root length, NL= number of laterals, LL= lateral length (cm), abcThe difference between averages without common letters in the same column is statistically significant (P<0.01).

This outcome was in line with the research's findings that hormone administration promoted rooting (Atıcı, 1999; Şekeroğlu et al., 2001; Ilgın and Bulat, 2001; Uysal et al., 2010; Pulatkan et al., 2018; Sarı and Kaçar, 2019). Additionally, Pulatkan et al. (2018) observed that when IBA, IAA, and NAA hormones were provided at dosages of 0, 1000, 3000, 5000, and 8000 ppm upon rooting of *Berberis thunbergii*, the largest number of roots occurred at the dose of 3000 ppm of each hormone.

3.3. Root Length (cm)

The longest root length was determined at 16.30 cm at an NAA concentration of 3000 ppm, and the root length change was between 7.77 cm and 16.30 cm. When the impact of different hormone types and concentrations on root lengths was studied, root lengths ranged from 10.05 cm (control) to 13.83 cm (1000 ppm) in IAA, 7.7 cm (1000 ppm) to 12.94 cm (2000 ppm) in IBA, and 8.97 cm (1000 ppm) to 16.30 cm (3000 ppm) in NAA. It was discovered during the study that applying 3000 ppm of NAA considerably enhanced the quantity of roots compared to the control plants. This result was consistent with 6000 mg/L NAA application in Bougainvillea by Memon et al. (2013), 500 mg/L NAA administration in Oleander (Nerium oleander) by Akat et al. (2017), Pulatkan et al. (2018) study in where they reported that 3000 ppm NAA concentration increased root length in Berberis thunbergii compared to control plants.

3.4. Maximum Root Length (cm)

The maximum root length was calculated to be 22.82 cm at a 3000-ppm concentration of the NAA hormone. The maximum root lengths were then statistically measured at 1000 ppm (17.95 cm), 2000 ppm (15.76 cm) of IAA, 2000 ppm (17.53 cm), 3000 ppm (15.87 cm), 4000 ppm (15.34 cm) of IBA, and 2000 ppm (17.03 cm) of NAA in the same group. According to the root length data, the maximum root length was observed at an NAA hormone concentration of 3000 ppm. Only 3000 ppm of NAA concentration revealed the highest statistical root length. Other applications did not produce a statistically significant difference (P>0.01) from the control group when compared to the other hormones, IAA, IBA, and NAA, which are also widely used commercially to promote root formation in plants (Table 1).

3.5. Number of Laterals (pcs)

The maximum number of laterals was 12.60 of 3000 ppm IAA concentration, and the lowest number of laterals was 8.28 found in control plants. Regarding the number of laterals, there was no statistically significant difference (P>0.01) between the other hormone concentrations. It is believed that these seedlings do not have a high branching level, and that branching at a concentration of 3000 ppm IAA has increased the number of laterals (12.60 pcs) (Altun et al., 2021).

3.6. Lateral Length (cm)

The highest lateral length was found in the control group (1.99 cm), which received no treatment, in this study, where it was determined that the lateral length was

changed by the administered hormone and hormone concentrations at the 0.01 significant level. The lowest lateral length was 1.28 cm at 2000 ppm IBA hormone concentration and 1.15 cm at 3000 ppm NAA concentration.

4. Conclusion

The seedling height and several laterals at 3000 ppm concentration of IAA hormone have come to the fore in this study studying the effect of IAA, IBA, and NAA hormones on steel production in Rosmarinus *officinalis* L. species. The maximum root length was found at a concentration of NAA hormone of 3000 ppm. The control plants that received no treatment had the highest value regarding lateral length. The IAA and NAA roots determined at 3000 ppm concentrations formed the highest number of roots and were included in the same statistical group. According to the research's findings, a quality seedling of the *Rosmarinus officinalis* L. plant should be produced at hormone and concentration concentrations of 3000 ppm for both IAA and NAA.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	M.Y.	E.K.Ö.
С	50	50
D	50	50
S	50	50
DCP	50	50
DAI	50	50
L	50	50
W	50	50
CR	50	50
SR	50	50
PM	50	50
FA	50	50

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

Ethics committee approval was not required for this study because of there was no study on animals or humans.

References

Akat H, Demirkan GC, Tuna AL. 2017. The effect of naphthalene acetic acid and some rooting media on rooting abilities and shoot growth of Dwarf Nerium cuttings. J Environ Biol, 38: 903-909.

Algül BE, Tekintaş FE, Günver Dalkılıç G. 2016. The usage of

plant growth regulators and hormone biosynthesis booster applications. J Adnan Menderes Univ Agri Fac, 13(2): 87-95.

- Altun B, Güngör R, Çetin AN, Başpınar A, Özkan Z. 2021. Effects of holding time and different IBA doses on rooting of Lavandula angustifolia "Sevtopolis" cuttings. In: Proceedings of the Ahi Evran International Conference on Scientific Research, 30 November - 2 December, Kırşehir, Türkiye, pp: 44-53.
- Andrade JM, Faustino C, Garcia C, Ladeiras D, Reis CP, Rijo P. 2018. *Rosmarinus officinalis* L.: An update review of its phytochemistry and biological activity. Future Sci OA, 4(4): 1-18.
- Atıcı A. 1999. The effect of naftalen acedic acid on rooting of stem cuttings of of rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L.). MSch thesis, Ankara University, Gradute School of Natural and Applied Sciences, Department of Agronomy, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 36.
- Baydar H. 2019. Tıbbi ve Aromatik Bitkiler Bilimi ve Teknolojisi. Nobel Yayınevi, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 2328.
- Begum A, Sandhya S, Syed Shaff Ath A, Vinod KR, Swapna R, Banji D. 2013. An in-depth review on the medicinal flora *Rosmarinus officinalis* L. (Lamiaceae). Acta Sci Pol Tech Aliment, 12(1): 61-74.
- Boyer NZ, Graves WR. 2009. NAA is more effective than IBA for rooting stem cuttings of two Nyssa spp. J Environ Horticult, 27(3): 183-187.
- Calvo MI, Akerreta S, Cavero RY. 2011. Pharmaceutical ethnobotany in the Riverside of Navarra (Iberian Peninsula). J Ethnopharmacol, 135: 22-33.
- Deytieux-Belleau C, Gagne S, L'hyvernay A, Donèche B, Geny L. 2007. Possible roles of both Abscisic Acid and Indol-Acetic Acid in controlling Grape Berry ripening process. J Int Sci Vigne Vin, 41(3): 141-148.
- Grunewald W, Noorden GV, Isterdael GV, Beeckman T, Gheysen G, Mathesius U. 2009. Manipulation of auxin transport in plant roots during Rhizobium symbiosis and nematode parasitism. Plant Cell, 21: 2553-2562.
- Habtemariam S. 2016. The therapeutic potential of rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis) diterpenes for Alzheimer's disease.
 Hindawi Publishing Corporation Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine, London, UK, pp: 14.

- Ilgin M, Bulat L. 2001. The Effects of cutting season and different IBA (Indol-3 butyric acide) concentrations on the rooting success of GF-677 cuttings. Alatarim, 13(2):15-22.
- Kara N, Baydar H, Erbaş S. 2011. Effects of different cuttings periods and IBA concentrations on rooting ability of some medicinal plant. Horticult Stud, 28(2): 71-81.
- Memon N, Ali N, Baloch MA, Chachar Q. 2013. Influence of Naphthalene Acetic Acid (NAA) on sprouting and rooting potential of stem cuttings of Bouganvillea. Sci Int (Lahore), 25(2): 299-304.
- Nieto G, Ros, G, Castillo J. 2018. Antioxidant and antimicrobial properties of Rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis*, L.): A Review. Medicines, 5(98): 1-13.
- Parađiković N, Zeljković S, Tkalec M, Vinković T, Dervić I, Milica M. 2013. Influence of rooting powder on propagation of Sage (*Salvia officinalis* L.) and Rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L.) with green cuttings. Poljoprivreda, 19(2): 10-15.
- Parlak S. 2008. Defne (*Laurus nobilis* L.)'nin çelikle üretilmesi. T.C Çevre ve Orman Bakanlığı Ege Ormancılık Araştırma Müdürlüğü, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 71.
- Pulatkan M, Yıldırım N, Kaya Şahin E. 2018. Effect of different hormone doses on rooting of Berberis thunbergii "Atropurpurea Nana" cuttings. Turkish J Forestry, 19(4): 386-390.
- Sarı Y, Kaçar O. 2019. The effects of different rooting media and IBA doses on rooting of Rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L.) stem cuttings. Bahçe, 48(1): 27-37.
- Satya P, Jones TH, Lopez EM, McFeeters RL, Awadh Ali NA, Mansi I, Al-kaf AG, Setzer WN. 2017. Chemotypic characterization and biological activity of Rosmarinus officinalis. Foods, 6(20): 1-15.
- Şekeroğlu N, Kırpık M, Özgüven M. 2001. Effects of different rooting media and IBA concentrations on rooting of Thymbra spicata L. In: Proceedings of the Workshop on Agricultural and Quality Aspects of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants. May 29-June 1, Adana, Türkiye, pp: 211-216.
- Uysal F, Atmaca S, Kolak B. 2010. Effects of different NAA concentrations and rooting media on the rooting quality of the Rosemary (*Rosmarinus officinalis* L.). In: Proceedings of the 4th Ornamental Plant Congress, October 14-16, Mersin, Türkiye, pp: 393-397.

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1165045



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578

Research Article

Volume 6 - Issue 2: 117-125 / March 2023

GENETIC VARIABILITY OF SMALL HORSE POPULATIONS FROM GREEK ISLANDS

Myrina EMILIO KATSOULAKOU¹, Dimitris PAPACHRISTOU¹, Nikolaos KOSTARAS², George P. LALIOTIS¹, Iosif BIZELIS¹, Ernest Gus COTHRAN³, Rytis JURAS³, Panagiota KOUTSOULI^{1*}

¹Agricultural University of Athens, School of Animal Biosciences, Department of Animal Science, Laboratory of Animal Breeding & Husbandry, 11855, Athens, Greece

²Network for the Preservation of Greek Indigenous Farm Animals – Amalthia, 15669, Athens, Greece

³Texas A&M School of Veterinary Medicine & Biomedical Sciences, Department of Veterinary Integrative Biosciences, Animal Genetics Laboratory, TX77843, Texas, US

Abstract: In this study, we analyzed microsatellite variation in DNA obtained from hair samples collected from 46 local Greek horse populations originating from the islands of Skyros (Skyros Small Horse; n=9), Rhodes (Rodos Small Horse; n=6), Lesvos (with the traditional miniature Midili Small Horse (n=2) and the larger Lesvos Gaiter (n=22)) and Crete (Messara) (n=7). We used 15 autosomal microsatellite markers (VHL20, HTG4, AHT4, HMS7, HTG6, AHT5, HMS6, ASB2, HTG10, HTG7, HMS3, HMS2, ASB17, ASB23 and LEX33) for the genetic characterization of the above populations and exploration of their genetic structure and diversity levels. A total of 120 alleles were detected across the 15 loci with a minimum of 4 alleles in HTG7 locus and a maximum of 13 alleles in ASB17 locus. The total per population number of alleles was 42 (Skyros Small Horse), 20 (Rodos Small Horse), 71 (Lesvos Gaiter), 52 (Messara breed) and 21 (Midili Small Horse). The effective number of alleles (Ne) per locus ranged from 1.47±0.13 (Rodos Small Horse) to 4.67±0.31 (Lesvos Gaiter). The allelic richness (Ar) was between 1.50±0.12 (Rodos Small Horse) and 2.93±0.08 (Lesvos Gaiter) and the average Polymorphism Information Content (PIC) values varied from 0.200±0.035 (Rodos Small Horse) to 0.733±0.026 (Lesvos Gaiter). No significant deviations from H-W equilibrium were found except for three loci (ASB2, HTG10 and LEX33) in Messara and one locus (ASB23) in Lesvos Gaiter. The inbreeding coefficient (Fis) ranged from -0.130 (Rodos Small Horse) to 0.042 (Lesvos Gaiter). The observed (H_e) and expected (H_e) multilocus heterozygosity mean estimations were highest in Lesvos Gaiter (0.764±0.027 and 0.783±0.024, respectively) and smallest in Rodos Small Horse (0.300±0.075 and 0.269±0.064, respectively). Across loci, the total genetic diversity H_T was 0.741, the diversity among subpopulations H_S was 0.621 and the multilocus genetic differentiation G_{ST} was 0.161, which was rather high. The population of Rodos Small Horse separated from the remaining horses as shown by factorial correspondence analysis, population assignment and metric multidimensional scaling diagrams. This study highlights the loss of genetic diversity in small isolated horse populations and the urgent need to take protective measures to preserve them.

Keywords: Indigenous Greek horses, Rare breeds, Microsatellites

*Corresponding author: Agricul	tural Un	iversity of Athens, School of Animal Biosciences, Dep	artment of Animal Science, Laboratory of Animal Breeding & Husbandry, 11855,
Athens, Greece			
E mail: panagiota.koutsouli@gma	il.com (P	P. KOUTSOULI)	
Myrina EMILIO KATSOULAKOU	(D	https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2541-8898	Received: September 23, 2022
Dimitris PAPACHRISTOU	D	https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7605-7455	Accepted: January 13, 2023
Nikolaos KOSTARAS	D	https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3863-1302	Published: March 01, 2023
George P. LALIOTIS	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6075-7687	
Iosif BIZELIS	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9457-2696	
Ernest Gus COTHRAN	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2791-4331	
Rytis JURAS	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7385-0618	
Panagiota KOUTSOULI	(D	https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4933-635X	
Cite as: Emilio Katsoulakou I	M, Papa	christou D, Kostaras N, Laliotis GP, Bizelis I, C	othran EG, Juras R, Koutsouli P. 2023. Genetic variability of small horse

Cite as: Emilio Katsoulakou M, Papachristou D, Kostaras N, Laliotis GP, Bizelis I, Cothran EG, Juras R, Koutsouli P. 2023. Genetic variability of small hors populations from Greek islands. BSJ Agri, 6(2): 117-125.

1. Introduction

Animal genetic resources make up part of natural and cultural world heritage. The loss of various distinct breeds or populations threatens the genetic variability and adaptation ability of domestic species. Hence, the study and preservation of rare indigenous horse populations is of great importance, both nationally and globally.

Islands of Aegean archipelagos and Crete, with their characteristic warm and dry climate, geographical isolation and rocky ground, are host to several BSJ Agri / Myrina EMILIO KATSOULAKOU et al. indigenous horse populations that display unique properties and adaptations (Cothran et al., 2010; Bömcke et al., 2011; Kostaras et al., 2021). Most of these are now rare or nearly extinct, with their status classified as endangered or critical. They lack genetic characterization and a systematic preservation plan. Due to their small population size, further difficulties arise for their recognition as breeds and proper management. Modern genetic tools such as microsatellites can play an important role in identification and preservation of horse populations or breeds (Cothran and Luis, 2005; Van de

Goor et al., 2010).

Main documented characteristics of the studied horse populations include exceptional resilience to draught and heat, tolerance to poor nutrition, with physical and adaptations to fit the challenging behavioral mountainous ground and local conditions (from strong feet and small, hard hoofs to alert but self-composed temperament). They also exhibit low susceptibility to parasites, disease and physical injury, compared to other horses on the same environment (Giantsis et al., 2020; Kostaras et al., 2021). The oldest, traditional type has remarkably small body size and has been able to survive for long periods of time without human intervention in mountainous regions, forming feral populations (Papaioannou and Kostaras, 2006). The larger sized, gaiter type breeds are best suited for riding, but have higher maintenance demands. Greek "gaiters", have the ability to perform an extra, high-speed, two-beat lateral gait, also known as "pace", where both limbs from each side of the horse move simultaneously, due to a dominant nonsense mutation in DMRT3 gene affecting locomotion (Promerová et al, 2014).

Attempts have been conducted to study the horse populations in Greece using DNA markers such as RAPDs (Apostolidis et al., 2001), microsatellites (Cothran et al., 2010) or microsatellites and allozymes (Bömcke et al., 2011).

For this study, five indigenous horse populations were considered. Three of them are traditional miniature horses (Skyros Small Horse, Rodos Small Horse and Midili Small Horse) and two are larger gaiter types (Lesvos and Messara). From the above populations, only Skyros Small Horse and Messara horses are officially recognized as breeds and have studbooks (Centre of Animal Genetic Resources of Athens, 2019). This preliminary study of local Greek horse populations aims to support their conservation by determination of their genetic characterization. The objective is to study their genetic structure by defining the number of alleles, testing for Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium and estimating genetic diversity indices.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Animal Materials

The sampled horses were chosen according to previous breed/population descriptions and parentage information (Scherf, 2000; Kostaras et al., 2021). They form two distinct phenotypes: miniature, non-gaiting type with withers height (WH) ranging from 105-115 cm (Skyros Small Horse, Rodos Small Horse and Midili Small Horse) and larger gaiter type with a WH of 130 to 150 cm (Lesvos Gaiter and Messara breed). For this study, 46 hair root follicle samples were used (10 to 20 rooted hairs from each horse) from 5 local horse populations (Figure 1): Skyros Small Horse (n=9), Rodos Small Horse (n=6), Midili Small Horse (n=2), Lesvos Gaiter (n=22) and Messara breed (n=7). The Skyros Small Horse breed with around 160 purebred individuals is officially recognized as a breed and under protection (Centre of Animal Genetic Resources of Athens, 2019; Kostaras et al, 2021).



Figure 1. Phenotypic characteristics of 1) Skyros Small Horse breed, 2) Rodos Small Horse, 3) Midili Small Horse, 4) Messara breed and 5) Lesvos Gaiter.

Messara horse is a gaiting breed from the island of Crete, officially recognized by the state, with an estimated population of 100-200 horses (Centre of Animal Genetic Resources of Athens, 2019; Kostaras et al., 2021). Rodos Small Horse population consists of 10 reproductive horses from the homonymous island. Its population has passed through a recent severe bottleneck of 3 females and 3 males (Kostaras et al, 2021). Last feral herd was captured two decades ago and has been bred for preservation since then (Papaioannou and Kostaras, 2006). Rodos Small Horse horses are not recognized or protected by the state. Midili Small Horse population, from Lesvos Island, was considered extinct until recently when the presence of some small feral herds was reported (population size is estimated from 5 to 20 horses). The two sampled Midili horses are remains of an old population and the only unrelated individuals from two different feral herds, each representing a separate herd. Lastly, Lesvos Gaiter is not recognized as a breed by the state and its population size is unknown. The geographical location of the studied horses is shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. geographical location of the studied horse populations.

The collected rooted hair was stored in plastic bags and submitted to Texas A&M University Animal Genetics Laboratory. DNA was isolated from the hair follicles using PUREGENE DNA purification kit according to the manufacturer's protocol and analyzed for 15 speciesspecific horse microsatellite loci (VHL20, HTG4, AHT4, HMS7, HTG6, AHT5, HMS6, ASB2, HTG10, HTG7, HMS3, HMS2, ASB17, ASB23 and LEX33) using multiplex PCR. Table 1 shows the analyzed microsatellite loci, their chromosome location and length in base pairs. Microsatellite analysis was achieved according to the procedures described by Juras et al. (2003), using the nomenclature of the International Society for Animal Genetics. **Table 1.** Fifteen horse-specific microsatellite loci used in this study

Locus	Amplicon Length (bp)	Chromosome
		Location
VHL20	89-109	30
HTG4	127-141	9
AHT4	148-164	24
HMS7	173-187	1
HTG6	84-106	15
AHT5	130-146	8
HMS6	159-171	4
ASB2	222-254	15
HTG10	93-113	21
HTG7	120-130	4
HMS3	150-172	9
HMS2	284-304	10
ASB17	93-121	2
ASB23	183-217	3
LEX33	195-221	4

2.2. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis of the genotypic frequencies was conducted using the following programs: Create (Coombs et al, 2008), GENEPOP (Rousset, 2008), GeneAlEx (Peakall and Smouse, 2012) and GENETIX (Belkhir, 2004). We estimated allelic frequencies, number of alleles (N_a) and effective number of alleles (N_e) using GENETIX. Polymorphic information content (PIC) for each locus was calculated. We tested the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium calculating Fis values in each locus with GENEPOP. Allelic richness (Ar) (El Mousadik and Petit, 1996) was calculated on the basis of the minimum sample size of 2 diploid individuals using HIERFSTAT (Goudet, 2005) in R (R core team, 2020). Estimators of genetic diversity included: the mean observed and expected heterozygosity [Ho, He (unbiased estimation according to Nei, (1978)], the mean genetic diversity within subpopulations (Hs), the total genetic diversity (H_T) and the proportion of genetic diversity that resides among populations (G_{ST}), which is equivalent of F_{ST} , calculated, applying the corrections of Nei and Chesser (1983) and Nei (1987) for small sized populations and inbreeding applied in the calculations of H_s and H_T. Furthermore, we applied three methods to investigate genetic structure of the studied populations: (i) the factorial correspondence analysis based upon allelic frequencies (GENETIX software), (ii) the population assignment method based upon genotypic frequencies of the studied populations according to Paetkau et al. (1995) and Paetkau et al. (2004) through GeneAlEx software and (iii) the metric multidimensional scaling (MDS) which was calculated with default distribution of R program (command cmdscaling; R core team, 2020) to project the multidimensional D_{PS} genetic distance matrix onto a two-dimensional (2D) plot for the 5 populations. The matrix of D_{PS} genetic distances between all pairs of individuals was estimated as D_{PS} = 1-PS. The proportion

of shared alleles (PS) was calculated with Adegenet 2.0.0 (Jombart, 2008).

3. Results and Discussion

In total, 120 alleles were found across the 15 analyzed microsatellites and their allelic frequencies are presented in Supplementary Table 2. A minimum of four alleles was detected in HTG7 locus while a maximum of 13 alleles was found in ASB17 locus. The total number of alleles detected in each population was: 42 alleles for Skyros Small Horse, 20 alleles for Rodos Small Horse, 71 alleles for Lesvos Gaiter, 52 alleles for Messara breed and 21 alleles for Midili Small Horse (Supplementary Table 2). Genetic variability indices per locus and population are shown in Table 3. The mean number of alleles Na ranged from 1.73±0.15 (Rodos Small Horse) to 7.00±0.39 (Lesvos Gaiter). The effective number of alleles Ne ranged from 1.47±0.13 (Rodos Small Horse) to 4.67±0.31 (Lesvos Gaiter) and the PIC was between 0.200±0.035 (Rodos Small Horse) and 0.733±0.026 (Lesvos Gaiter). Because of the different sample sizes, we calculated allelic richness Ar, which ranged between 1.50 (Rodos Small horse) and 2.93 (Lesvos Gaiter). All estimators of genetic diversity reached highest values in Lesvos Gaiter in comparison with the other populations with the highest PIC (mean=0.733±0.026), Ne (mean=4.668±0.309) and Ar (mean=2.93±0.08). The Skyros Small Horse (mean PIC=0.571±0.047 and Ne=3.051±0.290 and Messara breed (mean PIC=0.664±0.020, Ne=3.559±0.186) had intermediate levels of genetic variability. The Rodos Small Horse had the lowest levels (mean PIC=0.200±0.035, Ne=1.469±0.134) and five monomorphic loci. The Midili Small Horse was excluded from further analysis due to inadequate sample number. The Skyros Small population showed slightly lower PIC values (0.571) than in 2011 (0.598) (Bömcke et al, 2011) but our sample was smaller. As seen on Table 4, Hardy-Weinberg (H-W) equilibrium was not violated on most populations. Messara breed showed the highest number of loci that deviated from H-W equilibrium (ASB2, HTG10, LEX33) but sample size was low. The mean multilocus observed heterozygosity (H_0) was highest on Lesvos Gaiter population (0.764±0.0.027), followed by Messara breed (0.733±0.052), and then Skyros Small (0.689±0.0.051). The Rodos Small Horse had the lowest heterozygosity values as expected (0.300±0.075) due to its small size and population history. The Skyros Small Horse population from this study showed slightly higher heterozygosity values heterozygosity (expected He=0.656±0.049 and observed heterozygosity Ho=0.689±0.051) than in 2011 (0.621 and 0.647, respectively) (Bömcke et al., 2011) despite lower PIC values, which could possibly be due to sampling or analysis variation. It is worth mentioning that Bömcke et al. (2011) used nearly the same set of microsatellites as we did, except LEX33, plus they used HMS1 and CA425, and they had 99 Skyros samples. The above heterozygosity estimations are within the range of values reported in rare horse populations around the world. From the literature review examples given are the Japanese Tsushima (n=25; Ho=0.66), Kiso (n=55; Ho=0.67) and Tokara (n=110; Ho=0.44) breeds (Kakoi et al, 2007; Takasu et al, 2012) or the Knabstupper horse from Denmark (n=170; Ho=0.71) (Thirstrup et al., 2008) and other breeds (Scherf, 2000). In relation to the above, the Rodos Small Horse, with its extremely small and isolated population, had low heterozygosity estimations. F_{is} values (Table 5) showed that among the main four populations Rodos Small Horse had an excess of heterozygotes ($F_{is} = -0.130$), which is in contrast with the known history of genetic isolation, inbreeding and a severe bottleneck effect of this population. In many cases Fis index is affected by the extremely small sample size (<10) and from the fact that the sampled individuals Rodos Small Horse are all relatives.

 G_{ST} values representing a multiallelic expansion of Wrights F_{ST} ranged between -0.004 (HTG6 locus) and 0.362 (HTG4 locus), indicating from low (less than 0.150) to strong (more than 0.250) differentiation among populations, depending on the locus. The average G_{ST} value among Skyros Small Horse, Rodos Small Horse, Lesvos Gaiter and Messara breed populations was high at 0.161, showing that 16% of the total genetic variability was explained by population differentiation. It is worth mentioning that this differentiation also has a geographical component as each of these populations come from different islands.

The factorial correspondence analysis based upon allelic frequencies (Figure 3), the population assignment diagram (Figure 4) and the metric multidimensional scaling (MDS) (Figure 5) showed the same pattern of distribution at the individual level. The above analyses reveal two clusters, with the individuals of Rodos Small Horse separated from the remaining populations. In the second cluster, the different colors for individuals of Lesvos, Messara and Midili are combined, while Skyros individuals within this cluster were more distinct. The above analyses confirm the distinctiveness and relative homogeneity of Rodos and Skyros Small Horses. On the other hand, Lesvos Gaiter and Messara breed, the populations with the highest genetic diversity estimates as previously noted, seem quite heterogeneous as their individuals are not separated from each other and occupy a common area on the plot (Figure 3). The clear differentiation between the Skyros Small Horse and Messara breed (Crete) populations found here, is in agreement with previous findings using RAPD DNA markers (Apostolidis et al., 2001). The two unique Midili Small Horse individuals seem related to Lesvos Gaiter individuals, not surprisingly, since they are from the same island. Using two different analyses the same two clusters are depicted in the population assignment and MDS diagrams (Figure 4 and Figure 5).

Diack Sea journal of Agricultur	re
---------------------------------	----

Table 3. Genetic variability estimations per locus and population

	Skyros Small Horse Rodos Small Horse			Lesvos Gaiter			Messara Breed				Midili Small Horse									
		n=	9			n=	6			n=2	22			n=	7			n=	2	
locus	PIC	Na	Ne	A_r	PIC	Na	Ne	Ar	PIC	Na	Ne	A_r	PIC	Na	Ne	A_{r}	PIC	Na	Ne	A_{r}
VHL20	0.687	6	3.6	2.86	0.368	2	1.9	1.92	0.753	8	4.6	2.99	0.701	6	3.8	2.96	0.305	2	1.6	2.00
HTG4	0.194	3	1.3	1.44	0.141	2	1.2	1.33	0.701	5	3.9	2.80	0.453	3	2.2	2.15	0.375	2	2	2.00
AHT4	0.286	2	1.5	1.67	-	1	1	1	0.764	8	4.8	3.03	0.759	7	4.7	3.19	0.375	2	2	2.00
HMS7	0.789	6	5.4	3.24	-	1	1	1	0.806	7	5.8	3.18	0.655	4	3.4	2.78	0.375	2	2	2.00
HTG6	0.448	3	2.2	2.11	0.375	2	2	1.94	0.518	5	2.5	2.26	0.626	4	3.2	2.68	0.375	2	2	2.00
AHT5	0.749	4	3.8	3.07	0.555	3	2.7	2.46	0.723	6	4.2	2.88	0.664	5	3.1	2.83	0.305	2	1.6	2.00
HMS6	0.327	3	1.6	1.78	-	1	1	1	0.744	6	4.5	2.94	0.657	5	3.4	2.78	0.375	2	2	2.00
ASB2	0.624	4	3.2	2.63	0.239	2	1.4	1.58	0.799	8	5.6	3.18	0.617	5	3.1	2.66	0.375	2	2	2.00
HTG10	0.592	4	2.8	2.53	0.368	2	1.9	1.92	0.827	9	6.5	3.27	0.719	6	4.1	3.03	0.375	2	2	2.00
HTG7	0.512	4	2.5	2.30	0.141	2	1.2	1.33	0.479	4	2.1	2.14	0.585	4	2.8	2.55	0	1	1	1.00
HMS3	0.565	4	2.8	2.45	0.305	2	1.6	1.75	0.806	7	5.8	3.18	0.671	5	3.5	2.84	0.375	2	2	2.00
HMS2	0.689	6	3.6	2.86	0.368	2	1.9	1.92	0.781	8	5.1	3.09	0.754	6	4.7	3.16	0.305	2	1.6	2.00
ASB17	0.708	6	4	2.93	-	1	1	1	0.761	9	4.7	3.02	0.657	5	3.4	2.80	0.305	2	1.6	2.00
ASB23	0.718	6	4.1	2.97	-	1	1	1	0.790	8	5.4	3.12	0.754	6	4.7	3.16	0.305	2	1.6	2.00
LEX33	0.671	4	3.6	2.78	0.141	2	1.2	1.33	0.742	7	4.5	2.94	0.685	5	3.6	2.90	0.375	2	2	2.00
mean	0.571	4.33	3.05	2.51	0.200	1.73	1.47	1.50	0.733	7.00	4.67	2.93	0.664	5.07	3.56	2.83	0.327	1.93	1.80	1.93
±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±	±
s.e.m	0.047	0.35	0.29	0.14	0.035	0.15	0.13	0.12	0.026	0.39	0.31	0.08	0.020	0.27	0.19	0.07	0.025	0.07	0.08	0.06

PIC= polymorphism information content, Na= number of alleles, Ne= effective number of alleles, Ar= allelic richness.

"-"= the PIC value in monomorphic loci. s.e.m= standard error of the mean

Table 4. Genetic diversity estimations per locus and population. (expected heterozygosity He, observed heterozygosity Ho, diversity within subpopulations HS, total diversity HT, diversity that resides between subpopulations GST)

Locus H Skyros Small F Horse n=9		Rodos Small	Lesvos Gaiter	Messara Breed	Genetic (to	diversity p otal estimate	er locus es)	
		norse n= y	110130 11-0	11-22	11-7	Hs	H_{T}	G _{ST}
VHL20	He	0.765	0.530	0.801	0.791	0.721	0.831	0.132
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	Ho	0.667	0.833	0.818	0.714	017 = 1	0.001	0.10
HTG4	He	0.216	0.167	0.760	0.582	0.435	0.681	0.362
	Ho	0.222	0.167	0.818	0.571			
AHT4	He	0.366	0	0.810	0.846	0.508	0.726	0.301
	Ho	0.444	0	0.773	1			
HMS7	He	0.863	0	0.848	0.758	0.620	0 786	0 2 1 1
111137	Ho	0.889	0	0.909	0.857	0.020	0.700	0.211
UTCG	He	0.582	0.546	0.610	0.736	0.612	0.610	0.004
1100	Ho	0.778	0.667	0.545	0.857	0.012	0.010	-0.004
시니까드	He	0.830	0.682	0.778	0.747	0 760	0 0 2 1	0.075
Anis	H_{o}	0.778	0.667	0.773	0.857	0.700	0.021	0.075
нмсе	H_{e}	0.386	0	0.797	0.758	0 4 9 2	0 5 8 2	0157
111130	Ho	0.444	0	0.727	0.714	0.492	0.505	0.157
ASB2	He	0.726	0.303	0.841	0.725*	0.660	0.775	0140
	H_{o}	0.667	0.333	0.864	0.286	0.000	0.775	0.140
HTG10	H_{e}	0.686	0.530	0.865	0.813*	0.721	0.797	0.092
	Ho	0.667	0.500	0.864	1	•••		
11707	He	0.628	0.167	0.532	0.692	0 502	0.665	0 2 4 2
піс/	H_{o}	0.667	0.167	0.546	0.857	0.505		0.245
IIMC2	He	0.673	0.409	0.848	0.769	0 6 0 1	0 707	0 1 4 6
пмээ	H_{o}	0.667	0.500	0.818	0.571	0.001	0.797	0.140
имсэ	He	0.765	0.530	0.825	0.846	0 749	0 774	0 0 2 2
111132	Ho	0.778	0.500	0.682	0.714	0.740	0.774	0.033
ASB17	H_{e}	0.791	0	0.808	0.758	0 501	0.750	0 212
ASD17	H_{o}	1	0	0.773	0.857	0.391	0.730	0.215
ACB33	He	0.797	0	0.833*	0.846	0.620	0 780	0 102
ASDZS	Ho	0.778	0	0.727	0.714	0.029	0.700	0.195
LEVOO	He	0.765	0.167	0.794	0.780*	0 () (0 724	0.126
LEX33	H_{o}	0.889	0.167	0.818	0.429	0.634	0.734	0.136
Multi-locus	He	0.656±0.049	0.269 ±0.064	0.783±0.024	0.763±0.023	0.621	0.741	0.161
(mean±s.e.m)	Ho	0.689±0.051	0.300±0.075	0.764±0.027	0.733±0.052	±0.026	±0.019	±0.025
*The significant of	lifferen	ces between H _e and	d H _o , s.e.m= stand	ard error of the m	ean			

BSJ Agri / Myrina EMILIO KATSOULAKOU et al.

Locus	Skyros Small Horse	Rodos Small Horse	Lesvos Gaiter	Messara Breed
VHL20	0.195	-0.667	-0.022	0.104
HTG4	-0.032	-0.000	-0.078	0.020
AHT4	-0.231	-	0.047	-0.200
HMS7	-0.032	-	-0.074	-0.143
HTG6	-0.366	-0.250	0.108	-0.180
AHT5	0.067	0.024	0.007	-0.161
HMS6	-0.164	-	0.089	0.062
ASB2	0.086	-0.111	-0.027	0.625
HTG10	0.030	0.063	0.001	-0.254
HTG7	-0.067	-0.000	-0.026	-0.263
HMS3	0.010	-0.250	0.036	0.273
HMS2	-0.018	0.063	0.176	0.167
ASB17	-0.286	-	0.044	-0.143
ASB23	0.026	-	0.130	0.167
LEX33	-0.174	-0.000	-0.031	0.471
mean	-0.054	-0.130	0.026	0.042

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

*Fis value="-" in monomorphic loci. (Midili was excluded)



Figure 3. Diagram of factorial correspondence analysis of the studied horses.



Figure 4. Population assignment diagram of the studied horses.



Figure 5. Diagram of metric multidimensional scaling (MDS) analysis of the studied horses.

It is worth mentioning that miniature horses like the Skyros Small (probably the most studied Greek breed) (Apostolidis et al., 2001; Bömcke et al., 2011; Laliotis and Avdi, 2017), Rodos Small and Midili Small were abundant on the islands until two centuries ago. Then they were practically abandoned after the onset of larger breeds for riding and their use as working animals was reduced. The surviving herds were then discarded and their numbers declined significantly. Although almost extinct now, these horses seem to have contributed significantly to modern Greek horse populations. Lesvos Gaiter for example seems to have evolved from crossings between the local Midili Small Horse and Greek or foreign gaiters. On the other hand, Lesvos and Messara gaiters are much appreciated by locals, who favor their gait and cross them in an effort to preserve them by their own initiative, without any specific, organized plan of mating. The above horse populations are often confused with each other and they are crossed with other gaiting breeds of Greek or foreign origin, a practice that puts efforts to preserve and establish them as breeds at risk while eroding their genetic character.

Summarizing our findings, Lesvos Gaiter population showed sufficiently large amounts of genetic variability and this likely is due to its heterogeneous origin. It is suggested that a registry for the Lesvos be set up with clearly defined breed standards. Removal of individuals that do not meet these standards will help create uniformity within the population but it is important that genetic diversity be maintained to the greatest degree possible. Avoiding crosses with other breeds is a necessity. The Messara breed and Skyros Small Horse had intermediate levels of heterozygosity and high PIC values relative to their medium low population size and are therefore possibly not at immediate risk of genetic erosion and extinction. Finally, Rodos Small Horse and Midili Small Horse are at the verge of extinction with population sizes of less than 20 individuals and largely

inbred, as suggested by our findings. The two populations were found to have low levels of genetic variability that would possibly still allow their survival if conservation efforts were to be urgently fortified, focusing on controlled breeding practices to avoid any further loss of variability.

In general, the insufficient individual ID tracking (by microchip or other) of the animals and lack of pedigrees (except Skyros Small Horses) in Greece are prominent problems that strongly affect the efforts of protection of indigenous breeds. The onset of widely acceptable, objective breed standards and further study of the Greek breeds would be of great importance for their official recognition and preservation.

4. Conclusion

From our analysis, the estimations of genetic variability showed promising levels for Lesvos Gaiter, Messara Breed and Skyros Small Horses that seem to have good chances of preservation if properly managed. Rodos Small Horse and Midili Small Horse are clearly in danger of extinction and only well-planned and immediate protective measures could rescue them.

In the future, we plan to add more samples from these and other Greek horses as well as foreign breeds to our dataset in order to have a better depiction of the genetic relationships among these populations.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	M.E.K	D.P.	N.K.	G.P.L.	I.B.	E.G.C.	R.J.	P.K.
С			34		33			33
D			25		25	25		25
S			25			25	25	25
DCP	20		20	20	20		20	
DAI	34	33						33
L	25	25		25				25
W	50							50
CR				20	20	20	20	20
SR	50				25			25
PM					25	25	25	25
FA			25		25	25	25	

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

All experimental procedures were approved by the Bioethical Committee of the Agricultural University of Athens under the guidelines of Council Directive regarding the protection of animals used for experimental and other scientific purposes (protocol code: 86/609/EEC and date of approval: April 14, 2021).

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all the horse owners who gave permission to collect samples from their animals and provided valuable information about them.

References

- Apostolidis AP, Mamuris Z, Karkavelia E, Alifakiotis T. 2001. Comparison of Greek breeds of horses using RAPD markers. J Anim Breed Genet, 118(1): 47-56.
- Belkhir K, Borsa P, Chikhi L, Raufaste N, Bonhomme F. 2004. GENETIX 4.05, logiciel sous Windows TM pour la génétique des populations. Laboratoire Génome, Populations, Interactions, CNRS UMR 5000, Université de Montpellier II, Montpellier, France.
- Bömcke E, Gengler N, Cothran EG. 2011. Genetic variability in the Skyros pony and its relationship with other Greek and foreign horse breeds. Genet Mol Biol, 34: 68-76.
- Centre of Animal Genetic Resources of Athens. 2019. URL: http://www.kgbzath.gr (access date: August 10, 2022).
- Coombs JA, Letcher BH, Nislow KH. 2008. Create: a software to create input files from diploid genotypic data for 52 genetic software programs. Mol Ecol Resour, 8: 578-580. DOI: 10.1111/j.1471-8286.2007.02036.x.
- Cothran EG, Luis C. 2005. Genetic distance as a tool in the conservation of rare horse breeds. Pub-Eur Assoc Anim Prod, 116: 55.

- Cothran G, Kostaras N, Juras, R, Conant E. 2010. Genetic diversity in native Greek horses. In: Book of Abstracts of the 61st Annual Meeting of the European Association for Animal Production, August 23-27, Heraklion, Greece, pp: 210.
- El Mousadik A, Petit RJ. 1996. High level of genetic differentiation for allelic richness among populations of the argan tree [Argania spinosa (L.) Skeels] endemic to Morocco. Theoret. Appl Genet, 92: 832-839. DOI: 10.1007/BF00221895.
- Giantsis IA, Diakakis NE, Avdi M. 2020. High frequencies of TNC and COL5A1 genotypes associated with low risk for superficial digital flexor tendinopathy in Greek indigenous horse breeds compared with warmblood horses. J Equine Vet Sci, 92: 103173.
- Goudet J. 2005. HIERFSTAT, a package for R to compute and test hierarchical F-statistics. Mol Ecol Notes, 5: 184-186.
- Jombart T. 2008. adegenet: a R package for the multivariate analysis of genetic markers. Bioinformatics, 24: 1403-1405.
- Juras R, Cothran EG, Klimas R. 2003. Genetic analysis of three Lithuanian native horse breeds. Acta Agric Scand (A), 53(4): 180-185.
- Kakoi H, Tozaki T, Gawahara H. 2007. Molecular analysis using mitochondrial DNA and microsatellites to infer the formation process of Japanese native horse populations. Biochem Genet, 45(3): 375-395.
- Kostaras N, Papaioannou K, Konstantinidou M. 2021. Greek equine breeds in "Greek Domestic Breeds, A hidden treasure". AMALTHIA - Network for the protection of Greek indigenous farm animals, Athens, Greece, 1st ed, pp: 152.
- Laliotis GP, Avdi M. 2017. Genetic diversity assessment of an indigenous horse population of Greece. Biotech Anim Husb, 33(1): 81-90.
- Nei M. 1978. Estimation of average heterozygosity and genetic distance from a small number of individuals. Genetics, 89(3): 583-590.
- Nei M. 1987. Phylogenetic trees in molecular evolutionary genetics. Annu Rev Genet, 30: 371-403. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.genet.30.1.371.
- Nei M, Chesser RK. 1983. Estimation of fixation indices and gene diversities. Annals Human Genet, 47(3): 253-259.
- Paetkau D, Calvert W, Stirling I, Strobeck C. 1995. Microsatellite analysis of population structure in Canadian polar bears. Mol Ecol, 4(3): 347-354.
- Paetkau D, Slade R, Burden M, Estoup A. 2004. Genetic assignment methods for the direct, real-time estimation of migration rate: a simulation-based exploration of accuracy and power. Mol Ecol, 13(1): 55-65.
- Papaioannou K, Kostaras N. 2006. Study of the indigenous horse breed of Rhodes, in Greek. AMALTHIA -Network for the P rotection of Greek Indigenous Farm Animals, Athens, Greece, 1st ed, pp: 152.
- Peakall R, Smouse PE. 2012. GenAlEx 6.5: Genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and researchan update. Bioinformatics, 28: 2537-2539.
- Promerová M, Andersson LS, Juras R, Penedo MCT, Reissmann M, Tozaki T, Andersson L. 2014. Worldwide frequency distribution of the 'Gait keeper'mutation in the DMRT 3 gene. Anim Genet, 45(2): 274-282.
- R Core Team. 2020. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL: https://www.R-project.org/ (access date: September 10, 2021).
- Rousset F. 2008. Genepop'007: A complete reimplementation of the Genepop. Mol Ecol Resour, 8(1): 103-106.
- Scherf BD. 2000. World watch list of domestic animal diversity.

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome, Italy, 3rd ed., pp: 37.

- Takasu M, Hiramatsu N, Tozaki T, Kakoi H, Nakagawa T, Hasegawa T, Maeda HM, Murase T, Mukoyama H. 2012. Genetic characterization of the endangered Kiso horse using 31 microsatellite DNAs. J Vet Medic Sci, 74(2): 161-166.
- Thirstrup JP, Pertoldi C, Loeschcke V. 2008. Genetic analysis,

breed assignment and conservation priorities of three native Danish horse breeds. Anim Genet, 39(5): 496-505.

Van de Goor L, Panneman H, van Haeringen W. 2010. A proposal for standardization in forensic equine DNA typing: allele nomenclature for 17 equine-specific STR loci. Anim Genet, 41(2): 122-127.

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1173277



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578

Research Article Volume 6 - Issue 2: 126-133 / March 2023

THE EFFECT OF SALT STRESS ON THE GERMINATION AND SEEDLING GROWTH PARAMETERS IN BIRDSFOOT TREFOIL (Lotus Corniculatus L.)

Serhad BÜYÜKYILDIZ¹, Mehmet YILDIRIM¹, Ayşe Nida KURT^{1*}

¹Muş Alparslan University, Faculty of Applied Sciences, Department of Crop Production and Technology, 49250, Muş, Türkiye

Abstract: This study was carried out to determine the response of birdsfoot trefoil to salt stress during germination and seedling growth. The seeds of birdsfoot trefoil (Sarıyıldız variety) was used as material. In the study; 6 different doses of NaCl (pure water (control), 250 ppm, 750 ppm, 2500 ppm, 5000 ppm, 10000 ppm) was applied to birdsfoot trefoil seeds during germination and emergence. Germination experiment was carried out in darkness (20 ± 2 °C) in the petri dishes according to the completely randomized design with 4 replications. Observations were made every day at the same time, seeds with radicle length exceeding 2 mm were considered germinated. According to the results of the research, salt concentrations in many features in terms of germination and seedling development were statistically significant. Increased salt concentrations negatively affected germination and seedling growth. In terms of all the properties examined the lowest values were obtained in 10000 ppm application.

Keywords: Salt tolerance, Birdsfoot trefoil, Forage crops

*Corresponding author: Mus Alparslan University, Faculty of Applied Sciences, Department of Crop Production and Technology, 49250, Mus, Türkiye						
E mail: ankayaalp@gmail.com (A. N. KURT)						
Serhad BÜYÜKYILDIZ	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0020-7338	Received: September 09, 2022			
Mehmet YILDIRIM	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6523-1764	Accepted: January 16, 2023			
Ayşe Nida KURT	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7752-5663	Published: March 01, 2023			
Cite as: Büyükyıldız S, Yıldırım M, Kurt AN. 2023. The effect of salt stress on the germination and seedling growth parameters in birdsfoot trefoil (Lotus						
corniculatus L.). BSJ Agri, 6(2): 126-133.						

1. Introduction

The growth and devolepment of plants in the environment they live in can be adversely affected by biotic or abiotic elements which are considered stress factors. Salinity, which is one of the leading abiotic stress factors, is defined as the accumulation of salt on the soil surface and near the surface as a result of the rising of the salts, which are washed into the groundwater by washing, especially in regions with arid and semi-arid climate characteristics, to the soil surface through capillarity with high ground water and the separation of water from the soil by evaporation (Kwiatowsky, 1998; Kara, 2002). Salinity stress causes significant losses in plant yield and quality, especially by changing the soil structure. Salinity, which is one of the limiting factors in increasing crop productivity and yield potential in the areas agricultural production, is a problem such as low precipitation, high evapotranspiration, high ground water, salty irrigation water and incorrect irrigation practices in arid and semi-arid regions where the amount of precipitation is low and the temperature is high. This situation emerges as one of the most important problems threatening food security for societies whose livelihood is plant and animal production (Cowie et al., 2018; Tietel et al., 2019). In our country salinity is a problem which is seen in 1,518,746 ha of the land and 867,405 ha of the agricultural lands moreover on a worldwide basis this ratio follows as 12,781 ha of agricultural land (Karaoğlu and Yalçın, 2018; Dursun and Mikailsoy, 2020). It is also said that the area of saline soils in the world today continues to increase steadily (Athar et al., 2009). It is recommended that the germination period is the most sensitive period of the life of plants to salt stress (Ahmad et al., 2013), and in the salinity studies, when the development periods of the plant are compared, germination and seedling development periods should be emphasized more and these developmental stages should be taken into consideration more in determining the salt responses of the species (Van Hoorn 1991; Ghoulam and Fares 2001). The response of plants to salt stress varies according to plant species, as well as differences within the same species. As a result of many studies conducted to date, it has been revealed that salinity significantly reduces germination and even completely prevents germination, and it has been reported that this effect varies depending on the plant type, variety and salt dose (Acar et al., 2011; Şentürk and Sivritepe, 2015; Önal Aşcı and Üney, 2016; Uslu and Gedik, 2020, Kızılşimşek and Süren, 2020). In the case of salt in the soil where most cultivated forage crops are grown, which will limit their growth and development, their yields decrease greatly. Especially in arid and semi-arid regions, saline soils limit yields in areas where forage crops are grown (Ateş and Tekeli, 2007). It has been reported that if the amount of salt in the soil is more than 1.5% of the dry soil weight,

most forage crops cannot be grown (Gökkus, 2009). On the other hand, it has been reported that high salt concentrations such as 200 mM NaCl cause very significant decreases in germination and seedling development of Trifolium incarnatum, Trifolium repens (Gravandi, 2013), Trifolium resupinatum (Ates and Tekeli, 2007), Trifolium fragiferum (Can et al., 2013), Trifolium repens, Trifolium alexandrinum (Saberi et al., 2013), Medicago sativa (Zhanwu et al., 2011; Kaplan et al., 2015), Trifolium pratense (Tolan et al., 2017), Melilotus officinalis (Ghaderi-Far et al., 2010), Onobrychis sativa (Majidi et al., 2010), Pisum sativum (Demirkol et al., 2019), Vicia spp. seeds (Uslu and Gedik, 2020). Since the reclamation of salty soils is a difficult and costly process, it is more appropriate to grow salinity-resistant plants to increase crop production in these areas (Turhan and Seniz, 2010; Önal Aşcı, 2011). Therefore, in recent years, studies have focused on the salinity resistance of plant species and varieties. Determination of plant species and varieties that are tolerant to high soil salinity and that can produce economically have been expressed as the primary biotic approach in bringing the areas with salinity problems into cultivation (Ashraf and Harris, 2004). Birdsfoot trefoil (Lotus corniculatus L.) is a medium-perennial, perennial, easily self-renewing special legume widely found in different parts of the world. With a high protein content (15-28%), birdsfoot trefoil can be grown mostly for grass, silage and cover plant, or in rangeland pure or mixed. It is also considered a valuable forege crops that improves the performance of ruminants (Hannaway and Myers, 2004; Waghorn, 2008; Anonymous, 2014). Birdsfoot trefoil is a rangeland plant that is resistant to drought and cold, adapts to a very different soil structure in terms of acidity and moisture, is palatable, has no swelling feature, can easily renew itself in pastures due to its seed pouring feature, forms a good mixture with kentucky bluegrass, smooth broom, cocksfoot and timothy for grazing purposes (Açıkgöz, 2001). Birdsfoot trefoil is an N-stabilizing legume, an important part of sustainable agriculture and organic production (Tomic et al., 2007). It has the property of tolerating wet acidic soil (pH = 4.5), soil salinity and some drought conditions (Karadağ et al., 2017). For this reason, it is very important to determine the salt resistance of legume forage crop species and varieties that can grow efficiently with grasses in salty areas (Rogers, 1997). Although birdsfoot trefoil species are seen in natural vegetation in almost every region of our country, the fact that there are not enough studies on these species is considered to be a great deficiency for our country. The current state of rangelands and cultivation of forage crops, and the Mediterranean climate zone, in which our country is a part, reveal the need to give priority to this plant at least as much as alfalfa and Trifolium spp. or even more so according to the situation (Uzun et al., 2008). In this respect, it is necessary to evaluate the types of birdsfoot trefoil. Therefore, in this research, the resistance of birdsfoot trefoil, which is a productive and high quality forage crop, to salt stress during germination and seedling period was investigated.

2. Materials and Methods

This study was carried out in Mus Alparslan University Central Laboratory to determine the effects of salt concentrations applied to the birdsfoot trefoil on germination and seedling growth characteristics. Seeds are subjected to germination testing to obtain information about the viability of the seed, calculate the amount of seed to be sown and compare different seeds about biological value. In order for plants to develop in a healthy way, the seed, which is the first stage of production, must germinate in a uniform way. Before starting to work for this, the seeds of the Sarıyıldız variety of the birsfoot trefoil, which was first procured from the Central Black Sea Transition Zone Agricultural Research Institute Directorate, were subjected to germination testing with four repetitions and 50 seeds per repeat. As a result of the germination tests, the germination rate of the birdsfoot trefoil seeds was determined as 65% on average. Among the reasons for the low germination rates of birdsfoot trefoil, it has been reported by studies conducted in different locations that there is a significant hardseededness in the seeds of birdsfoot trefoil and that it is affected by climatic events (Genckan, 1992; Hatipoğlu and Avcıoğlu, 2009). In another study, it was reported that there were 92.3% hard seeds in birsfoot trefoil seeds, which adversely affected the germination rate and average germination time. From this point of view, before the seeds are exposed to salt stress, the seed pods are eroded with the help of sandpaper in order to increase germination rates and to obtain more accurate results. The sanded seeds were subjected to germination testing with four repetitions and 50 seeds per repeat before the trial. As a result of the test, the average germination rate was determined as 95% and thus the seeds whose hardseededness properties were broken were prepared by sanding again for the experiment. Before the germination trial, the seeds were kept in a 1% sodium hypochlorite solution for five minutes for surface sterilization, then rinsed three times with pure water (Özkurt ve ark., 2018). The rinsed seeds were dried in air on filter paper and placed in petri dishes with a diameter of 9 mm in filter paper so that there were 50 seeds each. It is prepared so that the salt concentrations to be applied to the seeds are 0, 250, 750, 2500, 5000, 10000 ppm (Uslu ve Gedik, 2020). The petri dishes with added concentrations were followed in the dark at a temperature of 20±1 °C for a 15-day germination period (Azarafshan and Abbaspour, 2014), and the seeds that produced 2 mm of radicle were considered germinated. The germination rate was calculated by dividing the germinated seeds by the total number of seeds and then multiplying them by 100 (Maquire, 1962). For seedling lengths, radicle and plumule lengths were measured

separately, and then the seedling length was determined by adding both lengths (ISTA, 1984). The radicle and plumule were weighed as fresh and the fresh weights of the seedlings were determined. The dry weight of the seedlings dried by soaking at 70 °C for 48 hours in the oven was determined (ISTA, 1984). The Vigor index value was calculated by multiplying the seedling length by the germination rate (Abdul-Baki and Anderson, 1973; ISTA, 1983). To determine the difference between doses in terms of the tolerance of birdsfoot trefoil to salinity, the salt tolerance index (%TTI) as a function of seedling fresh weight was calculated with the following formula (Bağcı et al., 2003): Salt tolerant indeks = (total fresh weight in salt concentration / total fresh weight in control application) * 100.

The data obtained in the study were subjected to analysis of variance in accordance with the randomized design with four replication using JMP-13.0 statistics package program to compare significant differences among treatments. Duncan's multiple range test was applied to compare the means if there were any significant differences.

3. Results and Discussion

The effects of salt doses on germination rate were given in Figure 1 and it was determined that there was a statistical difference between salt doses in terms of germination rate (P<0.01). Salt stress often reduced germination relative to control, but the increase in salt dose did not always reduce germination rate linearly (Figure 1). Therefore, the dose of 250 ppm salt was statistically included in the same group as the control. In the study, the germination rate ranged between 13.00-98.00%, and the lowest germination rate (13.00%) was realized at the highest salt dose (10000 ppm). While there was no significant reduction in the germination rate up to 5000 ppm application, the obtained values were found to be lower than the control. Salinity has been reported to adversely affect germination by creating osmotic stress in plants (Doğan and Çarpıcı, 2016). As the salt concentration in the germination environment increases, the osmotic pressure increases and therefore the seed in the environment does not receive enough water for germination. As a matter of fact, osmotic stress due to salinity is clearly seen at the dose of 10000 ppm, where the lowest germination occurs. Findings that germination rate decreases as salt concentration increases in many plants under salt stress support the study results (Tolan et al., 2017; Özkurt et al., 2018; Demirkol et al., 2019; Okcu 2020; Uslu and Gedik, 2020).

The effect of salt doses on the mean germination time is given in Figure 2 and it was determined that there was a statistical difference between the salt doses in terms of the average germination time (P<0.01). Salt stress often increased the mean germination time compared to the control, but the increase in salt dose did not always increase the mean germination time linearly.



Figure 1. Effect of salt level on germination rate.



Figure 2. Effect of salt level on mean germination time.

Therefore, salt doses of 0 (1.16 days), 250 (1.27 days), 750 (1.28 days), 2500 (1.33 days) ppm were statistically in the same group in terms of mean germination time, that is, germination showed germination for similar periods, and germination in the longest time (3.05 days) was realized in 10000 ppm salt application. The observed increase in mean germination times due to increased salt doses coincides with the findings of various researchers (Önal Aşçı and Üney, 2016; Tolan et al., 2017; Şimşek Soysal et al., 2018; Şimşek Soysal et al., 2021).

The effects of salt doses on germination index were given in Figure 3 and it was determined that there was a statistical difference between salt doses in terms of germination index (P<0.01).



Figure 3. Effect of salt level on germination index.

As a result of the salt doses applied to the birdsfoot trefoil seeds, the germination index varied in the range of 1.88-44.95, and the highest values were obtained from the control application and the lowest values were obtained from the highest salt concentration of 10000 ppm. It has been stated that the high germination index is an indicator of high seed strength (Maquire, 1962). In other words, as the salt dose increases, it has been observed that the decrease in the germination index also reduces the seed strength. In similar studies, it has been reported that the germination index decreases as salt stress increases (Bilgili et al., 2018; Ertekin et al., 2017; Beyazçiçek and Yılmaz, 2020).

The effects of salt doses on germination energy were given in Figure 4 and it was determined that there was a statistical difference between salt doses in terms of germination energy (P<0.01). As a result of the salt doses applied to the birdsfoot trefoil seeds, the germination energy ranged from 0.0-21.37 and the highest values were obtained from the highest values control application and the lowest values were obtained from the highest salt concentration of 10000 ppm. Germination energy is one of the most important parameters in which the strength and quality of the seed is evaluated, and high germination energy indicates that the quality and strength of the seed is high. Although salt stress up to 2500 ppm can be tolerated, the values obtained after 5000 ppm have caused the strength of the seed to decrease greatly.



Figure 4. Effect of salt level on mean germination energy.

In the study, plumule length, radicle length, seedling length, seedling length, seedling fresh and dry weights were examined to determine the effects of salt doses on seedling development. The effect of salt doses on the development of plumule and radicle of birdsfoot trefoil seedlings was found to be statistically significant (P<0.01). Plumule and radicle lengths are important parameters in terms of salt stress. From these parameters, the radicle is taken to the plant by direct contact with soil and water and contributes to plumule development (Haileselasie and Gselasie 2012). Therefore, radicle and plumule lengths give the first information about the level of salt exposure of plants.

The plumule lengths of birdsfoot trefoil varied in the

BSJ Agri / Serhad BÜYÜKYILDIZ et al.

range of 0.7525-4.5675 mm. While 250 ppm salt administration was statistically in the same group as the control, salt doses of 750 ppm and above adversely affected plumule development. The radicle lengths of the birdsfoot trefoil ranged from 0.4325 to 2.32 mm. The highest radicle length was obtained from the control group and the lowest was obtained from the salt dose of 10000 ppm. Salt doses of 250 ppm and above adversely affected the development of the radicle. The development of the plant to the radicle is important in terms of salt resistance. It is known that salt has an inhibitory effect on the development of radicle during germination. This study reveals that salinity has a negative effect on radicle development, and studies by different researchers support this (Ahmed et al., 2017; Bose et al., 2018). The seedling length of the birdsfoot trefoil varied in the range of 1.1850-6.8875 mm, while the application of 250 ppm salt was statistically in the same group as the control, salt doses of 750 ppm and above adversely affected the length of the seedlings. The fact that the roots that first come into contact with the salt concentration under salt stress conditions are adversely affected by this situation also adversely affects the intake of water and other nutrients to the plant. The development problem that starts from the radicle component prevents the plant from feeding enough and this situation adversely affects plumule development. It is thought that the reason for the decrease in plumule, radicle and seedling length compared to increasing salt concentrations is due to the inhibition of cell division and elongation due to salt stress and the toxic effect of these salts (Van Horn 1991; Delgado and Sanchez-Raya 2007).

Various studies investigating the effects of salt stress on the birdsfoot trefoil plant also confirm that salt stress has a negative effect on plumule, radicle and seedling development (Teakle et al., 2006; Galloway et al., 2010; Azarafshan and Abbaspour, 2014).

Fresh weights and dry weights of birdsfoot trefoil are 5.22-18.32 mg/seedling, respectively; it varied in the range of 0.74-1.17 mg/seedling. In terms of seedling age weights, 250 ppm salt application was statistically in the same group as the control group, while salt doses of 750 ppm and above adversely affected the fresh seedling weight. In terms of dry seedling weights, salt applications after 250 ppm adversely affected the seedling dry weight compared to the control application, and dry seedling weight exhibited the lowest values in 10000 ppm salt applications. Salinity causes physiological drought and as a result, plants do not get enough water (Goertz and Coons, 1989). When the water lost by transpiration cannot be met, the turgor pressure in the cells decreases and plant growth is limited (Ashraf, 1994). As a result of the inability of plants to get water, a decrease in seedling weight occurs. It has been reported that salt stress as an abiotic factor causes inhibition of the development of root and above-ground organs in plants and reduces the dry weight of roots and stems (Epstein, 1985). In the current study, as salt concentrations increased, the

seedling fresh and dry weights of birdsfoot trefoil decreased. Many plants under salt stress have been reported by different researchers to have significant reductions in seedling fresh and dry weight (Saboraa et al., 2006; Karakullukçu and Adak, 2008; Benlioğlu and Özkan, 2015; Akçay and Tan, 2018).

The vigor index is a value that indicates the vitality and performance level of seeds during germination and development of seedlings (Uslu and Gedik, 2020).

The effect of salt doses on vigor index in birdsfoot trefoil is seen in Figure 5. The vigor index values of the birdsfoot trefoil against the applied salt doses varied between 17.23-674.97, and the vigor index value decreased as a result of the increased salt applications and this decrease was found to be statistically significant. In similar studies, similar to the current study, it has been found that the vigor index decreases with the increase in salt concentrations (Özkurt et al., 2018; Uslu and Gedik, 2020).



Figure 5. Effect of salt level on vigor index.

The effects of salt doses applied to birdsfoot trefoil on salt tolerance index are given in Figure 6 and it is determined that salt tolerance index decreases as salt dose increases and this decrease is statistically significant.



Figure 6. Effect of salt level on salt tolerance index.

BSJ Agri / Serhad BÜYÜKYILDIZ et al.

While the highest level of salt tolerance birdsfoot trefoil was determined to be at a dose of 750 ppm (90.78) and 2500 ppm (84.88) salt, which are in the same statistical group with the highest 250 ppm (104.25), tolerance to salt at a dose of 10000 ppm was considerably reduced. It has been stated that when plants are grown in salty environments, the Na⁺ and Cl⁻ ions they absorb accumulate in the roots, stems and leaves, and the accumulation of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ in various organs of the plants slows down the development and seriously affects their tolerance to salt (Salisbury and Ross, 1992). Similar studies have also reported that increased salt concentrations reduce the salt tolerance index (Kökten et al., 2010; Avcı, 2019; Uslu and Gedik, 2020; Güleç Şen, 2021).

4. Conclusion

In this study, the effect of different salt concentrations on germination and seedling development parameters in birdsfoot trefoil was investigated. It has been determined that increasing salt concentrations significantly reduce the germination rate, germination index, germination energy, plumule length, radicle length, seedling length, seedling fresh and dry weights, vigor index, salt tolerance index (0 ppm) of the birdsfoot trefoil compared to applications and increase the control average germination time. When the findings are evaluated in their entirety, they show that the germination and seedling parameters considered together with the increase in salt concentration are also adversely affected, and this negative effect increases as the salt concentration increases. It has been observed that the germination rate of birdsfoot trefoil, especially at 10000 ppm, which is the highest salt concentration, is significantly reduced. The first negative effect of salt stress in terms of germination rate was seen after 5000 ppm, but it is thought that when plants complete germination and have poor development in their first development cycle, they may not maintain their subsequent vegetative development well and may cause a decrease in their yield. As a matter of fact, salt stress causes the sensitivity of plants to biotic stressors that they will encounter in their future development periods to increase. As a result of the study, although the germination rate in the birdsfoot trefoil can be tolerated up to 5000 ppm, it was seen that other parameters decreased as the salt dose increased according to the control application. It has also been determined that birdsfoot trefoil can tolerate salt doses of 250 ppm, 750 ppm, 2500 ppm. At the same time, it is thought that in the areas where the salinity problem of the studied variety is experienced, it will be important to determine the yield and quality performance in field conditions in terms of evaluating the salty areas. However, in order to make healthier recommendations, it will be useful to carry out new studies carried out in pot and field conditions of this study.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	S.B.	M.Y.	A.N.K.
С			100
D			100
S			100
DCP	25	25	50
DAI	25	25	50
L			100
W			100
CR			100
SR			100
РМ			100
FA			100

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

Ethics committee approval was not required for this study because of there was no study on animals or humans.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by funding from the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Türkiye (TÜBİTAK) (2209-A Research Project Support Programme for Undergraduate Students (Application number: 1919B01210231)).

References

- Abdul-Baki AA, Anderson JD. 1973. Vigor determination in soybean seed by multiple criteria. Crop Sci, 13: 630-633.
- Acar R, Yorgancılar M, Atalay E, Yaman C. 2011. Farklı tuz uygulamalarının bezelyede (*Pisum sativum* L.) bağıl su içeriği, klorofil ve bitki gelişimine etkisi. Selçuk Tarım Gıda Bil Derg, 25(3): 42-46.
- Açıkgöz E. 2001. Yem Bitkileri. Uludağ Ünv. Güçlendirme Vakfı Yayınları, No: 182, Bursa, Türkiye.
- Ahmad P, Azooz MM, Prasad MNV. 2013. Salt stress in plants. Springer, Heidelberg, Germany, 1st ed., pp: 112.
- Ahmed R, Howlader M, Shila A, Haque M. 2017. Effect of salinity on germination and early seedling growth of maize. Progres Agri, 28(1): 18-25.
- Akçay E, Tan M. 2018. Farklı tuz konsantrasyonlarında kinoa (*Chenopodium quinoa* Willd.)'nın çimlenme özelliklerinin belirlenmesi. Alinteri J Agri Sci, 33(1): 85-91.
- Anonymous. 2014. Grassland index. A searchable catalogue of
grass and forage legumes. Food and Agriculture Organization
FAOFAORome,Italy,URL:http://www.fao.org/ag/AGP/AGPC/doc/GBASE/commonna
mes/commonsearch.htm/ (access date: June 15, 2022).

Ashraf M, Harris PJC. 2004. Potential biochemical indicators of

salinity tolerance in plants. Plant Sci, 166: 3-16.

- Ashraf M. 1994. Breeding for salinity tolerance in plants. Critical Rev Plant Sci, 13(1): 17-42.
- Ateş E, Tekeli AS. 2007. Salinity tolerance of Persian clover (*Trifolium resupinatum var.majus* Boiss.) lines at germinaton and seedling stages. World J Agri Sci, 3: 71-79.
- Athar HUR, Khan A, Ashraf M. 2009. Inducing salt tolerance in wheat by exogenously applied ascorbic acid through different modes. J Plant Nutri, 32(11): 1799-1817.
- Avcı S. 2019. Macar fiğ çeşitlerinde tuzluluğun çimlenme ve fide büyümesi üzerine etkileri. Proceeding of 4th International Anatolian Agriculture, Food, Environment and Biology Congress, 20-22 April, Afyonkarahisar, Türkiye, pp: 555-564.
- Azarafshan M, Abbaspour N. 2014. Growth and physiological parameters under salinity stress in *Lotus corniculatus*. Iranian J Plant Physiol, 4(2): 991-997.
- Bağcı SA, Ekiz H, Yılmaz A. 2003. Determination of the salt tolerance of some barley genotypes and the characteristics affecting tolerance. Turkish J Agri Forestry, 27: 253-260.
- Benlioğlu B, Ozkan U. 2015. Determination of responses of some barley cultivars (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) to salt stress in different doses at the germination period. Tarla Bit Mer Araş Enst Derg, 24(2): 109-114.
- Beyazçiçek H, Yılmaz Ş. 2020. Bazı yabancı orjinli kinoa (*Chenopodium quinoa* Willd.) çeşitlerinde tuz stresinin çimlenme ve erken fide gelişimi üzerine etkisi. Mustafa Kemal Üniv Tarım Bil Derg, 25(2): 159-168.
- Bilgili D, Atak M, Mavi K. 2018. Bazı ekmeklik buğday genotiplerinde NaCl stresinin çimlenme ve fide gelişimine etkisi. Mustafa Kemal Üniv Zir Fak Derg, 23(1): 85-96.
- Bose S, Fakir OA, Islam M, Alam MK, Rashid MH, Hossain AKMZ, Hossain A. 2018. Effects of salinity on seedling and growth of four maize (*Zea mays* L.) cultivars under hydroponics. J Agri Stud, 5(4): 54.
- Can E, Arslan M, Sener O, Daghan H. 2013. Response of strawberry clover (*Trifolium fragiferum* L.) to salinity stress. Res Crops, 14: 576-584.
- Cowie AL, Orr BJ, Sanchez VMC, Chasek P, Crossman ND, Erlewein A, Louwagie C, Maron M, Metternicht G, Minelli S, Tengberg AE, Walter S, Welton S. 2018. Land in balance: The scientific conceptual framework for Land Degradation Neutrality. Environ Sci Pol, 79: 25-35.
- Delgado IC, Sanchez-Raya AJ. 2007. Effects of sodium chloride and mineral nutrients on initial stages of development of sunflower life. Commun Soil Sci Plant Analy, 38: 2013-2027.
- Demirkol G, Yilmaz N, Önal Ö. 2019. Tuz stresinin yem bezelyesi (*Pisum sativum* ssp. arvense L.) seçilmiş genotipinde çimlenme ve fide gelişimi üzerine etkileri. Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam Üniv Tarım Doğa Derg, 22(3): 354-359.
- Doğan R, Çarpıcı EB. 2016. Farklı tuz konsantrasyonlarının bazı tritikale hatlarının çimlenmesi üzerine etkileri. Kahramanmaraş Sütçü İmam Üniv Doğa Bil Derg, 19(2): 130-135.
- Dursun SD, Mikailsoy F. 2020. Tuzlu toprakların hidrokimyasal parametrelerinin laboratuvar koşullarında belirlenmesi. Anadolu Tarım Bil Derg, 35(2): 251-258.
- Epstein E. 1985. Salt-tolerant crops: origin, development, and prospects of the concept. Plant Soil, 89: 187-198.
- Ertekin İ, Yılmaz Ş, Atak M, Can E, Çeliktaş N. 2017. Tuz stresinin bazı yaygın fiğ (*Vicia sativa* L.) çeşitlerinin çimlenmesi üzerine etkileri. Mustafa Kemal Üniv Zir Fak Derg, 22(2): 10-18.
- Galloway A, Cables J, Parsons D, Lane P, Hall E. 2010. Growth and development of Lotus and Trifolium species under saline and waterlogging conditions. In: Proceedings of the Food

Security from Sustainable Agriculture: 15th Agronomy Conference, November 15-18, Lincoln, New Zealand, pp: 15-18.

- Gençkan MS. 1992. Yembitkileri tarımı, II. Basım, Ege Üniversitesi Ziraat Fakültesi Yayınları, No: 467, İzmir, Türkiye, pp: 180-184.
- Ghaderi-Far F, Gherekhlo J, Alimagham M. 2010. Influence of environmental factors on seed germination and seedling emergence of yellow sweet clover (*Melilotus officinalis*). Planta Daninha, 28: 463-469.
- Ghoulam C, Fares K. 2001. Effect of salinity on seed germination and early seedling growth of sugar beat (*Beta vulgaris* L.). Seed Sci Tech, 29: 357-364.
- Goertz SH, Coons JM. 1989. Germination response of tepary and navy beans to sodium chloride and temperature. Hort Sci, 24(6): 923-925.
- Gökkuş A. 2009. Yem bitkileri. Tarım ve Köyişleri Bakanlığı, İzmir, Türkiye, Cilt 1, pp: 40.
- Gravandi S. 2013. The examination of different NaCl concentrations on germination, radicle length and plumule length on three cultivars of clover. Annals Biol Res, 4: 200-203.
- Güleç Şen K. 2021. The effect salt stress the germination and seedling development of grass pea (*Lathyrus sativus* L.). MSc Thesis, Yozgat Bozok University, Graduate Education Institute, Department of Field Crops, Yozgat, Türkiye, pp: 68.
- Haileselasie TH, Gselasie B. 2012. The Effect of salinity (NaCl) on germination of selected grass pea (*Lathyrus sativus* L.) landraces of tigray. Asian J Agri Sci, 4(2): 96-101.
- Hannaway DB, Myers D. 2004. Birdsfoot trefoil (*Lotus corniculatus* L.). Oregon State University. Species Selection Information System. Birdsfoot trefoil (*Lotus corniculatus*) URL: http://forages.oregonstate.edu/php/fact_sheet_print_legume.php?SpecID=12 (access date: May 12, 2022).
- Hatipoğlu R, Avcıoğlu R. 2009. Gazalboynuzu türleri (*Lotus* sp.): Baklagil Yem bitkileri Cilt II. Tarım ve Köyişleri Bakanlığı, Tarımsal Üretim ve Geliştirme Genel Müdürlüğü, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 387-399.
- ISTA. 1983. Association of official seed analysts, Seed Vigor Testing Handbook. AOSA, East Lasing, Boise, Idaho, USA, 1st ed., pp: 88.
- ISTA. 1984. Association of official seed analysts, Rules for testing seeds. J Seed Tech, 6: 1-125.
- Kaplan Ş, Güçlü Ş, Baytekin G, Tiryaki İ. 2015. Yonca (*Medicago sativa* L.) ve çayır üçgülü (*Trifolium pratense* L.) tohumlarının tuz ve kuraklık stresine verdikleri tepkilerin belirlenmesi. Türkiye 11. Tarla Bitkileri Kongresi, September 7-10, 2015, Çanakkale, Türkiye, pp: 562.
- Kara T. 2002. Irrigation scheduling to present soil salinization from a shallow water table. Acta Horticul, 573: 139-151.
- Karadağ Y, Çınar S, Taşyürek T, Gökalp S, Özkurt M, Hatipoğlu R. 2017. Orta ve geçit bölgelerine uygun gazal boynuzu (*Lotus corniculatus* L.) çeşitlerinin geliştirilmesi. KSÜ Doğa Bil Derg, 20: 73-77.
- Karakullukçu E, Adak MS. 2008. Bazı nohut (*Cicer arietinum* L.) çeşitlerinin tuza toleranslarının belirlenmesi. Tarım Bil Derg, 14(4): 313-319.
- Karaoğlu M, Yalçın AM. 2018. Toprak tuzluluğu ve Iğdır ovası örneği. J Agri, 1(1): 27-41.
- Kızılşimşek M, Süren EN. 2020. Farklı tuzluluk seviyelerinin bazı kamışsı yumak (*F. arundinacea*) çeşitlerin çimlenme ve erken fide gelişimi üzerine etkisi. Mustafa Kemal Üniv Tarım Bil Derg, 25(2): 189-197.
- Kökten K, Karaköy T, Bakoğlu A, Akçura M. 2010. Determination of salinity tolerance of some lentil (*Lens*

culunaris M.) varieties. J Food Agri Environ, 8(1): 140-143.

- Kwiatowsky J. 1998. Salinity classification, mapping and management in Alberta. URL: http://www.agric.gov.ab.ca/sustain/soil/salinity/ (access date: May 10, 2022).
- Majidi MM, Jazayeri MR, Mohammadinejad G. 2010. Effect of salt stress on germination characters and some ions accumulation of sainfoin (*Onobrychis viciifolia* Scop.) genotypes. Iranian J Rangelands Forests Plant Breed Res, 17: 256-269.
- Maquire JD, 1962. Speed of germination aid in selection and evaluation for seedling emergence and vigor. Crop Sci, 2: 176-177.
- Okcu M. 2020. Yemlik börülce (*Vigna Unguiculata* L. Walp)'de tuzluluk stresinin çimlenme ve fide gelişimine etkisi. J Inst Sci Tech, 10(1): 669-676.
- Önal Aşcı Ö, Üney H. 2016. Farklı tuz yoğunluklarının macar fiğinde (*Vicia pannonica* Crantz) çimlenme ve bitki gelişimine etkisi. Akad Ziraat Derg, 5(1): 29-34.
- Önal Aşcı Ö. 2011. Salt tolerance in red clover (Trifolium pratense L.) seedlings. African J Biotech, 10(44): 8774-8781.
- Özkurt M, Saygılı İ, Dirik KÖ. 2018. Determining the salt tolerance of some alfalfa (*Medicago Sativa* L.) cultivars in early growth stage. Int J Agri Nat Sci, 1(3): 251-258.
- Saberi M, Davari A, Pouzesh H, Shahriari A. 2013. Effect of different levels of salinity and temperature on seeds germination characteristics of two range Species under laboratory condition. Int J Agri Crop Sci, 5: 1553-1559.
- Saboora A, Kiarostami K, Behroozbayati F, Hajihashemi S. 2006. Salinity (NaCl) tolerance of wheat genotypes at germination and early seedling growth. Pakistan J Biol Sci, 9(11): 2009-2021.
- Salisbury FB, Ross CW. 1992. Plant physiology. Wadsworth Pub Com Inc, Belmont, California, USA, 1st ed., pp: 682.
- Şentürk B, Sivritepe H. 2015. Bezelye (*Pisum sativum* L.) Tohumlarında NaCl ile yapılan priming uygulamaları için en uygun protokolün belirlenmesi. Uludağ Üniv Zir Fak Derg, 29(2): 95-105.
- Şimşek Soysal AÖ, Demirkol G, Önal Aşcı Ö, Kaşko Arıcı Y, Acar Z, Yılmaz N. 2021. Tuz stresinin tek yıllık çim (*Lolium multiflorum* L.)' de çimlenme ve fide gelişim özelliklerine etkisi. Türk Tarım Doğa Bil Derg, 8(2): 301-307.
- Şimşek Soysal AÖ, Demirkol G, Önal Aşçı Ö, Kaşko Arıcı Y, Acar Z, Yılmaz N. 2018. Tuz stresinin sorgum×sudanotu melezinde çimlenme ve fide gelişim özelliklerine etkisi. Uluslararası Tarım Yaban Hayatı Bil Derg, 4(2): 247-252.
- Teakle NL, Real D, Colmer TD. 2006. Growth and ion relations in response to combined salinity and waterlogging in the perennial forage legumes *Lotus corniculatus* and *Lotus tenuis*. Plant Soil, 289(1): 369-383.
- Tietel Z, Dag A, Yermiyahu U, Zipori I, Beiersdorf I, Krispin S, Ben-Gal A. 2019. Irrigation-induced salinity affects olive oil quality and health-promoting properties. J Sci Food Agri, 99: 1180-1189.
- Tolan T, Uzun S, Kardeş YM, Orman D, Özaktan H, Uzun O. 2017. Çayır üçgülü genotiplerinde çimlenme ve fide gelişimi üzerine NaCl konsantrasyonlarının etkileri. Türk Tarım Doğa Bil Derg, 4(2): 220-226.
- Tomic Z, Lugic Z, Radovic J, Sokolovicd, Nesic Z, Krnjaja V. 2007. Perennial legumes and grasses stable source of quality livestock fodder feed. Biotech Anim Husband, 23(5-6): 559-572.
- Turhan A, Şeniz V. 2010. Salt tolerance of some tomato genotypes grown in Turkey. J Food Agri Environ, 8(3-4): 332-339.

- Uslu ÖS, Gedik O. 2020. Bazı fiğ (*Vicia* sp.) çeşitlerinin tuzluluğa karşı toleransı üzerine bir araştırma. Uluslararası Anadolu Zir Müh Bil Derg, 2(2): 1-10.
- Uzun, F, Sulak M, Uğur S. 2008. Gazal boynuzu türlerinin ülkemiz için önemi. Türk Bil Derleme Derg, 1(2): 45-54.
- Van Hoorn JW. 1991. Development of soil salinity during germination and early seedling growth and its effect on several crops. Agri Water Manag, 20: 17-28.
- Waghorn GC. 2008. Beneficial and detrimental effects of dietary condensed tannins for sustainable sheep and goat production- progress and challenges. Anim Feed Sci Technol, 147(1/3): 116-139.
- Zhanwu G, Hui Z, Jicai G, Chunwu Y, Chunsheng M, Deli W. 2011. Germination responses of alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) seeds to various salt-alkaline mixed stress. African J Agri Res, 6: 3793-3803.

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1216576



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578

Research Article

Volume 6 - Issue 2: 134-139 / March 2023

THE EFFECT OF REGION ON NUT AND BIOCHEMICAL TRAITS OF MINCANE HAZELNUT CULTIVAR

Orhan KARAKAYA^{1*}

¹Sakarya University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Horticulture, 54580, Sakarya, Türkiye

Abstract: This study investigated the effect of region on the nut and biochemical traits in Mincane hazelnut cultivar. The study was carried out in the Trabzon (Black Sea Region) and Sakarya (Marmara Region) districts, in 2021 and 2022. The material of the study consisted of the nut of Mincane hazelnut cultivar grown in both regions. Depending on regions, nut weight ranged from 1.89 (Black Sea) to 2.14 g (Marmara), while kernel weight ranged from 0.96 (Black Sea) to 1.06 g (Marmara). The nuts obtained from the Black Sea region yielded the highest total phenolics (118.1 mg 100 g⁻¹). Marmara region's nuts had the highest total flavonoids (8.1 mg 100 g⁻¹) and antioxidant activity (1027.8 and 738.1 µmol 100 g⁻¹ according to DPPH and FRAP assays, respectively). The results demonstrated the significance of the growing region on the investigated nut and biochemical traits and the superiority of the Marmara region on many quality traits.

Keywords: Corylus avellana, Antioxidant, Phenolic, Kernel weight, Nut size

*Corresponding author: Sakarya University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Horticulture, 54580, Sakarya, Türkiye				
E mail: orhankarakaya7@gmail.com (O. KARAKAYA)				
Orhan KARAKAYA 👘 https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0783-3120	Received: December 09, 2022			
	Accepted: January 18, 2023			
	Published: March 01, 2023			
Cite as: Karakaya 0. 2023. The effect of region on nut and biochemical traits of Mincane hazelnut cultivar. BSJ Agri, 6(2): 134-139.				

1. Introduction

The hazelnut is one of the most important nut species. Approximately 1.1 million tons of hazelnuts are produced on 1 million hectares (ha) in the world. Türkiye is leads the world in hazelnut production, with 665 thousand tons on an area of 734 thousand ha. Italy, USA, Azerbaijan are other important hazelnut producers (Anonymous, 2022a). The Black Sea Region has the most suitable ecological conditions for hazelnut cultivation in the Türkiye (Serdar and Demir, 2005; Ercisli et al., 2011). Hazelnut is cultivated in the area up to 80 km inland and up to 1000-1200 m altitudes in the region. The cultivation zones are classified as old and new production zones (Karadeniz et al., 2009). Tombul, Palaz, Çakıldak, Mincane, Foşa and Kalınkara cultivars are common grown in the old production areas, whereas Çakıldak, Mincane, Foşa and Karafındık cultivars are grown in the new production areas.

Hazelnut is essential in human nutrition and health, with high nutritional value thanks to being rich in fat, protein, vitamins, carbohydrates, minerals, fatty acids, phenolics, and antioxidants (Cosmulescu et al., 2013). It promotes human health and reduces the risk of many chronic diseases such as cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative and inflammatory, especially cardiovascular diseases (Contini et al., 2011; Di Nunzio, 2019). Hazelnut also lowers the risk of heart disease and the adverse effects of hypertension due to the mono and polyunsaturated fatty acids it contains (Yücesan et al., 2010). 2006), ecology (Amaral et al., 2010; Karakaya, 2022), technical and cultural practices (irrigation, fertilization, pruning etc.) (Bak and Karadeniz, 2021), harvest time (Cristofori et al., 2015), storage conditions (Turan and Islam, 2018), altitude and orchard direction (Bostan, 2003; Beyhan et al., 2011; Kul, 2020) affect the chemical composition of hazelnut. In particular, ecological conditions impact primary and secondary metabolites (Bacchetta et al., 2013; Mezni et al., 2018). Phenolics, flavonoids, and antioxidants in Çakıldak vary significantly depending on eco-geographic regions (Kul, 2020). Similar phenomena were reported in different hazelnut cultivars (Bacchetta et al., 2018; Karakaya, 2022).

Very few studies have been conducted on the effect of region on the biochemical characteristics of widely grown hazelnut cultivars in Türkiye. These studies include mainly the Tombul, Çakıldak, and Kalınkara cultivars (Bostan, 2003; Kul, 2020; Karakaya, 2022). No studies evaluated the effects of the growing region on biochemical properties in the Mincane, widely grown in both old and new production areas. The sole research on this cultivar determined the vitamin and mineral content (Açkurt et al., 1999). This study investigated the effect of growing regions on the nut and biochemical traits in Mincane hazelnut cultivar.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Plant Materials

Many factors such as genetic structure (Balta et al.,

The research was conducted in Trabzon (Black Sea Region) and Sakarya (Marmara Region) provinces, in

2021 and 2022. The material of the study was Mincane hazelnut cultivar grown in the regions. The trial orchard (about 50 years old, 610 m altitude) in the Trabzon was established in the 'Ocak' (8-10 stems per 'Ocak') training system in south direction, and were planted spacing 3 m in the row and 3.5 m between rows. The trial orchard (about 35 years old, 150 m altitude) in the Sakarya was established in the 'Ocak' (9-12 stems per 'Ocak') training system in south direction, and were planted spacing 3.5 m in the row and 4 m between rows. In the trial orchards, technical and cultural practices (except irrigation) were regularly performed. A total of 350-450 g compound fertilizers [N-P-K (12-18-12) + (10 SO₃) + 1 Zn + 0.2 B] and 500-600 g nitrogen (N) were supplied per 'Ocak' in the orchards. Chemical control was performed to against the diseases and pests. Weed control was carried out twice a year and branch thinning was performed in the winter period.

In the Trabzon region, the average annual temperature is 8.9 °C. The warmest month is August (18.1 °C), and the coldest month is January (-1.7 °C). The minimum temperature is between -5.2 °C (January) and 15.1 °C (August). The maximum temperature is from 2.4 °C (January) and 21.4 °C (August). Annual rainfall is 1492 mm and relative humidity is 81%. In the Sakarya region, the average annual temperature is 12.5 °C. The warmest month is August (22 °C), and the coldest month is January (3.2 °C). The minimum temperature is between 0.1 °C (January) and 18.5 °C (August). The maximum temperature is from 6.7 °C (January) and 25.1 °C (August). Annual rainfall is 953 mm and relative humidity is 79% (Anonymous, 2022b).

2.2. Methods

The research was designed according to the randomized blocks experimental design with three replications and three 'Ocak' in each replication. At harvest time (in 10-15 August according to regions and years), approximately 500 g of nut were collected from each 'Ocak'. Harvested nut were naturally dried until the moisture content decreased to 6% after being separated from their husk. Then, the nut and biochemical properties were studied.

Thirty nut were used in nut traits evaluation. Nut and kernel weight were determined using a digital precision balance (Radwag, Poland). The shell thickness, nut and kernel dimensions were measured with a digital caliper (Mitutoyo, Japan). The kernel ratio and nut and kernel size were calculated using the following equation 1, 2 and 3 (Balta et al., 2018a; Guler and Balta, 2020):

Kernel ratio = (kernel weight/nut weight) \times 100 (1)

Nut size = $\sqrt{\text{kernel dimensions (length, width, (2) thickness)}}$

Kernel size = $\sqrt{\text{kernel dimensions (length, width, thickness)}}$ (3)

Total phenolics and total flavonoids were determined by the method of Yılmaz et al. (2019), using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Shimadzu, Japan) at 760 nm and 415 nm, respectively. The results for total phenolics and total flavonoids were expressed as mg 100 g⁻¹. The antioxidant activity was detected by modifying the DPPH and FRAP assays previously described by Blois (1958) and Benzie and Strain (1996), reading the absorbances of in the spectrophotometer (Shimadzu, Japan) at 517 nm and 700 nm, respectively. The quantities for DPPH and FRAP were expressed as μ mol 100 g⁻¹.

2.3. Statistical Analysis

JMP 14 (trail) statistical software was used in the statistical analysis. Data from two consecutive years were averaged, and the LSD multiple comparison method was used to determine the differences between the means. The PCA analysis was used to examine the interrelations between traits and the growing regions illustrated by a biplot graph (Putra et al., 2020).

3. Results

The region significantly affected nut and kernel weights, shell thickness, nut width and thickness, kernel width and size, while the effect on kernel ratio, nut length and size, kernel thickness and length traits was insignificant (P<0.05). The highest nut and kernel weight (2.14 g and 1.06 g, respectively) were determined in the Marmara region. In contrast, the highest kernel ratio (50.7%) and the thinnest shell (1.07 mm) were obtained from the Black Sea region (Table 1).

The highest values in nut dimensional characteristics were determined in the Marmara region, except for nut and kernel lengths. The nut size ranged from 16.15 mm (Black Sea) to 16.68 mm (Marmara), while the kernel size was determined as 12.57 mm (Black Sea) and 13.05 mm (Marmara) (Table 1).

The region significantly impacted bioactive compounds (P<0.05). The nuts grown in the Marmara region possessed the highest bioactive compounds, except for total phenolics. Total phenolics were 105.0 mg 100 g⁻¹ in the Marmara and 181.1 mg 100 g⁻¹ in the Black Sea, while total flavonoids were 3.0 mg 100 g⁻¹ in the Black Sea and 8.1 mg 100 g⁻¹ in the Marmara (Table 2).

The DPPH assay determined antioxidant activity as 128.8 μ mol 100 g⁻¹ in the nuts grown in the Black Sea and 1027.8 μ mol 100 g⁻¹ in the nuts grown in the Marmara. The antioxidant activity was determined as 152.4 μ mol 100 g⁻¹ in the nuts obtained from the Black Sea and 738.1 μ mol 100 g⁻¹ in the nuts of the Marmara region by the FRAP assay (Table 2).

According to principle component analysis, the first two components explained 87.9% of the total variation in the data. PC1 accounted for 72.8% of the total variation and was highly related to nut and kernel weight, shell thickness, nut and kernel dimensions (except for kernel length), bioactive compounds. PC2 was related to nut and kernel length traits, and accounted for 15.1% of the total variation. When evaluated by regions, the Black Sea region grouped with nut length, kernel length, kernel ratio, and total phenolics, while many other traits were grouped with the Marmara region (Figure 1).

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

Traits / Regions	Black Sea	Marmara	Significance	LSD (0.05)
Nut weight (g)	1.89 b*	2.14 a	*	0.18
Kernel weight (g)	0.96 b	1.06 a	*	0.09
Kernel ratio (%)	50.7 a	50.0 a	ns	1.32
Shell thickness (mm)	1.07 b	1.23 a	**	0.08
Nut width (mm)	16.27 b	16.94 a	*	0.45
Nut thickness (mm)	14.09 b	15.11 a	*	0.64
Nut length (mm)	18.38 a	18.14 a	ns	1.07
Nut size (mm)	16.15 a	16.68 a	ns	0.55
Kernel width (mm)	12.54 b	13.11 a	*	0.48
Kernel thickness (mm)	11.04 a	11.89 a	ns	0.88
Kernel length (mm)	14.34 a	14.28 a	ns	0.55
Kernel size (mm)	12.57 b	13.05 a	*	0.46

Table 1. Mincane hazelnut cultivar's nut traits grown in the Black Sea and Marmara regions

*The difference in between same letters in the same row is statistically insignificant (P<0.05).

Table 2. Biochemical properties of Mincane hazelnut cultivar grown in Black Sea and Marmara re	egions
--	--------

Traits / Regions	Black Sea	Marmara	Significance	LSD (0.05)
Total phenolic (mg 100 g ⁻¹)	181.1 a*	105.0 b	***	15.3
Total flavonoid (mg 100 g ⁻¹)	3.0 b	8.1 a	***	0.31
DPPH (µmol 100 g-1)	128.8 b	1027.8 a	***	72.3
FRAP (µmol 100 g ⁻¹)	152.4 b	738.1 a	***	182.1

*The difference in between same letters in the same row is statistically insignificant (P<0.05).



Figure 1. Biplot graph based on nut and biochemical traits of Mincane hazelnut cultivar.
4. Discussion

Nut and kernel weight, shell thickness, and kernel ratio are crucial quality traits in hazelnut (Balta et al., 2018b). Thin-shell and high kernel ratio are desirable in the hazelnut processing industry. Large-sized nut is evaluated for in-shell consumption, while small and medium-sized nut are used in confectionery industry. Many factors such as genotype, variety, ecological conditions, technical and cultural applications (fertilization, irrigation, pruning etc.) are effective on these properties (Beyhan and Demir, 2001; Külahcılar et al., 2018; İslam and Çayan, 2019; Bostan and İsbakan, 2020). In the current study, while region had a significant effect on nut and kernel weight, shell thickness, nut thickness and width, kernel width and size, it had no effect on kernel ratio, nut length and size, kernel length and thickness. Except for kernel ratio, nut and kernel dimensions (length, width, and thickness), no study has been found that investigated the effect of region on other traits in Mincane hazelnut cultivar, and it has been reported that the investigated traits vary significantly depending on the region. The highest kernel ratio and nut dimensions were reported in the west Black Sea region (Köksal et al., 2012). In Kalınkara cultivar grown in Ordu, Samsun, and Sakarya region, the highest nut and kernel weight, shell thickness, kernel ratio, nut and kernel dimensions values were found in Sakarya (Marmara region) (Karakaya, 2022). In the current study, except for kernel ratio, the highest values were recorded in the Marmara region in terms of other traits investigated. Although the highest kernel ratio was found in the east Black Sea region, it was statistically insignificant. Except for kernel ratio, the results obtained for other nut traits similar with the findings of the researchers. The observed differences in terms of kernel ratio could be attributed to environmental conditions, cultivar, cultivation conditions (Balta et al., 2018b; Gülsoy et al., 2019; Karakaya, 2022).

Phenolic compounds are secondary metabolites. They are crucial for the determine health benefits and quality of fruits, and influence sensory traits such as taste, aroma, color of foods (Haminiuk et al., 2012). Furthermore, polyphenols are beneficial to human health and play a crucial role in disease prevention. The synthesis of primary and secondary metabolites is influenced by climatic conditions (Bacchetta et al., 2013; Mezni et al., 2018). Phenolic synthesis increased is associated with extreme temperatures, UV radiation, parasite and pathogen damage (de Abreu and Mazzafera, 2005; Del Valle et al., 2020; Ozdemir et al., 2022; Karakaya et al., 2023).

In the current research, the influence of region on bioactive compounds was significant. Except for total phenolics, the highest bioactive compounds values were determined in the Marmara region. Although the influence of region on the vitamin and mineral content of the Mincane hazelnut cultivar has been studied (Açkurt et al., 1999), no research on the influence of the region on bioactive compounds has been conducted. Researchers reported that the vitamin and mineral content varied significantly depending on the region, and the highest vitamin and mineral values determined in the eastern and western Black Sea regions, respectively (Ackurt et al., 1999). Bioactive compounds have been found to differ in Tombul cultivar grown at different altitudes in the same location (Sengül, 2019). Similar findings were reported in the Cakıldak cultivar (Kul, 2020). In the Kalınkara cultivar grown in different regions, the highest total phenolics and total flavonoid were reported in Sakarya (Marmara), and the highest antioxidant was reported in Ordu (Black Sea) (Karakaya, 2022). Also, Solar et al. (2022) reported that phenolics and flavonoids in the Barcelona, Pauetet, Merveille de Bollwiller, Tonda di Giffoni, and Tonda Gentile delle Langhe hazelnut cultivars varied significantly depending on the region. In the current study, except for total phenolics, the highest bioactive compounds values were determined in the Marmara region. Except for total flavonoids, the results obtained for other bioactive compounds differed from the findings of Karakaya (2022). The observed differences could be attributed to environmental conditions, cultivar, cultivation conditions (Yılmaz et al., 2019; Tonkaz et al., 2019).

5. Conclusion

The region significantly influenced the nut traits and bioactive compounds of the Mincane hazelnut cultivar. The Marmara region produced the best results in terms of nut and kernel weight, which are crucial quality characteristics of hazelnut. The Black Sea region had the best kernel ratio and shell thickness. Except for total phenolics, the highest bioactive compounds were determined in the Marmara region. Overall, the best results were found in a Mincane cultivar grown in the Marmara region in many traits. These findings provide essential information for the hazelnut industry and processors in Trabzon and Sakarya, where the Mincane cultivar is widely grown.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author contributions is present below. The author reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	0.K.	
С	100	
D	100	
S	100	
DCP	100	
DAI	100	
L	100	
W	100	
CR	100	
SR	100	
PM	100	
FA	100	

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The author declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

Ethics committee approval was not required for this study because of there was no study on animals or humans.

References

- Açkurt F, Özdemir M, Biringen G, Löker M. 1999. Effects of geographical origin and variety on vitamin and mineral composition of hazelnut (*Corylus avellana* L.) varieties cultivated in Turkey. Food Chem, 65(3): 309-313.
- Amaral JS, Valentão P, Andrade PB, Martins RC, Seabra RM. 2010. Phenolic composition of hazelnut leaves: Influence of cultivar, geographical origin and ripening stage. Sci Hortic, 126(2): 306-313.
- Anonymous. 2022a. Food and agriculture organization statistics. Hazelnut production statistics. URL: https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL (access date: October 21, 2022).
- Anonymous. 2022b. Turkish state meteorological service. URL: https://www.mgm.gov.tr/ (access date: January 3, 2023).
- Bacchetta L, Aramini M, Procacci S, Zinni A, Di Giammatteo V, Battarelli MR, Spera D. 2018. Influence of genotype and geographical origin on lipid fraction of hazelnuts (*Corylus avellana*) in Europe. Acta Hortic, 1226: 333-338.
- Bacchetta L, Aramini M, Zini A, Di Giammatteo V, Spera D, Drogoudi P, Rovira M, Silva AP, Solar A, Botta R. 2013. Fatty acids and alpha-tocopherol composition in hazelnut (*Corylus avellana* L.): a chemometric approach to emphasize the quality of European germplasm. Euphytica, 191(1): 57-73.
- Bak T, Karadeniz T. 2021. Effects of branch number on quality traits and yield properties of European hazelnut (*Corylus avellana* L.). Agriculture, 11(5): 437.
- Balta MF, Yarılgaç T, Balta F, Kul E, Karakaya O. 2018a. Effect of elevation and number of nuts per cluster on nut traits in 'Cakıldak' hazelnut. Acta Hortic, 1226: 161-166.

Balta MF, Balta F, Yarılgaç T, Karakaya O, Uzun S, Kirkaya H.

2018b. Nut characteristics of 'Fosa' and 'Kargalak' hazelnuts related to number of nuts per cluster. Acta Hortic, 1226: 167-170.

- Balta MF, Yarılgaç T, Aşkın MA, Kuçuk M, Balta F, Özrenk K. 2006. Determination of fatty acid compositions, oil contents and some quality traits of hazelnut genetic resources grown in eastern Anatolia of Turkey. J Food Compos Anal, 19(6-7): 681-686.
- Benzie IF, Strain JJ. 1996. The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "antioxidant power": the FRAP assay. Anal Biochem 239(1): 70-76.
- Beyhan N, Demir T. 2001. Performance of the local and standard hazelnut cultivars grown in Samsun province, Turkey. Acta Hortic, 556: 227-234.
- Beyhan O, Elmastas M, Genc N, Aksit H. 2011. Effect of altitude on fatty acid composition in Turkish hazelnut (Coryllus avellana L.) varieties. Afr J Biotechnol, 10(71): 16064-16068.
- Blois MS. 1958. Antioxidant determinations by the use of a stable free radical. Nature, 181(4617): 1199-1200.
- Bostan SZ, İsbakan H. 2020. Fındıkta bitki morfolojik özellikleri ile verim ve meyve kalite özellikleri arasındaki ilişkiler. Ordu Üni Bil Tek Derg, 10(1): 32-45.
- Bostan SZ. 2003. Important chemical and physical traits and variation in these traits in 'Tombul' hazelnut cultivar at different elevations. Grasas Aceites, 54(3): 234-239.
- Contini M, Frangipane MT, Massantini R. 2011. Antioxidants in hazelnuts (*Corylus avellana* L.). In: Preedy VR, Watson RR, Patel VB, editors, Nuts and seeds in health and disease prevention. Academic Press, London, UK, 1st ed., pp: 611-625.
- Cosmulescu S, Mihai B, Trandafir I. 2013. The mineral source for human nutrition of nuts in different hazelnut (*Corylus avellana* L.) cultivars. Not Bot Horti Agrobot Cluj-Napoca, 41(1): 250-254.
- Cristofori V, Bertazza G, Bignami C. 2015. Changes in kernel chemical composition during nut development of three Italian hazelnut cultivars. Fruits, 70(5): 311-322.
- de Abreu IN, Mazzafera P. 2005. Effect of water and temperature stress on the content of active constituents of Hypericum brasiliense Choisy. Plant Physiol Biochem, 43(3): 241-248.
- Del Valle JC, Buide ML, Whittall JB, Valladares F, Narbona E. 2020. UV radiation increases phenolic compound protection but decreases reproduction in Silene littorea. PloS One, 15(6): e0231611.
- Di Nunzio M. 2019. Hazelnuts as source of bioactive compounds and health value underestimated food. Curr Res Nutr Food Sci J, 7(1): 17-28.
- Ercisli S, Ozturk I, Kara M, Kalkan F, Seker H, Duyar O, Erturk Y. 2011. Physical properties of hazelnuts. Int Agrophys, 25: 115-121.
- Guler E, Balta F. 2020. Determination of yield and quality characteristics of hazelnut populations of Taskesti district (Mudurnu-Bolu). Int J Agric Wild Sci, 6(2): 115-128.
- Gülsoy E, Şimşek M, Çevik C. 2019. Determination of fruit quality traits in some hazelnut cultivars grown at different altitudes and locations in Ordu province. Int J Agric Wild Sci, 5(1): 25-30.
- Haminiuk CW, Maciel GM, Plata-Oviedo MS, Peralta RM. 2012. Phenolic compounds in fruits-an overview. Int J Food Sci Technol, 47(10): 2023-2044.
- İslam A, Çayan M. 2019. Ordu ili Gürgentepe ilçesinde yetiştirilen Çakıldak fındık çeşidinde klon seleksiyonu. Akad Zir Derg, 8: 1-8.
- Karadeniz T, Bostan SZ, Tuncer C, Tarakçıoğlu C. 2009. Fındık yetiştiriciliği, 1st ed. Ziraat Odası Başkanlığı Bilimsel Yayınlar

Serisi, Ordu, Türkiye, pp: 126.

- Karakaya O, Yaman İ, Kırkaya H, Uzun S, Kaya T, Balta MF. 2023. Effect of cluster drop intensity on nut traits, biochemical properties, and fatty acids composition in the 'Çakıldak' hazelnut cultivar. Erwerbs-Obstbau, DOI: 10.1007/s10341-022-00774-8.
- Karakaya O. 2022. Nut traits and bioactive contents of Kalınkara hazelnut cultivar grown in different region. In: 7th International Conference on Agriculture, Animal Sciences and Rural Development, September 18-19, Muş, Türkiye, pp: 1.
- Köksal AI, Gunes NT, Belge B. 2012. The effect of sampling year and geographical regions on some physical characteristics of hazelnut cultivars grown in Turkey. Acta Hortic, 940: 301-307.
- Kul E. 2020. Çakıldak fındık çeşidinde kimyasal özelliklerin ekocoğrafik bölgelere göre değişimi. MSc thesis, Ordu University, Institute of Science, Ordu, Türkiye, pp: 45.
- Külahcılar A, Tonkaz T, Bostan SZ. 2018. Effect of irrigation regimes by mini sprinkler on yield and pomological traits in 'Tombul' hazelnut. Acta Hortic, 1226: 301-307.
- Mezni F, Slama A, Ksouri R, Hamdaoui G, Khouja ML, Khaldi A. 2018. Phenolic profile and effect of growing area on Pistacia lentiscus seed oil. Food Chem, 257: 206-210.
- Ozdemir IO, Tuncer C, Solmaz FG, Ozturk B. 2022. The impact of green shield bug (Palomena prasina [Hemiptera: Pentatomidae]) infestation on antioxidant enzyme activities in hazelnut (*Corylus avellana* L. cvs. 'Tombul,' 'Palaz' and 'Çakıldak'). Erwerbs-Obstbau, DOI: 10.1007/s10341-022-00713-7.

- Putra WPB, Said S, Arifin J. 2020. Principal component analysis (PCA) of body measurements and body indices in the Pasundan cows. BSJ Agri, 3(1): 49-55.
- Şengül S. 2019. The effect of different harvest date and altitude on chemical composition, antioxidant capacity and quality parameters of hazelnut oil. MSc thesis, Ordu University, Institute of Science, Ordu, Türkiye, pp: 59.
- Serdar Ü, Demir T. 2005. Yield, cluster drop and nut traits of three Turkish hazelnut cultivars. Horticul Sci, 32: 96-99.
- Solar A, Medic A, Slatnar A, Mikulic-Petkovsek M, Botta R, Rovira M, Sarraquigne JP, Silva AP, Veberic R, Stampar F, Hudina M, Bacchetta L. 2022. The Effects of the cultivar and environment on the phenolic contents of hazelnut kernels. Plants, 11(22): 3051.
- Tonkaz T, Şahin S, Bostan SZ, Korkmaz K. 2019. Effect of supplementary irrigation on total antioxidant capacity and phenolic content of hazelnut. Akad Zir Derg, 8: 79-84.
- Turan A, İslam A. 2018. Effect of drying methods on some chemical characteristics of hazelnuts (*Corylus avellana* L.) during storage. J Inst Sci Technol, 8(3): 11-19.
- Yılmaz M, Karakaya O, Balta MF, Balta F, Yaman İ. 2019. Change of biochemical characteristics depending on kernel size in Çakıldak hazelnut cultivar. Academic J Agri, 8: 61-70.
- Yücesan FB, Orem A, Kural BV, Orem C, Turan İ. 2010. Hazelnut consumption decreases the susceptibility of LDL to oxidation, plasma oxidized LDL level and increases the ratio of large/small LDL in normolipidemic healthy subjects. Anadolu Kardiyol Derg, 10(1): 28-35.

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1213728



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578 **Research Article** Volume 6 - Issue 2: 140-142 / March 2023

PARTIAL PURIFICATION OF CATALASE ENZYME FROM MUSCLE TISSUE OF DUSKY SPINEFOOT (*Siganus Luridus*)

Büşra ÇEVİK¹, Sibel BAHADIR¹, Deniz EKİNCİ^{1*}

¹Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, 55139, Samsun, Türkiye

Abstract: Catalase, one of the antioxidant enzymes, decomposes hydrogen peroxide into water and oxygen. From the discovery of catalase, several studies have been carried out to reveal its importance in health, food and cosmetics industries etc., and these studies are still ongoing. In this study, catalase enzyme was partially purified from muscle tissue of Dusky spinefoot (*Siganus luridus*). Purification procedure consisted of homogenate preparation, ammonium sulfate precipitation and dialysis. The enzyme was precipitated in the range of 40-60 % Ammonium Sulfate concentration. The optimum buffer was determined as 200 mM phosphate buffer, optimum pH 8.0 and optimum substrate concentration 24mM for H₂ and O₂, respectively.

Keywords: Purification, Catalase, Characterization, Enzyme

*Corresponding au	uthor:	Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology	r, 55139, Samsun, Türkiye
E mail: deniz.ekinci	i@omu	.edu.tr (D. EKİNCİ)	
Büşra ÇEVİK	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3683-5240	Received: December 03, 2022
Sibel BAHADIR	(D	https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5887-6054	Accepted: January 24, 2023
Deniz EKİNCİ	Ō	https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7849-4117	Published: March 01, 2023
Cite as: Çevik B,	Bahad	hr S, Ekinci D. 2023. Partial purification of catalase enzyme from muscle tissu	e of dusky spinefoot (<i>Siganus luridus</i>). BSJ Agri, 6(2):
140-142			

1. Introduction

Oxidative substances such as reactive oxygen species and free radicals and their undesirable biological effects are eliminated by enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant defence systems. Enzymatic defence is provided by many enzyme systems such as glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase, superoxide dismutase, glutathione S-transferase, catalase and DNA repair enzymes. Nonenzymatic antioxidant defence systems include transferrin, lactoferrin, ceruloplasmin, uric acid, GSH and cysteine. Antioxidants are substances that can scavenge for free radicals and prevent cell damage (Shinda et al., 2012, Gelen et al., 2021, Ustundag et al., 2021).

The defence systems that function in the organism to prevent the formation of reactive oxygen species ward off the damage caused by these substances, and provide detoxification are called "antioxidant defence systems" or "antioxidants".

Catalase (CAT: EC 1.11.1.6) is a characteristic enzyme abundant in cells. This enzyme is widely present in animals, plants and microorganisms. It also plays an essential role in eliminating toxic hydrogen peroxide from cells (Masters et al., 1977).

Catalase enzyme catalyzes the removal of H_2O_2 , one of the reactive oxygen species, which causes cellular damage, has a toxic effect and is one way to water. The enzyme uses H_2O_2 as a substrate, both as an electron acceptor and electron donor (Lanir and Schejter, 1975; Jones and Masters, 1976).

Siganus luridus is one of two species of siganus on Israel's Mediterranean coast. Both are migratory fish from the

Red Sea described by Ben-Tuvia. This species migrated from the Red Sea along the Suez Canal to the Mediterranean, where it was first recorded in 1956 along the respective coasts of Israel. Later, they spread rapidly to the west and north and became widespread in Lebanon, the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus, the shores of Türkiye, Rhodes and the Central Aegean Sea. Since then, they have established significant populations in the Mediterranean and have acquired high economic importance. There are two species belonging to the Siganidae family in our country (S. luridus and S. rivulatus). The primary food of these two species in the Siganidea family is algae. The most defining feature that distinguishes these two types from each other is; that S. luridus has a caudal fin close to a flat shape, while S. rivulatus has a forked caudal fin. The length of both species can be around 25-30 cm. S. luridus has spines on its dorsal and ventral fins. These sharp and strong spines are covered with mucus mixed with venom and can cause painful wounds. They may lose their colour at dusk and change colour if threatened, but usually have a brown back, light brown abdomen and fine yellow stripes on both sides. They generally prefer coastal waters that are not deeper than 40 meters and on the rocks covered with vegetation. They live their entire lives without migrating to distant places or leaving their areas (Castriota and Andaloro, 2008).

2. Material and Methods

In this study, 8 grams of muscle tissue of the used Dusky spinefoot was weighed and used to prepare homogenate.

The muscle part taken from the fish was thoroughly pounded in a mortar with the help of liquid nitrogen and turned into flour, and the prepared homogenate was taken into a 50 ml tube and made up to 40 ml by adding 200 mM $\rm KH_2PO_4+0.5~mM~EDTA+\%PVP~(pH: 8).$ It was then centrifuged for 20 minutes at 15000 g at 4 °C.

Solid ammonium sulfate precipitation process was applied to homogenates obtained from muscle tissue of Dusky spinefoot in the range of 0-20%, 20-40% and 40-60%, respectively. In this process, the homogenate is kept in ice and placed on a magnetic stirrer. Then, solid ammonium sulfate was carefully added to the homogenate at intervals of 45 seconds, not exceeding 1 gram. Centrifugation was performed for 10 minutes at 10000 g at 4 °C at each concentration interval.

Dialysis is performed to remove salts from the protein solution. In this study, dialysis was applied to remove the salt around the precipitated proteins at 40-60% ammonium sulfate concentration. For dialysis, 200 mM phosphate buffer was prepared, and the sample containing the precipitated proteins was placed into the membrane and left in the prepared buffer solution for 2 hours to remove the salts around the proteins.

Tris and phosphate buffers were prepared at 10mM, 50 mM, 100 mM, 200 mM and 300 mM concentrations, and activity measurements were made with these buffers at different concentrations.

In order to determine the optimum pH after buffer characterization, phosphate buffer was prepared at pH ranges of 5.5-6, 6.5-7, 7.5-8, 8.5-9 and activity measurement was made at these intervals.

In order to determine optimum substrate concentration, activity measurements were made for optimum substrate concentration using 3 mM, 6 mM, 12 mM, 18 mM, and 24 mM H_2O_2 substrate.

Determination of the optimum enzyme concentration was carried out by observing activity measurements using 25μ l, 50μ l, 100μ l, 150μ l and 200μ l of enzymes.

3. Results

Ammonium sulfate was precipitated in the ranges of 0-20%, 20-40% and 40-60%, respectively, into the homogenate prepared for purifying catalase enzyme from the muscle tissue of Dusky spinefoot. In the results obtained after the activity measurements, it was determined that the value giving the highest activity was between 40-60% ammonium sulfate concentration.

 $\rm KH_2PO_4$ measurements were made at different concentrations to purify catalase enzyme from Dusky spinefoot muscle tissue. As a result of the activity measurements, it was determined that the most suitable ionic strength for catalase enzyme from stingray tissue was in 200 mM KH_2PO_4 buffer.

Catalase enzyme activity in shaded Dusky spinefoot muscle tissue was measured by spectrophotometer at pH 5.5-9.0 using 200 mM phosphate buffer. The optimum pH value of catalase enzyme obtained from Dusky spine foot muscle tissue was determined as pH 8.0 in 200 mM

phosphate buffer.

The optimum substrate amount for catalase enzyme was measured using 200 mM KH₂PO₄ (pH 8.0) between 3-24 mM from Dusky spinefoot tissue. The optimum amount of substrate was determined as 24 mM.

4. Discussion

Catalase is one of the important antioxidant enzymes that significantly reduces oxidative stress by destroying cellular hydrogen peroxide to produce water and oxygen. It is assumed that catalase deficiency is associated with the pathogenesis of many age-related degenerative diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, anemia, vitiligo, Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, bipolar disorder, cancer and schizophrenia. Therefore, efforts are being made in many laboratories to investigate its use as a potential drug in treating such diseases (Nandi et al., 2019). In the process of partial purification of catalase enzyme from Dusky spinefoot (Siganus luridus) muscle tissue, the optimum ionic strength was determined in 200 mM potassium phosphate buffer. Maximum protein precipitation in ammonium sulfate precipitation was determined in the range of 40-60% concentration. Optimum pH: 8, optimum substrate amount was determined as 24 mM. When we compare the results of some studies in the literature on the purification process of the catalase enzyme; Optimum ionic strength was determined in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer in the purification of catalase enzyme from hazelnut fungus (Lactarius pyragalus). Maximum protein precipitation in ammonium sulfate precipitation was determined at 60% concentration. Optimum pH determined as 8 (Sökmen and Ahıskalı, 2017). In the purification process of catalase enzyme from walnut (Juglans regie), maximum precipitation was determined at 40% protein concentration in ammonium sulfate precipitation process. Optimum pH is determined as 8 (Akar, 2015). In the purification process of catalase enzyme from celery (Apium graveolens), optimum ionic strength was determined in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer. Maximum protein precipitation in ammonium sulfate precipitation was determined at 30% concentration. Optimum pH determined as 7.5 (Güngör, 2015). Our study is in accordance with the studies in the literature.

5. Conclusion

We aimed in this study for purification of catalase enzyme from Dusky spinefoot, determination of structural properties and characterization. We hope that results of this study will contribute to the elucidation of the function of the catalase enzyme in Dusky spinefoot, we think that our research can help future studies on catalase enzyme and antioxidant enzyme systems.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	B.Ç.	S.B.	D.E.
С	10	10	80
D			100
S			100
DCP	25	25	50
DAI	30	30	40
L	30	30	40
W	30	30	40
CR	30	30	40
SR	30	30	40
PM	30	30	40
FA	30	30	40

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

Ethics committee approval was not required for this study because of there was no study on animals or humans. In the study, muscle samples were used as experimental materials, which were used in the B.Sc. Graduation Thesis of first author entitled "Purification of the catalase enzyme from the muscle part of Dusky spine foot (*Siganus luridus*)" and stored at -80 °C. The authors confirm that the ethical policies of the journal, as noted on the journal's author guidelines page, have been adhered to.

Acknowledgments

This study is presented as a poster to the VI. International Congress on Domestic Animal Breeding Genetics and Husbandry -2022 (ICABGEH-22), October 03 - 05, Samsun, Türkiye.

References

- Akar Ç. 2015. Purufication of catalase from the walnut (Juglans regia). MSc Thesis, Çukurova University, Institute of Science, Department of Chemistry, Adana, Türkiye, pp: 62.
- Castriota L, Andaloro F. 2008. First record of the lessepsian fish *Siganus luridus* (Osteichthyes: Siganidae) in the Tyrrhenian Sea. Mar Biodivers Rec, 1: 1.
- Gelen V, Sengul E, Yıldırım S, Senturk E, Tekin S, Kukurt A. 2021. The protective effects of hesperidin and curcumin on 5-fluorouracil-induced nephrotoxicity in mice. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int, 28: 47046-47055.
- Güngör Ö. 2015. Purification of catalase from celery (Apium graveolens). MSc Thesis, Çukurova University, Institute of Science, Department of Chemistry, Adana, Türkiye, pp: 60.
- Jones GL, Masters C J. 1976. On the comparative characteristics of mammalian catalases. Comp Biochem Phys B, 55: 511-518.
- Lanir A, Schejter A. 1975. On the sixth coordination position of beef liver catalase, FEBS Letters, 55: 254-256.
- Masters C, Holmes R. 1977. Peroxisomes: new aspects of cell physiology and biochemistry, Phys Rev, 57: 816-882.
- Nandi A, Yan LJ, Jana CK, Das N. 2019. Role of catalase in oxidative stress-and age-associated degenerative diseases. Oxidat Medic Cell Longevity, 2019: 9613090.
- Ustundag H, Yildirim S, Senturk E, Aliyev E, Yildirim A. 2021. Effect of exercise on oxidant and antioxidant systems in rat kidney tissue with hyperthyroidism. J Med Phys Biophys, 70: 46-53.
- Shinda A, Ganu J, Naik P. 2012. Effect of free radicals & antioxidants on oxidative stress: A review. J Dent Allied Sci, 1(2): 63- 66.
- Sökmen BB, Ahıskalı A. 2017. Purification and characterization of catalase enzyme from fiery milkcap mushrooms (Lactarius pyragalus) growing in Giresun region. Karadeniz Fen Bil Derg, 7: 53-65.

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1223593



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 - 6578

Research Article Volume 6 - Issue 2: 143-147 / March 2023

INTESTINAL FATTY ACID BINDING PROTEIN GENE VARIATION IN EUROPEAN SEA BASS (Dicentrarchus Labrax)

Emel ÖZCAN GÖKÇEK1*, Raziye IŞIK2,3

¹Ege University, Faculty of Fisheries, Department of Aquaculture, 35040, İzmir, Türkiye

²São Paulo State University, Faculdade de Medicina Veterinária, Câmpus de Araçatuba, 05508-270, São Paulo, Brasil ³Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, 59000, Tekirdağ, Türkiye

Abstract: Fatty acid binding proteins (FABPs), which belong to the multigene family, play an important role in homeostasis, lipid uptake and transport in tissues. Intestinal fatty acid binding protein (I-FABP) is a small cytosolic protein and is highly active in intracellular fatty acid metabolism in fish gut. The European Sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) is an important commercial marine fish species in the Mediterranean region. In the present study, the partial I-FABP gene region of European sea bass was sequenced for detecting single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) using DNA sequencing. We identified one SNP (g.2450T>C) in the noncoding region of the I-FABP gene in European sea bass. In this study, the relationship between the g.2450T>C locus of the I-FABP (fabp2) gene and body length, post-anal length, body weight and fillet weight was found significant (P<0.05). According to these results, the g.2450T>C locus in I-FABP which could affect growth and muscle fat content, can be used for marker-assisted selection (MAS) studies in European sea bass.

Keywords: SNP, FABP2 gene, Teleost, Variation

	-		
*Corresponding author: H	ge University, Faculty of Fisheries, Department of Aquaculture, 35040, İzmir, Türkiye		
E mail: emel.ozcan.gokcek(@ege.edu.tr (E.Ö. GÖKÇEK)		
Emel ÖZCAN GÖKÇEK 🏾 🋅	https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6566-7680	Received: December 23, 2022	
Raziye IŞIK 👔	https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2982-6562	Accepted: January 25, 2023	
		Published: March 01, 2023	
Cite as: Gökçek EÖ, Işık R. 2023. Intestinal fatty acid binding protein gene variation in European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax). BSJ Agri, 6(2): 143-147.			

1. Introduction

Growth and development in animals are affected by the intracellular transport of long-chain fatty acids (FABPs) which are special-formed proteins of the lipid-binding protein (LBP) family (Besnard et al., 2002; Kaitetzidou et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2019). FAPBs, long-chain fatty acids, consists of 126 to 137 amino acids and their molecular weight is around 150 kDa (Chen and Shi, 2009; Venold et al., 2013). These proteins are involved in fattyacid metabolism, including absorption, transportation and regulation of the concentration gradient across cellular membranes (Wang et al., 2005). Total of 12 FABP genes have been identified in vertebrate and invertebrate species (Kaitetzidou et al., 2015; Venkatachalam et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2020). These proteins were named according to the tissue from which they were initially isolated, e.g. liver type fatty acid-binding protein (L-FABP), brain-type fatty acid-binding protein (B-FABP), intestinal-type fatty acid-binding protein (I-FABP or fabp2), etc. (Alves-Costa et al., 2008). The intestinal fatty acid binding protein (I-FABP) gene is involved in the synthesis, uptake and intracellular transport of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in the intestine (Chen and Shi, 2009; Levy et al., 2001). The fatty acids and dietary lipids supply most of the energy needed for vital activities such as the growth, development, swimming and reproduction of fish (Andre et al. 2000). I-FABP is expressed in many tissues such as intestine, brain and muscle in fish (Sharma et al., 2004; Venold et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2019).

Improving growth and meat quality characteristics is the primary focus of livestock and fish breeding studies. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in candidate genes that regulate yield traits are identified and widely used as markers in breeding studies, for example, gene mapping, association analyses, etc. (Wang et al., 2014). Although a significant correlation between I-FABP gene and fatty acid content in cattle has not been reported before, this gene has been reported as a candidate gene for meat quality as a result of the genome-wide association study (GWAS) (Dawood et al., 2021). Besides, there are significant associations between the single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of the I-FABP gene and growth characteristics of fish species such as growth, body thickness and etc. (Xia et al., 2013; Zhou et al., 2019).

European sea bass, which belongs to the Moronidae family, lives from the north-eastern Atlantic Ocean to the Mediterranean and the Black Sea (Vandeputte et al., 2019). Türkiye was the largest producer of farmed sea bass and the largest exporter of sea bass products in the worldwide. Türkiye has produced 149.000 tonnes European sea bass in 2020 (FAO, 2022). World aquaculture production of European sea bass was



276.000 tonnes in 2020 (FAO, 2022). Increasing the growth rate and muscle fat content of *D. labrax* stocks is important for sustainable aquaculture. Molecular markers are very effective tools in breeding programs of aquaculture species.

The aim of this study is to reveal the SNPs in the I-FABP gene region by DNA sequencing method and their associations with the growth traits of 80 European sea bass individuals.

2. Materials and Methods

A total of 80 European sea bass samples were randomly taken from a processing factory in Urla- İzmir. These fish samples were reared in the same cage environment from Çeşme-İzmir. The standard length (SL, cm), head length (HL, cm), body length (BL, cm), pre-anal length (PAL, cm), abdominal length (AL, cm), post-anal length (POSTAL, cm), head width (HW, cm), body width (BW, cm), total weight (TW, g) and fillet weight (FW, g) of fish samples were measured. Muscle tissue samples were collected from each fish and preserved at -20°C until DNA isolation. Genomic DNA was extracted by using the High Pure PCR Template Kit (Roche, Germany) following recommended protocols in the Ege University, Faculty of Fisheries, Laboratory of the Molecular Genetics and Fish Breeding. The concentration and purity of the genomic DNA samples were measured by spectrophotometer (MaestroGenNano).

The primer sequences of partial region of I-FABP gene were designed for European sea bass based on whole sequence genome shotgun (Accession number CBXY010015347) using Primer-BLAST algorithm (https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/tools/primer90blast/) from GenBank using the Primer3 program (http://bioinfo.ut.ee) (NCBI, 2022). Primer sequences of I-FABP gene are F: 5'- TCCAGGGTGCGGAATTTACT -3' and R: 5'- CCTTCAACGGCAACTGGAAA -3'. PCR was performed in a 50-µL volume containing 50 ng genomic DNA, 0.5 µM of each primer, 2× MyTaq Mix (Meridian Bioscience, USA), 0,5 U Taq Hot Start DNA (Bioline) polymerase and distilled water. The thermal profile consisted of initial denaturation at 95°C for 4 min; 37 cycles of amplification, including 95°C for 45 s, 56°C for 45 s and 72°C for the 90 s and final extension at 72°C for 10 min. The PCR products were checked on 2% agarose gel using horizontal electrophoresis and the gels were stained using RedSafe (iNtRON) (Figure 1).

The genotyping of the SNPs in the partial region of the I-FABP gene was performed by 3500XL Genetic Analyzer System (Applied Biosystems, USA). The sequence results were aligned and controlled by ChromasPro Version 2.1.10 (Technelysium Pty. Ltd. Australia). Differences of gene sequences between individuals were detected using BioEdit (Hall, 1999). The Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium of the population was estimated using the 'HardyWeinberg' package in R (R Core Team, 2013). The associations between genotypes, haplotypes and growth traits were analysed (via SPSS Inc. V. 18.0, IBM, Chicago, IL, 2009) using the general linear model (GLM; equation 1) and an alpha value of 0.05 was considered significant.

Linear Model I = Yjk =
$$\mu$$
 + Gj + ejk (1)

Where;

Yijk represents the traits; μ represents the intercept; Gj represents the fixed effect of the I-FABP genotype or each haplotype and eijk is the random error. The significance of differences between genotypes of the locus was determined using Bonferroni multiple range test. The thresholds for significant differences were P<0.05.

The sequence data obtained for I-FABP gene region and the reference sequences taken from GenBank were used in the reconstruction of the phylogenetic tree based on Maximum Likelihood (ML) method applying HKY nucleotide substitution model. The nucleotide substitution models were selected based on the results obtained from ModelTest implemented in the software MEGA. In order to test the reliability of the tree topology, bootstrapping (×1000) was performed. Phylogenetic evolutionary analyses of I-FABP gene region of European sea bass were conducted using MEGA version 11 (Tamura et al., 2021).

3. Results and Discussion

European sea bass I-FABP gene contains four exons and three introns, that encode 132 amino acids (KJ130030) (NCBI, 2022). The genetic variation at 754 bp of the partial I-FABP gene was amplified by PCR and it was shown in Fig. 1. The amplified gene region in this study is located between 1845 and 2598 bp in the reference sequence (CBXY010015347) (NCBI GenBank).



Figure 1. Electrophoresis image of the PCR amplicons of I-FABP gene for the 8 European sea bass samples. M= marker.

In this study, PCR products of the I-FABP gene region were investigated with the Sanger sequencing method and a g.2450T>C change was detected in the noncoding region (Figure 2). Generally, in the literature more polymorphisms are found in intronic regions because they are under less selection pressure than exonic regions of genes (Özcan Gökçek and Işık, 2020; Tran et al., 2021). Moreover, SNPs in non-coding regions can affect transcription and translation of mRNA splicing and regulate gene expression (Pagani and Baralle, 2004). Gene expression level should be analyzed, to detect if it is affected from SNP or not. In this study, the g.2450T > C locus of I-FABP gene was in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium. The genotype and allele frequencies of the European sea bass I-FABP gene were shown in Table 1.

In the current study, we detected significant associations between the g.2450T>C locus of the I-FABP gene and body length, post-anal length, body weight and fillet weight of European sea bass (P<0.05) (Table 2). According to the results, the CC genotype is superior for all these traits. Similarly, in Asian sea bass (Lates calcarifer), Xia et al. (2013) reported that a SNP (SNP1245) in the exon 3 of the IFABP-a gene has a significant relationship with the growth characteristics of 6- and 9-month-old fish by using QTL mapping and association analysis. It has been reported that heterozygosity (CG) is quite high in the large-size fish group for the IFABP-SNP1245 locus (P<0.01). Besides, Wan et al., (2018) performed a genome-wide association study (GWAS) for highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFA) and eviscerated weight (EW) traits in the large yellow croaker (Larimichthys crocea) population. They reported that the FABP gene is one of the candidate genes associated with n-3 HUFA and EW traits in large yellow croacker. Also, Zhou et al. (2019) found that I-FABPa gene on chromosome 24 affects the growth and body thickness (BT) of L. crocea with GWAS. The I-FABP gene has the potential to be a candidate gene that affects

growth due to its role in the regulation of vertebrate and fish metabolism, such as digestion and intracellular transport of dietary fatty acids (Sharma et al., 2004; Xia et al., 2013).



Figure 2. Partial chromatogram for SNPs g.2450T>C in noncoding region of I-FABP gene.

Table	1 Allala and	and the second for		LI EVDD ~	ama maaiam i	- Fundament	and have
ranie	L. Allele and	genoryne m	ionencies o	I I-FARP 9	ene region i	n European	sea nass
I UDIC	Li i mere una	genocy pe n	queneres o		ene region i	n Bui opean	bea babb

Loci		I-FABP Genotypes		Allele Fre	quency	χ2*	
		TT	ТС	CC	Т	G	
g.2450T>C	0	50	25	5	0.79	0.22	0.58
	Е	48.83	27.34	3.83	0.78	0.22	

*χ2 (0.05; 1), P<0.05

Table 2. Associations between g.2450T>C genotypes of growth traits of *Dicentrarchus labrax* (mean±SE).

		I-FABP Genotypes		
Trait	TT	Y	CC	P*
SL	29.03 ± 0.52	30.87 ± 0.47	32.68 ± 0.78	0.012
HL	7.90 ± 0.17	8.33 ± 0.19	8.59 ± 0.23	0.178
BL	21.16 ± 0.38^{a}	22.64 ± 0.37^{a}	24.19 ± 0.63^{b}	0.005*
PAL	21.11 ± 0.42	22.29 ± 0.38	23.65 ±0.83	0.043
AL	13.49 ± 0.27	14.26 ± 0.26	15.40 ± 0.62	0.038
POSTAL	8.94 ± 0.16^{b}	9.68 ± 0.19^{a}	10.08 ± 0.28^{a}	0.006*
HD	4.96 ± 0.10	5.35 ± 0.12	5.30 ± 0.18	0.063
BD	8.66 ± 0.16	7.85 ± 0.14	7.32 ± 0.35	0.005
BW	434.91 ± 22.38 ^{a,b}	531.37 ± 21.98^{a}	676.90 ± 16.46 ^b	0.000*
FW	226.05 ± 11.61^{a}	284.40 ± 11.27	362.98 ± 7.73 ^b	0.000*

*Values with different superscripts (a, b) within the same row differ significantly at P<0.05. SL= standard length, HL= head length, BL= body length, PAL= pre-anal length, AL= abdominal length, POSTAL= post-anal length, HD= head depth, BD= body depth, TW= total weight, FW= fillet weight.

According to ML analysis of the evolutionary relationship of the I-FABP sequences obtained from the present study with the other fish species retrieved from GenBank are shown in Figure 3. The ML tree based on HKY nucleotide substitution model revealed *D. labrax, Epinephelus fuscoguttatus, Larimichthys crocea* and partial region (1845-2598) of *D. labrax* whole genome shotgun sequence in the same clade. Kaitetzidou et al. (2015) identified that European sea bass I-FABP gene has 2 paralogs, fabp2a and fabp2b. In this study, the fabp2a gene region was amplified which localized on LG7.



Figure 3. The phylogenic tree of the I-FABP (fabp2) gene sequences retrieved from GenBank database for different species (*Dicentrarchus labrax, Lateolabrax maculatus, Acanthopagrus latus, Epinephelus fuscoguttatus, Sparus aurata, Larimichthys crocea, Cottoperca gobio, Micropterus salmoides, Seriola dumerili, Larimichthys crocea).*

4. Conclusion

The SNP (g.2450T>C) detected in the current study and potential SNPs that can be found in other regions of the I-FABP gene of European sea bass and their relationships with harvest traits such as growth, muscle fat content and body thickness should be investigated with large sample size. The results of this study show that the I-FABP (fabp2) gene has a high potential for MAS studies.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	E.Ö.G.	R.I.
С	50	50
D	50	50
S	50	50
DCP	50	50
DAI	50	50
L	50	50
W	50	50
CR	50	50
SR	50	50
РМ	50	50
FA	50	50

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

Ethics committee approval was not required for this study because of there was no study on live animals or humans. Ethics committee approval was not obtained because of the dead fish samples were taken from a private facility that breeds and processes fish for commercial purposes. The authors confirm that the ethical policies of the journal, as noted on the journal's author guidelines page, have been adhered to.

Acknowledgments

This study is presented as an oral presentation to the VI. International Congress on Domestic Animal Breeding Genetics and Husbandry -2022 (ICABGEH-22), October 03 - 05, Samsun, Türkiye.

References

- Alves-Costa FA, Denovan-Wright EM, Thisse C, Thisse B, Wright JM. 2008. Spatio-temporal distribution of fatty acid-binding protein 6 (fabp6) gene transcripts in the developing and adult zebrafish (Danio rerio). The FEBS J, 275(13): 3325-3334.
- Andre M, Ando S, Ballagny C, Durliat M, Poupard G, Briancon C, Babin PJ. 2000. Intestinal fatty acid binding protein gene expression reveals the cephalocaudal patterning during zebrafish gut morphogenesis. Int J Dev Biol, 44: 249–252.
- Besnard P, Niot I, Poirier H, Clement L, Bernard A. 2002. New insights into the fatty acid-binding protein (FABP) family in the small intestine. Mol Cell Biochem, 239: 139–147.
- Chen X, Shi Z. 2009. Sequence analysis of the full-length cDNA and protein structure homology modeling of FABP2 from Paralichthys olivaceus. Bioinform Biol Insights, 3: 29–35.
- Dawood M, Kramer LM, Shabbir MI, Reecy JM. 2021. Genomewide association study for fatty acid composition in american angus cattle. Animals, 11(8): 2424.
- FAO, 2022. Food and agriculture organization. Fisheries and aquaculture department. https://www.fao.org/fishery/en/statistics/software/fishstat j/en (access date: July 6, 2022).
- Hall TA. 1999. BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. Nucl Acids Symp Ser, 41: 95-98.
- Kaitetzidou E, Chatzifotis S, Antonopoulou E, Sarropoulou E. 2015. Identification, phylogeny, and function of fabp2 paralogs in two non-model teleost fish species. Marine Biotechnol, 17(5): 663-677.
- Levy E, Menard D, Delvin E, Stan S, Mitchell, G, Lambert, M, Ziv E, Feoli-Fonseca, JC, Seidman E. 2001. The polymorphism at codon 54 of the FABP2 gene increases fat absorption in human intestinal explants. J Bio Chem, 276: 39679.
- Özcan Gökçek E, Işık R. 2020. Associations between genetic variants of the insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) gene and growth traits in European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*, L.). Fish Physiol Biochem, 46: 1131–1138.

- Pagani F, Baralle FE. 2004. Genomic variants in exons and introns: identifying the splicing spoilers. Nat Rev Genet, 5(5): 389-396.
- R Core Team. 2013. R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- Sharma MK, Denovan-Wright EM, Degrave A, Thisse C, Thisse B, Wright JM. 2004. Sequence, linkage mapping and early developmental expression of the intestinal-type fatty acidbinding protein gene (fabp2) from zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Comparat Biochem Physiol Part B: Biochem Molec Biol, 138(4): 391-398.
- Tamura K, Stecher G, and Kumar S. 2021. MEGA11: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 11. Molec Biol Evolut, 38: 3022-3027.
- Tran TTH, Nguyen HT, Le BTN, Tran PH, Van Nguyen S, Kim OTP. 2021. Characterization of single nucleotide polymorphism in IGF1 and IGF1R genes associated with growth traits in striped catfish (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus* Sauvage, 1878). Aquaculture, 538: 736542.
- Vandeputte M, Gagnaire PA, Allal F. 2019. The European sea bass: a key marine fish model in the wild and in aquaculture. Anim Genet, 50(3): 195-206.
- Venkatachalam AB, Parmar MB, Wright JM. 2017. Evolution of the duplicated intracellular lipid-binding protein genes of teleost fishes. Molec Genet Genom, 292(4): 699-727.
- Venold FF, Penn MH, Thorsen J, Gu J, Kortner TM, Krogdahl Å, Bakke AM. 2013. Intestinal fatty acid binding protein (fabp2) in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): Localization and alteration of expression during development of diet induced enteritis. Comparat Biochem Physiol Part A: Molec Integrat Physiol, 164(1): 229-240.
- Wan L, Dong L, Xiao S, Han Z, Wang X, Wang Z. 2018. Genomewide association study for economic traits in the large yellow croaker with different numbers of extreme phenotypes. J Genet, 97(4): 887-895.
- Wang Q, Li H, Liu S, Wang G, Wang Y. 2005. Cloning and tissue expression of chicken heart fatty acid-binding protein and intestine fatty acid-binding protein genes. Anim Biotechnol, 16: 191–201.
- Wang Y, Wang X, Meng X, Wang H, Jiang Z, Qiu X. 2014. Identification of two SNPs in myostatin (MSTN) gene of Takifugu rubripes and their association with growth traits. Molecul Cellular Prob, 28(4): 200-203.
- Xia JH, Lin G, He X, Liu P, Liu F, Sun F, Yue GH. 2013. Whole genome scanning and association mapping identified a significant association between growth and a SNP in the IFABP-a gene of the Asian seabass. BMC Genom, 14(1): 1-12.
- Zhang Y, Cao X, Gao J. 2019. Cloning of fatty acid-binding protein 2 (fabp2) in loach (*Misgurnus anguillicaudatus*) and its expression in response to dietary oxidized fish oil. Comparat Biochem Physiol Part B: Biochem Molec Biol, 229: 26-33.
- Zhang Y, Zhang J, Ren Y, Lu R, Yang L, Nie G. 2020. Tracing the evolution of fatty acid-binding proteins (FABPs) in organisms with a heterogeneous fat distribution. FEBS Open Bio, 10(5): 861-872.
- Zhou Z, Han K, Wu Y, Bai H, Ke Q, Pu F, Xu P. 2019. Genomewide association study of growth and body-shape-related traits in large yellow croaker (*Larimichthys crocea*) using ddRAD sequencing. Marine Biotechnol, 21(5): 655-670.

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1082834



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578 **Research Article**

Volume 6 - Issue 2: 148-156 / March 2023

E-FOOD TRADE EFFECTS ON PURCHASING APPROACH REGARDING CUSTOMER BEHAVIOR

Rıza EROL^{1*}, Mecit Ömer AZABAĞAOĞLU¹

¹Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Agricultural Economics, 59030, Tekirdağ, Türkiye

Abstract: Our world is changing too fast. The distances have been shortened and communication has been increased by the invention and widespread use of the internet. Our habits started to change in many aspects of our lives by the development of digitalization. Especially during the pandemic Covid-19 that has started at the end of 2019, it's observed that mobility of people have been decreased and however, they began to have difficulties in meeting the needs. There has been a great demand for companies that sell over the internet. In particular, the tendencies of people to purchase food items which are their vital need over the internet have increased to a great extent. Looking at the e-commerce market on a sectorial basis during the pandemic, the biggest increase was seen in e-food trade with a growth of approximately 400%. Within that period, it is predicted that our purchasing habits will change rapidly and virtual markets will become much more important in our lives. The delivery of food products to the consumer has always been a big problem. The risk of deterioration of the products in a short time and the physical destruction of the products during their transportation has increased the importance of food logistics. The logistics channels are needed to be developed in order to increase e-food trade. For this reason, contemporary logistics channels have started to be used by integrating developed logistics applications to the traditional logistics channels. It will be much faster and cost-efficient to deliver the products to the consumer with the new logistics channels in the near future. Yield penalty due to transportation will decrease, and since the number of stock brokers is reduced, the consumer will be able to reach the product they demand at a more affordable price from the producer that they have chosen. In the future, physical stores will be replaced by logistics-supported virtual markets. The agriculture and food sector should also start working in order to accommodate quickly to the new trade order.

Keywords: Online purchasing, E-trade, Consumer, Contemporary logistics

*Corresponding author: Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Agricultural Economics, 59030, Tekirdağ, Türkiye
E mail: rizaerol@gmail.com (R. EROL)
Rıza EROL fip https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1103-6490
Mecit Ömer AZABAĞAOĞLU fip https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7745-0574
Accepted: February 01, 2023
Published: March 01, 2023
Cite as: Erol R, Azabağaoğlu MÖ. 2023. E-food trade effects on purchasing approach regarding customer behavior. BSJ Agri, 6(2): 148-156.

1. Introduction

In the modern world, agriculture and food trade is changing rapidly and e-commerce usage rates of consumers are increasing. E-Food trade also has an important share in the food market. Especially, due to increase of widespread use of the internet, the consumers' desire for reaching needed food products with a fair price and faster grows. In accordance with the impact of technological innovations, the development of the impact of product packaging facilities and logistics companies in product distribution accelerates the delivery of products produced in the field to the consumer. Price advantages arise in selling of a product by effective use of logistics, since the transportation network between the producers through the consumer is shortened.

Wen (2007), the most important effect of electronic commerce is that it provides direct communication between the manufacturer and the customer by creating a disintermediation. In this way, the intermediates are eliminated, transaction costs are reduced and the farmers are able to achieve high profit rates at low prices. It has been stated that by virtue of information

technologies, a market which is based on effective and competitive prices has emerged in terms of electronic commerce. By this way, the food products can reach the consumer much faster. For this reason, the rate of deterioration resulting from product storage conditions is reduced. Thus, a positive contribution is made to the countries' economy by decreasing the casualty rate.

Leroux et al. (2001) Three main factors that have an impact on business-to-business (B2B) electronic commerce are stated as the structure of the agricultural industry; the complexity of the product and the role of face-to-face consumer communication in trade. The research which states that consolidation is an important situation in the agricultural industry, stated that this may have a negative impact on electronic commerce.

In addition to all these, the consumer also has a more affordable price for the product. Also, the rate of being unrecorded work in the food economy reaches a minimum level with the development of e-food trade. This situation increases the tax collection rate; as well as contributes to the effective implementation of agricultural policies.

It is aimed to improve the necessary conditions for our

country to play a more active role on a global scale in the changing and developing e-food trade nowadays, and to pave the way for the food products which are produced in our country to open up to the world markets more effectively with the spread of e-food trade. By virtue of the future outlook perspective that will be revealed by the results of this study, public or private agricultural executives in our country will have the opportunity to act early in shaping agricultural policies. It will be possible for larger domestic companies to emerge in the global market.

Canavan et al. (2007) investigating the marketing of specialty food products over the internet in Ireland, the most common use of the internet was; information, communication and shopping; It was stated that internet use for purchasing food is not common. Specialty foods are defined as unique food products that are produced in small quantities and are not subject to mass production, and they can be attractive in terms of sales over the internet. After the widely using e-retailing Kızılaslan and Gönültaş (2011) emphasized that there are new developments, that with the introduction of the internet into this field, new supply chains are formed, the transportation sector has developed and access to agricultural information has become easier. While the increasing and spreading information affects the expectations in the market, new approaches should be put forward to meet these expectations. Researchers emphasized that; electronic commerce applications in the field of agriculture will develop in Türkiye by means of elimination in taxation, governmental infrastructure and other obstacles.

Logistics management is one of the most important factors of e-food trade. In our constantly developing world, it is necessary to plan the flow of goods, services, information and capital simultaneously in business life. These plans can be made by using complex information, communication and control systems simultaneously by the force of logistics.

2. Materials and Methods

Research data collected online from consumer groups (by considering gender, age, occupation, etc.) who have purchasing potential for e-trade products within the municipality of Istanbul. A form consisting of 15 questions that includes gender, age, marital status, occupation, education level, number of household members, household monthly income, e-food shopping status information, reasons for choosing e-commerce, product information bought online through e-commerce, online shopping payment types, online shopping cost information, and another form consisting of 26 questions as Consumer Survey were applied to consumers which are included in the study and recorded. The study was carried out between November 2019 and December 2020.

According to the statistical analysis used in the study; after the surveys and data which were used in the research were collected and checked, the analysis phase has been carried out. Statistical package program was used for data analysis. In the first stage of the analysis, the reliability analysis of the scale was carried out. Cronbach's Alpha technique, which is an internal consistency coefficient technique, was used in order to calculate the reliability of the scale.

The summary statistics of the qualitative variables were given as frequency and percentage, and besides the analysis of whether the quantitative variables fit the normal distribution was made with the "Shapiro-Wilk Test".

Summary statistics of quantitative variables are given as mean (±) standard deviation for those have normal distribution, and median and min – max values for those don't have normal distribution. In the analysis of the significance of quantitative variables according to qualitative variables, the analysis between two groups that were not normally distributed was made with the "Mann-Whitney U Test", and the analysis between more than two groups was made with the "Kruskall-Wallis Test" (Önder, 2018).

In order to find out which group was significant after the significance detected in multiple groups, one of the subgroup tests, the "Homogeneous Subset Differences Test (HSD Test)", was applied (Genc and Soysal, 2018). "Spearman's Rho Rank Difference Correlation Coefficient" was used in the analysis of two numerical variables that were detected as inconsistent to normal distribution. In the interpretation of the correlation coefficient, "very weak correlation if <0.2", "weak relationship if between 0.2-0.4", "moderate relationship if between 0.4-0.6", "if between 0.6-0.8, high-grade relationship" criteria, if "0.8> very high-grade relationship" criteria were used. The significance level was taken as P<0.05; P<0.01 and bidirectional hypothesized.

3. Results and Discussion

In recent years, online food trade (e-food trade) has gained importance and its prevalence has increased considerably. Especially the great developments in the technological infrastructure over time and the increase in the use of computers in Türkiye have brought the popularity of online food shopping applications to the agenda. Supports and actions to be taken in order to boost the e-food trade will create a potential that will further expand the use of the internet in the field of food. The majority (68.6%) of the consumers participating in the research are men. There are various studies in the literature similar to our findings. It was stated that 53.4% of the consumers were male and 46.6% were female in the field study in which the factors determining consumer behavior in online shopping in our country and the applicability of the theory of planned behavior were examined (Turan, 2011). In another study, Akçi and Annaç (2015) examined approaches to e-commerce perceptions of consumers and found that 53.1% of the participants were male and 46.9% were female. In a study examining the attitudes of consumers shopping online in the province of Tokat, it was stated that male participants were 73% (Sayılı and Büyükköroğlu, 2012). It was determined that the majority of the consumers that had participated in the research were under the age of 40 (54.9%). Ayden and Demir (2011) stated that most of the participants were young in their study, in which they examined how consumer preferences and behaviors are shaped in e-commerce. In another study in the literature, Saygılı and Büyükköroğlu (2012) analyzed the factors affecting the attitudes of consumers shopping online and stated that the majority of consumers (67%) were under the age of 40.

It is seen that there are other studies in the literature that are similar to the findings of the study (Aksoy, 2006; Turan, 2011; Akçi and Annaç; 2015, Tath and Korkut, 2015). The marital status of the consumers participating in the research was questioned and it was found that the rate of married people were 66.9%. When the literature is examined, Farinnia (2011) stated that in her study which had examined online shopping attitudes of consumers; married consumers were more than single consumers.

Majority (76.7%) of the consumers participating in the research had bachelor's degree and master's degree education levels. When the studies in the literature are examined, Candan and Kurtuluş (2003) stated in their study that 65% of internet shoppers were those with bachelor's degree education and 35% were those with master's degree education. Akçi and Annaç (2015) in their study in which they examined the attitudes of consumers living in the eastern region of eastern Türkiye about e-commerce, stated that 93% of the participants had bachelor's degree and master's degree education levels. In the light of the findings, it can be said that consumers with a high level of education make online purchases because they are in the computer age and due to the average age of these consumers, they grow together with technology.

Regarding the number of household members, more than half (54.7%) of the respondents in the research have 4 or more family members. In a study examining the food purchase attitudes of consumers through e-commerce, it was stated that the majority of consumers (78%) had 3 or more family members (Sayılı and Büyükköroğlu, 2012).

Approximately half (51.1%) of the consumers have 7500 TL or more household monthly income. In a study searching how behaviors of the consumers are shaped in e-commerce, it is stated that most of the participants have middle and high income levels (Ayden and Demir, 2011).

It has been determined that 36.2% of the consumers that has participated in the research shop online once or twice a month; the vast majority (55.6%) do not shop for food online, while the remaining consumers shop for food once a week to once or twice a year. If they had the opportunity to do all their food shopping online, 33.3% of the participants stated that they would do it. It was stated that more than half of the participants (50.4%) preferred traditional e-commerce sites in the preferred ecommerce shopping models. As the second model, it was determined that 36.4% of the participants preferred shopping through the official websites of the company. Participants did shopping mostly for clothing (41%), secondly for travel tickets (12.7%), and thirdly for electronic products (10.6%) and 87.9% of consumers paid 750 TL or less for online shopping. Almost all of the consumers (96.4%) stated that they take customer comments during online shopping. Tatlı and Korkut (2015) examined the e-commerce usage of consumers in their study and found that less than half of the participants (45%) do not use online shopping; the vast majority of consumers (94%) do online shopping monthly and annually; the most purchased products from the internet are respectively clothing, technological products, books, magazines and other tools. In another study that has surveyed online shopping, the products purchased by the majority of the participants were electronic goods, car accessories and cassette-cd, on the other hand, it was stated that the rate of those who done online shopping for food was low (12%) as mentioned in this study. In another study examining the rate of online shoppers, it was stated that the majority of consumers (54%) did not prefer to online shopping (Turan, 2011). In another e-commerce study conducted in Bursa, it was stated that more than half of the participants did online shopping at least once and they wanted to do other food shopping online also (Özkan, 2012). In a study conducted by TÜSİAD, it was determined that the majority of consumers (62%) bought clothing and sports equipment (Kantarcı et al., 2017). When all this literature review is examined, it is seen that these studies that has been carried out, support the findings.

It has been indicated that the majority of the consumers that has participated in the research have adopted the online payment method with a credit card for their internet commerce; and secondly, the cash on delivery method. In a study conducted in Iran by Farinnia (2011), he stated that the most used method in e-commerce is the cash on delivery option.

The importance given to e-commerce by the consumers participating in the research was determined as the reliability / awareness of the e-commerce site, the price of the product and the delivery time of the product, respectively. Papathanassiou et al. (2003) in a field study in Greece, they determined that the most important issues for consumers in online food shopping are products' delivery on time, product quality and product warranty disclaimer

It has been determined that according to the reasons why the consumers prefer online shopping, the product mostly preferred (54.4%) when the it is found at a discount or low priced, and secondly (24.9%), it is preferred when they do not have time to buy it from stores. Uzel and Aydoğdu (2010) in their study in which they examined the reasons for preferring e-commerce, stated that there are reasons such as the convenience provided to people who are short of time, the convenience of online shopping and the opportunity for shopping at any time of the day.

It was determined that the majority of the consumers (68.6%) who participated in the research would like to order natural and organic products over the internet if they had the opportunity to order, and the reasons for preferring online shopping for organic products were determined as natural village products, local products, pulses and cereals, respectively.

The reliability of the consumer questionnaire applied to the consumers participating in the research was obtained as (96.3%) and explanatory factor analyzes were carried out in this direction. As a conclusion of the explanatory factor analysis, it was determined that the scale was divided into three factors and the rate of explanation of the scale by these factors was 74.6%.

Scale factor levels were named based on the meanings of the items. Within this context, the first factor level was named "Customer Expectations", the second factor level was named "Web Site Features" and the third factor level was named "Customer Satisfaction". The averages of the factor levels were examined and it was determined that the consumers agreed with the factor levels.

After the factor levels of the consumers that has participated in the research were created, their statistical relevance was examined and there were statistical differences between "Customer Satisfaction" according to age groups, "Customer Expectations and Website Features" according to occupational groups, "Customer Satisfaction" according to the number of people in the household, and there were statistical differences between factor levels. It was found that there were moderate correlations.

In this section, the findings regarding the sub-problems created according to the problem status of the research conducted by including 417 consumers who meet the inclusion criteria in the study were evaluated on 185 consumers who stated that they shopped online for food. Reliability, which is one of the most important features that measurement tools should have, is an indicator of the stability of measurement values obtained in repeated measurements under the same conditions with a measurement tool (Öncü, 1994). The reliability of the scales is examined in different ways. The alpha coefficient method developed by Cronbach (1951) is a technique that is frequently used to estimate the internal consistency of especially likert-rated scales. The reliability analysis of the data obtained by the application of the Consumer Questionnaire used in the research to 185 consumers was examined and given in Table 1.

The reliability analysis of the consumer survey, which included 26 statements, was made on the data and it was found to be 0.963 (Table 1) and showed that the scale was quite reliable.

 Table 1. Findings on the reliability of the consumer survey

Cronbach's Alpha	Item
0.963	26

Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA) is a multivariate analysis technique that allows the interpretation of a large number of variables that are thought to be related with a smaller number of variables or variables that cannot be directly observed (Şencan, 2005; Çolakoğlu and Büyükekşi, 2014).

Before the EFA phase, the convenience of the data for factor analysis was tested with the Kaiser-Mayer-Olkin (KMO) and Bartlett Tests. The KMO value is defined as moderate between 0.5 and 07, good between 0.7 and 0.8, very good between 0.8 and 0.9, and excellent above 0.9 (Çolakoğlu and Büyükekşi, 2014). The findings regarding the convenience of the consumer questionnaire for factor analysis are given in Table 2.

 Table 2. KMO and Bartlett test results of the consumer survey

КМО		0.960
	Chi-square	7828.339
Bartlett's Test	SD	190
	P value	< 0.001

In this study, the KMO value was obtained as 0.960 (Table 2). In other words, it was determined that the sample size of the study was sufficient. With the Bartlett test which performed as to measure the normal distribution level, the result was 7828.339 and it was found to be statistically significant at the P=0.000<0.01 level. Therefore, it was decided that the data set used in the study was suitable for EFA and the analysis phase was started.

In this framework, Principal Components Analysis (PCA) was conducted in the first stage to determine the factor structure of the scale. Due to convenience of the scale for a three-factor structure, the Varimax rotation technique was used as the rotation technique. Accordingly, after removing the items 1, 2, 8, 21, 22, and 23 with an item load value below 30 (Kalaycı, 2006), the process was repeated on the remaining 20 items, and the results are given in Table 3.

As a result of EFA, 3 factors were obtained explaining 74.602% of the total variance with factor loads above 30 and eigenvalues above 1. The resulting factors were named as "customer expectations", "website features" and "customer satisfaction". The factor loads of the items constituting these dimensions are given in Table 3.

The analysis findings of the data obtained by the application of the Consumer Questionnaire used in the research to 185 consumers are given in this section. The intervals were used in the evaluations made according to the arithmetic averages (Balcı, 2001).

151

answers given to the sub-factors of the consumer survey according to the gender of the consumers participating in the study were examined; the average of men's responses to the "Customer Expectations" sub-factor is determined as 4.22 ± 0.91 , the average of their responses to the "Website Features" sub-factor is determined as 3.82 ± 0.97 ; the average of their responses to the subfactor "Customer Satisfaction" is determined as 3.60 ± 1.10 ; the average of women's responses to the "Customer Expectations" sub-factor is determined as 4.20 ± 0.98 , the average of their responses to the "Website Features" sub-factor is determined as 3.76 ± 0.92 , the average of their responses to the "Customer Satisfaction" sub-factor is determined as 3.77 ± 1.11 (Table 4).

When the average and standard deviations of the answers that are given to the sub-factors of the consumer

survey by the age groups of the consumers who participated in the study are examined; the average of the responses of consumers who are 40 years old and under to the "Customer Expectations" sub-factor is determined as 4.17 ± 1.01 ; the average of their responses to the "Website Features" sub-factor is determined as 3.79 ± 0.96 ; the average of their responses to the "Customer Satisfaction" sub-factor is determined as 3.77 ± 0.14 ; the average of the responses of consumers who are over the age of 40 to the "Customer Expectations" sub-factor is determined as 4.26 ± 0.84 ; the average of their responses to the "Website Features" subfactor is determined as 3.82 ± 0.95 ; the average of their responses to the "Customer Satisfaction" sub-factor is determined as 3.51 ± 1.04 .

Table 3. The sub-dimensions of the consumer survey obtained as a result of the EFA
--

	customer	website	customer
	expectations	features	satisfaction
Q13- If the order processing error of the company is too much, such as	0.827		
missing or wrong product, it affects my shopping decision.	0.027		
Q5- The fact that the product that is not practically in stock, seems to be			
being prepared and afterwards cancellation of my order negatively affects	0.808		
my attitude towards the company.			
Q9- Mistakes that made in the image of the product while defining on the	0.780		
shopping site will negatively affect my shopping satisfaction.	0.700		
Q4- Proper operation of the return procedure increases my e-shopping	0 773		
frequency and amount.	0.775		
Q11- I expect the product to be picked up from my home by a free courier	0 762		
during the course of product return.	0.702		
Q3- I would like to be able to monitor the status of my order online.	0.759		
Q12- If the product is sent wrong; I expect the mistake to be compensated			
with opportunities such as gift certificates, discount coupons and free	0.740		
shipping.			
Q6- The fact that the product is delivered on the date and time which I	0 704		
determined, increases my online shopping frequency.	0.704		
Q10- I prefer shopping sites that have flexible rules for product returns	0.693		
and exchanges.	0.075		
Q16- The site I shop online has superior knowledge of the goods and		0.803	
services it offers.		0.005	
Q17- This site, which offers online shopping service, strives to achieve		0 786	
excellence.		0.700	
Q18 The wide range of products and services offered by the online		0 731	
retailer fulfil my needs.		01/01	
Q20- The design of shopping sites usually looks nice.		0.725	
Q15- The product and service I buy online is of the promised quality and at		0.723	
the right price.		011 20	
Q19 My preferred shopping sites not only sell me products and services,		0.718	
but also entertain me.		0.7 10	
Q14-Generally, I am satisfied with the prices of the site I shop from.		0.689	
Q25- I enjoy recommending shopping sites and products to others.			0.810
Q24- I think that the best way to get information about the			
products/services of shopping sites is by using product reviews, surveys,			0.729
or chat rooms.			
Q26- If I am satisfied with the shopping site service, I try to respond with			0.728
feedback.			0 20

	Customer Expectations	Website Features	Customer Satisfaction
Gender	$\bar{X} \pm SD$	$\overline{X} \pm SD$	$\bar{X} \pm SD$
Male	4.22±0.91	3.82±0.97	3.60±1.10
Female	4.20±0.98	3.76±0.92	3.77±1.11
Age			
40 years of age and under	4.17±1.01	3.79±0.96	3.77±0.14
Over 40 years of age	4.26±0.84	3.82±0.95	3.51±1.04
Occupation			
Government official	4.41±0.73	4.00±0.80	3.73±1.02
Worker	3.93±1.12	3.54±1.12	3.43±1.21
Not working	4.37±0.76	3.89±0.74	4.01±0.93
Educational Status			
High School – Associate's Degree	4.13±1.04	3.87±1.03	3.83±1.16
University (Bachelor's Degree)	4.09±1.07	3.70±1.05	3.55±1.16
Postgraduate	4.44±0.52	3.93±0.72	3.73±0.95
Household number of persons			
4 ve above	4.38±0.69	3.96±0.76	3.84±0.93
3 ve below	4.03±1.12	3.63±1.11	3.44±1.23
Household Monthly Income Level			
7500 TL ve below	4.15±1.07	3.74±1.04	3.62±1.21
7500 TL above	4.26±0.82	3.85±0.88	3.68±1.01

Table 4. The mean and standard deviations of the responses of the consumers to the sub-factor levels of the consumer survey according to their demographic data

Table 5. Comparison of consumers' responses to consumer survey sub-factor levels according to demographic data

	Customer Expectations	Website Features	Customer Satisfaction
Gender	$\bar{X} \pm SD$	$\bar{X} \pm SD$	$\overline{X} \pm SD$
Male	4.50 (1.00-5.00)	4.00 (1.00-5.00)	3.67 (1.00-5.00)
Female	4.40 (1.00-5.00)	3.86 (1.00-5.00)	4.00 (1.00-5.00)
P value	Pa=0.991	Pa=0.548	Pa=0.235
Age			
Age of 40 and under	4.50 (1.00-5.00)	3.86 (1.00-5.00)	4.00 (1.00-5.00)
Over 40 years of age	4.40 (1.00-5.00)	4.00 (1.00-5.00)	3.67 (1.00-5.00)
P value	Pa=0.857	Pa=0.594	Pa=0.045*
Occupation			
Government official	4.50 (1.00-5.00)(Y)	4.00 (1.00-5.00)(Y)	4.00 (1.00-5.00)
Worker	4.20 (1.00-5.00)(X)	3.71 (1.00-5.00)(X)	3.67 (1.00-5.00)
Not working	4.50 (2.10-5.00)(XY)	3.86 (1.57-5.00)(XY)	4.33 (2.00-5.00)
P value	Pb=0.011*	Pb=0.020*	Pb=0.077
Education level			
High School – Associate's Degree	4.20 (1.00-5.00)	3.86 (1.00-5.00)	3.67 (1.00-5.00)
University (Bachelor's Degree)	4.50 (1.00-5.00)	3.86 (1.00-5.00)	3.67 (1.00-5.00)
Post-Graduate	4.45 (2.40-5.00)	4.00 (1.71-5.00)	3.83 (1.00-5.00)
P value	Pb=0.481	Pb=0.462	Pb=0.429
Household Number of Persons			
3 and below	4.40 (1.00-5.00)	4.00 (1.00-5.00)	3.67 (1.00-5.00)
4 and above	4.50 (1.00-5.00)	4.00 (1.00-5.00)	4.00 (1.00-5.00)
P value	Pa=0.064	Pa=0.195	Pa=0.049*
Household Monthly Income Level			
7500 TL and below	4.50 (1.00-5.00)	3.86 (1.00-5.00)	3.67 (1.00-5.00)
7500 TL above	4.40 (1.00-5.00)	4.00 (1.00-5.00)	3.67 (1.00-5.00)
P value	Pa=0.753	P ^a =0.595	Pa=0.929

*P<0.05, **P<0.01. . ^athe difference between the two groups was evaluated with the Mann Whitney U test, ^bthe difference between more than two groups was evaluated with the Kruskal Wallis test, Within-group comparisons were evaluated with the Homogeneous Subset Differences (HSD) Test for non-normally distributed data, X,Y= There is no difference between variables with the same letter.

According to the demographic data of the consumers who participated in the research, it was analyzed with the "Shapiro-Wilk Test" whether the sub-factors of the consumer survey were distributed normally or not, and it was determined that all sub-factors were not normally distributed (P<0.05) according to the demographic data.

With reference to the results of the normal distribution; data has been analyzed whether if there is a difference between the groups that are not normally distributed for two groups (gender, age group, number of households, household monthly income level) with the "Mann Whitney U Test"; has been analyzed with the "Kruskal Wallis Test" for those with more than two groups (occupation, education level); whether if there is a difference between the groups that are not normally distributed, data has been analyzed with the 'Homogenous Subset Differences Test (HSD Test)' and all the results are given in Table 5.

The comparison of the sub-factors of the Consumer questionnaire according to the gender of the consumers participating in the study was examined and it was determined that there was no statistically significant difference (P>0.05) between all sub-factors by gender (Table 5).

Determining that there was a statistically significant difference (P<0.05) between the "Customer Satisfaction" sub-factors according to age groups, and there was no statistically significant difference (P>0.05) between all other sub-factors (Table 5). When the medians of the groups that differ are examined, it can be said that the medians of the consumers aged 40 and below are higher than the medians of the consumers over the age of 40.

It was determined that there was a statistically significant difference (P<0.05), between the "Customer Expectations and Website Features" sub-factors, and there was no statistically significant difference (P>0.05) between the "Customer Satisfaction" sub-factors (P>0.05). When the sub-factors of "Customer

Expectations and Website Features" are examined, it can be said that the difference between the two sub-factors according to occupational groups arises from the difference between worker consumers and civil servant consumers. There was no statistically significant difference (P>0.05) among all sub-factors according to educational status.

There was a statistically significant difference between the "Customer Satisfaction" sub-factor according to the number of people in the household (P<0.05), but there was no statistically significant difference (P>0.05) between all other sub-factors. When the medians of the groups that difference are examined, it can be said that the medians of consumers with a household number of 3 and below are less than the medians of consumers with a household number of 4 and above. There was no statistically significant difference (P>0.05) among all subfactors according to household monthly income level.

The normality of the sub-factors of the consumer survey was examined and it was determined that the sub-factors of the consumer survey were not normally distributed (P<0.05). Therefore, whether there is a relationship between the groups that are not normally distributed was examined with the "Spearman's Rho Rank Correlation Coefficient" and the results are given in Table 6.

When the relationship between the sub-factors of the consumer survey of the consumers who participated in the study is examined, it is seen that there is respectively %56.1 and %50.1 degree positive moderate relationship between the "Customer Expectations" sub-factor and the "Website Features and Customer Satisfaction" sub-factors and was found to be significant.

There was a positive moderate correlation of 58.7% between the sub-factors of the consumer survey which are "Website Features" sub-factor and the "Customer Satisfaction" sub-factor, and it was found to be statistically significant (P<0.01).

Table 6. The relationship status of consumers among the sub-factors of the consumer survey

			Customer	Website	Customer
			Expectations	Features	Satisfaction
	Country on Free stations	r	1.000	0.561	0.501
Succession is the	Customer Expectations	P value		Pc=0.000**	Pc=0.000**
Spearman's rno	Mile ite Freetring	r			0.587
	website reatures	P value			Pc=0.000**

*P<0.05, **P<0.01, the relationship between the two groups was evaluated with Spearman's Rho Rank correlation coefficient.

4. Conclusion

Today, a new world order is being reshaped with the understanding that "the only thing that doesn't change is change itself". It is predicted that much of what we know in the tradition will change step by step in the near future. Foremost among them is the preferences in the purchasing method. Meanwhile, it is assumed that the logistics methods, which are the most important factor in the delivery of products to the consumer, will develop by changing. The delivery of agricultural products to the market is done through traditional channels in the world. The intermediary institutions such as traders, cooperatives and markets at the head of these channels, provide the commercial link between the producer and the consumer. Since there is more than one channel in the current supply chain, the products coming from the manufacturer reach the consumer with a price increase of approximately 4 times higher. Considering the

production costs in this trade pattern, producers earn a lot fewer and the consumers reach the product by paying the ultimate price.

The logistics system has a vital importance in the delivery of agricultural products to the final consumer. Correspondingly with the development of logistics opportunities, it is under consideration that international trade will increase even more in the future. The countries which foresee this situation strengthen their logistics structures in order to transport the products they produce to other markets by using land, sea and air transportation. It is foreseen that logistics costs will be reduced in the near future with the R&D studies on the development of logistics, innovative applications, and the realization of ideas about the future of the logistics industry. Thereby when the logistics costs, which have a direct effect on the product price, are reduced, the consumer will be able to reach the product at a cheaper price.

According to the data in the survey conducted on the consumer, it is seen that the tendency to use e-food commerce is very high, especially due to the difficulty of reaching local and natural products. By means of e-food trade, an important link is established with the producers so that consumers can reach reliable products from the source. In this way, consumers have the opportunity to reach the quality products that they wanted, regional flavors and geographically indicated products, naturally grown products faster and safer. Small and medium-sized producers will have the chance to deliver the products they produce from their fields or production facilities to the consumers in a wide area. By virtue of e-food trade, the consumer will find the advantage of reaching the product at a more affordable price, as the intermediary institutions will be reduced through the trade established directly between the producer and the consumer.

According to the data in the survey conducted on the consumer, it is seen that the tendency to use e-food commerce is very high, especially due to the difficulty of accessing local and natural products. Thanks to the efood trade, an important link is established with the producers so that consumers can reach reliable products from the source. In this way, consumers have the opportunity to reach the products they want, regional flavors, products with geographical indications, products grown naturally, faster and safer. By establishing close interaction with the producer and consumer e-food trade, there is an opportunity to make a longer-term trade by developing subscriber and/or member systems. Small and medium-sized producers will have the chance to reach the consumer in a very wide area for the products they produce from their fields or production facilities. With the e-food trade and the trade established directly between the producer and the consumer, the consumer will find the advantage of reaching the product at a more affordable price, as the intermediary institutions will decrease.

In the survey conducted with the producers, it is seen

that 92% of the producers want to enter the e-food trade. Although manufacturers understand that future trading methods will change, they have realized that e-food commerce will occupy a very important place in their sales channels. Although state authorities have started studies on this issue, it seems that this is not enough. Although the Digital Agricultural Market project initiated by the Ministry of Agriculture is very important for the producers, the desired level of success has not been achieved due to the lack of technical infrastructure, lack of on-site packaging and packaging, and not integrating logistics channels into the system. It is seen that the market will develop very rapidly and in a much more inclusive way with the investments to be made by private companies in the e-food trade in the near future and with pioneering solutions.

The average age of the farmer engaged in agriculture is increasing day by day and this increase turns into a troublesome process for the future of agriculture. The average age of people engaged in agriculture needs to be rejuvenated. Agricultural policy practitioners are working on incentive packages for young farmers in this regard. However, since these are single-channel redirects, success has not been achieved. However, with the more active use of e-food trade, the income of the producers will increase and reverse migration to the villages will increase. Producers with increased income will increase the number of family workers for more production, and expand their production areas by renting neighboring or idle fields if necessary. These model applications will set an example for many people, and a certain part of the population that has accumulated in the city with the expectation of high income from the product they produce will be able to return to their land and start producing.

The spread of e-food trade is of great importance, especially for small-medium producers to compete with monopolistic markets. The legal arrangements made to prevent large producers from reaching the trade volume that will determine the market have not been very successful. Therefore, in order to protect small producers, the channels of reaching the market should be kept open at all times. With e-food trade, producers and farmers will be in contact with consumers without intermediaries. Keeping these channels open with investments by local governments, private companies and public institutions will produce positive results for all stakeholders. Agricultural policy practitioners need to make economic, legal and structural arrangements in order to expand this unity. E-food commerce can reach the desired level as a result of the data analysis and synchronized studies required for the creation of more effective agricultural policies. The development of e-Food trade will be the construction of the future for all agriculture and agriculture-related sectors. In this way, our country will have a stronger agricultural structure, and a process will emerge in which producers, intermediaries and consumers will gain optimum profit.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	R.E.	M.Ö.A.
С	50	50
D	50	50
S	50	50
DCP	50	50
DAI	50	50
L	50	50
W	50	50
CR	50	50
SR	50	50
РМ	50	50
FA	50	50

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

This study was conducted with the approval of the Tekirdağ Namık Kemal University Ethics Committee of the Graduate School of Sciences (September 12, 2019/072), the questionnaires were conducted on a voluntary basis.

Acknowledgments

A part of the Rıza Erol's PhD thesis was used in this article.

References

- Akçi Y, Annaç GS. 2015. A research on the e-commerce perception of consumer (the sample of Gaziantep and Adıyaman). Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniv Sos Bil Enst Derg, 7(13): 413-433.
- Aksoy R. 2006. Trust as a marketing value and trust attitudes of the consumers towards electronic markets. ZKÜ Sos Bil Derg, 2(4): 79-90.
- Ayden C, Demir Ö. 2011. Electronic trade; a study on consumers' attitudes and preferences. Fırat Üniv Sos Bil Derg, 21(2): 149-161.
- Balcı A. 2001. Sosyal bilimlerde araştırma yöntem, teknik ve ilkeler. Pegem Akademi, Ankara, Türkiye, 15. baskı. pp: 408.
- Canavan O, Henchion M, O'Reilly S. 2007. The use of the internet as a marketing channel for Irish speciality food. Int J

Retail Distrib Manag, 35(2): 178-195.

- Candan B, Kurtuluş K. 2003. İnternet kullanıcılarının gıda, temizlik ve kişisel bakım ürünlerinde sanal alış-veriş yapma nedenlerini belirlemeye yönelik pilot bir araştırma. Atatürk Üniv İkt İd Bil Derg, 17(1,2): 307-320.
- Çolakoğlu ÖM, Büyükekşi C. 2014. Evaluation of factors effecting exploratory factor analysis process. Karaelmas Eğit Bil Derg, 2 (1): 56-64
- Cronbach LJ. 1951. Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. Psychometrika, 16(3): 297-334.
- Farinnia F. 2011. The evaluation of consumer purchase behaviour through internet: A practice in Iran. MSc Thesis, Ankara University, Social Science Institute, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 118.
- Genç S, Soysal Mİ. 2018. Parametric and nonparametric post hoc tests. BSJ Eng Sci, 1(1): 18-27.
- Kalaycı Ş. 2006. SPSS Uygulamalı çok değişkenli istatistik teknikleri. Asil Yayıncılık, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 426.
- Kantarcı Ö, Özalp M, Sezginsoy C, Özaşkınlı O, Cavlak C. 2017. Dijitalleşen dünyada ekonominin itici gücü: E-ticaret. TÜSİAD Yayınları, İstanbul, Türkiye, pp: 587.
- Kızılaslan H, Gönültaş H. 2011. The importance and the place of agriculture products marketing of data processing technology (E-marketing). GOÜ Zir Fak Derg, 28(1): 1-11.
- Leroux N, Wortman Jr MS, Mathias ED. 2001. Dominant factors impacting the development of business to business (B2B) Ecommerce in agriculture. Intl Food Agribus Manag Rev, 4: 205-218.
- Öncü A. 1994. Packaging Islam: Cultural politics on the landscape of Turkish commercial television. New Persp Turkey, 10: 13-36.
- Önder H. 2018. Nonparametric statistical methods used in biological experiments. BSJ Eng Sci, 1(1): 1-6.
- Özkan G. 2012. Factors affecting consumer behavior towards online shopping: Case of the Nilüfer district of Bursa. MSc Thesis, Başkent University, Social Science Institute, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 207.
- Papathanassiou E, Kardaras D, Arkoumani B. 2003. Management content and impact of e-commerce in the Greek food industries. Logistic Info Manag, 16(2): 134-144.
- Sayılı M, Büyükköroğlu A. 2012. Analysis of factors affecting the attitudes of consumers on food purchasing through e-commerce. Tarım Bil Derg, 18(3): 246-255.
- Şencan H. 2005. Sosyal ve davranışsal ölçümlerde güvenirlilik ve geçerlilik. Şeçkin Yayıncılık, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 898.
- Tatlı H, Korkut F. 2015. Factors affecting consumer behavior in virtual shopping: an application on students of Bingol University. Erzincan Üniv Sos Bil Enst Derg, 8(1): 63-78.
- Turan AH. 2011. Determinations of customers' internet shopping behavior: empirical test with the theory of planned behavior (TPB). Doğuş Üniv Derg, 12(1): 128-143.
- Uzel E, Aydoğdu FC. 2010. A qualitative study on understanding perspectives of employees towards on-line shopping. Organiz Yönet Bil Derg, 2(1): 19-25.
- Wen W. 2007. A Knowledge-based intelligent electronic commerce system for selling agricultural products. Comput Electronics Agri, 57: 33-46.

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1230291



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578

Research Article Volume 6 - Issue 2: 157-163 / March 2023

GROWTH PERFORMANCE AND SOME SERUM, BONE AND FECAL PARAMETERS OF BROILERS FED WITH DIFFERENT LEVELS OF CALCIUM AND PHOSPHORUS

Ahmet AKDAĞ^{1*}, Zekeriya KIYMA²

¹Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Animal Science, 55139, Samsun, Türkiye ²Eskişehir Osmangazi University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Animal Science, 26000, Eskişehir, Türkiye

Abstract: Aim of the study was to evaluate the effects of diet non-phytate phosphorus (P) and calcium (Ca) level on growth performance and some blood, bone and faeces parameters of broilers. A total of 480 one-day-old Ross 308 broilers were randomly allocated to 3 dietary treatments with 5 replicates for a 42-d study. Corn-soybean meal based diets were consisted of three different Ca and P concentrations for starter and grower periods. High, medium and low Ca and P levels in starter and grower periods were 1.05-0.49, 0.95-0.44, 0.85-0.41% and 0.87-0.42, 0.78-0.38, 0.69-0.34%, respectively. After the first 21-d feeding period, no differences were observed for feed intake (FI) but body weight (BW) and feed conversion ratio (FCR) were higher (P<0.05) in group fed 0.85-0.41% Ca and P. Diet with low Ca and P tended to increase final body weight of the chicks at 42 days old. No differences were observed for FI, FCR and mortality among the treatments. Different Ca and P levels had no effect on internal organ weights (P>0.05). Fecal ash, tibia and sternum weight and sternum ash were not affected from the Ca and P concentrations but tibia ash was lower (P<0.05) in group having low concentration of Ca and P. Decreasing levels of Ca and P had a negative effect on relative breast meat weight (P<0.05). There were no significant differences in Ca, P concentrations and aspartate transaminase (AST), alanine transaminase (ALT) activities in blood serum (P>0.05). However, alkaline phosphatase (ALP) enzyme activity was higher (P<0.05) in group having medium levels of Ca and P. Based on the data, it can be concluded that 8.5 g/kg Ca and 4.1 g/kg P can be used for starter period without any deterioration on growth performance.

Keywords: Broiler, Ca-P level, Growth performance, Serum parameters

*Corresponding aut	thor	Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Animal Science, 55139, S	amsun, Türkiye
E mail: ahmet.akdag	@on	nu.edu.tr (A. AKDAĞ)	
Ahmet AKDAĞ 🛛 🌔	iD	https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0154-7839	Received: January 06, 2023
Zekeriya KIYMA 🛛 🌔	iD	https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1760-6442	Accepted: February 01, 2023
	_		Published: March 01, 2023
Cite as: Akdağ A	Kıv	ma Z 2023. Growth performance and some serum, hone and fecal paramete	rs of broilers fed with different levels of calcium and

Cite as: Akdağ A, Kıyma Z. 2023. Growth performance and some serum, bone and fecal parameters of broilers fed with different levels of calcium a phosphorus BSJ Agri, 6(2): 157-163.

1. Introduction

The requirement of calcium (Ca) and phosphorus (P) of broilers has been the subject of research for decades. Studies conducted to determine Ca and P requirements of broilers has shown that demand of these minerals have changed with the development of genetic, nutrition and environmental conditions. Recent studies have reported that not only Ca and P concentration but also Ca and P ratio is essential for bone development and growth performance (Driver et al., 2005; Rama Rao et al., 2006; Selle et al., 2009; Han et al., 2016). The majority of P in plant source is present in the form of phytate, 28.2% of the total P is called nonphytate P (NPP) (Ravindran et al., 1995). Due to poor solubility, phytate is poorly absorbed by broilers (Wilkinson et al., 2014a). Plants are insufficient to provide the requirements of Ca and NPP for broilers therefore, some inorganic ingredient such as dicalcium phosphate (DCP) and limestone are added to broilers feeds. High acid binding capacity of the limestone leads to poor solubility of proteins and P in the gizzard (Walk et al., 2012). Decreasing Ca concentration of feed have led to develop P utilization but excess Ca decreased P concentration of bone ash (Letorneau-Montminy et al., 2008).

Phosphorus retention may be developed with the early restriction of Ca and NPP. This improvement arises from the adaptation ability of broilers to early restrictions and adaptation also may improve late period performance and P retention (Yan et al., 2005). Some studies have suggested that development of P utilization may be carried out with the arrangements of Ca concentration (Driver et al., 2005; Letourneau-Montminy et al., 2010; Roussea et al., 2012). Low Ca and narrow Ca:P ratios have improved P utilization (Qian et al., 1997; Liu et al., 1998; Brady et al., 2002; Selle et al., 2009). As stated before, diets having sufficient Ca and low NPP can cause similar performance values with diets having relatively high concentration of Ca and NPP (Rama Rao et al., 2006). It is generally accepted that increase of Ca in the diet may increase bone ash content (Driver et al., 2005). However, excess dietary Ca may have a negative effect on birds' performance (Sebastian et al., 1996).

Development of P utilization and determining sufficient concentrations of dietary Ca and NPP requirements for broilers should help to reduce the amount of dietary nonphytate phoshporus (NPP) supplementation needed and also reduce potential environmental pollution (Delezie et al., 2012). Broiler diets are typically formulated to involve between 8.0 and 10.0 g/kg Ca and 4.0 and 5.0 g/kg NPP but advancements in the birds and nutritional strategies indicate that old suggestion cannot be applied at the present time.

The present study was designed to investigate the effect of three different Ca and P levels for both starter and finisher periods on growth performance, bone development with some serum and fecal parameters.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Birds and Housing

Commercial feather-sexed 480 one-day-old Ross 308 broilers were randomly allocated to 3 dietary treatments with 5 replicates for a 42-d study in June 2016.

Table 1. Experimental design

Experiment was designed with completely randomized plot design. Chicks were kept at a temperature of 33°C for first day and afterwards this was gradually decreased to 22 °C and between 22 and 42 days 22 °C was maintained. Lightning regime of the study consisted of 23L:1D for 42 days. On day 10 and 14 birds were vaccinated against infectus bursal disease and Newcastle disease, respectively, through drinking water. Birds were checked four times in a day and mortalities were recorded. Feeding and husbandry conditions, except the Ca and P levels, were all same with the company, producing the genotypes.

2.2. Diets and Experimental Procedures

Commercial corn-soybean meal based starter and grower diets were consisted of three different Ca and P concentrations. High, standard and low Ca and P levels in starter and grower periods were presented in Table 1. Ca and P levels were reduced by degrees ranging from 10 to 11% to constitute experimental diets as presented Table 2.

		Diet Ca -P le	evels (%)		
Groups	Start	er diet	Grower diet		
High	1.05	0.49	0.87	0.42	
Standard	0.95	0.44	0.78	0.38	
Low	0.85	0.41	0.69	0.34	

Table 2. Ingredients and	chemical composition of	starter and grower diets
0	1	0

Ingredients (g/kg)		Starter diet			Grower diet	
	High	Std.	Low	High	Std.	Low
Corn	575	571.46	577.96	610.71	612.81	615.7
Soybean Meal (48%)	360	362.11	360.83	314.71	320	320
Vegetable oil	21.58	29.09	27.04	35	35	35
Limestone	14	14	12.3	12.22	11	10
Dicalcium phosphate	18.5	15.5	13.5	14.85	12.38	10.5
Sodium chloride	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5
Vitamin-mineral premix ¹	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5
DL-methionine	2.84	2.84	2.84	2.48	2.48	2.48
Lysine	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5
Chemical composition(%)						
Dry matter	88.40	88.21	88.33	88.13	88.67	88.40
Crude protein	21.91	21.85	21.87	19.85	19.91	19.88
Ether extract	5.14	5.31	5.13	5.72	5.72	5.72
Crude fiber	3.63	3.60	3.61	3.42	3.46	3.47
Crude ash	5.84	5.80	5.71	5.75	5.41	5.14
Calcium	1.05	0.95	0.85	0.87	0.78	0.69
AME (kcal/kg)	3050	3050	3050	3200	3200	3200
Calculated composition(%)						
Available phosphorus	0.49	0.44	0.41	0.42	0.38	0.34
Lysine	1.40	1.40	1.40	1.27	1.27	1.27
Methionine+cystine	1.00	1.00	1.00	0.90	0.90	0.90

¹Vitamin A, 12000 IU; Vitamin D₃, 2400 IU; Vitamin E, 30 IU; Vitamin K₃, 2.5 mg; Vitamin B₁, 3.0 mg; Vitamin B₂, 7 mg; Nicotin amid, 40 mg; Calcium D-pantothenate, 8.0 mg; Vitamin B₆, 4.0 mg; Vitamin B₁₂, 0.015 mg; Folic acid, 1 mg; D-biotine, 0.045 mg; Vitamin C, 50 mg; Chlorine chloride, 125 mg, Mn, 80 mg; Fe, 40 mg; Zn, 60 mg; Cu, 5 mg; Co, 0.1 mg; I, 0.4 mg; Se, 0.15 mg

A total of 480 one-day-old Ross 308 broilers were randomly allocated to 3 dietary treatments with 5 replicates for a 42-d study. Bird density was 13 chicks per square meter. Each pen was equipped with one hanging feeder. Feed, in mash form, and water were provided to birds as ad libitum throughout the trial. The chemical compositions of diets were determined according to the methods of AOAC (1990). Calculation of metabolic energy was done according to the Turkish Standards Institute (TSE) (1991). Starter and grower diets were offered to birds during days 1 to 21 and from days 22 to 42, respectively.

Feed intake (FI) and BW were recorded weekly. All birds were weighed individually at days 0, 7, 14, 21, 28, 35 and 42 to evaluate body weights. Feed intake was determined for each replicate at these days. Calculation of FCR was made via ratios of FI to BW gain on replicate basis. Mortalities were considered while FCR was calculating. At day 42, ten birds (1 male and 1 female from each replicate) representing average body weights of the group (±5%) were slaughtered from each group. Carcass yield, relative weight of the carcass cuts and internal organ weight were determined. Left tibias and sternums were individually removed and cleaned to determine bone weight and bone ash contents. Bones were waited at room temperature for 6 hours before analysis started. Each tibia and sternum were broken into small pieces, weighed and ashed at 600°C for 12 h.

At day 39, 40 and 41 about 200g faeces from each replicate were collected at the same time every day. Fecal samples were cleaned from all residues. Fecal samples were waited at 105 °C to determine dry matter and thereafter these samples were ashed at 600°C for 6 h to

determine ash content.

Blood samples were collected by cardiac puncture and saved into empty collection tubes in order to obtain serum. Serum were separated by centrifugation at 1800xg and promptly analyzed. Serum Ca, Р concentrations Diagnostics), (Roche aspartate transaminase (AST), alanine transaminase (ALT) and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) enzyme activities were determined with a spectrometers using commercial kits (Olympus AU-600).

2.3. Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed by ANOVA using the Minitab 16 package program. An arc-sin transformation was applied to the percentage values (i.e. mortality) before testing for differences. Significant differences among means of treatments were determined by Duncan's multiple range test with 5% probability.

3. Results

Data regarding performance during the overall growth period (1 to 42 d) are presented in Table 3. Calcium and P levels had no significant effect on FI (P>0.05). Low Ca and P levels tended to decrease FI at 42 days of age. Body weight of 14, 21 and 28 days of age were effected from Ca and P levels (P<0.05), the highest body weight was obtained from group fed low Ca and P. Final body weight was not effected from Ca and P levels (P>0.05). Different Ca and P had no significant effect on mortality (P>0.05). Feed conversion ratios of 14, 21, 28 and 35 days of age had a significant difference (P<0.05) and the best FCR values were obtained from the group which was fed with low Ca and P.

Diet			FI	, g				
	Day							
	7	14	21	28	35	42		
High	139.2	529.0	1130.9	2031.0	3156.1	4512.3		
Standard	139.3	526.0	1124.6	2050.0	3201.3	4598.4		
Low	140.9	543.7	1144.0	2062.8	3163.1	4455.5		
SEM	4.17	8,24	15.73	29.56	40.70	60.63		
P value	0.954	0.319	0.693	0.787	0.751	0.341		
			BV	V, g				
High	154.2	425.7 ^b	820.2 ^{ab}	1325.3 ^b	1925.5	2589.5		
Standard	158.4	414.7 ^b	789.3 ^b	1313.6 ^b	1936.3	2626.3		
Low	161.7	447.0 ^a	851.0ª	1394.3ª	1983.0	2762.0		
SEM	2.17	5.01	10.00	16.13	27,80	54,53		
P value	0.099	0.003	0.004	0.009	0.376	0.139		
			F	CR				
High	1.28	1.39 ^b	1.46 ^b	1.58^{ab}	1.67 ^{ab}	1.78		
Standard	1.23	1.42ª	1.51ª	1.61ª	1.69ª	1.78		
Low	1.21	1.35c	1.42c	1.52 ^b	1.63 ^b	1.71		
SEM ¹	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02		
P value	0.440	< 0.001	0.007	0.009	0.041	0.112		

Table 3. Effects of different Ca and P levels on feed intake (FI), body weight (BW) and feed conversion ratios (FCR)

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

Data regarding carcass weight, carcass yield and carcass parts are presented in Table 4. Calcium and P levels had no significant effect on carcass yield, thigh and wing weight (P>0.05). However, breast weight was effected from Ca and P levels (P<0.05). Low Ca and P levels caused the lowest breast weight. There was no significant difference between groups in that internal organ weights (P>0.05). Proportional internal organ weights were presented in Table 5. enzyme activity values were presented in Table 6. There were no treatment differences in serum parameters (P>0.05), with the exception of ALP enzyme activity. Medium Ca and P levels caused the highest ALP enzyme activity (P<0.05). There were no treatment differences in faeces ash and dry matter content (P>0.05).

The effects of different Ca and P levels on bone development are presented in Table 7. There were no significant differences in tibia and sternum weights (P>0.05).

Serum Ca and P concentrations and ALP, ALT and AST

Table 4. Carcass weight(CW), carcass yield(CY), proportional and real thigh, breast and wing weight of broilers feddifferent levels of Ca and P

	Low	Standard	High	SEM	P value
СҮ, %	76.8	76.5	75.7	0.51	0.355
Breast, %	36.3 ^b	38.3ª	38.3ª	0.45	0.008
Thigh, %	27.5	26.8	26.4	0.43	0.296
Wing, %	10.0	10.0	9.9	0.20	0.899
CW, g	2125.4	2092.4	2059.1	84.66	0.467
Breast, g	773.7	803.9	790.3	56.16	0.493
Thigh, g	584.4	563.0	545.9	46.41	0.197
Wing, g	213.3	209.7	204.2	13.58	0.335

^{a, b} Values within a column not sharing the same superscript are different at P<0.05, SEM= standard error of means.

Table 5. Effects of different Ca and P levels on proportional gizzard, liver, spleen, pancreas and intestine weights(Weight of organ/Body weight)

Diet	Gizzard	Liver	Spleen	Pancreas	Intestine
High	1.612	1.965	0.106	0.245	2.295
Medium	1.503	2.145	0.098	0.256	2.173
Low	1.515	1.864	0.108	0.230	2.438
SEM	0.04	0.08	0.01	0.02	0.10
P value	0.215	0.070	0.789	0.656	0.235

SEM= standard error of means.

Table 6. Effect of different Ca and P levels on serum calcium-phosphorus concentration and aspartate transaminase,alanine transaminase, alkaline phosphatase enzyme activity

Diet	Ca (mg/dL)	P (mg/dL)	AST (IU/L)	ALT (IU/L)	ALP (IU/L)
High	11.549	7.203	408.8	2.812	1415 ^b
Medium	11.312	7.172	350.7	1.984	3199ª
Low	11.345	7.054	378.2	1.912	1692 ^b
SEM	0.17	0.17	32.73	0.40	253.60
P value	0.619	0.813	0.486	0.142	< 0.001

^{a,b}Values within a column not sharing the same superscript are different at P<0.05, SEM= standard error of means, AST= aspartate transaminase, ALT= alkaline transaminase, ALP= alkaline phosphatase.

Diet	Tib	ia	Ster	num
	Weight, g	Ash, %	Weight, g	Ash, %
High	8.205	42.29 ^a	3.656	40.71
Medium	8.518	41.67 ^a	3.888	40.01
Low	8.424	37.52 ^b	3.779	40.99
SEM	0.371	0.960	0.148	0.876
P value	0.835	0.008	0.563	0.737

a, b Values within a column not sharing the same superscript are different at P<0.05, SEM= standard error of means.

However, ash content of the tibia had a significant difference between groups (P<0.05). Tibia ash content decreased in proportion with Ca and P level. The lowest tibia ash content was obtained from group fed with low Ca and P. There was no significant difference in sternum ash content (P>0.05).

4. Discussion

It was stated before that not only the amount of the Ca and P in diet but also the ratio between these minerals are essential for performance and bone development of broilers (Driver et al., 2005; Han et al., 2016; Rama Rao et al., 2006; Selle et al., 2009). Amounts of the Ca and P were changed but the ratio between them was tried to be arranged similar in this experiment. It was known that reducing diet Ca and P level can let to obtain the similar performance values if the ratio between them is protected (Rama Rao et al., 2006). Feed intake is related to diet P level and high P and medium Ca levels were said to cause the best feed intake for broilers. In this experiment low starter and grower feeds containing, %0.85-0.69 Ca and 0.41-0.34 P respectively. These levels are similar with the stated values for the best performance and feed intake (Driver et al., 2005; Rama Rao et al., 2006; Hamdi et al., 2015; Rousseau et al., 2016). The highest body weights were obtained from the low Ca and P group at 14, 21 and 28 days of age. Delezie et al. (2012) achieved the highest body weight values with the similar Ca and P levels with this experiment at 14, 21 and 28 days of age. Hamdi et al. (2015) expressed that %0.90 Ca and 0.45 P provided the highest body weight at 14 days of age. Phosphorus digestibility is related to the diet Ca and P level and ratio between these minerals and this mechanism originates from the antagonistic relation in small intestine (Günther and al-Masri, 1988; Al-Masri 1995; Driver et al., 2005; Selle, 2009). Therefore, improvement of the growth performance can be a result of reducing Ca level, it was stated that, low Ca level led to increase availability of some other nutrients (Wilkinson et al., 2014b). Additionally, the results for feed conversion ratio are similar to the findings of earlier studies (Driver et al., 2005; Rama Rao et al., 2006; Delezie et al., 2015; Han et al., 2016).

No differences were observed in carcass yield and carcass parts with the exception of proportional breast weight. Birds fed low Ca and P had the lowest breast proportion of carcass. Age, genotype, sex are the most effective factors on carcass part weights but according to some results genotype and feed composition are both effective on carcass parts and weights (Corzo et al., 2005).

Viveros et al. (2002) determined that different Ca and P levels had a significant effect on internal organ weights. Our results contradict with this earlier study but it is possible to explain this contradiction with the variation of Ca and P level.

Increasing ALP enzyme activity can be explained with the BSJ Agri / Ahmet AKDAĞ and Zekeriya KIYMA osteoblast activity which is high in young, growing birds and birds, having bone deteriorations. Although it was stated that intestine isoenzyme has the greatest effect on the ALP activity (Campbel and Coles, 1986), ALP is rarity in liver tissue but liver problems lead to increase the activity of it (Zantop, 1997). In some earlier experiment, it was stated that ALP enzyme activity increased when the Ca and P level was inadequate in diet (Rama Rao et al., 2006). Low P can lead to increase serum Ca concentration and increased Ca concentration repress the secretion of parathyroid hormone. Prohibitive effect of parathyroid hormone on phosphate absorption and disposal of Ca by urine decreased (Viveros, 2002). Therefore, according to obtained ALP activity values of this study, it can be concluded that there were no Ca and P deficiency in groups.

ALT activity of serum is slightly found in all tissues of birds (Bogin and Israeli, 1976). However, ALT activity generally increases with the tissue injuries (Zantop, 1997). Unlike mammals, AST is not a liver specific parameter. Activity of AST can increase with a problem in muscle tissues or liver tissue (Lewandowski and Harrison, 1986). Therefore, it can be said that any Ca and P levels in this experiment had a tissue injury.

Low diet P level did not affect serum Ca concentration in this study. Serum Ca and P concentration results coincide with a number of earlier studies (Sebastian et al., 1996; Fernandes et al., 1999; Viveros et al., 2002; Kheiri and Rahmani, 2006).

Many investigations have shown that decreasing diet Ca and P level has led to decrease tibia ash content (Onyango et al., 2003; Rama Rao et al., 2006; Adamu et al., 2011; Mello et al., 2012; Naves et al., 2014; Wilkinson et al., 2014a; Delezie et al., 2015; Hamdi et al., 2015; Han et al., 2016; Rousseau et al., 2016). Imbalance of the diet Ca:P ratio also had a negative effect on ash content of tibia (Driver et al., 2005; Delezie et al., 2012; Rousseau et al., 2016). Decreasing diet Ca and P level had a negative effect on tibia ash content in the present study.

5. Conclusion

From the data of the current experiment, it can be concluded that 0.85 g/kg Ca and 0.41 g/kg P can be used for starter period without any deterioration on growth performance. Gradually increasing cost of DCP, decreasing world P reserves, environmental pollution arising from fecal P and economic reasons for broiler sector must encourage researchers to try finding ways to decrease P level in broiler diets.

Facilities of decreasing P in broiler diets in view of the fact that animal welfare and bone problems with or without phytase enzyme supplementation must be investigated. Relation between serum and bone mineral contents and serum enzyme activity should be a focused subject.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	A.A.	Z.K.
С	50	50
D	50	50
S		100
DCP	100	
DAI	50	50
L	100	
W	100	
CR	50	50
SR	100	

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

Ethics committee approval was not required for this study because this study conducted before 2020.

References

- Adamu SB, Geida, YA, Gambo HI, Igwebuike JU, Muhammad ID. 2011. Influenced by dietary calcium-phosphorus ratios. Int J of Sci Nat, 2: 494-497.
- Al-Masri MR. 1995. Absorption and endogenous excretion of phosphorus in growing broiler chicks, as influenced by calcium and phosphorus ratios in feed. Br J Nutr, 74: 407-415.
- AOAC. 1990. Official methods of analysis. Association of official analytical chemists, Washington, DC, USA. 15th ed., pp: 771.
- Bogin E, Israeli B. 1976. Enzymes profile of heart and skeletalmuscle, liver and lung of rooster and geese. Zbl Vet Med A, 23: 152-157.
- Brady SM, Callan JJ, Cowan D, McGrane M, Doherty JV. 2002. Effect of phytase inclusion and calcium/phosphorus ratio on the performance and nutrient retention of growerfinisher pigs fed barley/wheat/soya bean meal-based diets. J Sci Food Agric, 82: 1780-1790.
- Campbell TW, Coles EH. 1986. Avian clinical pathology. In Coles EH, Saunders WB editors. Wiley Co., Veterinary Clinical Pathology, Philadelphia, USA, 4th ed., pp: 279-301.
- Corzo A, Kidd MT, Burnham DJ, Miller ER, Branton SL, Gonyales-Eequerra R. 2005. Dietary amino acid density effects on growth and carcass of broilers differing in strain cross and sex. J Appl Poultry Res, 14: 1-9.
- Delezie E, Maertens L, Huyghebaert G. 2012. Consequences of phosphorus interactions with calcium, phytase, and cholecalciferol on zootechnical performance and mineral retention in broiler chickens. Poultry Sci, 91: 2523-2531.
- Delezie E, Bierman K, Nollet L, Maertens L. 2015. Impact of calcium and phosphorus concentration, their ratio and phytase supplementation level on growth performance, food pad lesions and hock burn of broiler chickens. J Appl Poultry Res, 24: 115-126.
- Driver JP, Pesti GM, Bakalli RI, Edwards HM. 2005. Effects of

calcium and non phytate phosphorus concentrations on phytase efficacy in broiler chicks. Poultry Sci, 84: 1406-1417.

- Fernandes JIM, Lima FR, Mendonca Jr CX, Mabe I, Albuquerque R, Leal PM. 1999. Relative bioavailability of phosphorus in feed and agricultural phosphates for poultry. Poultry Sci, 78: 1729-1736.
- Günther KD, al-Masri MR. 1988. The influence of different phosphorus supply on phosphorus turnover in growing broiler chicks by means of 32P isotope. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr, 59: 132-142.
- Hamdi M, Lopez-Verge S, Manzanilla EG, Barroeta AC, Perez JF. 2015. Effect of different levels of calcium and phosphorus and their interaction on the performance of young broilers. Poultry Sci, 94: 2144-2151.
- Han J, Wang J, Chen G, Qu H, Zhang J, Shi C, Yan Y, Cheng Y. 2016. Effects of calcium to non-phytate phosphorus ratio and different sources of vitamin D ongrowth performance and bone mineralization in broiler chickens. Rev Bras Zootecn, 45(1): 1-7.
- Kheiri F, Rahmani HR. 2006. The effect of reducing calcium and phosphorus on broiler performance. Int J Poultry Sci, 5: 22-25.
- Letourneau–Montminy MP, Lescoat P, Narcy A, Sauvant D, Bernier JF, Magnin M, Pomar C, Nys Y, Jondreville C. 2008. Effects of reduced dietary calcium and phytase supplementation on calcium and phosphorus utilization in broilers with modified mineral status. Brit Poultry Sci, 49: 705-715.
- Letourneau-Montminy MP, Narcy A, Lescoat P, Bernier JF, Magnin M, Pomar C, Nys Y, Sauvant D, Jondreville C. 2010. Meta-analysis of phosphorus utilisation by chicks: Influence of dietary calcium and microbial phytase content. Anim, 4: 1844-1853.
- Lewandowski AH, Harrison GJ. 1986. Clinical avian medicine and surgery. In: Saunders WB editor. Avian medicine. Harrisons's Bird Foods, Philadelphia, USA, pp: 31-66.
- Liu JD, Bollinger W, Ledoux DR, Veum TL. 1998. Lowering the dietary calcium to total phosphorus ratio increases phosphorus utilization in low-phosphorus corn-soybean meal diets supplemented with microbial phytase for growingfinishing pigs. J Anim Sci, 76: 808-813.
- Mello HH, Gomes CPC, Rostagno HS, Albino LFT, Rocha TCR, Almeida RL, Calderano AA, 2012. Dietary requirements of available phosphorus in growing broiler chickens at a constant calcium: available phosphorus ratio. Rev Bras Zootecn, 41: 2323-2328.
- Naves LP, Rodrigues PB, Bertechini AG, Corrêa AD, Oliveira DH, Oliveira EC, Duarte WF, Cunha MRR. 2014. Comparison of methodologies to quantify phytate phosphorus in diets containing phytase and excreta from broilers. Asian Aus J Anim Sci, 27: 1003-1012.
- Onyango EM, Hester PY, Stroshine R, Adeola O. 2003. Bone densitometry as an indicator of percentage tibia ash in broiler chicks fed varying dietary calcium and phosphorus levels. Poultry Sci, 82: 1787-1791.
- Qian H, Kornegay ET, Denbow DM. 1997. Utilization of phytate phosphorus and calcium as influenced by microbial phytase, cholecalciferol, and the calcium:total phosphorus ratio in broiler diets. Poultry Sci, 76: 37-46.
- Rama Rao SV, Raju MVLN, Reddy MR, Pavani P. 2006. Interaction between dietary calcium and non-phytate phosphorus levels on growth, bone mineralization and mineral excretion in commercial broilers. Anim Feed Sci Technol, 131: 135-150.
- Ravindran V, Kornegay ET, Potter LM, Ogunabameru BO,

Welten MK, Wilson JH, Potchanakorn N. 1995. An evaluation of various response criteria in assessing biological availability of phosphorus for broilers. Poultry Sci, 74(11): 1820-1830.

- Rousseau X, Letourneau-Montminy MP, Meme N, Magnin M, Nys Y, Narcy A. 2012. Phosphorus utilization in finishing broiler chickens: effects of dietary calcium and microbial phytase. Poultry Sci, 91: 2829-2837.
- Rousseau X, Valable AS, Letourneau-Montminy MP, Meme N, Godet E, Magnin M, Nys Y, Duclos MJ, Narcy A. 2016. Adaptive response of broilers to dietary phosphorus and calcium restrictions. Poultry Sci, 95: 2849-2860.
- Sebastian S, Touchburn SP, Chavez ER, Lague PC. 1996. Efficacy of supplemental microbial phytase at different dietary calcium levels on growth performance and mineral utilization on broilers chickens. Poultry Sci, 75: 1516-1523.
- Selle PH, Cowieson AJ, Ravindran V. 2009. Consequences of calcium interactions with phytate and phytase for poultry and pigs. Livestock Sci, 124: 126-141.
- TSE. 1991. Animal feed-determination of metabolizable energy (chemical method). Turkish Standards Institute (TSE)., Publ. No. 9610, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 1-32.

- Viveros A, Brenes A, Arija I, Centeno C. 2002. Effects of microbial phytase supplementation on mineral utilization and serum enzyme activities in broiler chicks fed different levels of phosphorus. Poultry Sci, 81: 1172-1183.
- Walk CL, Addo-Chidie EK, Bedford MR, Adeola O. 2012. Evaluation of a highly soluble calcium source and phytase in the diets of broilers chickens. Poultry Sci, 91: 2255-2263.
- Wilkinson SJ, Selle PH, Bedford MR, Cowieson AJ. 2014a. Separate feding of calcium improves performance and ileal nutrient digestibility in broiler chicks. Anim Prod Sci, 54: 172-178.
- Wilkinson SJ, Bradbury EJ, Bedford MR, Cowieson AJ. 2014b. Effect of dietary nonphytate phosphorus and calcium concentration on calcium appetite of broiler chicks. Poultry Sci, 93: 1698-1703.
- Yan F, Angel R, Ashwell C, Mitchell A, Christman M. 2005. Evaluation of broiler's ability to adapt to an early moderate deficiency of phosphorus and Calcium. Poultry Sci, 84: 1232-1241.
- Zantop DW. 1997. Biochemistries. Avian Medicine: Principles and Applications. Wingers Publishing Inc., Lake Worth, FL, USA, pp: 115-129.

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1183604



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 - 6578

Research Article Volume 6 - Issue 2: 164-173 / March 2023

DETERMINATION OF TOLERANCE AND SENSITIVITY OF SAFFLOWER GENOTYPES BASED ON GERMINATION INDICES AND COMPARISON OF BIOCHEMICAL CONTENTS UNDER SALT **STRESS**

Sercan ÖNDER1*, Nagihan YAVUZ1, Muhammet TONGUÇ1

¹Isparta University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, 32200, Isparta, Türkiye

Abstract: Safflower germination and seedling growth stages are extremely sensitive to salinity. The study aimed to identify safflower genotypes' germination, seedling growth responses, and biochemical changes in tolerant and susceptible genotypes in response to salt stress. Total of 28 genotypes were subjected to salt (NaCl) treatments (0, 180, 240 mM), and germination percentage, mean germination time, seedling and root lengths, and vigor index of the genotypes were determined. The genotype, treatments, and interaction effects were significant for germination, seedling, and biochemical parameters. The genotypes' germination percentage, seedling length, root length, and vigor index decreased under salt stress. While the reduction in germination percentage of salt-tolerant genotypes was between 6-21%, it was between 46-65% in sensitive genotypes at 240 mM salt treatment. Five tolerant (Shufu, Sidwill, Finch, Yuyao, Oleic Leed) and sensitive (Huaxian, Linas, 4022, Oker, Rehbein) genotypes were chosen based on reductions in germination percentage and vigor index, and the proline, hydrogen peroxide, and malondialdehyde (MDA) contents of these genotypes were investigated. The proline content of the genotypes increased by 26 to 56 fold at 180 mM salt concentration. The hydrogen peroxide content of sensitive and tolerant genotypes increased at 180 mM salt treatment, but at 240 mM salt treatment, the hydrogen peroxide content of the sensitive genotypes continued to increase by 6-50%, hydrogen peroxide content decreased in tolerant genotypes by 10-30%. MDA contents increased in the sensitive and tolerant genotypes, but the level of increase was higher in sensitive genotypes (307-631%) than the tolerant genotypes (103-323%) at 240 mM salt treatment. The heatmap generated by means of sensitive and tolerant genotypes showed 28 coefficients and 5 of which were significant. These results show that changes in hydrogen peroxide and MDA contents are different between tolerant and sensitive genotypes. They could be useful selection criteria along with germination percentages for determining tolerant and susceptible safflower genotypes at the seedling stage.

Keywords: Carthamus tinctorius, Hydrogen peroxide, Lipid peroxidation, Proline, Salinity

*Corresponding author: Isparta University of Applied Sciences, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, 32200, Isparta, Türkiye							
E mail: sercanonder@isparta.edu.tr (S. ÖNDER)							
Sercan ÖNDER	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8065-288X	Received: October 03, 2022				
Nagihan YAVUZ	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5791-8486	Accepted: February 03, 2023				
Muhammet TONGUÇ	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1292-2910	Published: March 01, 2023				
Cite as: Önder S, Yavuz N, Tonguç M. 2023. Determination of tolerance and sensitivity of safflower genotypes based on germination indices and							
comparison of biochemical contents under salt stress. BSJ Agri, 6(2): 164-173.							

1. Introduction

Safflower (Carthamus tinctorius L.) is a member of the Asteraceae family and the only cultivated species in the Carthamus genus. Safflower is an alternative crop grown for its flowers and seeds. Safflower seeds contain 20-40% oil and are mainly utilized in the industry for edible oil and dying purposes.

Soil salinity has become a problem for agricultural production, particularly in arid and semi-arid regions, affecting approximately 800 and 1.5 million hectares worldwide and in Türkiye, respectively (Türkan and Demiral, 2009). Soil salinity reduces the amount of water utilized and causes water stress in the plants. Ion accumulation due to soil salinity reduces nutrient uptake, chlorophyll synthesis, and the rate of photosynthesis, increases water loss and causes toxicity, and thus reduces plant growth and yield. It also causes the formation of reactive oxygen species, which causes

oxidative stress in the cells, and further impedes the metabolic process (Munns and Tester, 2008; Hussain et al., 2016).

Salinity has detrimental effects on germination, seedling establishment, growth, and yield of crops. Different approaches could be employed to alleviate the effects of salinity, and biotic approaches, such as cultivating salttolerant genotypes to grow saline soils, should be preferred because they are sustainable, efficient, and economical (Ashraf and McNeilly, 2004). Plants could be classified based on their performance under saline and non-saline conditions. Therefore, screening genotypes for identification and selection for salt tolerance within the available germplasm resources is necessary. Safflower is classified as tolerant to saline conditions, showing variation in salt tolerance within safflower germplasm (Dajue, 1993; Siddiqi et al., 2007; Kaya et al., 2019). Salt stress affects all developmental stages of safflower



(Irving et al., 1988; Kaya et al., 2003), but germination and seedling development phases are more susceptible to salinity stress (Hussain et al., 2016).

Plants produce or accumulate different solutes and ions under salinity stress, such as proline, hydrogen peroxide, and malondialdehyde (MDA) to maintain the osmotic balance of cells or as a result of oxidative damage. Proline accumulation effectively prevents membrane damage and maintains osmotic balance (Hasegawa et al., 2000; Hosseini et al., 2010). Safflower genotypes under salt stress increase proline content to protect themselves from the effects of salt stress (Hosseini et al., 2010; Karimi et al., 2014). Hydrogen peroxide and MDA accumulation are associated with the production of reactive oxygen species leading to oxidative damage and causing lipid peroxidation. Therefore, the accumulation of these molecules is considered an indicator of cellular damage and seed deterioration in plants (Priestley, 1986; Bailly, 2004).

It is necessary to conduct salt tolerance tests under extreme conditions for identification and differentiation of safflower genotypes' tolerance to salinity (Siddiqi et al., 2007). Determination of biochemical changes occurring under stress conditions could be useful to identify tolerance mechanisms associated with tolerant and sensitive varieties. Therefore, the study aimed to test the response of many safflower genotypes under high salt concentrations during germination and early seedling growth to determine tolerant and sensitive genotypes. Then to study the effects of salt stress on proline, MDA and hydrogen peroxide contents in sensitive and tolerant genotypes to deduce stress responses of these genotypes.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Plant Material and Germination Tests

The study was carried out in the Agricultural Biotechnology Department laboratories at Isparta University of Applied Sciences (ISUBU) in 2021. Seeds from 28 safflower genotypes were used as plant material in the study. Enana, Rinconado and 4022 were breeding lines and the rest was registered safflower genotypes. A previous publication provides detailed information about origins, registration status, oil contents and other agronomic characteristics (Erbaş et al., 2016).

Seeds were surface sterilized with 2% sodium hypochlorite solution for 10 min, rinsed under running tap water for 5 min, and dried at room temperature. Seeds (50x4) were placed into two layers of filter papers, moistened with three different (0, 180, 240 mM) NaCl solutions, and put into sealed plastic containers to prevent evaporation. High salt concentrations were chosen because salt-tolerant and sensitive genotypes were distinguished better at stringent conditions (Siddiqi et al., 2007; Tonguç et al., 2021). Germination tests were conducted in a growth cabinet at 25±1 °C under dark conditions for 14 days. Seeds with radicle growth of 2 mm were counted as germinated and allowed to grow further for seedling measurements. Germination percentage and mean germination time were calculated as described (ISTA, 2009). After 14 days of germination, seedling and root lengths (cm) were measured using five seedlings from each replication. The vigor index of genotypes under different salt stress conditions was calculated by multiplying germination percentage and seedling length (Abdul-Baki and Anderson, 1973).

2.2. Biochemical Measurements

Percent reduction in germination percentage along with vigor index of the genotypes at 240 mM salt concentration was used to discriminate salt tolerant and sensitive genotypes. Seedlings were washed with distilled water, dried with paper towels, and used to measure biochemical parameters. Five seedlings (5x4) from each replication were powdered in liquid nitrogen and used to determine proline, MDA, and hydrogen peroxide contents of selected genotypes.

Proline was determined following the protocol of Zhang and Huang (2013). Ground seedlings (0.5 g) was homogenized with 2 mL 3% sulphosalicylic acid to determine the proline content of the samples. The slurry was centrifuged at 5.000 x g for 5 min, the 500 μ L supernatant was taken to a new tube, added 500 μ L acetic acid and 500 μ L ninhydrin solution prepared with glacial acetic acid and orthophosphate. Tubes containing samples were boiled for 45 min and cooled on ice. An equal volume of toluene was added to each sample and vortexed for 1 min, then centrifuged at 1.000 × g for 5 min. The absorbance of the samples was measured at 520 nm by spectrophotometer. The standart curve was generated by known concentrations of proline prepared in 3% sulphosalicylic acid.

The hydrogen peroxide and MDA content of the samples was determined following Velikova et al. (2000), and Zhang and Huang (2013); respectively, and the analyses were performed as described by Önder et al. (2022).

2.3. Statistical Analysis

The experiment was a complete randomized block design with four replications. Each replication contained 50 seeds for germination parameters, and contained five biological replications for biochemical analysis. Germination percentage, mean germination time, and seedling and root lengths were measured. Germination data were transformed for normalization. The vigor index of the genotypes was also calculated using seedling germination percentage and length. Germination, seedling, and biochemical indices were subjected to ANOVA with SPSS 22.0 software (SPSS Inc, USA), and significant effects for genotypes, treatments, and their interactions on all examined germination and seedling indices were detected at $P \le 0.001$ level of significance. Duncan's multiple range test was used to discriminate the differences between the means. To reveal the relationships between germination, seedling, and biochemical indices, Pearson's linear correlation analysis was carried out using OriginPro software's trial version, and results were presented as a heatmap.

3. Results

Safflower genotypes were tested for their responses at 0, 180, and 240 mM NaCl concentrations (Table 1). Germination percentages varied between 52-93% in the control group. While the genotypes with the lowest germination were Enana, Huaxian, and Olas; the genotypes with the highest germination were Linas, S-517, and 55633 (Table 2). Germination decreased at 180 mM, and 240 mM NaCl treatments, and germination percentages varied between 41-85% among the genotypes at 180 mM NaCl concentration. The lowest germination percentage in this treatment was observed in Olas and Enana, and the highest germination percentage was obtained from Frio, 55633, and S-517. At 240 mM NaCl treatment, germination percentage varied between 24-69%, and Rehbein, Girard, Huaxian, and 4022 had less than 30% germination. Twelve genotypes had higher than 50% germination, and the highest germination percentages were obtained from Frio, Finch, and S-517 at 240 mM salt treatment.

Mean germination times were shorter than two days for all genotypes except Montola 2000, Enana, and Oleic Leed in control. Germination time prolonged under 180 mM NaCl concentration, but germination times of Montola 2000, Enana, and Oleic Leed, contrary to the general trend, decreased. Hartman had over three days, and 13 genotypes had over two days of mean germination time at 180 mM NaCl concentration. At 240 mM NaCl treatment, ten genotypes had over two days, and Rehbein had over three days of mean germination time. With the increased NaCl concentration, the changes observed in the germination times of the genotypes differed, showing a response depending on genotype (Table 2). For example, Shufu, Yuyao, and Sidwill shortened, Linas, 55633, and Rehbein prolonged, and Yenice and Huaxian had the same mean germination times at 240 mM NaCl compared to 180 mM NaCl concentration.

Table 1. Mean squares of ANOVA results for germination and seedling parameters of safflower genotypes

Variance sources	DF	GP	MGT	VI	SL	RL
Genotypes	27	403.95***	0.56***	325285 ***	19.31***	9.27***
Treatments	2	6764.02***	11.67***	33356311***	4528.03***	2310.36***
Interaction	54	80.64***	0.58***	120691***	9.85***	5.95***
Error	252	13.76	0.14	10324	1.51	0.97

GP= germination percentage, MGT= mean germination time, VI= vigor index, SL= seedling length, RL= root length, ***= significant at $P \le 0.001$ level of significance according to Duncan's multiple range test.

Table 2.	Effects	of salt t	reatments o	on germ	ination	percentage,	mean	germination	time	and	vigor	index	of s	safflower
genotype	s. Value	s within	columns are	e the me	ans ± s	tandard devi	ations							

	Germin	ation percenta	ige (%)	Mean g	Mean germination time (day)			Vigor index	
	Control	180 mM	240 mM	Control	180 mM	240 mM	Control	180 mM	240 mM
Shufu	59±6.3 ^{h-j}	52±6.1 ^{f-i}	51±2.4 ^{a-e}	1.4±0.1e-h	1.9±0.2 ^{b-e}	1.5±0.1 ^f	1079±79 ^{hi}	381±38 ^{i-l}	377±31 ^{f-i}
Saffire	82±6.4 ^{b-e}	63±5.3 ^{a-d}	46±1.8 ^{c-h}	1.8±0.3 ^{c-e}	2.3±0.4 ^{b-d}	$1.8\pm0.4^{d-f}$	1636±125 ^{c-e}	630±67 ^{a-e}	449±61 ^{d-g}
Sidwill	56±4.0 ^j	51±5.5 ^{f-i}	$50 \pm 1.5^{b-f}$	1.7±0.3 ^{c-e}	2.0±0.3 ^{b-e}	1.6 ± 0.2^{ef}	1177 ± 125^{gh}	484±140 ^{f-j}	519±75 ^{a-d}
PCA	63±8.9 ^{g-j}	47±3.6 ^{h-j}	45±3.4 ^{c-h}	1.7±0.2 ^{c-e}	2.2±0.2 ^{b-e}	2.0±0.1 ^{c-f}	1377 ± 127^{fg}	341 ± 34^{kl}	315±20 ^{h-j}
Frio	76±10.1 ^{d-f}	69±4.9ª	59 ± 4.9^{a}	1.2 ± 0.1 ^{gh}	2.0±0.2 ^{b-e}	2.2±0.1 ^{b-f}	1546±132 ^{d-f}	700 ± 71^{ab}	555±49 ^{a-c}
Montola 2000	54±4.0 ^j	44±3.0 ^{i-j}	38±7.0 ^{ij}	2.8±0.7 ^a	2.1±0.3 ^{b-e}	1.9±0.5 ^{d-f}	901±121 ^{ij}	291±33 ¹	231±21 ^{j-1}
Rinconada	82±8.1 ^{b-f}	58±3.0 ^{c-f}	52±3.8 ^{a-d}	1.1 ± 0.1 ^{gh}	1.9±0.2 ^{b-e}	1.8±0.2 ^{d-f}	1603±88 ^{d-f}	401±43 ^{h-l}	344±42 ^{g-i}
Enana	52±2.6 ^j	42±1.5 ^j	37±8.1 ^{ij}	2.3±0.4b	1.8±0.2 ^{c-e}	1.7±0.5 ^{d-f}	981±65 ^{h-j}	377±32 ^{j-1}	328±72 ^{h-j}
Huaxian	52±1.5 ^j	46±2.3 ^{h-j}	25 ± 3.6^{kl}	$1.9 \pm 0.1^{b-d}$	2.2±0.5 ^{b-e}	2.2±0.5 ^{b-e}	795±77 ^j	374±68 ^{j-1}	207 ± 31 kl
Linas	93±5.5ª	61±8.2 ^{b-e}	46±1.8 ^{c-h}	1.1 ± 0.1^{gh}	1.7±0.3 ^{c-e}	2.4±1.3 ^{a-d}	1538±44 ^{d-f}	674±110 ^{a-c}	487±54 ^{a-e}
Dinçer	80±8.6 ^{b-f}	60±7.6 ^{b-e}	43±3.5f-i	1.2±0.1 ^{f-h}	2.0±0.3 ^{b-e}	$1.8\pm0.4^{d-f}$	1610±121 ^{d-f}	562±144 ^{c-g}	402±89e-h
4022	78±10.9 ^{b-f}	59±5.5 ^{c-f}	27 ± 1.9 kl	1.3±0.1 ^{f-h}	2.5±1.2 ^b	2.7 ± 0.8^{ab}	1405±173 ^{ef}	560±56 ^{c-g}	202±12kl
Finch	72±3.7 ^{e-h}	58±3.5 ^{c-f}	57±3.6 ^{ab}	1.3±0.2 ^{f-h}	1.9±0.2 ^{b-e}	2.0±0.2 ^{c-f}	$1389 \pm 111^{\text{fg}}$	391±51 ^{h-l}	391±28e-h
Sahuaripa 88	79±6.3 ^{b-f}	64±0.9 ^{a-d}	$53 \pm 4.1^{a-d}$	1.2 ± 0.1 ^{gh}	2.0±0.3 ^{b-e}	2.2±0.3 ^{b-f}	1620±135 ^{c-f}	624±68 ^{a-e}	488±59 ^{a-e}
Oker	87±6.7 ^{a-d}	65±3.2 ^{a-c}	42±1.5 ^{g-i}	$1.1\pm0.1^{\text{gh}}$	1.9±0.1 ^{b-e}	1.6 ± 0.2^{ef}	1706±220 ^{cd}	739±130 ^a	462±75 ^{c-f}
55633	88±1.5 ^{a-c}	67±3.2 ^{ab}	54±2.6 ^{a-c}	1.1 ± 0.1^{h}	2.0±0.3 ^{b-e}	2.7±0.5 ^{a-c}	1943±36 ^b	611±52 ^{b-f}	588±38ª
Yenice	69±7.2 ^{f-i}	55±6.9 ^{d-g}	43±1.1 ^{e-i}	1.3±0.2 ^{f-h}	1.9±0.3 ^{b-e}	1.9±0.3 ^{d-f}	1478±135 ^{d-f}	515±87 ^{d-h}	390±26 ^{e-h}
Leed	70±8.2 ^{e-i}	50±0.9 ^{g-i}	45±0.9 ^{d-h}	1.1 ± 0.1 ^{gh}	1.7 ± 0.2^{de}	2.0±0.1 ^{c-f}	1533±109 ^{d-f}	561±49 ^{c-g}	480±52 ^{b-f}
Ole	78±10.8 ^{b-f}	61±1.8 ^{b-e}	$52 \pm 1.8^{a-d}$	$1.5 \pm 0.1^{d-h}$	2.4±0.5 ^{bc}	2.7 ± 0.1^{ab}	1497±332 ^{d-f}	507±50 ^{e-i}	490±2 ^{a-e}
Hartman	73±8.4 ^{e-g}	61±6.9 ^{b-e}	$54 \pm 0.9^{a-d}$	$1.1\pm0.1^{\text{gh}}$	3.2±0.4 ^a	1.6 ± 0.2^{ef}	1548±154 ^{d-f}	640±92 ^{a-d}	569 ± 65^{ab}
Ziyang	78±5.5 ^{c-f}	$62 \pm 1.5^{a-d}$	47±8.6 ^{c-h}	1.2 ± 0.1 ^{gh}	1.9±0.3 ^{b-e}	$2.1 \pm 0.4^{b-f}$	1842±137 ^{bc}	407±43 ^{h-l}	332±84 ^{h-j}
S-517	89 ± 4.9^{ab}	67±5.8 ^{ab}	59±3.6ª	1.1 ± 0.1^{h}	1.5±0.3e	$1.9 \pm 0.4^{d-f}$	2167±212 ^a	447±56 ^{g-k}	398±66 ^{e-h}
Yuyao	62±7.6 ^{g-j}	54±3.2 ^{e-h}	$54 \pm 2.8^{a-d}$	1.2 ± 0.1 ^{gh}	2.2±0.4 ^{b-e}	2.0±0.2 ^{c-f}	$1017 \pm 150^{h-j}$	353 ± 25^{kl}	354±38 ^{g-i}
Girard	56 ± 1.8^{j}	51±1.8 ^{f-i}	29±6.1 ^{kl}	1.6±0.3 ^{d-g}	2.0±0.2 ^{b-e}	1.9±0.3 ^{d-f}	1042 ± 60^{hi}	505±67 ^{e-i}	210 ± 104^{kl}
F0-2	58±1.8 ^{ij}	46±1.8 ^{h-j}	31 ± 4.4^{jk}	1.4±0.1 ^{e-h}	2.1±0.2 ^{b-e}	1.7±0.3 ^{d-f}	1104 ± 70^{hi}	512±29 ^{e-h}	346±79 ^{g-i}
Olas	52±1.8 ^j	41±0.9 ^j	40 ± 3.7 ^{hi}	1.7 ± 0.4 c-f	2.1±0.3 ^{b-e}	1.6 ± 0.2^{ef}	1050 ± 48^{hi}	421±44 ^{h-k}	320±58 ^{h-j}
Oleic Leed	54±3.2 ^j	51±1.8 ^{f-i}	$50 \pm 0.9^{b-g}$	2.0 ± 0.5^{bc}	1.9±0.1 ^{b-e}	$2.1 \pm 0.3^{b-f}$	1092 ± 63^{hi}	549±41 ^{c-g}	378±71 ^{f-i}
Rehbein	54±2.3 ^j	44±1.5 ^{ij}	29 ± 3.2^{kl}	1.9 ± 0.4 cd	1.8±0.1 ^{b-e}	3.0 ± 0.4^{a}	1057 ± 113^{hi}	412±332 ^{h-l}	276±77 ^{i-k}

Different letters within each column indicate significant differences between the genotypes within treatments.

	Se	eedling length (cr	n)	Root length (cm)			
	Control	180 mM	240 mM	Control	180 mM	240 mM	
Shufu	$18.6 \pm 3.1^{h-j}$	$7.4 \pm 0.2^{h-j}$	7.4±0.3 ^{g-j}	11.5±2.5 ^{f-h}	$3.7 \pm 0.4^{h-j}$	4.2±0.6 ^{c-h}	
Saffire	20.0±0.8 ^{c-i}	$10.1 \pm 1.3^{a-f}$	$9.9 \pm 1.2^{a-d}$	$11.7 \pm 0.5^{\text{f-h}}$	$4.7 \pm 0.67^{d-h}$	4.9±0.6 ^{a-g}	
Sidwill	21.0±1.0 ^{c-h}	9.5±1.8 ^{c-g}	10.4±1.6 ^{a-c}	13.3±1.0 ^{c-f}	4.6±1.2 ^{d-i}	$5.5 \pm 1.1^{a-c}$	
PCA	22.0±1.1 ^{b-e}	7.3±0.2 ^{ij}	$7.0 \pm 0.2^{h-j}$	13.3±1.0 ^{c-f}	$3.7 \pm 0.2^{h-j}$	3.7±0.1 ^{e-h}	
Frio	20.5±1.3 ^{c-i}	10.1±0.5 ^{a-e}	$9.5 \pm 0.9^{a-e}$	13.4±1.7 ^{c-f}	5.0±0.4 ^{c-f}	$5.0 \pm 0.6^{a-f}$	
Montola 2000	16.7 ± 1.5^{jk}	6.6±0.4 ^j	6.3±0.6 ^j	9.4±1.2 ^{ij}	$3.3 \pm 0.3^{j-k}$	3.3 ± 0.3^{h}	
Rinconada	$19.8 \pm 1.4^{d-i}$	6.9±0.5 ^{ij}	6.7 ± 0.6^{ij}	$12.4 \pm 1.3^{d-g}$	$3.6 \pm 0.5^{h-j}$	3.5 ± 0.5 ^{gh}	
Enana	$18.7 \pm 0.7 g^{-j}$	$9.0 \pm 0.5^{e-h}$	$8.9 \pm 0.4^{b-h}$	$11.7 \pm 0.8^{f-h}$	4.2±0.3 ^{e-j}	4.4±0.4 ^{c-h}	
Huaxian	15.3 ± 1.5^{k}	$8.2 \pm 1.4^{g-j}$	8.5±2.0 ^{c-i}	8.3±1.3 ^j	$3.8 \pm 0.7 g^{-j}$	4.3±0.9 ^{c-h}	
Linas	16.7 ± 1.1^{jk}	11.1±1.0 ^{a-c}	10.7 ± 1.2^{ab}	$9.8 \pm 0.8^{h-j}$	6.0±1.0 ^{a-c}	6.0 ± 0.8 ab	
Dinçer	20.3±1.0 ^{c-i}	9.4±1.5 ^{c-g}	$9.4 \pm 1.4^{a-f}$	12.9±0.9 ^{c-g}	$4.7 \pm 0.8^{d-h}$	4.6±0.8 ^{c-h}	
4022	18.1 ± 1.0^{ij}	$9.6 \pm 0.7^{b-g}$	$7.5 \pm 0.2^{f-j}$	11.7±0.5 ^{e-h}	4.7±0.3 ^{d-h}	3.3 ± 0.2^{h}	
Finch	19.3±0.7 ^{f-i}	6.8 ± 0.7^{ij}	6.8 ± 0.3^{ij}	$11.6 \pm 1.2^{f-h}$	3.2 ± 0.1^{k}	$4.6 \pm 0.5^{b-h}$	
Sahuaripa 88	20.5±0.5 ^{c-h}	9.8±1.1 ^{a-g}	$9.3 \pm 1.0^{a-g}$	13.4±0.6 ^{c-f}	5.0±0.7 ^{c-e}	4.9±0.6 ^{a-g}	
Oker	$19.7 \pm 1.1^{e-i}$	11.3 ± 1.8^{a}	11.0 ± 1.8^{a}	$12.5 \pm 0.5^{d-g}$	$5.5 \pm 1.1^{a-d}$	$5.5 \pm 1.2^{a-c}$	
55633	$22.1 \pm 0.8^{b-d}$	$9.1 \pm 0.4^{e-g}$	10.9 ± 0.6^{ab}	14.8±1.0 ^{a-c}	$3.9 \pm 0.3^{f-j}$	$5.3 \pm 0.4^{a-c}$	
Yenice	$21.5 \pm 0.8^{b-f}$	$9.3 \pm 0.6^{d-g}$	$9.1 \pm 0.4^{a-g}$	$14.3 \pm 0.6^{a-d}$	4.8±0.2 ^{d-g}	$4.9 \pm 0.1^{a-f}$	
Leed	22.2 ± 1.8^{bc}	11.2 ± 1.0^{ab}	10.8 ± 1.0 ab	13.9±1.6 ^{b-e}	6.2 ± 0.8 ab	6.1 ± 0.8^{a}	
Ole	$19.0 \pm 2.0^{f-i}$	$8.4 \pm 0.9^{f-i}$	$9.5 \pm 0.4^{a-e}$	$11.0 \pm 1.7 g^{-i}$	$3.5 \pm 0.2^{j-k}$	6.0 ± 0.5 ab	
Hartman	21.3±0.6 ^{c-g}	$10.5 \pm 1.0^{a-e}$	10.6 ± 1.1^{ab}	$14.3 \pm 0.8^{a-d}$	5.1±0.8 ^{c-e}	$5.3 \pm 0.5^{a-c}$	
Ziyang	23.6 ± 0.7 ^{ab}	6.6±0.7 ^j	$7.0 \pm 0.6^{h-j}$	15.6 ± 0.8 ab	$3.4 \pm 0.5^{j-k}$	$3.8 \pm 0.6^{d-h}$	
S-517	24.5 ± 1.4^{a}	6.7±0.6 ^j	6.7 ± 0.7^{ij}	16.4 ± 1.2^{a}	$3.5 \pm 0.4^{j-k}$	$3.6 \pm 0.5^{f-h}$	
Yuyao	16.6 ± 1.9^{jk}	6.7±0.6 ^j	6.6±0.4 ^{ij}	9.1 ± 1.5^{ij}	$3.6 \pm 0.4^{i-k}$	$3.6 \pm 0.2^{f-h}$	
Girard	$18.8 \pm 1.6^{g-j}$	$10.0 \pm 1.0^{a-f}$	$7.1 \pm 1.7^{h-j}$	12.0±1.6 ^{e-g}	5.2±0.7 ^{b-e}	3.6±1.3 ^{f-h}	
FO-2	19.2±1.0 ^{f-i}	11.3 ± 0.3 ab	11.1 ± 1.0^{a}	$11.6 \pm 1.0^{f-h}$	6.3±0.4 ^a	6.1 ± 0.8^{a}	
Olas	20.4±1.6 ^{c-i}	$10.4 \pm 1.0^{a-e}$	$8.0 \pm 1.1^{d-j}$	13.4±1.9 ^{c-f}	$5.4 \pm 0.8^{a-d}$	$5.1\pm0.8^{a-d}$	
Oleic Leed	20.4±0.6 ^{c-i}	$10.9 \pm 1.0^{a-d}$	$7.6 \pm 1.4^{e-j}$	13.3±0.8 ^{c-g}	$5.4 \pm 0.70^{a-d}$	$5.1 \pm 1.2^{a-e}$	
Rehbein	$19.7 \pm 1.6^{d-i}$	9.4±0.9 ^{c-g}	$9.7 \pm 2.7^{a-d}$	$12.3 \pm 1.4^{d-g}$	4.7±0.6 ^{d-h}	$5.4 \pm 2.0^{a-c}$	

Table 3. Seedling length and root length of safflower genotypes under different salt treatments.	Values within columns
are the means ± standard deviations	

Different letters within each column indicate significant differences between the genotypes within treatments.

Seedling and root lengths were measured to observe the effects of salt concentrations on the growth and development of germinated seeds under saline conditions (Table 3). Seedling lengths in the control group varied between 15.3-24.5 cm. Huaxian and S-517 had the control group' lowest and highest seedling lengths, respectively. Seedling lengths decreased with the increased salt concentrations, and as a result, seedling lengths reduced to 6.6-11.3 cm at 180 mM NaCl and to 6.3-11.1 cm at 240 mM NaCl treatments. Seedling lengths of six genotypes (Montola 2000, Rinconado, Finch, Ziyang, S-517, Yuyao) remained below 7 cm at 180 mM NaCl concentration. However, the length of these seedlings varied from 16.7-24.2 cm in the control group. Oker and Linas had the highest seedling length at 180 mM salt concentration. Oker (11.0 cm) still had the highest seedling length at 240 mM NaCl treatment. Montola 2000, Rinconado, Finch, S-517, and Yuyao had the shortest seedling lengths at the same treatment.

Root length measurements of the genotypes also showed that salt concentrations decreased seedling root lengths. While the root length of the seedlings varied from 8.3-14.8 cm in the control group, the root lengths of the

seedlings varied from 3.2-6.3 cm and from 3.3-6.1 cm grown at 180 and 240 mM salt concentrations, respectively. Genotypes with the longest root lengths were Ziyang and S-517, and genotypes with the shortest root lengths were Huaxian and Yuyao in the control group. At 240 mM NaCl treatment, 4022 and Montola 2000 had the shortest root lengths with 3.3 cm, while Leed and FO-2 had the longest root lengths.

The vigor index values of the genotypes were between 795-2167. S-517 and Huaxian had the control group's highest and lowest vigor index values, respectively. Montola 2000 and Enana also had low vigor index values. Significant decreases in vigor index values were observed, and vigor indices of the genotypes were reduced to 291-1653 at 180 mM NaCl treatment. The vigor index values decreased further at 240 mM NaCl treatment, and Girard, Montola 2000, Huaxian, 4022 and Rehbein had the lowest, whereas Sidwill, Frio, 55633, and Hartman had the highest vigor index values (Table 2).

After measuring germination and seedling indices, the percent reduction in germination percentage and vigor index values were compared at 0 and 240 mM salt

concentrations. The results were used to select salttolerant and sensitive genotypes at the germination stage to investigate biochemical changes within these two groups of plants. Initial germination percentages of Oleic Leed, Shufu, Sidwill, Yuyao, and Finch were between 54-72%, and germination percentages were reduced by 6, 13, 11, 13, and 21% at 240 mM NaCl treatment, respectively. Germination percentages of sensitive genotypes (Huaxian, Linas, 4022, Oker, and Rehbein) were between 52-93% and dropped to 25-46% at 240 mM NaCl treatment, corresponding to 46-65% reduction in germination percentage between 0 and 240 mM NaCl treatments. Girard and Rehbein had the same germination percentages at 0 and 240 mM NaCl treatments, but their vigor index values were significantly different at 240 mM NaCl treatment; therefore, Rehbein was more vigorous and selected for biochemical evaluations.

The proline, MDA, and hydrogen peroxide contents were analyzed using sensitive and tolerant genotypes to determine the biochemical changes caused by salt stress in safflower seedlings grown at three different salt concentrations. Variance analysis revealed that genotypes, treatment, and genotypes x treatment interactions for proline, hydrogen peroxide, and MDA contents were significant at $P \le 0.001$ levels of significance (Table 4).

1.00 µg g⁻¹among the sensitive genotypes. Shufu and Yuyao among the tolerant and Linas and 4022 among the sensitive genotypes significantly differed for proline content at the control (Figure 1). Salt stress increased proline contents of sensitive and tolerant safflower genotypes, but the increase from 0 to 180 mM treatment was far more dramatic than the increase from 180 mM to 240 mM NaCl treatment. Proline content increased by 26 to 56 fold to reach 25.04 μ g g⁻¹ and 28.24 μ g g⁻¹ in Rehbein and Shufu at 180 mM NaCl treatment, respectively. The highest increases in proline contents were observed in Shufu, 4022, and Oleic Leed, and the lowest increase was observed in Rehbein. At 240 mM NaCl treatment, the highest increases in proline contents were observed in 4022 and Rehbein by 1.6 and 1.2 times, respectively. The proline content of Shufu, Sidwill, Yuyao, Linas, and Rehbein was significantly higher at 240 mM salt concentration.

The hydrogen peroxide content of the genotypes was between 73.7-169.3 µmol g⁻¹ in the control treatment. Huaxian and Oker had the highest hydrogen peroxide contents, whereas 4022 had the lowest hydrogen peroxide content in the control treatment (Figure 2). Exposure to 180 mM salt concentration increased hydrogen peroxide content among both tolerant and sensitive genotypes. The lowest increase was observed in Huaxian (7%) from 168.1 to 179.6 µmol g⁻¹, and the highest increase was observed in Finch (115%) from 92.9 to 200.1 µmol g-1 at 180 mM NaCl treatment. Oker had the highest hydrogen peroxide content (327.8 µmol g-1) among the genotypes at 180 mM NaCl treatment. At 240 mM NaCl treatment, sensitive and tolerant genotypes exhibited different responses to salt stress. While hydrogen peroxide content increased in sensitive genotypes by 6-50%, it decreased in tolerant genotypes by 10-30%. The lowest and the highest increase among the sensitive genotypes was observed in Rehbein from 265.5 to 279.8 $\mu mol~g^{\text{-1}}$ and in Linas from 167.8 to 251.4 µmol g-1. Shufu showed the lowest decrease in hydrogen peroxide content from 281.4 to 254.7 µmol g-1. Finch had the highest reduction from 200.1 to 141.4 µmol g⁻¹ for hydrogen peroxide content among the tolerant genotypes at 240 mM NaCl concentration.

The MDA content of the genotypes was between 0.89 to 2.10 nmol g⁻¹ in the control group. Shufu had significantly higher MDA content than the rest of the genotypes within this group (Figure 3). MDA contents of the genotypes increased with increased salt concentrations, but the increase was higher in sensitive genotypes. MDA content increased by 27-94% in tolerant genotypes, whereas it increased by 132-349% in sensitive genotypes exposed to 180 mM salt concentration. The lowest and the highest MDA contents of tolerant genotypes were between 1.23-3.77 nmol g-1 in Sidwill and Shufu, respectively. Sidwill and Yuyao had higher MDA content than the other tolerant genotypes at 180 mM NaCl treatment. On the other hand, the MDA contents of the sensitive genotypes were significantly higher than the MDA contents of the tolerant genotypes, except for Shufu. The highest MDA content was observed in Linas (4.05 nmol g⁻¹), and the lowest MDA content was found in Huaxian (3.15 nmol g-1). MDA contents of the genotypes continued to increase at 240 mM NaCl treatment.

Table 4. Mean squares of analysis of variance for biochemical measurements among the tolerant and sensitivesafflower genotypes

Variables	DE	Mean squares				
Variables	DI [.] —	Prolin	Hydrogen peroxide	MDA		
Genotypes	9	14.02***	23452.17***	8.59***		
Treatments	2	7077.73***	82877.53***	134.99***		
Interaction	18	11.99***	4324.03***	4.67***		
Error	60	0.16	108.35	0.44		

MDA= malondialdehyde, ***= significant at P<0.001 levels of significance according to Duncan's multiple range test.



Figure 1. Proline contents of safflower genotypes exposed to three different salt concentrations. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences between the genotypes within treatments. The vertical lines show standard deviations.



Figure 2. Hydrogen peroxide content of safflower genotypes exposed to three different salt concentrations. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences between the genotypes within treatments. The vertical lines show standard deviations.



Figure 3. MDA content of safflower genotypes exposed to three different salt concentrations. Different letters above the bars indicate significant differences between the genotypes within treatments. The vertical lines show standard deviations.

The increase in the tolerant genotypes was between 14-166% and was between 61-215% in the susceptible genotypes. Even though Sidwill's MDA content increased by 166% to reach 3.25 nmol g⁻¹, but it still had the lowest MDA content among the genotypes, and Rehbein, the highest MDA content, increased by 215% to reach 10.54 nmol g⁻¹ at 240 mM NaCl treatment (Figure 3).

Pearson's correlation analysis was carried out among the tolerant and sensitive genotypes to show the relationships between germination, seedling, and biochemical parameters. The results are given in Figure 4. A total of 28 correlation coefficients were calculated, two were negative, and three were positive and significantly correlated with each other. Germination percentage had a significant negative correlation with mean germination time (-0.83) but had a significant positive correlation with vigor index (0.91). Mean germination time negatively correlated with the vigor index (-0.72). Root length showed positive correlations with seedling length (0.98). Proline content positively correlated with hydrogen peroxide content (0.73).

			1 20.05,	1 20	.01,	1 20.00	1		
GP	GP	**	***	•	•				-1 -0.8
MGT	-0.83	MGT	*	٠	•		•		- 0.6
VI	0.91	-0.72	VI					•	- 0.4
SL	0.0096	0.077	0.42	SL	***				- 0.2
RL	0.067	0.080	0.46		RL				-0 02
Pro	0.24	-0.26	0.38	0.32	0.33	Pro	*		0.2
H ₂ O ₂	0.32	-0.075	0.47	0.33	0.39	0.73	H,O,		0.6
MDA	-0.28	0.30	-0.14	0.32	0.29	0.56	0.53	MDA	0.8
	હર	MGI	11	ઙૺૺ	\$~	8 ⁴⁰	ب ر م	MDA	1

* *P*≤0.05; ** *P*≤0.01; *** *P*≤0.001

Figure 4. Relationships and correlation between 8 germination, seedling and biochemical parameters generated by a heat map. Color and scale display the intensity of mean values. (GP, germination percentage; MGT, mean germination time; VI, vigor index; SL, seedling length; RL, root length; Pro, proline; H2O2, hydrogen peroxide; MDA, malondialdehyde).

4. Discussion

Salinity, along with drought, is becoming a major constraint for agricultural production in arid and semiarid regions of the world. Different biological treatments could be employed to mitigate stress conditions exerted by environmental factors, such as different seed treatments and foliar applications (Jabeen and Ahmad, 2012; Ashrafi and Razmjoo, 2015; Turan et al., 2022). Screening and identifying plant germplasm resources for salinity tolerance and cultivation is also another means to maintain reasonable yields under saline conditions (Irving et al., 1988; Siddiqi et al., 2007).

It is recommended that high salt concentrations should be used to differentiate genotypes for salt tolerance (Siddiqi et al., 2007), and we also observed that higher salt concentrations were better for differentiating safflower genotypes (Tonguç et al., 2021); therefore, we have screened safflower genotypes at 0, 180 and 240 mM salt concentrations in the present study. Safflower genotypes exhibited significant variations in germination and seedling indices. Salt stress negatively affected all germination and seedling parameters, especially at 240 mM salt concentration. The germination percentage of the genotypes varied between 52-93% at the control and varied between 27-59% at 240 mM NaCl treatment. The reduction in germination percentages was between 9-65% at 240 mM NaCl treatment (Table 2). Adverse effects of high salt concentrations on the germination of plant species are well known and have been documented for safflower (Kaya et al., 2003; Siddiqi et al., 2007; Çulha and Çakırlar, 2011; Kaya et al., 2019; Tonguç et al., 2021; Kurtulus and Boydak, 2022). Mean germination time, measuring germination speed, was higher at higher salt concentrations compared to the control, which shows the germination speed was slower under salt stress conditions. In the present study, Montola 2000, Enana, and Oleic Leed had germination times over two days at the control, but 14 genotypes had over two days of germination times at 240 mM salt concentration. Similarly, increased mean germination time with the increased salt concentrations was reported for safflower (Kaya et al., 2019; Tonguç et al., 2021; Kurtuluş and Boydak, 2022). The results presented in the paper confirm that high salt concentrations reduce germination percentage and increase the time necessary for germination.

Germinated seedlings were allowed to grow within filter papers during the experiment to study the effects of salt concentrations on seedling growth. Seedling and root lengths were measured to calculate safflower genotypes' growth performance under stress and non-stress conditions. Plants in the control group had the highest values for these parameters. As the salt concentrations increased, measured values for seedling and root lengths decreased for all genotypes (Table 3). While seedling lengths decreased from 180 mM NaCl treatment to 240 mM NaCl treatment, root lengths of some genotypes, such as Shufu, Sidwill, Ole, and Rehbein, increased at 240 mM NaCl treatment compared to 180 mM NaCl treatment. Changes in seedling and root lengths have also been reported for safflower genotypes exposed to salt stress. In all reported experiments, shoot and root lengths reduced with increased salt concentrations (Kaya et al., 2003; Çulha and Çakırlar, 2011; Erdal and Çakırlar, 2014; Toprak and Tunctürk, 2018; Kaya et al., 2019; Kurtuluş and Boydak, 2022). However, shoot growth was affected more severely and found more sensitive to salt stress than the root growth in safflower (Kaya et al., 2019). Increased root length under increased salt concentrations was reported for some safflower genotypes (Toprak and Tunctürk, 2018; Kaya et al., 2019), which was also observed at 240 mM salt concentration in this study.

The vigor index is calculated using germination percentage and seedling length and shows the relative vigor of the genotypes under stress conditions (Abdul-Baki and Anderson, 1973), and genotypes with higher vigor index are considered to be more vigorous. Increased salt concentrations reduced the vigor index values of the genotypes, and the decline was more severe at the highest salt concentration. The vigor index of some safflower genotypes at low salt concentrations increased, but it decreased under higher salt concentrations (Kaya et al., 2019). We have not observed such an increase in vigor index because salt treatments were higher from the beginning. Still, our results for vigor index were similar at higher salt concentrations reported for safflower.

Different selection criteria, such as germination percentage, ion accumulation, ion balance, principal coordinate analysis, and gas exchange rates, are used to discriminate between tolerant and sensitive safflower genotypes to salinity (Siddiqi et al., 2007; Siddiqi et al., 2009; Kaya et al., 2019). We have used reduction in germination percentage as the main selection criteria along with vigor index values for selecting salt sensitive and tolerant genotypes. Based on these results, five tolerant (Shufu, Sidwill, Finch, Yuyao, and Oleic Leed) and five susceptible (Huaxian, Linas, 4022, Oker, and Rehbein) were selected for studying biochemical changes in the sensitive and tolerant genotypes exposed to salt stress.

Proline is accumulated as an osmoregulator to maintain the osmotic balance of cells and prevent the deterioration of proteins. Proline levels of plants increase in response to salt and drought stresses (Hussain et al., 2016). Proline contents of safflower genotypes were very low at the control, but exposure to salt stress increased proline content by 26-56 folds at 180 mM salt concentrations. Only Rehbein and 4022 had lower proline content at 180 salt concentration. Further increasing salt mМ concentration caused little change in tolerant genotypes, but it further increased proline contents of Rehbein and 4022 to comparable levels to the other genotypes (Figure 1). Proline accumulation in response to salt stress is a common mechanism and has been reported for safflower (Hosseini et al., 2010; Erdal and Çakırlar, 2014). Dramatic increases in proline levels in response to salt stress, regardless of salt tolerance levels, were reported for safflower (Karimi et al., 2014). Even though the level of increase was very rapid in response to salt stress, proline accumulation did not differ between sensitive and tolerant genotypes and continued to increase in both groups suggesting that proline accumulation may be a common mechanism under stress conditions and may not be a particular part of salinity tolerance in safflower.

Reactive oxygen species are produced under stress conditions, and hydrogen peroxide and other reactive oxygen molecules cause lipid peroxidation (Priestley, 1986). Lipid peroxidation is the main cause of membrane damage, and the level of lipid peroxidation could be measured by monitoring MDA levels (Sharma et al., 2012). Superoxide dismutase scavenges superoxide radicals and converts them to hydrogen peroxide, which is scavenged by catalase and peroxidases. Therefore, antioxidant defense systems play important roles in mitigating oxygen species' effects under stress conditions. Hydrogen peroxide content was lower among the genotypes in the control treatment. Salt stress caused sharp increases in hydrogen peroxide content at 180 mM salt concentration across the genotypes (Figure 2). However, unlike proline contents of sensitive and tolerant genotypes, raising salt concentration to 240 mM did not increase hydrogen peroxide content across the safflower genotypes. Hydrogen peroxide accumulation showed a distinct difference between the sensitive and tolerant genotypes. In sensitive genotypes, hydrogen peroxide accumulation continued. As a result, the hydrogen peroxide content of sensitive genotypes increased by 6-50% at 240 mM salt concentration, whereas the hydrogen peroxide content of tolerant genotypes decreased by 10-30% at the same treatment. Studies showed that salt-tolerant safflower genotypes increase or maintain antioxidant enzyme activity under salt stress in safflower (Hosseini et al., 2010; Erdal and Cakırlar, 2014; Önder et al., 2022). Catalase and peroxidase activity between the salt-tolerant and sensitive safflower genotypes showed that the activity of these enzymes remained high in the tolerant genotype, but their activity ceased at a high salt concentration in the sensitive genotype (Hosseini et al., 2010). Similarly, the activity of different antioxidant enzymes followed the increased salt concentrations (Erdal and Çakırlar, 2014;

Önder et al., 2022). Though we did not determine the antioxidant enzyme activities in the study, these results show that genotypes differed in their abilities to detoxify hydrogen peroxide at 240 mM salt concentration, and the action of enzymes in the antioxidant defense mechanism regulated the level of hydrogen peroxide in tolerant genotypes. We have monitored MDA levels in tolerant and sensitive genotypes to measure lipid peroxidation damage. MDA contents of the genotypes in control were lower. Salt treatment increased the MDA contents of both sensitive and tolerant genotypes, and the increase in the sensitive genotypes at 180 mM NaCl treatment was higher than the increase in the tolerant genotypes at the same treatment (Figure 3). MDA levels of the sensitive genotypes continued to increase, and Rehbein, Huaxian, and Linas had significantly higher MDA levels than the tolerant genotypes at 240 mM NaCl treatment. MDA levels were between 3.25-4.28 nmol g-1 and 5.34-10.54 nmol g⁻¹ in tolerant and sensitive genotypes at 240 mM NaCl treatment, respectively. MDA levels increase in response to salt stress in safflower (Erdal and Çakırlar, 2014; Önder et al., 2022). Our results show a link between hydrogen peroxide and MDA contents; as hydrogen peroxide content was reduced in tolerant genotypes, MDA levels in tolerant genotypes were also lower than in the sensitive genotypes. Önder et al. (2022) reported that hydrogen peroxide content was significantly associated with MDA, catalase, and antioxidant enzyme activities in two safflower genotypes under salt stress.

Correlation analysis revealed some insights between germination and biochemical parameters. Germination percentage and mean germination times were negatively correlated, as previously reported (Tonguç et al., 2021; Önder et al., 2022). However, our study found that germination percentage did not significantly correlate with MDA, proline, and hydrogen peroxide contents; these parameters were significantly and negatively associated with germination (Önder et al., 2022).

5. Conclusion

According to the results, Germination decreased under salt stress, but decline in the germination of seeds at 240 mM salt concentration was higher. Mean germination times also differed from the control depending on salt concentrations. The vigor index of the genotypes in the control group was higher, and significant decreases in vigor indices occurred with the increased salt concentrations. The highest seedling and root lengths were obtained from the control group, and seedling and root lengths decreased under salt stress. Proline content increased at very high rates in sensitive and tolerant genotypes and remained high under salt stress. MDA levels also increased, but the increase in the tolerant genotypes was lower than the increase in the sensitive genotypes grown under higher salt concentrations. Hydrogen peroxide levels also increased in response to salt stress. However, the hydrogen peroxide levels in the

BSJ Agri / Sercan ÖNDER et al.

tolerant genotypes decreased, while the hydrogen peroxide levels continued to increase in the sensitive genotypes when the salt concentration increased to 240 mM. The amount of hydrogen peroxide could be a feature that can be used to distinguish between tolerant and sensitive genotypes for their germination ability under high salt concentrations.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	S.Ö.	N.Y.	M.T.
С	50	50	
D	100		
S			100
DCP		100	
DAI		50	50
L	40	30	30
W	50		50
CR	50		50
SR	100		
PM			100
FA		100	

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

Ethics committee approval was not required for this study because of there was no study on animals or humans.

Acknowledgments

Scientific and Technological Research Council of Türkiye (TUBITAK) financially supported this work under 2209-A program. Sercan Önder is a recipient of YÖK 100/2000 fellowship program for graduate students financed by Council of Higher Education.

References

- Abdul-Baki AA, Anderson JD. 1973. Vigor determination in soybean seed by multiple criteria. Crop Sci, 13: 630-633.
- Ashraf M, McNeilly T. 2004. Salinity tolerance in Brassica oilseeds. Crit Rev Plant Sci, 23: 157-174.
- Ashrafi E, Razmjoo J. 2015. Seed treatment to overcome salt and drought stresses during germination in safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.). J Plant Nutr, 38: 2151-2158.
- Bailly C. 2004. Active oxygen species and antioxidants in seed biology. Seed Sci Res, 14: 93-107.
- Çulha Ş, Çakırlar H. 2011. Effects of salt stress induced by NaCl on safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.) cultivars at early seedling stages. Hacettepe J Biol Chem, 39: 61-64.
- Dajue L. 1993. Progress of safflower (Carthamus tinctorius L.)
research and production in China. In: Proceedings of the Third Interactional Safflower Conference, June 14-18, Beijing, China, pp: 35-46.

- Erbaş S, Tonguç M, Şanlı A. 2016. Variations in the agronomic and quality characteristics of domestic and foreign safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.) genotypes. Turk J Field Crop, 21: 110-119.
- Erdal ŞC, Cakirlar H. 2014. Impact of salt stress on photosystem II efficiency and antioxidant enzyme activities of safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.) cultivars. Turk J Biol, 38: 549-560.
- Hasegawa PM, Bressan RA, Zhu J-K, Bohnert HJ. 2000. Plant cellular and molecular responses to high salinity. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol, 51: 463-499.
- Hosseini T, Shekari F, Ghorbanli M. 2010. Effect of salt stress on ion content, proline and antioxidative enzymes of two safflower cultivars (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.). J Food Agric Environ, 8:1080–1086.
- Hussain MI, Lyra DA, Farooq M, Nikoloudakis N, Khalid N. 2016. Salt and drought stress in safflower: A review. Agron Sustain Dev, 36: 1-31.
- Irving DW, Shannon MC, Breda VA, Mackey BE. 1988. Salinity effects on yield and oil quality of high-linoleate and higholeate cultivars of safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.). J Agric Food Chem, 36: 37-42.
- ISTA, 2009. International Rules for Seed Testing. International Seed Testing Association, Bassersdorf, Switzerland, pp: 48.
- Jabeen N, Ahmad R. 2012. Improving tolerance of sunflower and safflower during growth stages to salinity through foliar spray of nutrient solutions. Pak J Bot, 44: 563-572.
- Karimi S, Arzani A, Saeidi G. 2014. Differential response of ion and osmolyte accumulation to salinity stress in salt-tolerant and salt-sensitive seedlings of safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.). Res Crops, 15: 802-809.
- Kaya MD, İpek A, Öztürk A. 2003. Different soil salinity levels on germination and seedling growth of safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.). Turk J Agric For, 27: 221-227.
- Kaya MD, Akdoğan G, Kulan EG, Dağhan H, Sarı A. 2019. Salinity tolerance classification of sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) and safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.) by cluster and principal component analysis. Appl Ecol Environ Res, 17: 3849-3857.
- Kurtuluş M, Boydak E. 2022. Bazı aspir (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.) çeşitlerinde farklı tuz konsantrayonlarının çimlenme ve çıkış üzerine etkisi. Türk Tarım ve Doğa Bilimleri Dergisi, 9:

696-704.

- Munns R, Tester M. 2008. Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Ann Rev Plant Biol, 59: 651-681.
- Önder S, Dayan E, Karakurt Y, Tonguç M. 2022. Changes in germination, antioxidant enzyme activities and biochemical contents of safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.) under different salinity levels. Süleyman Demirel Üniv Fen Edeb Faki Fen Derg 17: 186-196.
- Priestley DA. 1986. Seed aging. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, USA, pp: 304.
- Sharma P, Jha AB, Dubey RS, Pessarakli M. 2012. Reactive oxygen species, oxidative damage, and antioxidative defense mechanism in plants under stressful conditions. J Bot, 2012: 1-26.
- Siddiqi EH, Ashraf M, Hussain M, Jamil A. 2009. Assessment of intercultivar variation for salt tolerance in safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.) using gas exchange characteristics as selection criteria. Pak J Bot, 41: 2251-2259.
- Siddiqi EH, Ashraf M, Akram NA. 2007. Variation in seed germination and seedling growth in some diverse lines of safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.) under salt stress. Pak J Bot, 39:1937-1944.
- Tonguç M, Önder S, Mutlucan M. 2021. Determination of germination parameters of safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.) cultivars under salt stress. Süleyman Demirel Üniv Fen Bil Enst Derg, 25: 155-161.
- Toprak T, Tunçtürk R. 2018. Farklı aspir (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.) çeşitlerinin gelişim performansları üzerine tuz stresinin etkileri. Doğu Fen Bil Derg, 1: 44-50.
- Turan M, Ekinci M, Kul R, Boynueyri FG, Yıldırım E. 2022. Mitigation of salinity stress in cucumber seedlings by exogenous hydrogen sulfide. J Plant Res, 135: 517-529.
- Türkan I, Demiral T. 2009. Recent developments in understanding salinity tolerance. Environ Exp Bot, 67: 2-9.
- Velikova V, Yordanov I, Edreva A. 2000. Oxidative stress and some antioxidant systems in acid rain-treated bean plants: protective role of exogenous polyamines. Plant Sci, 151: 59-66.
- Zhang Z, Huang R. 2013 Analysis of malondialdehyde, chlorophyll proline, soluble sugar, and glutathione content in Arabidopsis seedlings. Bio-protocol 3 (14) URL: http://www.bio-protocol.org/e817. (access date: August 10, 2022).

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1222911



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578

Research Article

Volume 6 - Issue 2: 174-182 / March 2023

SOCIO-ECONOMIC VIEW OF FISHERIES PROCESSING SECTOR EMPLOYEES: BLACK SEA REGION-TÜRKİYE

Muhammed Ali ALTUN¹, Emre ÇAĞLAK^{2*}

¹Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Trabzon Directorate of Provincial Agriculture and Forestry, 61100, Trabzon, Türkiye

²Recep Tayyip Erdogan University, Faculty of Fisheries, Fishing and Processing Technologies Department, 53100, Rize, Türkiye

Abstract: In this study, the socio-economic status of the employees who work in the seafood processing plants operating in the Black Sea region provinces was examined in order to reveal the social and economic data. 37 enterprises, which have a production permit from the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, are located in 7 provinces in the Black Sea region, where 18 provinces are located. It has been studied with 532 interviewers in 28 companies that are actively operating, with a participation of 24 questions each. 19 of the enterprises work for fish and fish products (cold and frozen storage), 4 are for snails, and 5 are for fish meal and oil processing plants. 63.9% of the employees are male. When we look at the distribution of the employees' age groups, the rate of 31-40 years was the highest with a percentage of 36.64%. Regarding the education levels, it is seen that secondary school graduates constitute the highest rate with a percentage of 38.91%. It has been detected that 99.62% of the employees have social security, and all of them take advantage of the social security institution. For the marital status, it is determined that 73.50% of the employees are married. Studies on the seafood sector, which is important in the world and in our country, reveal important data.

Keywords: Seafood, Fish meal, Workpeople, Plant, Questionnaire

*Corresponding author: Re	ecep Ta	ayyip Erdogan University, Faculty of Fisheries, Fishing and Processing Technologie	es Department, 53100, Rize, Türkiye
E mail: emre.caglak@erdoga	ın.edu	.tr (E. ÇAĞLAK)	
Muhammed Ali ALTUN	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8670-7538	Received: December 22, 2022
Emre ÇAĞLAK	(D	https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7376-1359	Accepted: February 03, 2023
	-		Published: March 01, 2023
Cite as: Altun MA, Cağlal	κ E. 2	023 Socio-economic view of fisheries processing sector employees: Bl	ack Sea Region-Türkiye, BSI Agri, 6(2): 174-182

1. Introduction

Aquaculture socio-economically occupies an important business niche, constitutes a significant part of agriculture as well as being a valuable source of quality nutrition. This sector is known to provide raw materials, contribute to rural development, implement employment areas and food manufacturing (Doğan and Yıldız, 2008). Annual aquaculture and capture production is 177.8 tons according to FAO 2020 statistics of which 90.3 million tonnes originate from fisheries and 87.5 million tons from aquaculture practices. Aquaculture and capture production in Türkiye in 2021 reached 799.851 tons. The financial asset for this 2020 production had increased to 13.708.550,105 Turkish Liras. Additionally, 559.932 ton was being consumed as a food resource by human (GDFA, 2021; TSI, 2022). The seafood processing sector, with its developing economic status, takes part in important industries. Seafood processing plant factories are subject to act number 5996 veterinary services, plant welfare, food and feed law for seeking permission. Those that receive permission are registered to the food security information system (FSIS) designed by the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry of Türkiye. There are 234 seafood businesses registered to FSIS. These are distributed to entire Türkiye; 68 in the Marmara region, 79 in the Aegean region, 38 in the Black sea region, 33 in the Mediterranean region, 12 in the Central Anatolian region and 1 in the South Eastern Anatolia region. From the 234 registered businesses, 97 are certified for exportation to European Union countries (MAF, 2019). Seafood constitutes the only animal product that has been certified for export to EU countries however, socioeconomic analysis regarding workers in the processing plant factories is quite limited. Various studies have been carried out inter (nationally) regarding mainly fisheries sector, aquaculture workers, processing plant workers, the owners of the businesses, consumer groups by several researchers (Drewes, 1982; Charles, 1988; Hunte and Oxenford, 1989; Saxena, 1989; Freire and Gracia-Allut, 2000; Supongpan et al., 2000; Yahşi, 2000; Waters et al., 2001; Sabatella and Franquesa, 2004; Villareal et al., 2004; Ünal, 2004; Çolakoğlu et al., 2006; Uzmanoğlu and Soylu, 2006; Yücel, 2006; Emre et al., 2007; Güngör et al., 2007; Kutlu and Balçık, 2007; Çeliker et al., 2006, 2008; Doğan and Yıldız, 2008; Bektaş et al., 2010; Doğan, 2010; Köse et al., 2010; CFRI, 2012; Çağlak et al., 2012; Sarıözkan, 2016; Buruç, 2018).

The Black sea region of Türkiye is the 3rd biggest geographical region, covering 18 cities. The coastal distance of the region is 1685 km thus participating local fisheries up to 50%. The aim of the present study was to exhibit socio-economic status of workers in processing

plant factories in the region which holds significant economic benefits thus obtaining qualitative social datasets. Additionally, the outcomes of the research are anticipated to provide insights for the sector directors, the aquaculture processing industry, and policymakers.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Research Area and Processing Plant Factories

Research area, according to the data sets of the Agricultural Economic and Policy Development Institute, 75% of the total supply of Türkiye's wild fishery needs is from the Black Sea region (41.1% East Black Sea region and 34.2% West Black Sea region) (TEPGE/AEPDI, 2021). Timeframe for the study has been expanded to cover peak periods for wild fisheries catchment and shellfish season. In this direction, 7 factories including cities of Sinop, Zonguldak, Kastamonu and 10 factories in Trabzon were surveyed in December 2015, 11 factories in cities of Samsun, Ordu, and Giresun were surveyed in February 2016 (Figure 1). Processing plant companies are registered for the food security information system designed by Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry of Türkiye. Those working in the processing plant factories registered to the system, 28 businesses in total, consisted of the material of the present study. Processing plant factories included crustaceans, cephalopod, fish oil and fish meal, fresh and frozen seafood. The fact that the amount of hunting and partly aquaculture is in the Black Sea has led to the concentration of the sectors in this region.

2.2. Surveys

The survey forms used in the present study consist of 24 questions. Previously applied socio-cultural surveys were redesigned for the purpose of this work (Doğan and Yıldız, 2008; Bektaş et al., 2010; Doğan, 2010).

2.3. Procedure

Exact counting method was applied so as to gather robust dataset regarding processing plant factories. The exact counting method is applied when all participants involved in surveys fill up forms completely (Çapkın et al., 2008; Diktaş-Bulut et al., 2021). The total number of participants, 532 people, included everyone working in processing plant companies that had been surveyed (this study covers the permanent staff; Figure 2).

2.4. Identification of Worker's Socio-Economic Qualifications

Survey included the data generated by the answers to those questions related to socio-cultural and demographic status of the participants follows as; age, marital status, the number of people in the family, educational status, social security status, income of the family, professional satisfaction, socio-cultural activities and food expenses.

2.5. Statistical Analysis

The statistical analysis was carried out using Windows Office 365. Categorical research evidence and percentage distribution were given in tabular format.



Figure 1. Distribution of the facilities by city in the survey study.



Figure 2. Number of surveyors by facilities.

3. Results

The distribution of factories based on cities, their processing technology, and the number of people working in the factories are given in Table 1. The results

revealed that all factories (100%) were company-based businesses. Assessments revealed that all factories had a "freshly frozen seafood section" with a 75% representation. The ratio for crustaceans, cephalopod, fish oil, and fish meal processing factories was 12.5%. Additionally, one factory possessed more than one processing technology. In total 13 factories had 1-11 personnel, 7 factories had 12-25 personnel, 4 factories had 26-38 personnel, 2 factories had 39-49, 2 factories had 50 and onwards personnel for business operations. The city of Trabzon possessed the highest proportion, 10 in total, for the establishment location of processing plant companies.

Table 1. General properties of seafood processing plantsin the Black Sea region

Processing technologies	Piece	(%)
Fresh and frozen seafood	22	75.00
Cephalopods and crustaceans	3	12.5
Fish meal and oil	3	12.5
Number of employed personnel		
1-11 staff	13	46.42
12-25 staff	7	25.00
26-38 staff	4	14.28
39-49 staff	2	7.14
50 ≤ staff	2	7.14

The demographic distribution of workers is presented in Table 2. The dominant sex was detected as male, with 63.3% among workers of processing plant companies. The average age of the workers was older than 30 years old, represented by 68.53%, while 31.47% of the workers were younger than 30 years old; the ratio decreased to 9.16% for 51 years old and onwards. The majority of the workers were married, represented by 71.5%, and singles and widows were represented by 25.94% and 0.56%, respectively. Educational status of the works was detected as follows; secondary school (38.91%) > primary school (35.53%) > two-years degree (11.47%) > literate (5.64%) > Bachelor in Science (3.19%) > Master in Science (1.50%) > nonliterate (0.38%) > Doctor of Philosophy (0.19%). The frequency of newspaper reading revealed that 17.67% of the workers followed the daily posts, 24.06% followed 2-3 days a week, 19.36% followed once in a week and 37.97% followed newspapers once a month. Reading habits of workers were detected as 40.79%, 21.05%, 20.68%, and 17.11% for never reading, one book in a year reading, more than a book in a year reading, and one book in a week reading, respectively.

The use of social media and the internet has increased rapidly, thus the frequency of internet technology utilization is given in Table 3. Internet utilization was 70% among workers of which the majority indicated as 2-3 hours in a day. Social media account holders were represented by 58.83% while 39.29% of the workers did not have a social media account. The number of social media platform use varied among workers; 33.27% indicated as one account use, 33.27% indicated 2 accounts and 10.72% indicated 3 and more accounts on social media. The reason to use the internet was detected

as follows; "communication with friends > daily news > researching > listening to music or videos". The number of workers who did not want to respond to this question was remarkably high thus drawing the authors' attention.

Table 2. Demographic properties of employees inseafood processing plants in the Black Sea region

Social structure of employees	Piece	(%)
Gender status		
Female	192	36.1
Male	340	63.9
Age groups		
<20	20	4.50
21-30	148	27.82
31-40	195	36.64
41-50	121	22.73
51-60	33	6.20
60>	11	2.06
Unanswered	4	0.9
Marital status		
Widow	3	0.56
Single	138	25.94
Married	391	73.50
Education status		
Illiterate	2	0.38
Literate (not educated)	30	5.64
Primary education	189	35.53
Secondary education	207	38 01
(including high school)	207	30.91
Associate degree	61	11.47
License education	17	3.19
Post graduate	8	1.50
Doctorate	1	0.19
Unanswered	17	3.19
Newspaper reading frequency		
Everyday	94	17.67
2-3 times a week	128	24.06
Once a week	103	19.36
Once a month	202	37.97
Unanswered	5	0.94
Book reading habit		
Never read	217	40.79
1 time per week	91	17.11
1 time per year	112	21.05
More than once a year	110	20.68
Unanswered	2	0.37

Internet usage frequency	Piece	(%)
2-3 hours a day	209	39.29
2-3 hours a week	106	19.92
1 hour per month	58	10.90
Not using	159	29.89
Do you have a social media account?		
Yes	313	58.83
No	213	39.29
Unanswered	6	1.88
Social media count		
1	177	33.27
2	97	18.23
3	41	7.71
4	10	1.88
5 and above	6	1.13
Not using	200	37.59
Unanswered	1	0.19
Reason for using the internet		
Reading news	102	19.17
Doing research	65	12.22
Communication with friends	116	21.80
Listening to music and watching videos	31	5.83
Unanswered	218	40.98

Table 3. Internet and social media usage cases ofemployees in seafood processing in the Black Sea region

Table 4 indicated the social security status of the workers of which almost all (99.62%) had social security apart from 2 workers, represented by 0.38%. The types of social security revealed that all (100%) workers were covered under the Social Insurance Institution (SSK). The position of the workers was distributed as 66.73% operatives, 4.32% headmasters, 4.89% engineers, 5.64% technicians, and 18.42% others (drivers, accountants, administrative staff) among workers. The job satisfaction of seafood processing plant workers was detected as follows; 3.38% very satisfied, 45.86% satisfied, 39.47% tolerable (not bad), and 4.89% not satisfied. The salary satisfaction of the workers was detected as 22.74% satisfied, 30.45% not satisfied and 43.05% tolerable (not bad). Monthly salary distribution was identified similarly as 38.72% 1201 TL and lower income and 37.40% 1501 TL and higher income. Similarly, the ratio of income and the number of people was detected comparable; 19.55% (1201-1500 TL) and 20.11% (1501-2000 TL).

Table 4. Social security and economic structures ofemployees in seafood processing in the Black Sea region

Social security and	economic	Piece	(%)	
structure of employees				
Social security status				
Have social security		530	99.62	
No social security		2	0.38	
Social security institution				
Social insurance institution	n (SSK)	530	100	
Pension fund		-		
Bağkur		-		
Special insurance		-		
Title				
Worker		355	66.73	
Foreman		23	4.32	
Technician		30	5.64	
Engineer		26	4.89	
Other (driver, accounting e	etc.)	98	18.42	
Job satisfaction				
Very pleased		18	3.38	
Satisfied		244	45.86	
So so		210	39.47	
Not glad	26	4.89		
Unanswered		34	6.40	
Salary satisfaction				
Yes		121	22.74	
No		162	30.45	
So so		229	43.05	
Unanswered		20	4.03	
Monthly average income (ГL)			
<500		31	5.83	
501-949		83	15.60	
950-1200	92	17.29		
1201-1500	104	19.55		
1501-2000	107	20.11		
2001>		92	17.29	
Unanswered		23	4.33	

Accommodation types of the workers based on their economic and social security status were provided in Table 5. The rational distribution of the number of people working while sharing the same house was detected as 2 > 1 > 3 > 4 > 5 and onwards. The number of people was found to be three times higher for 4 people and higher (399 persons) compared to 3 persons and lower (133 persons). The ratio for accommodation ownership revealed that 52.91% of the workers own their accommodations, 22.58% are living in rental accommodations, and the remaining 22.92% utilized other facilities. The type of accommodations was detected as follows; 40.04% in the apartment house, 54.51% in a detached house, and 4.89% in others. The sizes of the accommodations were detected as follows; 57 accommodations (10.71%)<90m2, 208 accommodations (%39.10) range between 90m2-120m2, 138 accommodations (%25.94) 120m2-130m2, 84 accommodations (%15.79) 130m2-150m2 ve 38 accommodations (%7.14) 151m2. The heating type of the accommodations was detected as follows; 70.49% stove, 21.24% central heating, 6.95% natural gas central heating, and 1.32% electrical heating.

Table 5. Social security and economic structures ofemployees in seafood processing in the Black Sea region

Social security and economic	Piece	(%)
structure of employees		
Number of employees living in the		
same residence		
1	195	36.65
2	253	47.56
3	62	11.65
4	13	2.44
5 and Above	9	1.7
Number of persons in the		
household		
2 people	6.58	35
3 people	18.42	98
4 people	33.08	176
5 people	29.70	158
6 and above	12.22	65
Residential ownership		
Host	282	52.91
Tenant	119	22.58
Other (staying with mother, father,	121	22.92
grandfather etc.)	10	4.00
Unanswered	10	1.89
Housing type	200	
Private	290	54.51
Apartment	213	40.04
Other (slum)	26	4.89
Unanswered	3	0.56
Housing size (m ²)		10 51
<90	57	10.71
90-120	208	39.10
120-130	138	25.94
130-150	84	15.79
151≥	38	7.14
Unanswered	7	1.31
Heating type of the house	0.55	50.40
Stove	375	70.49
Heater	113	21.24
Natural gas	37	6.95
Electricity	7	1.32

4. Discussion

The socio-economic situation of the workers in processing plant factories of the Black sea region was presented in the present study. The surveys conducted in the region revealed all, twenty-eight, companies were run as corporations. Çapkın et al. (2008) reported one company exception in 10 companies investigated in terms of company management in Beyşehir surrounding area. Çağlak et al. (2012) reported all companies run as corporations in terms of management in Balıkesir processing plant companies are generally run as corporations as it was reported by previous studies. Majority of the companies (3/4) operating in the region utilized fresh and frozen seafood technology. Other companies shared equal contributions for their processing type including crustaceans and cephalopods as well as fish oil and fish meal. In a study conducted by Çağlak et al. (2012) reported fresh and frozen seafood products as well as cephalopod and crustacean products were at the forefront in Balıkesir province. The same authors reported bivalve processing technology in the region, although being lower in terms of production volumes. The comparison of these two papers revealed a unique part for the present study in regards to fish oil and fish meal while being similar for the majority of the processing technologies in fresh and frozen seafood as well as cephalopod and crustacean technology. Investigations revealed that companies possessed more than one processing technology. Additionally, it was presumed that companies operating in the region preferred extended self-life compared to investigating new tastes mainly due to the traditional tastes of the consumer's preferences. The highest proportion of workers was detected in companies that had employees ranging between 1 to 11 out of 28 companies that the survey conducted among 532 workers. In a study to reveal the situation, problems, and their solutions of the seafood processing plant companies Duyar and Bayraklı (2005) have previously reported a 50% ratio for employees of 1-11 workers in 6 companies investigated with a total number of 89 workers in Sinop city. Çağlak et al. (2012) reported a 62.5% ratio of employees ranging between 1 to 11 in 5 companies out of 8 seafood processing plants that were surveyed with a total number of 120 workers. The comparison of the literature revealed that the ratio of 1 to 11 workers in seafood processing plant factories was similar to the previous investigations. Thus, in the shed of the current literature, the number of factories employing 1-11 workers is estimated to be 45-60% throughout Türkiye. This is thought to be due to the use of a low number of employees mostly for general operations such as sizing and crating as well as logistical actions instead of delicate processing technologies. The results revealed 340 male employees and 192 female employees among 532 workers being surveyed in the seafood processing plant factories. Çapkın et al. (2008) reported that Çağlak et al. (2012) detected a higher number of female employees. Investigations revealed that such differences were related to the body strength of male employees mostly working in fresh and frozen seafood processing requiring heavy lifting while female employees were assigned to delicate positions such as fillet and crustacean processing due to their familiarity with such operations. As fresh and frozen seafood processing was dominant in the region, in a way, explained the sex differences observed in the gender groups. It was detected that 68.96% of the

province. The present study indicated that seafood

workers were under 40 years old. Previous literature revealed that the dominant age group for sea food processing factories were under 40 years old (Yücel, 2006; Çapkın et al., 2008; Doğan and Yıldız, 2008; Tokaç and Dincer, 2011; Çağlak et al., 2012). Similar to other divisions of aquaculture, seafood processing sector representatives prioritized the employment and labour force thus hiring younger employees. SEKAM (2011) world family symposium indicated that family bonds and marriage is crucial for the social status of Türkive. The marital status of Türkiye based on Türkiye Statistical Institute (TSI, 2015) data revealed that 62-67% were married and 22-29% were single in the Black sea region. The survey of the present study reported 73.5% married and 25.94% single among participants. The results of the survey revealed that participants cared about marriage as indicated in the report of the symposium and TSI data. TSI (2018) data indicated the graduates of primary school, secondary school including high school degree, university degree (including 2 years and 4 years education), post-graduate degree (masters in science) and, doctor of philosophy in the Black sea region on Türkiye as follows, 38.3%, 35.8%, 13.5%, 1.06%, 0.25% respectively. The results of the educational level detected in the present study were in correspondence with the national statistics. Çağlak et al. (2012) reported the ratio of university degree graduates as 14% in a study conducted on the Balıkesir city processing plant factory employees. The survey results in regard to the ratio of analphabetic employees indicated the development of Türkiye in the field of education. The ratio of university graduates (2 years and 4 years' degree) pointed out the perspective of the sector towards educated manpower while the high ratio found in primary and secondary school level was due to increased need of operatives in the factories. The written media statistics revealed a decrease in the circulation of journals and magazines (TSI, 2017). Çakır et al. (2009) reported an irregular reading of daily newspapers as 28.9% while 9.4% was detected once a weekly basis in the survey conducted in Kayseri city. In the present study, the highest ratio of daily newspaper reading was detected as 37.97% once a month basis, the highest of the previous studies, thus indicating the ratio is decreasing as reported in the literature. This may be due to the increased ratio of online newspaper reading on social media platforms. Such a situation is in accordance with the increased use of the internet. Türkiye was the 86th in the Human Development Report published by the United Nations. In this regard, reading rates are quite low in Türkiye, as detected in the present study's associated answers to the question, listed in Table 2. Türkiye Reading Culture Research revealed that 70% of the participants do not read books, while a more recent study reported a decrease in the ratio down to 36% (OKUYAY, 2019). Çoban et al. (2018) remarked the reading habits of university students completed 1-5 books within one year as 48%. Çağlak et al. (2012) reported the ratio of nonreaders as 46% and reads more than one book in a month as 15% among the employees of the processing plant factories operate in Balıkesir city. The present study carried out among the employees of processing plant factories operating in the Black sea region revealed similar results in regard to reading habits with that of entire Türkiye, highlighting reading habits of the country (non-readers as 40.79%, once in a month reader 17.11%, once in a year or more reader 41.73%). Recent studies as well as the present studies suggest reading habits are increasing. The use of the internet is powerful for instant access to updated news, yet the uncontrolled news and addiction to excess use constitute its downsides. Internet addiction is explained by excessive time spending activities on the internet and being incapable of controlling the urge towards it (Leung, 2004; Simkova and Cincera, 2004). The most significant factor of this addiction is the time spent on the internet is much longer than those of non-addicted (Coa and Su, 2007). According to the TSI 2016a datasets, the number of houses with an internet connection was 76.3% while the ratio of internet use was reported as 61.2%. In the present study, the use of the internet was detected as 70.11%. Durak and Seferoğlu (2016) reported daily internet use as 4 h and 37 min from PC and tablets, while mobile data use was indicated as 2 h 51 min. The daily use of the internet for the employees of the seafood processing plant factories was 2-3 h for 39.29%. Internet use was reported as 73.2% according to TSI, 2013 while it reached to 82.4% in 2016. The study indicated the ratio of social media users as 58.83% and the differences were thought to be due to age and educational status. A majority (33.27%) of the employees were detected to use only one social media account, the ratio was down to 1% for multiple social media account users. Aydın (2016), as well as İnce and Koçak (2017), reported more than one social media account. The main reason for internet use was due to communication with friends in the present study. This was followed by daily newspaper reading, researching, and listening to music or videos. TSI (2016a) reported similar outcomes in regard to frequency of internet use; social media, messaging friends, watching videos, online newspaper and magazine reading, and researching health-related topics. The outcomes of the present study associated with internet use and social media were in accordance with TSI datasets. Additionally, no sense of internet addiction was noticed among the participants who indicated the use of only one social media account mostly for communication with friends as well as reading daily newspapers. Legally enforceable rights of the workers revealed that almost all workers (530 persons) were socially and economically covered. Previous investigations carried out in the aquaculture sector revealed that 60-99% of workers were covered by social security status (Çeliker et al., 2006, 2008; Daşdan et al., 2008; Doğan and Yıldız, 2008; Çağlak et al., 2012). Alterations in the social security legislation led to all workers being covered by the Social Insurance

Institution (SII) in the present study. The distribution of workers based on job titles revealed operatives represented the highest proportion, 66.73% as typical in the seafood processing sector. Similarly, previous studies conducted by Duyar and Bayraklı (2005), Çapkın et al. (2008), Çağlak et al. (2012), and Altunel, (2021) reported high numbers of operatives. The cumulative percentage of workers in regard to job satisfaction was up to 85.33% including satisfied and tolerable answers, only 4.89% were not satisfied. A study conducted in the wild fisheries sector revealed 85.9% job satisfaction based on cumulative answers of satisfied and moderate (Güngör et al., 2007). Similar results were observed in a study conducted in Balıkesir city with 88% satisfaction (Çağlak et al., 2012). The outcomes of the present study revealed that seafood processing plant factory workers operate in the Black sea region assessed based on job/labour by the business owners and the results were in accordance with the literature. According to the 2015 and 2016 minimum wage, there was 36.84% gained a salary between 950 TL to 1500 TL, this was confirmed by the number of operatives however for those under gaining under minimum wage, represented as 21.43%, and for those gaining higher than minimum wage, represented as 37.4% indicated that seafood processing sector prioritizes the experience and technical expertise for salary distribution. The results of the present survey revealed that the seafood sector is not different than other sectors in regard to the salary of operatives. In 1989, new legislation was put in place to ensure mutual minimum wage among all sectors including agriculture and forestry thus Committee of Minimum Wage declared a uniform salary range regardless of sectoral differences (Eser and Terzi, 2008). TSI datasets of 2015 and 2016 revealed that the majority of the workers desired an increased salary within the investigation of the poverty threshold. Within this context, only one salary was not sufficient for those living in the same household, thus the ratio of 2 and 3 people working was detected as 59.21% sharing the same household. Türkiye's average household size is 3.5 (TSI, 2016b). In a study conducted to reveal the socio-economic status of fishermen, Sağlam and Karadal (2016) reported owing 0-3 children in 54% of the families, therefore 3-5-person family structure can be estimated. In the present study, the highest proportion of 4-person family structure was detected with 33.08% which was in parallel with the country statistics and previous studies. A significant indicator of the socio-economic status, 52.91% of the participants was house owners. Other studies conducted among the workers of aquaculture sector reported 51.6-76.76% house owners (Çeliker et al., 2006, 2008; Doğan and Yıldız, 2008; Doğan, 2010; Çağlak et al., 2012; Sağlam and Karadal, 2016; Çağlak et al., 2018). The fact that the proportion of house ownership was higher than 50% in all studies, implies the significant perception regarding owning the accommodation. Investigations revealed that detached houses were preferred thus the ratio of 54.51%

was detected. Harvesting and agricultural activities have long been a part of the Black sea region's culture. The outcomes of the present study confirmed the situation. In Türkiye, 80% of the houses are at an average of 100 m2 in usable open space (Anonymous, 2016). Çağlak et al. (2018) reported that seafood retailers in Rize lived in an average of 90-130 m2 open space of houses, with a 55% proportion. Surveyors indicated living in 90-130 m2 houses with 65.04%. This finding was in accordance with previous studies. The heating type of the the accommodations was mostly stove, which represented as highest proportion (70.49%). Çağlak et al. the (2012,2018) reported the heating type as a stove in 53% and 77.5% respectively, in two different studies. It is estimated that the higher proportion of the stove as a heating type, higher than the Türkiye average (57.1%), may be due to type of the accommodation, region, and availability of natural gas in the neighbourhood. Additionally, similar results were reported in previous studies.

5. Conclusion

Consequently, the majority of the seafood processing plant factories workers were detected to gain minimum wage as a result of socio-economic investigations carried out. Additionally, the vast majority of the workers were satisfied with their job and almost all were covered under the social security umbrella. The high proportion of workers under social security was observed mainly due to legal obligations in regard to improvements to workers' welfare as well as employer sensitivity. Rental expenses, observed in a low proportion of the workers, caused to stipulate economical drawbacks significantly. As the vast majority of the workers were higher than 30 years old indicating the importance of experience in the seafood processing sector as well as suggesting there may be problems for experienced workers in near future in case of a decrease in new attendees. The vast majority of the workers were male indicating the regional seafood processing factories required mostly body strength, operating in fresh and frozen seafood technologies. Survey results revealed the increasing use of the internet both in Türkiye and globally, led to reading newspapers online thus resulting in a decline in hard copy newspapers. Similar to all sectors, semi-skilled employee requirement is a problem for the seafood processing sector. The number of persons living in the same accommodation was detected as 3-5, as indicated by national reality. The number of persons working in the same house higher than 2 indicated economic problems. As the increase of employees' salaries is dependent on employers' economic power, incentives supporting employers will surely reflect on employees' income. The increase in seafood processing product range will stimulate profitability and employment. Therefore, incentives offered by authorized organizations towards delicate products and novel processing technologies will stimulate the sector for innovator solutions instead of regular fresh and frozen seafood processing. Seafood technology is an innovative, dynamic sector, if supported financially, has significant potential to eliminate socioeconomic problems. Developments in seafood technology-related sectors emphasize the importance of fisheries for both Türkiye and the world.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	M.A.A.	E.Ç.
С	50	50
D	50	50
S	50	50
DCP	50	50
DAI	50	50
L	50	50
W	50	50
CR	50	50
SR	50	50
РМ	50	50
FA	50	50

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

It is an article produced from a master study using research data before 2019. For this reason, ethics committee approval is not required.

References

- Altunel AT. 2021. Socio-economic analysis of ecotourism activities of women in Turkey. Pakistan J Crop Sci, 58(4): 1099-1105. DOI: 10.21162/PAKJAS/21.801.
- Anonymous. 2016. Türkiye Mobilya Sanayicileri Derneği. URL: https://www.projepedia.com/real estate-news/residencesmeter-square-size is decreasing, 7800.html (access date: May 15, 2022).
- Aydın İE. 2016. A study on social media use of university students: the example of Anadolu University. Selcuk Univ J Soc Sci Inst, 35: 373-386.
- Bektaş ZK, Miran B, Uysal ÖK, Günden C, Cankurt M. 2010. Consumer preferences for frozen food products: the example of İzmir province. J Ege Univ Fac Agri, 47: 211-222.
- Buruç O. 2018. Socio-economic analysis of fisheries farmers in Bitlis province. MSc thesis, Munzur University, Institute of Science, Tunceli, Türkiye, pp: 58.
- Çağlak E, Karslı B, Çağlak S. 2012. Socio-economic analysis of employees in fisheries processing facilities: the example of Balıkesir. Istanbul Univ J Fisher, 27: 47-67.
- Çağlak E, Karslı B, Gürdal AA, Kara B. 2018. Socio-economic status of employees in fisheries retail stores in Rize province. J Anatolian Environ Anim Sci, 1: 34-41.

- Çakır H, Güllü K, Kacur M, Tanyeri E. 2009. Readers perceptions of local newspapers. E-J New World Sci Acad, 4(1): 1-24.
- Çapkın K, Korkut SO, Şevik R, Olgun M. 2008. Determination of the structure and problems of fisheries processing facilities in Beyşehir region. J Fisher Sci, 2: 466-474.
- Çeliker SA, Korkmaz Ş, Demir A, Gül U, Dönmez İ, Kalanlar Ş. 2008. Socio-economic analysis of fisheries in the Mediterranean region. Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs Project; Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 5.
- Çeliker SA, Korkmaz Ş, Dönmez D, Gül U, Demir A, Genç Y, Kalanlar Ş, Özdemir İ. 2006. Socio-economic analysis of fisheries fishing enterprises in the Black Sea Region. Agricultural Economics Research Project, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 259-270.
- CFRI. 2012. Eastern Black Sea Region fisheries sector report. Central Fisheries Research Institute. Contract No: TR90/11/DFD/21, Trabzon, Türkiye.
- Charles AT. 1988. Fishery socioeconomic: a survey. Land Econ, 64: 276-295. DOI: 10.2307/3146251.
- Coa F, Su L. 2007. Internet Addiction among Chinese adolescent: prevalence and pyschological features. Child Care Health Devel, 33(3): 275-281.
- Çoban A, İleri T, Temir M. 2018. A descriptive look at the reading habits of university students: the case of Amasya University. J Soc Sci, 5(19): 50-69.
- Çolakoğlu FA, İşmen A, Özen Ö, Çakır F, Yığın Ç, Ormancı HB. 2006. Evaluation of fisheries consumption behaviors in Çanakkale. Ege Univ J Fisher Aqua Sci, 23(1/3): 387-392.
- Daşdan K, Çeliker SA, Arısoy H, Ataseven Y, Dönmez D, Gül U, Demir A, Korkmaz Ş. 2008. Socio-economic analysis of fisheries fishing enterprises in the Aegean Region. Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs Project, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 120.
- Diktaş-Bulut N, Bozlar T, Daşdemir İ. 2021. The economic analysis of blueberry (Vaccinium corymbosum L.) cultivation in eastern Black Sea Region of Turkey. Pakistan J Crop Sci, 58: 5. DOI: 10.21162/PAKJAS/21.9922.
- Doğan K, Yıldız M. 2008. Socio-economic analysis of employees in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) farms in the Marmara region. Istanbul Univ J Fisher, 23: 17-27.
- Doğan K. 2010. Socio-economic analysis of Istanbul fisheries cooperatives and their partners. J Fisher Sci, 4(4): 318-328. DOI: 10.3153/jfscom.2010035.
- Drewes E. 1982. Three fishing villages in Tamil Nadu: A socioeconomic study with special reference to role and status of women. Bay of Bengal Programe Development of Small-Scale Fisheries, BOB P/WP/14, GCP/RAS/040/SWE, VI+5, Madras, India, pp: 11.
- Durak H, Seferoğlu SS. 2016. Social media literacy and analysis of social network usage patterns in Turkey. Int J Soc Stud, 9(46): 526-535. DOI: 10.17719/jisr.20164622619.
- Duyar HA, Bayraklı B. 2005. Situation of fisheries processing facilities in Sinop province and solution suggestions. Su Ürün Müh Der Derg, 24(4): 53-56.
- Emre Y, Diler İ, Sevgili H, Oskay DA, Sayın C. 2007. Investigation of structural characteristics of trout farms in the Mediterranean region. Turkish J Aqua Life, 3-5(5-8): 476-489.
- Eser BY, Terzi H. 2008. Minimum wage problems and suggestions in Turkey. J Econ Admin Sci, 22(1): 129-143.
- Freire J, Garcia-Allut A. 2000. Socio-economic and biological causes of management failures in European artisanal fisheries: the case of Galicia (NW Spain). Marine Pol, 24(5): 375-384. DOI: 10.1016/S0308-597X(00)00013-0.
- GDFA. 2021. General directorate of fisheries and aquaculture fisheries statistics. Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 21.

- Güngör G, Özen SS, Güngör H. 2007. Socio-economic structure of fisheries in the Sea of Marmara and marketing of seafood, Tekirdağ province coastline example. J Tekirdag Fac Agri, 4(3): 311-325.
- Hunte W, Oxenford HA. 1989. The economics of boat size in the Barbados pelagic fishery. Proceedings of the Thirty Ninth Annual Gulf and Caribbea Fisheries Institute, Hamilton, Bermuda, 39: 230-239.
- İnce M, Koçak MC. 2017. Social media usage habits of university students: the example of Necmettin Rrbakan University. Karabük Üniv Sos Bil Enst Derg, 7(2): 736-749.
- Köse S, Gökoğlu N, Tokay SM, Baygar T, Özer NP, Çolakoğlu FA, Meriç İ, Alçiçek Z. 2010. Situation, problems and solution suggestions of fisheries processing sector. Turkish Chamber of Agricultural Engineers VII. Technical Congress, January 2010, Proceedings Book I: Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 821-852.
- Kutlu S, Balçık G. 2007. Development of fisheries processing and evaluation facilities in our region. Dolphin Res Bull, 7: 1-16.
- Leung L. 2004. Net-generation attributes and seductive properties of the internet as predictors of online activities and internet addiction. Cyberpsychol Behav, 7(3): 333-348. DOI: 10.1089/1094931041291303.
- MAF. 2019. Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry General Directorate of Food and Control Food Safety Information System. http://ggbs.tarim.gov.tr/ (access date: June 16, 2020).
- OKUYAY. 2019. Platform for disseminating reading culture. Turkey reading culture survey, İstanbul, Türkiye, pp: 100.
- Sabatella E, Franquesa R. 2004. Manual of fisheries sampling surveys: methodologies for estimations of socio-economic indicators in the Mediterranean Sea, studies and reviews. General Fisheries Commission for the Mediterranean, No. 73. Food and Agriculture Orgnization, Rome, Italy, pp: 37.
- Sağlam EN, Karadal E. 2016. Socio-economic structure of Mediterranean coastline sea fishing. Egirdir Fac Fisher J, 12(2): 158-169. DOI: 10.22392/egirdir.285172.
- Sarıözkan S. 2016. Fisheries sector and economy in Turkey. Turkish J Aqua Sci, 31(1): 15-22. DOI: 10.18864/TJAS201602.
- Saxena BS. 1989. Use of Economic parameters in investment decision-making for the utilisation of living resources of seas in India. Proceedings of the National Symposium on Utilisation of Living Resources of the Indian Seas, December 19-21, Bombay, India, pp: 343-350.
- SEKAM. 2011. Center for social and economic and cultural research. Family Symposium in a Drowning World, 2-3 April, Istanbul, Türkiye, pp: 49.
- Simkova B, Cincera J. 2004. Internet addiction disorder and chatting in the Czech Republic. Cyberpsychol Behav, 7(5): 536-539. DOI: 10.1089/cpb.2004.7.536.
- Supongpan M, Chamchang C, Boongerd S, Loawapong A. 2000. Technical report on the anchovy fisheriers in the Gulf of Thailand. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United

Nations/FISHCODE Project GCP/INT/648 NOR: Field Report F-6 Supplementary (En) Rome, Italy, pp: 105.

- TEPGE/AEPDI. 2021. Ürün raporu su ürünleri. Tarımsal Ekonomi ve Politika Geliştirme Enstitüsü / Agricultural Economic and Policy Development Institute, Yayın No: 338, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 338.
- Tokaç A, Dinçer T. 2011. Fisheries: establishing sustainable networks between Turkey and Italy Project. Gap Analysis Report, İzmir, Türkiye, pp: 121.
- TSI. 2013. Turkish Statistical Institue. Household Information Technologies Usage Survey Bulletin Number, 13569, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 1.
- TSI. 2015. Turkish Statistical Institue. Marriage and Divorce Statistics 2015, Newsletter, Issue: 21516, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 1.
- TSI. 2016a. Turkish Statistical Institue. Household Information Technologies Usage Survey Bulletin Number 21779, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 1.
- TSI. 2016b. Turkish Statistical Institue. Family with Statistics, Newsletter Number 24646, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 1.
- TSI. 2017a. Turkish Statistical Institue. Fisheries Statistics Bulletin Number 27669, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 1.
- TSI. 2017b. Turkish Statistical Institue. Printed Media Statistics Bulletin Number 24673, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 1.
- TSI. 2018. Turkish Statistical Institue. National Education Statistics Database. Ankara, Türkiye, https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Kategori/GetKategori?p=Egitim,-Kultur,-Spor-ve-Turizm-105 (access date: June 16, 2020).
- TSI. 2022. Turkish Statistical Institue. Fisheries Statistics Bulletin Number 45745, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 1.
- Ünal V. 2004. Viability of trawl fishing fleet in Foça (the Aegan Sea), Turkey and some advices to central management authority. Turkish J Fisher Aqua Sci 4: 93-97.
- Uzmanoğlu S, Soylu M. 2006. Socio-economic structure of marine fisheries in Karasu (Sakarya) region. Ege Univ J Fisher, 23(1/3): 515-518.
- Villareal LV, Kelleher V, Tietze U. 2004. Guidelines on the collection of demographic and socio-economic information on fishing communities for use in coastal and aquatic resources management. Food and Agriculture Organization Fisheries Technical Paper, No: 439. Rome, Italy, pp: 120.
- Waters JR, Rhodes RJ, Wiggers R. 2001. Description of economic data collected with a random sample of commercial reef fish boats in the Florida Keys. United State Department Commerce, NOAA Technical Report NMFS 154 A Scientific Paper of the Fishery Bulletin, Florida, US, pp: 45.
- Yahşi SR. 2000. Su ürünlerimizin AB'ye ihracatı ve kalite kontrol sistemi. Tarım ve Köyişleri Bakanlığı Derg, 136: 19-22.
- Yücel Ş. 2006. Orta Karadeniz Bölgesi balıkçılığı ve balıkçıların sosyo-ekonomik durumu. Ege Univ J Fisher Aqua Sci, 23(3): 529-532.

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1224288



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578

Research Article Volume 6 - Issue 2: 183-189 / March 2023

ECONOMIC DAMAGE LEVELS OF THE GREEN SHIELD BUG (Palomena Prasina, Hemiptera: Pentatomidae) IN TÜRKİYE HAZELNUT ORCHARDS

İslam SARUHAN^{1*}, Mehmet Kürşat TUNÇER², Celal TUNÇER¹

¹Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Plant Protection, 55270 Samsun, Türkiye ²Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Agricultural Economics, 55270 Samsun, Türkiye

Abstract: The green shield bug (GSB) (Palomena prasina, Hemiptera: Pentatomidae) is one of the most important pests of hazelnut in Turkish hazelnut orchards. This harmful insect causes serious yield and quality losses by feeding directly on fruits every year. Their feeding on hazelnut fruits may result in nut abortion (empty nuts) in early season and cause shriveled and corked kernels in kernel expansion period. Insect pest management must be decided by depending on insect population level in field according to integrated pest management concept. Economic injury level (EIL) and economic threshold (ET) are the main essential points that must be considered in decision for insect pest control. Thus, it can be possible to protect the natural environment from unnecessary pesticide applications and the growers from high production costs. Therefore, determining of economic decision levels for controlling pests is critical. This is especially important for hazelnuts, which are grown on hundreds of thousands of hectares of land in Türkiye, and for the GSB, a serious pest that requires a couple of chemical applications per year. The economic decision levels vary mainly due to insect species and their damage potential, crop value in the market and control costs which can change over years and countries. This study aimed to calculate the EIL and ET values for GSB control action in hazelnut orchards in Türkive using new economic market data. Based on previous research, the authors calculated the yield loss caused by one individual of GSB in this study. Direct yield loss, as well as quality and quantity losses from damaged kernels, were calculated separately and then totaled. The data, including crop value and control costs necessary for calculation was updated from free market sources. In the calculation of EIL/ET, the most common formula (EIL= C/ VxbxK) was used. As a result, the economic threshold for a single insecticide application was determined to be3.8 insect/da (=0.1 ha) for K=1 value and 4.76 insect/da for K=0.8 value, for single insecticide application. When ET values were converted in traditional Turkish approach that is special for hazelnut orchards; ET values for K=1 and K=0.8 were 0.76 insect/ 10 "hazelnut "ocak" (traditional growing of hazelnut plants together) and 0.95 insect/ 10 "ocak" respectively. If 2 applications per year for GSB were considered, ET values were doubled up and calculated to be 7.6 and 9.47 insect/da for K=1 and K=0.8 value respectively, and thusly 1.52 and 1.9 insect/ 10 "ocak" for Türkiye. For practical reasons, the ET value for GSB was recommended as 10 insect/da and 2 insects/10 "ocak", for Türkiye, with consideration of 2 chemical applications and K= 0.8.

Keywords: Economic injury level, Economic threshold, Filbert, Insect, Pest, Control

*Corresponding author: Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Plant Protection, 55270 Samsun, Türkiye				
E mail: isaruhan@omu.edu.t	tr (İ. SARUHAN)			
İslam SARUHAN	b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0229-9627	Received: December 26, 2022		
Mehmet Kürşat TUNÇER	b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9016-3633	Accepted: February 13, 2023		
Celal TUNÇER	b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9014-8003	Published: March 01, 2023		
Cite as: Saruhan İ, Tunçer MK, Tunçer C. 2023. Economic damage levels of the green shield bug (Palomena prasina, Hemiptera: Pentatomidae) in Türkiye				
hazelnut orchards, BSLA	gri 6(2): 183-189			

1. Introduction

Türkiye is the world's main hazelnut producer by a ratio of nearly 62%, producing 665.000 tons per year of in shell hazelnuts over an area of around 735.000 hectares. Türkiye also supplies 75% of the world's hazelnut demand. Hazelnut export earnings contribute significantly to the national economy and the livelihoods of 500.000 hazelnut producer families (Hekimoglu and Altindeger, 2019; Bars, 2021). Despite the fact that Türkiye is the world's primary hazelnut supplier by far, productivity per area is lower than some other hazelnut growing countries. In addition to insufficient and/or inappropriate agricultural practices, harmful mites and insects are among the most important factors causing yield and quality losses in hazelnut production in Türkiye

(Tuncer and Ecevit, 1997). There are more than 10 important insect and mite species in Turkish hazelnut orchards. Some of them cause substantial damage every year, but others only in years with high populations. Some pests affect only yearly production and kernel quality, while others threaten the plant's health (Tuncer et al., 2005).

Stink bugs (Hemiptera: Pentatomidae) are one of the most important pests of hazelnut in Turkish hazelnut orchards as well as in other hazelnut-producing countries. These bugs damage hazelnuts during the growing season by feeding on hazelnut fruits and thereby significantly reduce the crop productivity and kernel quality of hazelnuts, thereby causing serious economic damage (Tavella and Gianetti, 2006; Hedstrom et al., 2014; Ak et al. 2018; Bosco et al., 2018; Ozdemir et al., 2021). More than 15 stink bug species (Hemiptera: Pentatomidae, Coreidae, and Acanthosomatidae) have been found in hazelnut orchards of different hazelnut countries, affecting the hazelnut production qualitatively and quantitatively (Tavella et al., 1997; Tavella et al., 2001; Tuncer et al., 2005; Ozdemir et al., 2022). Stink bugs' damage can result in fruit abortion during the early season, empty and gray-black nuts during the early nut development stage, shriveled kernels during the early kernel development stage, and corked kernels during the kernel expansion period (Kurt, 1975; Tavella et al., 2001; Tuncer et al., 2005; Saruhan and Tuncer, 2010; Hamidi et al., 2022). Their damage is usually unnoticed before harvest since fruit abortion and empty nuts without kernels are not linked with bug activity by most farmers. But after shelling the fruits in the factory, shriveled and corked kernels become very evident, especially the later damage type, which causes problem in exporting because of poor kernel quality (Tuncer et al., 2005). The population density of GSB can reach up to 50 insects/10 plants in some provinces in Türkiye (Saruhan and Tuncer, 2009). Corked kernels differ from healthy kernels in shape, taste, and color, and they lose significant economic value. Tuncer et al. (2005) reported that the corked kernel damage made by stink bugs in Turkish hazelnut orchards could reach up to 20%, with around 5% of the corked kernels as an average of a 5year sampling from hazelnut factories after harvest. The percentage of corked kernels in hazelnut orchards caused by these bugs has been determined as 6.50, 3.16 and 9.82%, respectively, for 2014-2016, with an extensive sampling throughout Türkiye (Ak et al., 2018). The most prevalent stink bug species affecting hazelnut production in Türkiye is the green shield bug (GSB) Palomena prasina L. (Hemiptera: Pentatomidae), with a density of nearly 85% of total stink bug population, and its population level is generally over the economic damage threshold (Tuncer et al., 2005). Despite the fact that GSB is a polyphagous pest that feeds on a variety of plants, economic damage to other crops is rare. The green shield bug produces one generation per year. Nymphs and adults feeds on hazelnut fruits from early May until harvest time in hazelnut orchards (Saruhan et al., 2022). Chemical application is the only option during bug feeding activity on fruits for control of this insect, and it is recommended to repeat it 2-3 times during the season. Many growers avoid applying the pesticides because of their cost, and in addition, they don't bear the cost of quality loss since they usually sell the hazelnut in shell. But in recent years, many hazelnut trading companies began to consider the kernel quality for price assessment during the buying process. As a result, growers are expected to adopt more chemical control measures in the coming years, in addition to the rising price of hazelnuts in the country. Implementing chemical control for GSB can ensure high productivity and quality in one aspect, but it also means higher control costs for

expressed as the number of insects per unit area. The economic threshold is defined as "the pest density at which management action should be taken to prevent an increasing pest population from reaching the economic injury level" (Pedigo, 1996). The economic injury level is usually expressed as a pest density and is generally derived from insect and yield-loss relationships in field studies (Mumford and Knight, 1997). Simply, the value of crop loss caused by one insect can be estimated using the market value of crops, and then EIL is calculated by dividing control cost by the value of crop loss per area so that the smallest number of insects causing yield losses equals management cost. The calculation of ET can be a little complex, but in practical reason, many times the ET may be set equal to EIL or at some fixed point below it. In many studies, the relationship between the yield losses and the insect numbers in that field has been considered for the calculation of EIL for practical reasons (Pedigo, 1996; Mumford and Knight, 1997). Some insect damage and control cost parameters are used in EIL calculations. The damage caused by a single pest is critical data in calculation of EIL and ET, but it is also being by far the most difficult to calculate. The other main parameters are the market value of the crop and management costs needed in EIL calculations. Since economic levels are very dynamic and management costs (pesticide, labor, and amortization of equipment) and the market value of crop may vary due to years and countries, recalculation of EIL and ET values are needed over time (Pedigo, 1996). On the other hand, the evaluation of economic decision levels for some indirect pests may be difficult, while it is easier for direct pests (Mumford and Knight, 1997). Because of difficulties in determining EIL and ET for some pests in practice, nominal decision levels made by experts on related pest can be used (Pedigo, 1996). The green shield bug is a direct pest on hazelnut, feeding on fruits directly. Therefore, the estimation of crop loss caused by one insect is considerably more applicable than that caused by many other indirect pest species, despite the fact that it is time consuming. Green shield bug damage potential on hazelnut has been quantified directly by field cage studies, and it was determined that GSB caused damage to 175 nuts per insect during the growing season, resulting in direct loss and a negative 184

growers and environmental costs for all communities,

especially when such a large hazelnut area of the country

considered. Hence, determining the action threshold for

Before making a control decision for a pest control

program, some economic evaluations must be considered

because economic decision levels are the keystone of

insect pest management programs. Two main

evaluations, the economic injury level (EIL) and the

economic threshold (ET), which are closely related- are

fundamental concepts in an integrated pest management

(IPM) approach. The economic injury level is defined as

"the lowest numbers of insects that will cause yield

losses equal to the insect management costs" and

GSB control in hazelnut orchards becomes more critical.

impact on nut quality (Saruhan and Tuncer, 2010). In this study, we aimed to calculate EIL and ET values by using injury potential determined before by the authors for GSB depending on the new economic data, including crop value and control costs such as pesticide prices, labor for applications, and other costs.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Damage Measurements for GSB

In this study, the yield loss caused by one GSB individual on hazelnut was derived and slightly changed from a previous study done (Saruhan, 2004) by one of the authors. The above-mentioned study used sleeve cages in hazelnut orchards to directly quantify GSB feeding damage because adults and nymphs of GSB feed on hazelnut fruits. In mentioned study; the experiments were carried out in a hazelnut orchard in Samsun in 2002-2003 by using 275 sleeve cages (175 cages for insects and 100 cages for control). After placing the nymphs and adults as pairs into 15-20 different sleeve cages for 15-day at each time of period during the fruit growing season (from May to mid-August), the insects were removed from the cages, and these cages were kept until harvest without insects. With nearly 15-day intervals, this procedure was repeated with different sleeves and insects until harvest, so the fruits in cages objected to insect feeding during the entire growing season. Some sleeve cages were kept without insects as control until harvest. At the harvest time, fruits from each cage were examined and evaluated according to different types of GSB damage on the fruits. Data on damage obtained from cages with insects were corrected for damage types that showed significant difference from control cages by using the Schneider-Orelli formula (Puntener, 1981). Some type of damages was needed to be corrected because they were also observed in control cages naturally but insect feeding increased these types of damages On the other hand corked kernel type of damage is only caused by insect feeding on kernels, not occurring in control cages (Saruhan and Tuncer, 2010) therefore it was not corrected. Consequently, it was determined that one individual of GSB damaged 175 fruits during the whole growing season, including all damage types. Early abortion, empty fruits, and shriveled kernel type of damage (produced the fruits without kernel or non-marketable kernels); therefore, the data for these damage types was considered a direct loss in the calculation. Because corked kernels caused solely by insect feeding do not completely lose their economic value but do lose some of their market value, the percent value loss of the kernels in the market was corrected prior to EIL and ET calculations. Preliminary EIL calculation had been attempted but was not published (Saruhan, 2004). In this study, the data was evaluated again by a slightly different method in order to calculate the damage of GSB.

2.2. Calculation of Economic Decision Levels

Different but mostly similar methodologies are followed

BSJ Agri / Íslam SARUHAN et al.

to calculate EIL and ET by researchers for practical reasons, although there are some others with theoretical approaches (Kranz, 1992). In this study, the method and formula (EIL= C/VxbxK) given by Pedigo (1996) were used for calculation. Economic data such as the market value of hazelnut and control costs for EIL and ET calculations were derived and used from open market sources for 2018-2022.

3. Results

The Damage potential of GSB, market value of hazelnut and control costs, including pesticide, labor, and amortization of pesticide application equipment are needed to calculate EIL and ET levels. All these determinants must be evaluated and used in the calculation according to the formula provided by Pedigo (1996) as follows in Equation 1:

$$EIL=C/VxIxDxK$$
 (1)

Where, V= market value per unit of produce (for example, \$/kg), I= injury units per insect per production unit (for example, percent defoliation/insect/ha), D= damage per unit injury (for example, kg lost/ha/percent defoliation), C= cost of management per area (for example, \$/ha), K= proportionate reduction in potential injury or damage (for example, 0.8 for 80%).

But, with some pests, particularly pierce-sucking insects, the separation of the I and D variables presents a problem. In those cases, a coefficient b represents the loss per insect substituted, and calculation formula changes as follows in Equation 2 (Pedigo, 1996):

$$EIL = C/VxbxK$$
(2)

where, *b* = yield loss/ insect.

In this study, since GSB is a direct pest and yield loss per insect (b) was determined using sleeve cages in the field, later form of the formula was used in the calculation. But, here, the b coefficient was calculated from sleeve cages in which the insects fed on fruits during the growing season, instead of obtaining it from regression analyses of data by using experimental populations and measuring yield losses, as calculated in some studies.

3.1 Market Value of Hazelnut (V)

Of the primary factors, crop value (V) is one of the most variable, and it alone accounts for much of the change in EILs. The relationship between EIL and market value is inverse; as market value increases, EIL decreases and vice versa. As a general rule, estimates for EIL calculation are based on current or past records of crop value (Pedigo, 1996). Since hazelnut prices in the market usually fluctuate depending on years and yield per year, the mean of last five year's market value for in shell hazelnut was considered in the EIL/ET calculation for GSB in this study (Table 1). Following a five-year price evaluation of in-shell hazelnuts on the market, the market value in Türkiye was estimated at 3.3 \$/kg and used in the EIL calculation.

Table 1. M	arket value	of hazelnut	in	shell	in	last	five
years in Tür	kiye (Turkis	h Grain Boar	d)				

Year	Market value of hazelnut in shell (\$/kg)	
2018-2019	2.93	
2019-2020	3.34	
2020-2021	3.73	
2021-2022	3.50	
2022-2023	3.01	
Mean market value of hazelnut in shell for five years=		
3,30 \$		

3.2. Management Costs (C)

Management costs include labor (pesticide application), used materials (insecticide), and equipment (insecticide application sprayer). Management costs also tend to be fluctuate over time, especially in developing countries that has high inflation like Türkiye. This fluctuation is generally caused by market inflation and labor costs, depending on economic improvement, but not crop value. The chemical control cost for GSB in hazelnut orchards was calculated in this study using variables gathered from the open market for two main insecticides registered on the market (Table 2). Recommended doses and prices of two registered insecticides on the market for GSB were used in the calculations. The daily labor cost for a pesticide applicator was estimated to be around 27 \$ per day (equivalent to 500 TL per day in 2022), and one pesticide applicator can spray 10 da (equivalent to 1 ha) per day. For amortization of spraying equipment, a regular atomizer cost was obtained from the market and it is assumed that economic life of an atomizer is 10 years and that it is used in spraying 100 da/year by any grower.

3.3. Damage per Insect

In EIL calculations, estimating the loss per insect is by far the most difficult. Crude estimates of losses are usually obtained from field observation and experimentation on a crop at specific times, after which yield is measured and losses caused by insects are determined (Pedigo, 1996). Green shield bug damage potential (loss per insect) had been determined before by Saruhan (2004) through semi-field sleeve cage experiments in hazelnut orchards in 2002-2003.

In this study, damage per insect value of GSB on hazelnut was recalculated on an individual insect basis from the mentioned study in order to use it in our calculations. Damage types including "light brown and shrunken at the bottom", "gray-black nuts without kernels", empty nuts, shriveled kernels, and corked kernels caused by GSB were considered to calculate damage per insect Because some types of damage occurred in control cages as well, with the exception of corked kernels, the damage values for insect cages were corrected by the Schneider-Orelli formula according to the control if there was a significant difference. If there was no difference between insect and control cages for any type of injury in each year, that injury type was not included in the calculations. Afterwards, mean values of damage per insect were calculated using the result of both years for each damage type.

It was calculated that the mean total direct yield loss (no kernel or no marketable kernel) was 165.01 nuts/insect and corked kernels (quality and quantity loss) was 104.2 per insect (Table 3). Quantitative loss was also calculated for corked kernels using the mean weights of kernels from sleeve cages with insect and control cages. Normal kernel weights, without insect damage were, 0.96, 1.23 and 0.97 gr for çakıldak, palaz and tombul hazelnut cultivars respectively (mean value =1.05 gr/kernel). Corked kernel weight values for these 3 cultivars were 0.79, 0.96, and 0.82 gr (mean value =0.86 gr/corked kernel. As a result, the quantity loss of corked kernels was calculated as follows in Equation 3.

Quantity loss ratio of corked kernels =
$$\frac{\text{Mean normal kernel weight}(\text{gr}) - \text{mean corked kernel weight}(\text{gr})}{\text{Mean normal kernel weight}(\text{gr}) \times 100}$$
 (3)
Quantity loss ratio of corked kernels = 1.05-0.86/1.05 x 100 = 18%.

Table 2. Chemical control cos	t parameters for green	ı shield bug manag	ement in hazelnut orchards	(2022)

Costs for insecticide application	Registered insecticide-I	Registered insecticide-II	
-	120 g/l Indoxacarb +	218 g/l Acetamiprid + 37 g/l	
	12 g/l Beta-cyfluthrin	Emamectin Benzoate	
Recommended dose/da	50 ml/da	50 ml/da	
Price/unit	16.13 \$	14.78 \$	
Pesticide cost/da	2.02 \$	2.96 \$	
Labor cost/da	2.7 \$	2.7 \$	
Equipment amortization cost/da	0.5 \$	0.5 \$	
Fuel cost /da	0.5 \$	0.5 \$	
Total cost/da	5.72 \$	6.66 \$	
Average cost/da for single application	6.1	9 \$/da	
Average cost/da for two applications	12	2.38 \$	

Years	s No.of fruits/damage type					
	Light brown and	Gray-black nuts	Empty	Shriveled	Corked kernels	
	shrunken at the bottom	without kernels	nuts	kernels	(kernel/insect)	
2002	111.5	-	74.85	-	139.5	
2003	71.27	21.35	30.68	20.34	68.96	
Mean	91.39	10.68	52.77	10.17	104.2	
	Total direct yield lo	oss: 91.39+10.68+52.7	7+10.17= 165	5.01 nuts	Quality and quantity loss= 104.2 kernels	

Table 3. Different damage types of GSB on hazelnut fruits in sleeve cages (after data corrected with control bySchneider-Orelli formula, the data was modified and recalculated from Saruhan, 2004)

3.4. Economic Injury Level and Economic Threshold

In this study, *b* value was assessed by using direct quantification through measurements of damage from sleeve cages with insect during growing season (Equation 4).

$$EIL=C/Vx b x K$$
⁽⁴⁾

where b = yield loss/ insect. This formula provided by Pedigo (1996) was modified so that direct nut loss and corked kernel damage caused by GSB were separated, yield loss = direct yield loss + quality and quantity loss of corked kernels (b = b1 + b2), as written in Equation 5:

$$EIL = C/Vx(b1+b2)xK$$
(5)

3.4.1. Calculation of b value

b1= direct yield loss, was calculated as 165.01 nut/insect above (3.3), meaning nut loss without any marketable kernel.

b2 (quality and quantity loss of corked kernels) = corked kernels from GSB feeding have still got market value, even at reduced prices. In the calculation of b2, 25% of market value loss from corked kernels was assumed, plus 18% of weight loss from corked kernels. The number of corked kernels per insect was calculated above as 104.2 In this case;

b2= the number of corked kernels/insect x weight loss induce for corked kernels x ratio of market value loss (%) b2= 104.2 x 1.18 x 0.25= 30.74 nut loss/insect,

Indices 1.18 for b2 to add 18% weight loss to the total corked kernel loss were used. *b* (Total loss) = b1 (direct yield loss) + b2 (quality and quantity loss of corked kernels). In our case;

b= 165.01 + 30.74 = 195.75 hazelnut fruit/ insect.

It was estimated that 1 kg hazelnut in shell consists of almost 535 hazelnut fruits, as a mean of the three main cultivars (çakıldak, palaz and tombul) of Türkiye (Demir, 2004). In this case, the yield loss in kilograms can be calculated as follows:

Yield loss in kg= 195.75/535= 0.37 kg hazelnut in shell loss / insect.

3.4.2. Calculations of EIL and ET (If K value is considered =1)

Here K value (amount of damage avoided because of control action) was considered as equal to 1. Using determinants calculated, EIL can be determined as follows:

EIL= 6.19 (cost/da) / 3.3 (market value/kg) x 0.37 kg (loss/insect) x 1= 5.07 insect / da

Traditionally ET is given per 10 "ocak" (ocak= a group of plants planted together) and there are almost 50 "ocak" in one decare area, as a mean in Türkiye. It means 10 "ocak" is nearly 0.2 decare. In this case; EIL can be expressed for Türkiye as follows:

EIL = 5.07 insect per da x 0.2 da= 1.01 insect / 10 "ocak" We can use EIL as our "action levels (=ET)" or we may choose to set ET at levels conservatively below the EIL, say at 75 percent of EIL (Pedigo, 1996);

ET=5.07 x 0.75= 3.80 insect/ da, or

ET=1.01 x 0.75= 0.76 insect/ 10 "ocak", for Türkiye.

EILs values are calculated as 10.14 insect/da and 2.03 insect/10 "ocak", and ETs are values 7.6 insect/ da and 1.52 insect / 10 "ocak", if two insecticide applications are made per growing season (Table 4).

Table 4. Economic decision levels for Green shield bug on hazelnut were calculated for Türkiye

No.of chemical application/season	Economic decision	K-value	Insect/da	Insect/10 "ocak"
	EII	1	5.07	1.01
	EIL	0.8	6.34	1.27
Single spray	ГT	1	3.80	0.76
	EI	0.8	4.76	0.95
	EII	1	10.14	2.03
T	EIL	0.8	12.63	2.53
Two spray	FT	1	7.6	1.52
	Εl	0.8	9.47	1.9

3.4.3. Calculation of EIL and ET (If K value is considered =0.8)

K value (amount of damage avoided because of control action) can be considered equal to 1 in some cases, but it is often hard to determine the real effectiveness of control action in the field. Therefore, we assumed here as another option that K value is equal to 0.8 (80% damage avoided because of control action). In this case;

EIL= 6.19 / 3.3 x 0.37x0.8= 6.34 insect /da

EIL = 6.34 insect /da x 0.2 da= 1.27 insect/ 10 "ocak"

ET= 6.34 x 0.75= 4.76 insect/ da, or

ET=1.27 x 0.75= 0.95 insect/ 10 "ocak",

EILs values are calculated as 12.63 insect/da and 2.53 insect/10 "ocak", and ETs are values 9.47 insect/ da and 1.9 insect / 10 "ocak", if two insecticide applications are made per growing season (Table 4).

4. Discussion and Conclusion

The green shield bug is one of the most important pests of hazelnut in some hazelnut growing countries, such as Türkiye and Italy. This insect pest is abundant in hazelnut orchards during the nut development in season. Therefore, it affects yield seriously as well as kernel quality. Corked kernels, in particular, are the main source of complaints from Turkish hazelnut importers because poor quality of the kernels affects the confectionary products that use hazelnut kernels.

For both reasons- crop yield and quality- proper management of GSB in hazelnut orchards is critical. Unfortunately, chemical control is the only viable option for dealing with this insect. Therefore, the growers currently must rely on chemical control to prevent the damage caused by GSB. In hazelnut orchards, 2-3 applications for GSB are recommended in a year (Anonymous, 2017). Using pesticides incurs additional costs for growers as well as environmental costs for the community. In the IPM concept for agricultural pests, decision-making for chemical control is an essential step to reduce the mentioned costs. For this reason, EIL and ET decision levels are calculated and used to take a control action for any pest. EIL/ET are dynamic action levels and may change due to the market value of the crop and control costs over time. The main critical data that is very important in EIL/ET calculations based on experiments is the damage potential of insects which may vary less overtime. Since damage assessment of any insect in the field to calculate EIL/ET levels is mostly hard, time consuming, and costly, these attempts are very limited with some agricultural pests. Moreover, GSB is a serious pest only in few hazelnut producing countries, so there is only one preliminary attempt (unpublished, Saruhan, 2004) for EIL/ET study about it yet. In this study, the data regarding damage per insect was derived and recalculated from mentioned study.

Currently, in Türkiye the nominal ET accepted for GSB in practice is 1 insect / 10 "ocak" (Anonymous, 2017). For a single insecticide application, ET was calculated to be 3.8

insects per day (0.1 ha) for K = 1 and 4.76 insects per day (0.8 ha) for K = 0.8 in this study. When ET values were converted into the traditional Turkish unit that is special for hazelnut orchards; ET values for K=1 and K=0.8 were 0.76 and 0.95 insect per 10 "ocak", respectively. ET values were naturally doubled when two chemical applications for GSB per year were considered. Here we found that for a single insecticide application, the ET value is about 1 insect/ 10 "ocak" (for K=0.8), similar to the nominal threshold that is currently used in practice.

We propose that two chemical applications in a year and the K= 0.8 option are more realistic approaches to determining the ET value of GSB for the following reasons: Tuncer et al. (2009) found from field experiments on stink bugs that one chemical application was not satisfactory to reduce corked kernel damage, but two applications produced 60-80% effectiveness in the field. Moreover, this insect is very migratory, so it can travel among host plants and orchards, and the damaging period can extend up to three months in hazelnut orchards. On the other hand, hazelnut growing areas are usually rainy, and this can affect the success of chemical control. In fact, another application for GSB is advised in late May to prevent early season losses, but this application time overlaps with the hazelnut weevil control period (that is the key pest of hazelnut in Türkiye and chemical control is made for it) and is rarely used.

Therefore, considering two chemical applications and 80% effectiveness in control (K=0.8) for calculating the ET value for GSB is a more practical approach. Therefore, we recommend the ET value for GSB as 9.47 insect/ da, about 10 insect/da and 1.9 insect/ 10 "ocak" about 2 insect/10 "ocak", for Türkiye.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	İ. S.	M. K. T	С.Т.
С	30	30	40
D	30	30	40
S	30	20	50
DCP	60	20	20
DAI	20	40	40
L	20	30	50
W	30	30	40
CR	30	30	40
SR	30	30	40
PM	70	00	30
FA	70	00	30

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

Ethics committee approval was not required for this study because of there was no study on animals or humans.

References

- Ak K, Tuncer C, Baltacı A, Eser U, and Saruhan I. 2018. Incidence and severity of stink bugs damage on kernels in Turkish hazelnut orchards. Acta. Hortic, 1226: 407-412.
- Anonymous. 2017. Fındık entegre mücadele teknik talimatı. T.C. Gıda Tarım ve Hayvancılık Bakanlığı, Tarımsal Araştırmalar ve Politikalar Genel Müdürlüğü, Bitki Sağlığı Araştırmaları Daire Başkanlığı, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 134.
- Bars T. 2021. 2021 yılı fındık ürün raporu. Tarım Ekonomi ve Politika Geliştirme Enstitüsü, Tepge Yayın No: 340, Ankara, Türkiye, pp: 26.
- Bosco L, Moraglio ST, Tavella L. 2018. Halyomorpha halys, a serious threat for hazelnut in newly invaded areas. J Pest Sci, 91: 661-670.
- Demir T. 2004. Türk fındık çeşitlerinin RAPD markörleri ve pomolojik özellikleri ile tanımlanarak çeşitler arasındaki akrabalık ilişkilerinin belirlenmesi. MSc Thesis, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Institute of Science, Samsun, Türkiye, pp: 21.
- Hamidi R, Calvy M, Valentie E, Driss L, Guignet J, Thomas M, Tavella L. 2022. Symptoms resulting from the feeding of true bugs on growing hazelnuts. Entomol Exp Appl, 170: 477-487.
- Hedstrom CS, Shearer PW, Miller JC, Walton VM. 2014. The effects of kernel feeding by *Halyomorpha halys* (Hemiptera: Pentatomidae) on commercial hazelnuts. J Econ Entomol, 107(5): 1858-1865.
- Hekimoglu B, Altindeger M. 2019. Fındık sektörünün mevcut durumu. Samsun Valiliği İl Tarım ve Orman Müdürlüğü Strateji Geliştirme Birimi, Samsun, Türkiye, pp: 50.
- Kranz J. 1992. Economic thresholds, risk analysis, and other decision variables in crop protection. In: Franz J, Holz F editors. Basics of decision-making and planning for integrated pest management (IPM). Food and Agriculture Development Centre, Berlin, Germany, 1st ed., pp: 190.
- Kurt MA. 1975. Doğu Karadeniz fındıklarında zarar yapan Palomena prasina (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae)'nın biyoekolojisi üzerine araştırmalar (Gıda-Tarım ve Hayvancılık Bakanlığı, Zirai Mücadele ve Zirai Karantina Genel Müdürlüğü, Samsun Bölge Zirai Mücadele Araştırma Enstitüsü Yayınları, No: 25, Samsun, Türkiye, pp: 57.
- Mumford, JD, Knight JD, 1997. Injury, damage and threshold concept. in methods in ecological and agricultural entomology. CAB International, New York, USA, 1st ed., pp: 387.

- Ozdemir IO, Tuncer C, Ozer G. 2021. Molecular characterization and efficacy of entomopathogenic fungi against the Green shield bug *Palomena prasina* (L.) (Hemiptera: Pentatomidae) under laboratory conditions. Biocont Sci Tech, 31(12): 1298-1313.
- Ozdemir IO, Tuncer C, Solmaz FG, Ozturk B. 2022. The impact of green shield bug (*Palomena prasina* [Hemiptera: Pentatomidae]) infestation on antioxidant enzyme activities in hazelnut (*Corylus avellana* L. cvs. 'Tombul,' 'Palaz' and 'Çakıldak'). Erwerbs-Obstbau, doi: 10.1007/s10341-022-00713-7.
- Pedigo LP. 1996. Entomology and pest management. Prentice Hall Inc., New York, US, 2nd ed., pp: 679.
- Puntener W. 1981. Manual for field trials in plant protection, Agricultural Division. Ciba-Geigy Ltd, Basel, Switzerland, 1st ed., pp: 205.
- Saruhan I, Tuncer C. 2009. Population density and fluctuations of green shield bug (*Palomena prasina* L. Heteroptera:Pentatomidae) in hazelnut orchards of Turkey. Acta Hort, 845: 549-554.
- Saruhan I, Tuncer, C. 2010. Fındık Kokarcası, *Palomena prasina* L. (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae)'nın fındık meyvelerindeki zarar şekli ve oranı. Anadolu Tar Bil Derg, 25(2): 75-83.
- Saruhan I. 2004. Researches on biology, population density and economic damage threshold of green shieldbug (*Palomena prasina* L. Heteroptera: Pentatomidae) in hazelnut orchards of Black Sea region. PhD Thesis, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Institute of Science, Samsun, Türkiye, pp: 95.
- Saruhan I. Ozdemir IO. Tuncer C. 2022. Fecundity and clutch size of green shield bug [*Palomena prasina* L. (Hemiptera: Pentatomidae)]. Uluslararası Tar Yaban Hayatı Bil Derg, 8(3): 484-490.
- Tavella L, Arzone A, Miaja ML, Sonnati C. 2001. Influence of bug (Heteroptera: Coreidae and Pentatomidae) feeding activity on hazelnut in northwest Italy. Acta Hortic, 556: 461-468.
- Tavella L, Arzone A, Sargiotto C, Sonnati C. 1997. Coreidae and Pentatomidae harmful to hazelnuts in Northern Italy. Acta Hortic, 445: 503-510.
- Tavella L. Gianetti G. 2006. Le principali avversità del nocciolo in Piemonte. Petria, 16(1): 45-58.
- Tuncer C, Ecevit O. 1997. Current status of hazelnut pest in Türkiye. Acta Hortic, 445: 545-552.
- Tuncer C, Saruhan I, Akça I. 2005. The insect pest problem affecting hazelnut kernel quality in Turkey. Acta Hortic, 686: 367-375.
- Tuncer C, Saruhan I, Akca I. 2009. Chemical control of true bugs (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae, Acanthosomatidae and Coreidae) for preventing kernel damage in hazelnut orchards of Turkey. Acta Hortic, 845: 487-494.

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1225668



Research Article

Volume 6 - Issue 2: 190-196 / March 2023

SOME PATHOGENIC BACTERIA ISOLATED AND IDENTIFIED FROM TRADITIONALLY PRODUCED TURKISH WHITE CHEESE

Emine MACIT^{1*}

¹Atatürk University, Faculty of Tourism, Department of Gastronomy and Culinary Arts, 25240, Erzurum, Türkiye

Abstract: In this study, some pathogens in the microbiota of traditionally produced White Cheese were determined by molecular methods and their phlogenetic similarities were analyzed. Eight different pathogenic species (*Citrobacter braakii, Hafnia paralvei, Klebsiella grimontii, Kosakonia sacchari, Raoultella ornithinolytica, Raoultella terrigena, Serratia liquefaciens, Serratia plymuthica*) were detected in the White Cheese, and *Klebsiella grimontii* was the dominant species. No study was found in the present studies in which *Klebsiella grimontii* was detected in cheese or dairy products. In addition, no study was found in which *Kosakonia sacchari,* another pathogenic bacterium we detected, was also detected in cheese. This study has revealed some pathogenic microflora in traditionally produced White Cheese.

Keywords: White Cheese, Pathogen microflora, Genotypic characterization, Klebsiella grimontii				
*Corresponding a	uthor	Atatürk University, Faculty of Tourism, Department of Gastronom	y and Culinary Arts, 25240, Erzurum, Türkiye	
E mail: emine.maci	t@ata	ıni.edu.tr (E. MACİT)		
Emine MACİT	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6734-1633	Received: December 28, 2022	
			Accepted: February 24, 2023	
			Published: March 01, 2023	

Cite as: Macit E. 2023 Some pathogenic bacteria isolated and identified from traditionally produced Turkish White Cheese. BSJ Agri, 6(2): 190-196.

1. Introduction

White Cheese, also known as Tin Cheese, Pickled Cheese or Edirne Cheese, ranks first among local cheese varieties in Türkiye in terms of both production and consumption (Hayaloglu et al., 2002; Üçüncü, 2013). White Cheese production constitutes 60-80% of the total cheese production, and the average production amount in 2021 is 330.000 tons (TUIK, 2020).

This cheese is produced in many countries around the world and is known by different names. For example, it is called as Feta in the Mediterranean region, in Denmark and Greece, Bjalo Salamureno Sirene in Bulgaria, Domiati in Egypt, Brinza in Israel, Teleme in Romania, and Queso Blanco in the United States (Bintsis and Papademas, 2002; Hayaloglu et al., 2002). Although it is produced in every region in Türkiye, the majority of the production is carried out in the Thrace, Marmara, Aegean and Central Anatolia regions (Üçüncü, 2013).

White Cheese can be produced from pasteurized or unpasteurized milk without the use of starter culture, mostly in small dairy farms (Karakuş and Alperden, 1995; Hayaloglu et al., 2002). However, while high quality raw milk is mostly used for drinking purposes, the raw milk used for cheese making is generally of low quality. Especially in businesses where traditional and local type cheese are produced, cleaning and hygiene rules are not followed. and thus. properly microorganism contamination is generally highly possible in such environments. As a result of failing to comply with hygiene requirements during milking, transportation and storage, many microorganisms can be transmitted to milk. The sale of cheeses produced using these milks without enough maturation poses a health risk to consumers due to the potential of pathogenic microorganisms to survive (Çelik and Uysal 2009; Yerlikaya, 2018).

The aim of this study is to detect some pathogens in the microbiota of traditionally produced White Cheese.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. White Cheese Production and Sampling

The cheese variety that ranks first in terms of production and consumption amount in Türkiye is White Cheese. Production is generally carried out in small dairy farms by using unpasteurized milk without the use of starter culture (Üçüncü, 2013). The milk is mostly handprocessed by the cheese master. The milk that will be used to make cheese is put through the clarifier, heated to the proper temperature for fermentation, and then transferred to the fermentation tank. Rennet is added to the extent that it will coagulate in 150 minutes. The clot is divided into pieces of 2 cm³ and allowed to rest for 5 to 10 minutes to release the whey. 100 kg of cheese milk are put under 20 kg of pressure until the output of whey stops. After the weights are removed, the cheese mass is cut into 7×7×7 cm³ blocks and placed in 14% brine for two hours. Salted blocks are rested in tin cans in rows for 24 hours. In this way, boxes are packed with 17 kg of cheese in 4 days. Each layer is salted, then the cans are filled with brine (10g/100 ml) and sealed (Hayaloglu et al., 2002; Öner et al., 2006).

In this study, 10 White Cheese samples obtained from production and sales points in 4 different provinces of

Türkiye were used.

2.2. Isolation of Bacteria

10 grams of cheese samples were weighed into sterile stomacher bags and homogenized by adding 90 ml of sterile physiological saline water (PSW). Then, dilution was prepared from the samples, and $10^{\text{-}4}$ and $10^{\text{-}5}$ dilutions were planted on Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA) (MERCK) media by spread plate method, and the petri dishes were incubated aerobically at 37 °C for 48 hours. At the end of the incubation process, morphologically different colonies that developed in the solid medium were selected, taken into the Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB) (MERCK) medium, and incubated at 37 °C for 48 hours. At the end of this period, inoculation was made from TSB medium again to TSA medium with the drawing method and after incubation at the same temperature and time, single colonies were transferred to TSB and incubated again under the same conditions. Stock solutions of bacteria isolates were prepared using 40% glycerol to be used in subsequent analyses and stored at -80 °C.

2.3. Genomic DNA Isolation

Bacterial cells were collected by centrifugation at 7000xg for 10 minutes by taking 1 ml of the culture grown overnight in the liquid culture medium into an Eppendorf tube. After removing the supernatant in the tube, 450 µl of TE (Tris EDTA) buffer was added to the collected cells, and the cells were suspended in the buffer with a gentle mixing. 50 µl of 10% SDS (Sodium dodecyl sulfate) and 2 μ l of Proteinase K were added to the suspension cells and incubated for one hour at 37 °C after being thoroughly vortexed. After the incubation, 0.5 ml of phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) mixture was added, the tubes were mixed thoroughly by turning them upside down and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature. After the content was centrifuged at 7000xg for 10 minutes at 4 °C, the supernatant-like high-viscosity gel was collected using an automatic pipette and transferred to a new tube. The process was repeated once again with a mixture of phenol-chloroform-isoamyl alcohol, and the supernatant-like high viscosity gel formed was collected in a new tube. 50 µl of 5M sodium acetate was added to the content and mixed gently. It was gently mixed by inverting it after adding 1 ml of isopropanol until white strands of the precipitated DNA appeared. After the content was centrifuged at 3000xg for 10 minutes, the supernatant was removed, 0.5 ml of 70% ethanol was added to the obtained pellet, and after light mixing, and the content was centrifuged at 3000xg for 10 minutes. After removing the supernatant, the contents were kept at 37 °C for 5-10 minutes to remove the remaining ethanol, and then the DNA obtained was suspended by adding 100 μl of distilled water (İspirli, 2016).

2.4. Genotypic Characterization by RAPD-PCR

RAPD-PCR was carried out to perform preliminary discrimination from bacteria. PCR mixtures were prepared containing 5×PCR buffer for Taq polymerase (Promega), 2.5mM of dNTPs (Bioline), 1.5 U Taq polymerase (Promega) and 25 pMol of primer M13

BSJ Agri / Emine MACİT

(GAGGGTGGCGGTTCT). PCR was performed with the following program: 35 cycles of 94 °C for 1 min, 40 °C for 20 s, then final step of 72 °C for 2 min. The PCR products were separated with electrophoresis on 1.6% (w/v) agarose gels at 90 V for 1.5 h and band patterns were visualised (Yuvaşen et al., 2018).

2.5. PCR Amplification of the 16S rRNA Region

After RAPD-PCR, 16S PCR was applied for colonies that were thought to be genotypically different. Universal primers AMP F (5'-GAGAGTTTGATYCTGGCTCAG - 3') and AMP R (3'- AAGGAGGTGATCCARCCGCA - 5') were used to amplify the 16S rRNA gene of the strains. PCR mixes were prepared by adding 1µl template DNA, 4 µl MgCl₂, 0.4 µl dNTPs, 1.0 µl 20 mM AMP-F primer, 1.0 µl 20 mM AMP-R primer, 0.25 µl Taq polymerase and up to 50 µl of sterile H₂O. PCR program was performed as 1 cycle at 95 °C for 2 min, 25 cycles at 95 °C for 30 s, at 55 °C for 20 s, at 72 °C for 30 s and at 72 °C for 5 min final extension.

PCR products were run on a gel to control amplification, and amplicons were sent to Medsantek (Istanbul) for sequencing.

2.6. Nucleotide Access Numbers and Phylogenetic Analysis

The 16S sequences of 20 pathogenic bacteria identified in this study were deposited in Genbank with different nucleotide access numbers. Phylogenetic trees were constructed using MEGA4.

3. Results and Discussion

As a result of genotypic characterization of 80 bacteria isolated from artisanal Turkish White Cheese, 20 pathogen bacteria belonging to 8 different species were determined (Table 1).

Citrobacter braakii, Hafnia paralvei, Kosakonia sacchari were detected in one sample, *Raoultella ornithinolytica, Raoultella terrigena, Serratia liquefaciens, Serratia plymuthica* in two samples and *Klebsiella grimontii* in six samples (Table 1). *Klebsiella grimontii* was the prominent pathogen bacteria in White Cheese samples (Figure 1). 1 species in each of samples 6 and 9, 2 species in each of 2 and 8, 3 species in each of 3 and 7, and 5 species of potentially pathogenic bacteria were detected in sample number 1. No pathogenic bacteria were detected in samples 4, 5 and 10.

2 isolates each of *Citrobacter braakii, Raoultella ornithinolytica, Raoultella terrigena, Serratia liquefaciens, Serratia plymuthica,* 1 each of *Hafnia paralvei, Kosakonia sacchari* and 8 isolates of *Klebsiella grimontii* were identified. Figure 2 shows phylogenetic relationships of 16S rRNA genes of different pathogenic bacterial strains isolated from Turkish White Cheese. According to Figure 2, it is seen that *Klebsiella grimontii, Kosakonia sacchari, Citrobacter braakii, Raoultella terrigena, Raoultella ornithinolytica, Serratia liquefaciens* clustered together, *Hafnia paralvei* and *Serratia plymuthica* separated from them and formed a different group.

Isolate	GAN	Pathogenic bacteria	Codes of cheese samples									
code												
			1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
TS-1	OP985117	Citrobacter braakii	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TS-3	OP985119	Citrobacter braakii	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TS-7	OP985122	Hafnia paralvei	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TS-4	OP985120	Klebsiella grimontii	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TS-14	OP999616	Klebsiella grimontii	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TS-31	0P985316	Klebsiella grimontii	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
TS-33	OP985319	Klebsiella grimontii	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
TS-34	OP985321	Klebsiella grimontii	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
TS-35	OP999353	Klebsiella grimontii	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
TS-52	OP999367	Klebsiella grimontii	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-
TS-60	OP999613	Klebsiella grimontii	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
TS-2	OP985118	Kosakonia sacchari	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TS-36	OP999354	Raoultella ornithinolytica	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
TS-54	OP999630	Raoultella ornithinolytica	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
TS-9	OP985123	Raoultella terrigena	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TS-18	OP985300	Raoultella terrigena	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TS-11	OP999365	Serratia liquefaciens	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TS-56	OP999370	Serratia liquefaciens	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
TS-17	OP985318	Serratia plymuthica	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TS-43	OP999366	Serratia plymuthica	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 1. Distribution of pathogenic bacterial strains detected in traditionally produced Turkish White Cheese samples

 (+and - represent the presence of each species within the corresponding sample).

GAN= genbank accession number



Figure 1. Proportional distribution of pathogenic bacteria in the Turkish White Cheese.



Figure 2. Dendrogram showing multiple sequence alignment of 16S rRNA gene sequences of pathogenic bacteria isolated from Turkish White Cheese.

Citrobacter braakii is a common species in nature and is a pathogen primarily found in the human urinary tract (Trivedi et al., 2015; Castellanos-Rozo et al., 2021). Gupta et al. (2003) reported that Citrobacter spp. are increasingly observed in infections in immunocompromised individuals. C. braakii was detected in artisanal Italian ewe's cheese by Chaves-López et al. (2006); Paipa Cheese by Castellanos-Rozo et al. (2021); May Bryndza Cheese, a traditional Slovak cheese produced from unpasteurized sheep's milk, by Pangallo et al. (2014); Bryndza Cheese by Kačániová et al. (2020). In a study examining the distribution of Enterobacteriaceae and some pathogenic microorganisms in unbranded

BSJ Agri / Emine MACİT

White Cheese samples sold in Ankara, 1.16% of *C. braakii* was detected (Uraz et al., 2009). This species is considered to be among the species responsible for early swelling in soft and semi-hard sheep milk cheeses made from raw milk (Tabla et al., 2016).

Putrescine is one of the most common Biogenic amines (BAs) in foods. An excessive presence in foods can cause food poisoning due to increased toxic effects of other BAs and reduced food quality. This amine is potentially carcinogenic and *C. Braakii* was shown by Wunderlichová et al. (2014) among the microorganisms that form Putrescine in foods. Chaves-López et al. (2006) conducted a study on pasteurized skim milk and reported that *C.*

braakii that was isolated from artisanal Italian ewe's cheese produced biogenic amines such as Ethylamine, Tryptamine, Phenylethylamine, Putrescine, Cadaverine, Spermidine, Spermine, especially histamine.

Hafnia paralvei was another species detected in the White Cheese samples. Hafnia, a gram-negative enterobacterium genus, is frequently found in raw milk and raw milk cheeses. Although most gram-negative bacteria in cheese are known to cause spoilage and off-flavor, Hafnia species such as *H. alvei* and *H. paralvei* can improve cheese flavor by producing sulfur aromatic compounds (Yoon et al., 2016).

Characterization of autochthonal *Hafnia* spp. *strains isolated* from *Spanish soft raw* ewe's *milk PDO cheeses* for use as co-cultures resulted in the determination of *H. paralvei* as the dominant species among 17 different species (Merchán et al., 2022). *Hafnia paralvei* was among the species identified by Castellanos-Rozo et al. (2021) in cheeses produced by formal and informal micro-enterprises in Paipa, Colombia. The report stated that, for Paipa cheese, the focus should be on improving the hygienic quality of the milk from which it is made.

In a study on the safety evaluation of Gram-negative bacteria associated with traditional French cheeses, it was stated that 4 species, including *H. paralvei*, were highly toxic to larvae, suggesting the presence of potential lethal factors in these strains. To the best of our knowledge, no foodborne poisoning or outbreak has been reported for any GNB (gram negative bacteria) of the genera/species related to the strains tested so far. The role of multiple dynamic interactions between cheese microbiota and GIT (gastrointestinal tract) barriers may be key factors explaining the safe consumption of the corresponding cheeses (Imran et al., 2019).

Klebsiella grimontii was the most prevalent species in the White Cheese samples examined in the present study. It was detected in six samples. Eight of the 20 isolates identified were *K. grimontii*. *K. grimontii* is a newly described species of the genus Klebsiella in the family Enterobacteriaceae. The genus Klebsiella contains important human and animal pathogens and is widely observed in the environment and animals (Passet and Brisse, 2018). *K. grimontii* is associated with human infections such as bacteremia and soft tissue infection and has been found in France, Germany, and South Africa (Liu et al., 2018). In the present studies, no study was found in which this species was detected in cheese or dairy products.

Another pathogenic bacterium detected in cheese samples was *Kosakonia sacchari. K. sacchari* was isolated from the surface sterilized stem of sugarcane cultivar in China in 1994 (Chen et al., 2014). It was isolated from surfacesterilized stem of a sweet potato by Shinjo et al. (2016). Abd-Elhafeez et al. (2018) reported that this strain leads to soft rot in potatoes. In the current studies, no study was found in which this species was detected in cheese.

Raoultella ornithinolytica was another species detected in two White Cheese samples. *R. ornithinolytica* has been

described by a number of researchers as a pathogenic species living in aquatic environments (Seng et al., 2016; Papadakis et al. 2021). This bacterium was detected in Montasio Cheese by Maifreni et al. (2013), in Bryndza Cheese by Kačániová et al. (2021a), in Parenica Cheese by Kačániová et al. (2021b), in Brazilian Minas Frescal Cheese by Teider et al. (2019), in soy cheese by Djogbe et al. (2019).

Raoultella terrigena was detected in two cheese samples. Two of the 20 isolates belonged to this species. *Raoultella terrigena* (*Klebsiella terrigena*) was previously classified in the genus Klebsiella (Podschun et al., 2000). This species is an opportunistic pathogen that is rare in nature and has a high mortality rate (up to 44%) (Lekhniuk et al., 2021).

R. terrigena was detected in raw milk by Kongo et al. (2008), in Bryndza Cheese by Pangallo et al. (2014), in the microbiota of Istrian Cheese by Fuka et al. (2010)

Serratia liquefaciens was detected in two cheese samples. *S. liquefaciens* is a psychrotrophic and highly mobile microorganism commonly found in water, soil, vegetation, and more specifically in dairy and raw milk. *S. liquefaciens* is a pathogenic microorganism that can cause infections in humans, especially in immunocompromised hosts. Pink color defects on the surface of some cheeses have been associated with this bacterium by some researchers (Martelli et al., 2020)

S. liquefaciens was the dominant species detected in the microflora of Spanish farmhouse goat's milk cheeses and Picante Cheese (a hard, very salty and spicy traditional cheese produced in Portugal from a mixture of goat's and sheep's milk) (Freitas et al., 1996; Martín-Platero et al., 2009).

Another species detected in the White Cheese samples was *Serratia plymuthica*. *S. plymuthica* is found in soil and has also been isolated from different types of food. Elshaer (2019) stated that *S. plymuthica* is rarely isolated from clinical specimens, but it should be considered as a serious multi-drug resistant pathogen, especially in immunocompromised patients. Hleba et al. (2021) reported that the isolates obtained from milk and dairy products samples were resistant to three antibiotics (Tetracyclines, Chloramphenicol, Ampicillin).

In the study where Uraz et al. (2009) examined the distribution of Enterobacteriaceae and some pathogenic microorganisms in unbranded White Cheese samples sold in Ankara, *Serratia plymuthica* was found to be 1.16%.

4. Conclusion

In conclusion, eight different pathogenic bacteria were isolated from the microbiota of traditionally produced Turkish White Cheese. Traditionally produced White Cheese may pose health risks to consumers. Therefore, it is crucial to reduce microbiological risk by taking certain measures such as making production out of pasteurized milk using starter culture, adhering more strictly to hygiene rules throughout the production, and conducting a proper maturation process.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author contributions is present below. The author reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	E.M.
С	100
D	100
S	100
DCP	100
DAI	100
L	100
W	100
CR	100
SR	100
PM	100
FA	100

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The author declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

Ethics committee approval was not required for this study because of there was no study on animals or humans.

References

- Abd-Elhafeez E, AlKhazindar M, Sayed E. 2018. Isolation and characterization of Enterobacter strains causing potato soft rot disease in Egypt. Minia Sci Bul Botany Sec, 29(1): 1-13.
- Bintsis T, Papademas P. 2002. Microbiological quality of White-Brined Cheeses: A review. Int J Dairy Tech, 55(3): 113-120.
- Castellanos-Rozo J, Pérez Pulido R, Grande M, Lucas R, Gálvez A. 2021. Potentially pathogenic bacteria isolated from Paipa cheese and its susceptibility profiles to antibiotics and biocides. Brazilian J Microbiol, 52(3): 1535-1543.
- Çelik Ş, Uysal Ş. 2009. Composition, quality, microflora and ripening of Beyaz Cheese. Atatürk Üniv Zir Fak Derg, 40(1): 141-151.
- Chaves-López C, De Angelis M, Martuscelli M, Serio A, Paparella A, Suzzi G. 2006. Characterization of the Enterobacteriaceae isolated from an artisanal Italian ewe's cheese (Pecorino Abruzzese). J Appl Microbiol, 101(2): 353-360.
- Chen M, Zhu B, Lin L, Yang L, Li Y, An Q. 2014. Complete genome sequence of Kosakonia sacchari type strain SP1T. Stand Genomic Sci, 9(3): 1311-1318.
- Djogbe AAM, Tchekessi CKC, Sachi P, Degbey C, Bleoussi R, Banon J, Yaou IB. 2019. Microbiological characterization of salty bread, soy cheese and three yogurt varieties sold in the streets of Benin. Int J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci, 8(8): 2201-2216.
- Elshaer MY. 2019. Serratia plymuthica: a true pathogen in transplant patients. PAMJ-Clinical Medic, 1: 57.
- Freitas AC, Pais C, Malcata FX, Hogg TA. 1996. Microbiological characterization of Picante da Beira Baixa cheese. J Food Protect, 59(2): 155-160.

Fuka MM, Engel M, Skelin A, Redžepović S, Schloter M. 2010. Bacterial communities associated with the production of artisanal Istrian cheese. Int J Food Microbiol, 142(1-2): 19-24. Gupta R, Rauf SJ, Singh S, Smith J, Agraharkar ML. 2003. Sepsis in a renal transplant recipient due to Citrobacter braakii. Southern Medic J, 96(8): 796-799.

- Hayaloglu AA, Guven M, Fox PF. 2002. Microbiological, biochemical and technological properties of Turkish White Cheese 'Beyaz Peynir'. Int Dairy J, 12: 635-648.
- Hleba L, Petrová J, Kántor A, Čuboň J, Kačániová M. 2021. Antibiotic resistance in Enterobacteriaceae strains isolated from chicken and milk samples. J Microbiol Biotechnol Food Sci, 2021: 19-22.
- Imran M, Desmasures N, Coton M, Coton E, Le Flèche-Matéos A, Irlinger F, Stahl V, Montel MC, Vernoux JP. 2019. Safety assessment of Gram-negative bacteria associated with traditional French cheeses. Food Microbiol, 79: 1-10.
- İspirli H. 2016. Isolation of lactic acid bacteria (lab) from Erzincan Tulum Cheese, determination by molecular methods and genetically determining of their exopolysaccharides (eps) production potential. MSc Thesis, Bayburt University, Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences, Department of Food Engineering, Bayburt, Türkiye, pp: 125.
- Kačániová M, Kunová S, Nagyová Ľ, Horská E, Haščík P, Terentjeva M. 2021b. Application of MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry for identification of bacteria isolated from traditional Slovak cheese "Parenica". J Microbiol Biotechnol Food Sci, 2021: 1294-1297.
- Kačániová M, Kunová S, Štefániková J, Felšöciová S, Godočíková L, Horská E, Nagyová L, Haščík P, Terentjeva M. 2021a. Microbiota of the traditional Slovak sheep cheese "Bryndza". J Microbiol Biotechnol Food Sci, 2021: 482-486.
- Kačániová M, Nagyová Ľ, Štefániková J, Felsöciová S, Godočíková L, Haščík P, Horská E, Kunová S. 2020. The characteristic of sheep cheese "Bryndza" from different regions of Slovakia based on microbiological quality. Potravinarstvo, 14: 69-75.
- Karakuş M, Alperden I. 1995. Effect of starter composed of various species of lactic bacteria on quality and ripening of Turkish White Pickled Cheese. LWT-Food Sci Technol, 28(4): 404-409.
- Kongo JM, Gomes AP, Malcata FX. 2008. Monitoring and identification of bacteria associated with safety concerns in the manufacture of São Jorge, a Portuguese traditional cheese from raw cow's milk. J Food Protect, 71(5): 986-992.
- Lekhniuk N, Fesenko U, Pidhirnyi Y, Sękowska A, Korniychuk O, Konechnyi Y. 2021. Raoultella terrigena: Current state of knowledge, after two recently identified clinical cases in Eastern Europe. Clin Case Rep, 9(5): e04089.
- Liu L, Feng Y, Hu Y, Kang M, Xie Y, Zong Z. 2018. Klebsiella grimontii, a new species acquired carbapenem resistance. Front Microbiol, 9: 2170.
- Maifreni M, Frigo F, Bartolomeoli I, Innocente N, Biasutti M, Marino M. 2013. Identification of the Enterobacteriaceae in Montasio cheese and assessment of their amino acid decarboxylase activity. J Dairy Res, 80(1): 122-127.
- Martelli F, Bancalari E, Neviani E, Bottari B. 2020. Novel insights on pink discoloration in cheese: The case of Pecorino Toscano. Int Dairy J, 111: 104829.
- Martín-Platero AM, Maqueda M, Valdivia E, Purswani J, Martínez-Bueno M. 2009. Polyphasic study of microbial communities of two Spanish farmhouse goats' milk cheeses from Sierra de Aracena. Food Microbiol, 26(3): 294-304.
- Merchán AV, Ruiz-Moyano S, Hernández MV, Martín A, Lorenzo MJ, Benito MJ. 2022. Characterization of autochthonal Hafnia spp. strains isolated from Spanish soft raw ewe's milk PDO cheeses to be used as adjunct culture. Int J Food Microbiol, 373: 109703.
- Öner Z, Karahan AG, Aloğlu H. 2006. Changes in the microbiological and chemical characteristicsof an artisanal

Turkish White Cheese during ripening. LWT Food Sci Technol, 39: 449-454.

- Pangallo D, Šaková N, Koreňová J, Puškárová A, Kraková L, Valík L, Kuchta T. 2014. Microbial diversity and dynamics during the production of May Bryndza Cheese. Int J Food Microbiol, 170: 38-43.
- Papadakis P, Konteles S, Batrinou A, Ouzounis S, Tsironi T, Halvatsiotis P, Tsakali E, Van Impe JFM, Vougiouklaki D, Strati IF, Houhoula D. 2021. Characterization of bacterial microbiota of PDO Feta cheese by 16S metagenomic analysis. Microorganisms, 9(11): 2377.
- Passet V, Brisse S. 2018. Description of Klebsiella grimontii sp. nov. Int J Systematic Evolutionary Microbiol, 68(1): 377-381.
- Podschun R, Fischer A, Ullmann U. 2000. Characterization of Klebsiella terrigena strains from humans: haemagglutinins, serum resistance, siderophore synthesis, and serotypes. Epidemiol Infection, 125(1): 71-78.
- Seng P, Boushab BM, Romain F, Gouriet F, Bruder N, Martin C, Paganelli F, Bernit E, LeTreut YP, Thomas P, Papazian L, Raoult D, Stein A. 2016. Emerging role of Raoultella ornithinolytica in human infections: a series of cases and review of the literature. Int J Infect Diseas, 45: 65-71.
- Shinjo R, Uesaka K, Ihara K, Loshakova K, Mizuno Y, Yano K, Tanaka A. 2016. Complete genome sequence of Kosakonia sacchari strain BO-1, an endophytic diazotroph isolated from a sweet potato. Genome Announ, 4(5): e00868-16.
- Tabla R, Gómez A, Simancas A, Rebollo JE, Molina F, Roa I. 2016. Enterobacteriaceae species during manufacturing and ripening of semi-hard and soft raw ewe's milk cheese: Gas production capacity. Small Rumin Res, 145: 123-129.

Teider PI, Ribeiro JJC, Ossugui JEH, Tamanini R, Ribeiro J, Santos

GA, Alfieri AA, Beloti V. 2019. Pseudomonas spp. and other psychrotrophic microorganisms in inspected and noninspected Brazilian Minas Frescal cheese: Proteolytic, lipolytic and AprX production potential. Pesquisa Vet Brasileira, 39: 807-815.

- Trivedi MK, Branton A, Trivedi D, Nayak G, Mondal SC, Jana S. 2015. Phenotyping and 16S rDNA analysis after biofield treatment on Citrobacter braakii: A urinary pathogen. J Clin Medic Genom, 3(1): 1000129.
- TUIK. 2020. Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu: Beyaz Peynir üretim miktarı. https://biruni.tuik.gov.tr/medas/?kn=210&locale=tr (access date: August 10, 2022).
- Üçüncü M, 2013. Süt ve mamulleri teknolojisi. Meta Basım, İzmir, Türkiye, pp: 590.
- Uraz G, Bolat S, Yilmaz E, Sezgin E. 2009. The distribution of Enterobacteriaceae and some pathogenic micro-organisms in nonbranded White Cheese samples sold in Ankara city. Int J Dairy Technol, 62(2): 255-259.
- Wunderlichová L, Buňková L, Koutný M, Jančová P, Buňka F. 2014. Formation, degradation, and detoxification of putrescine by foodborne bacteria: a review. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Safety, 13(5): 1012-1030.
- Yerlikaya O. 2018. A study on the investigation of some microbiological properties of White Cheese produced and served in Aegean and Marmara Region. Ege Üniv Zir Fak Derg, 55(4): 499-505.
- Yoon Y, Lee S, Choi KH. 2016. Microbial benefits and risks of raw milk cheese. Food Control, 63: 201-215.
- Yuvaşen A, Macit E, Dertli E. 2018. Microbial Species Playing Roles for the Production of Traditional Kasar Cheese during Pre-Maturation Period. LWT Food Sci Technol, 91: 406-413.

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1239664



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578

Research Article Volume 6 - Issue 2: 197-203 / March 2023

DISTRIBUTION OF BIRTHS OF BAFRA SHEEP REARED IN THE MEDITERRANEAN REGION DURING THE DAY

Özcan ŞAHİN1*

¹Selçuk University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Animal Science, 42130, Konya, Türkiye

Abstract: In this study, the distribution of birth data during the day (24 hours) of 651 lambs born in 2019-2022 of Bafra sheep reared in a private sheep farm in Kızıllı village of Antalya province was investigated. In the study, the effects on the distribution of births during the day and the characteristics of lambs such as birth type, sex, difficult and normal births, and dam's lactation number were investigated. The 24 hours were divided into four equal periods such as 06:01-12:00 = 1, 12:01-18:00 = 2, 18:01-00:00 = 3, and 00:01-06:00 = 4 to evaluate the distribution within the day. χ^2 (Chi-square) test analysis was used to determine whether the characteristics such as, birth type, sex, difficult and normal births, and dam's lactation number affected the distribution of births during the day. As a result of the analysis, the distribution of a total of 651 lamb births during the day was observed as 260 heads (39.9%) at 06:01-12:00, 199 heads (30.6%) at 12:01-18:00, 109 heads (16.7%) at 18:01-00:00, and 83 heads (12.7%) at 00:01-06:00, respectively. In the first and second time periods between 06:01 and 18:00, 70.5% (459 heads) of lamb births occurred. The ratio and number of lambs in sex distribution were determined as 45.8% male (298 head) and 54.2% female (353 head), respectively. The number and rate of lamb births of ewes in the first lactation comprised 366 heads and 56.2%, respectively. According to the χ^2 test of the time periods of the births, the effect of the lamb's birth type (P<0.05), difficult and normal births (P<0.05) and dam lactation number (P<0.01), were statistically significant while the effect on the lamb's sex was found to be insignificant. As a result, considering the distribution of births during the day, it was seen that they were concentrated during the daytime hours. Being more careful in herd management during these hours will increase the profitability of Bafra sheep, which is one of the sheep breeds with high fertility.

Keywords: Bafra sheep, Distribution of births, Birth type, Dystocia

•		•
*Corresponding auth	or: Selçuk University, Faculty of Agriculture, Departm	ent of Animal Science, 42130, Konya, Türkiye
E mail: osahin006@gn	nail.com (Ö. ŞAHİN)	
Özcan ŞAHİN 🛛 🔟	https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2170-2055	Received: January 20, 2023
		Accepted: February 28, 2023
		Published: March 01, 2023
Cite as: Şahin Ö. 20	23. Distribution of births of Bafra sheep reare	d in the Mediterranean region during the day. BSJ Agri, 6(2): 197-203.

1. Introduction

Sheep breeding is an important livestock activity in Türkiye due to reasons such as meadow-pasture conditions, climate and geographical structure, providing employment, reversing migration from village to city, fertility, suitability for socio-economic structure and being an alternative to beef (Güngör and Akçapınar, 2013; Aytekin et al., 2015). Domestic breeds constitute the majority of the sheep population reared in Türkiye. One of the methods to increase fertility in sheep breeding is to increase the genetic value of sheep or to improve the genotype (Sönmez et al., 2009). For this purpose, as a result of the back crossing of the Chios breed (sire line) bred in the coastal areas of the Aegean region and the Karayaka breed (dam line) in the Black Sea coastal regions, a new type called Bafra sheep, which is 75% Chios and 25% Karayaka in terms of milk and reproduction, has been obtained. Breed registration of the Bafra breed has also been made, and its breeding is becoming widespread in many regions of Türkiye due to its adaptability (Sönmez et al., 2009; Güngör and Akçapınar, 2013).

Another way to increase productivity is to provide better environmental conditions. Knowing the animal behavior makes it possible to optimize the most suitable environmental conditions. Animal behaviors; they are the physical reactions against certain stimuli with the effect of genotype and environment (Metin and Kaliber, 2011). Knowing animal behaviors enables understanding an animal's distinctive features and how it reacts to the environment (Özçalık, 2010). It is also important to optimize both productivity and animal welfare. Behavior is an important criterion in the evaluation of animal welfare and is an indicator of the quality of life perceived by the animal (Bracke and Hopster, 2006). Achieving the desired welfare levels of animals may increase with its reflection on the yields to be obtained from animals (Akbaş, 2013). Thus, considering the reactions of the animals, the most efficient methods that can result in problem-free animal breeding can be determined (Zülkadir and Karabacak, 2013). In addition, recognizing the behavior of sheep will provide some important advantages for animal breeding, care, feeding and herd management. Also, taking reproductive behavior into account will lead to an increase in fertility in animal production. Increasing the fertility of the offspring depends on the provision of suitable conditions as soon as possible after birth and the successful first hours of

BSJ Agri / Özcan ŞAHİN

the offspring's life depending on the relationship between the born offspring and the dam. Because the period from the beginning of the birth up to a few hours is a period during which there is intense stress for the dam and the lamb and various complications can occur, and the bond established between the dam and the lamb with the beginning of the birth affects the survival power of the lamb (Konyalı et al., 2004; Öztürk, 2012). It is important for breeders to know when the births take place or in what time period, to have a strong bond with the dam, to increase the viability of the born offspring, to provide a suitable environment for birth, and to implement the breeding systems in ideal criteria for animal welfare in herd management.

This study aims to examine the birth distribution of Bafra sheep with multiple births reared in Antalya province, reveal the practices that can contribute to herd management by using this distribution, and present this information to the breeders.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Materials

The animal material of the study consisted of the birth records of 651 lambs born in 2019-2022 in Altepe Bafra Sheep Breeder (ABSB) Farm located in Antalya province Kızıllı village located at 37° 6' 46.3860'' North and 30° 42' 50.2776'' East coordinates. No experimental animals were used in this study, and the records kept in the enterprise were taken into consideration.

2.2. Method

Reproduction management in the ABSB enterprise is in the form of three lambing in two years, and additional feeding is applied in order to ensure pregnancy and increase the viability of the lambs. In this context, 1 kg/day alfalfa hay and 500 g/day barley grain are given per animal. The application continues for four weeks until the mating and 4-4.5 weeks after the mating. After mating of sheep, for about 2-2.5 months, per animal is fed with only 1 kg/day alfalfa hay. According to the results of the pregnancy examination performed with ultrasound after 2.5 months, the pregnant animals are given 1 kg/head/day of dried alfalfa grass for the first month, and ryegrass dried grass instead of alfalfa hay and in addition to this, 600 g of concentrate starting from 200 g barley is given for one and a half month before the birth. Half of the concentrated feed is given as grain barley in the morning and the remaining half is given as concentrate feed in the afternoon. After giving birth and suckling their lambs, the ewes are fed with 1 kg/head/day alfalfa hay and 1 kg milk feed for two months. At the end of two months, the lambs are weaned and their dams are taken out to dry in preparation for the next mating season. 1 kg/head/day of barley straw and alfalfa are given to the dried animals. Sheep showing signs of giving birth are taken to the individual delivery compartment that has been prepared beforehand in the sheepfold (Figure 1). During the lambing period, the herd housed in the sheepfold is observed hourly and 24/7

(day/hour) by camera throughout the day until the birth is completed. Earrings of the born lambs were prepared; data on date of birth, time of birth, type of birth and sex were recorded. To evaluate the data on the distribution of births during the day, a day was divided into 4 equal time periods of six hours each. The time periods are set as 06:01-12:00=1, 12:01-18:00 =2, 18:01-00:00=3 and 00:01-06:00=4. In the birth data of Bafra sheep; the birth distributions of the characteristics such as birth type (single=1. twin=2. multiples=3, quadruplets=4, quintuplets=5), sex of lambs (male, female), veterinaryassisted birth; difficult birth (1), normal birth without any intervention (2) and the number of lactation (1, 2, 3, 4) were evaluated according to the time periods during the day.



Figure 1. Individual birth sections in Altepe Bafra Sheep Breeder Farm.

2.3. Statistical Analysis

Whether there is a dependency between the time period and other traits was checked with the help of the chisquare test. The "chisquare" package of the R software was used for all analyses (R Core Team, 2020).

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Distribution of Births during the Day

The distribution of births according to the 24-hour period of the day is given in Table 1.

According to Table 1, while the most intense (39.9%) lamb birth occurred between 06:01-12:00 hours, which is the 1st time period, the least lamb birth (12.7%) occurred in the 4th time period, between hours 00:01-06:00. Of the birth of 651 lambs, 459 (70.5%) occurred between 06:01-12:00 and 12:01-18:00 in the 1st and 2nd time periods, while 192 heads (29.5%) were born in the 3rd and 4th time periods between the hours of 18:01-00:00 and 00:01-06 00. Öztürk (2012) reported that births in Akkaraman sheep were the most intense (31.2%) between 16:00 and 22:00, and the lowest (15.6%) between 22:00 and 04:00.

Table 1. Distribution of birth during the day				
Time Period	n	%		
06:01-12:00 (1)	260	39.9		
12:01-18:00 (2)	199	30.6		
18:01-00:00 (3)	109	16.7		
00:01-06:00 (4)	83	12.7		
Total	651	100		

Karabacak and Zülkadir (2014) stated that 54% of births occurred between 04.01-16.00 and 46.07% between 16.01-04.00 in Anatolian Merinos. Büyüktekin et al. (2015) stated that 53.10% of births occurred between 04:00- 16:00, and 46.90% occurred between 10:00-04:00 in Akkaraman sheep. The same researchers also reported that the distribution of lamb births during the daytime was 56.95% between 06:00-18:00, and 43.5% in the night time between 18:00-06:00. Karabacak et al. (2015) reported that 47.30% (238 heads) of births occurred between 05:01-17:00 during the day and 52.70% (265 heads) at 17:01-05:00 at night in 503 Anatolian Merinos. Ramirez et al., (1995) determined in their study on 90 Murciano-Granadina goats that over 90% of births were between 06.00-18.00 hours and 9% between 18.00-06.00 hours. As reported by Konyalı et al. (2004), 88.1% of births in 32 heads of Turkish Saanen goats occurred between 06.00-18.00, 4.8% and 7.1% of them occurred between 18.00-24.00 and 24.00-06.00, respectively. Erduran and Yaman (2014) reported that the birth rate of 189 Saanen goats was 78.2% and 21.8% between 04:01-16:00 and 16:01-04:00, respectively. The results of the present study are consistent with some of the above-mentioned research results while they are inconsistent with others. Probably the most important reason for this is the high twin or multiple births seen in Bafra sheep. Besides; this distribution may change according to the noise pollution of the enterprise. The sheep may prefer to give birth at quieter times of the day, or perhaps the presence of the workers, their movements or the sounds they make may have created an environment of trust (no threat of predators etc.). Because in this study, the births were mostly from the hours when the working hours started at 06.01 until 18.00. In addition, it may be due to the fact that other studies were carried out in different breeds, under different care and feeding conditions, in different regions, with changes in herd management and different mating methods.

3.2. Distribution of Births during the Day According to Birth Types

The results of the distribution of births during the day by birth type are presented in Table 2.

Table 2 shows that the highest number of births (260 births) occurred between 06.01-12.00 hours. In this interval, twin births were the highest with 42.3%, followed by triplets, singletons, quadruplets and quintuplets, respectively. In general, the order of the number of births in other time periods was observed in

twin, triplet, quadruplet, singleton and quintuple births. In the study, the number and rate of lambs in the distribution of multiple births were 568 heads and 87.2%, respectively. As can be seen in Table 2, the number and proportions of twin lambs were the highest with 272 heads and 41.8%, the number and rates of lambs of triplets, quadruplets and singletons were 183 heads and 28.1%, 88 and 13.5% and 83 heads 12.7%, respectively. Quintuplet lambs showed the lowest values. The total rate of lambs with twins (41.8%) and triplets (28.1%) was 69.9% according to the time periods of the day. In addition, quintuple births were never seen between 00:01-06:00 in the time frame of births. The differences observed in the distribution of births during the day showed significant differences according to the birth type (P<0.05). Erduran and Yaman (2014) reported that the distribution of births during the day in Saanen Goats was between 10.01-16.00 at the peak time in both single (58.16%) and twin (44.51%) births. Births that occurred between 04.01-10.00 were in the second rank. This was followed by the 16.01-22.00 time frame, while the lowest birth density was between 22.01-04.00. Öztürk (2012) stated that the distribution of births according to singleton and twin birth types in Akkaraman sheep was highest in the range of 16.00-22.00 with 30.6% and 37.5%, respectively, and the lowest in the range of 22.00-04.00 (16.2% for singles and 8.3% for twins). Karabacak et al. (2012) determined that in the distribution of births during the day in Akkaraman sheep, single births were highest with 30.1% between 10.01-16.00, while the lowest between 16.01-22.00, and twin births were the highest (38.5%) in the time period of 16.01-22.00, and the lowest (15.4%) between 22.01-04.00 and 04.01-10.00. The similarities or differences in the literature reports may also be due to the yield aspects of the animal, such as the type of birth that shows differences between species and breeds.

3.3. Distribution of Births during the Day by Lamb Sex

The distribution of births during the day by lamb sex is given in Table 3.

According to the sex of male lambs in Table 3, 40.27% of total 298 male lambs were born between 06.01 and 12.00, and 32.21% were between 12.01 and 18.00, while 72.48% of male lambs were born between 06.01-18.00 in these two-time intervals. 27.52% of the remaining male lambs were born between 18.01-06.00. On the other hand, 39.66% of 353 female lambs were born between 06.01-12.00 and 29.18% between 12.01-18.00. The sum of these two time periods is 68.84%. Of female lambs, 21.16% were born between 18.01-06.00. This result coincides with the birth times of male lambs. According to the χ^2 test, the distribution of births during the day did not differ according to the sex of the lamb. In a study of Karabacak et al. (2012) on Akkaraman sheep, they found that out of total 119 lambs, the distribution of male and female lambs was 57.9% between 04.01-16.00, while the total share of both sexes was 42% between 16:01-04:00.

Zülkadir and Karabacak (2013) reported that the most intense births were in the 23.01-05.00 time period, and male and female lamb birth rates in Akkaraman sheep were 38.04% and 47.06%, respectively, and male and female lamb birth rates in Awassi sheep was 45% and 34.55%. The same researchers found the lowest birth rates in Akkaraman male lambs between 17.01-23.00 as 16.30%, and in female lambs in the range of 11.01-17.00 as 10.29%, and in Awassi breeds the lowest birth rate in the same time period in male and female lambs, between 17.01- 23.00, as %10.00 and 14.55% respectively. Büyüktekin et al. (2015) reported that in the distribution of Akkaraman sheep during the day, 51.25% were male (1069 heads) out of 2086 lambs, while 48.75% were female (1017 heads). The same researchers stated that the highest birth rate between 06:00-18:00 hours was 28.19% male lambs and 28.76% female lambs. Karabacak et al. (2015) found that the distribution of births during the day in Anatolian merino sheep was most intense between 23.01-05.00 hours, with 29.04% and 35.06% in male (97 heads) and female (122) lambs, respectively, and the lowest between 11.01-17.00 hours with male and female lamb numbers and rates with 72 (21.56%) and 67 (19.25%) lambs, respectively.

3.4. Distribution of Births during the Day According to Difficult and Normal Births

The distribution of deliveries during the day according to difficult and normal deliveries is given in Table 4.

According to Table 4, 26.1% of 651 births were difficult delivery. While 65.88% of these difficult deliveries were most intense between 06.01-18.00, it was the lowest with 10% in the 00.01-06.00 range. When we look at normal deliveries, 72.14% of them are in the range of 06.01-18.00, as in difficult births. 27.86% of normal deliveries were realized between 18.01-06.00. The rates of difficult and normal births in total cases were 26.1% and 73.9%, respectively. According to the results of the χ^2 test, the variation in the distribution of births during the day compared to difficult and normal births was statistically significant (P<0.05). There is no literature on classifying and evaluating the distribution of births during the day according to difficult or normal births. However, regarding difficult births, Konyalı et al. (2004) reported that 64% of the births were twins in their study on goats and 63% of these births were completed without assistance. According to Ali, (2011), the causes of difficult birth in sheep and goats can be maternal and fetal origin (multiple birth, lamb/kid size, fetal development disorder, anomalies, etc.).

	0	, ,	51			
Birth Type	Time Period					
bitti iype	06:01-12:00 n (%)	12:01-18:00 n (%)	18:01-00:00 n (%) 00:01-06:00 n (%)	n (%)	
Single	46 (17.7)	17 (8.5)	10 (9.2)	10 (12.0)	83 (12.7)	
Twin	110 (42.3)	88 (44.2)	48 (44.0)	26 (31.3)	272 (41.8)	
Triplet	66 (25.4)	60 (30.2)	26 (23.9)	31 (37.3)	183 (28.1)	
Quadruplets	28 (10.8)	24 (12.1)	20 (18.3)	16 (19.3)	88 (13.5)	
Quintuplets	10 (3.8)	10 (5.0)	5 (4.6)	0 (0)	25 (3.8)	
Total	260 (39.9)	199 (30.6)	109 (16.7)	83 (12.7)	651 (100.0)	
	χ ² = 25.4	37	DF= 12	P= 0.013		

Table 2 Distribution	of hirthe during	the day accor	ding to hirth types
Table 2. Distribution	of bir this during	the day accor	ang to birtir types

n= number of animals, χ^2 = Chi-square result, DF= degree of freedom, P= significance level.

Table 3. Distribution of births	during the day accord	ing to sex types of lambs

C	Time Period					
Sex	06:01-12:00 n (%)	12:01-18:00 n (%)	18:01-00:00 n (%)	00:01-06:00 n (%)	n (%)	
Male	120 (46.2)	96 (48.2)	47 (43.1)	35 (42.2)	298 (45.8)	
Female	140 (53.8)	103 (51.8)	62 (56.9)	48 (57.8)	353 (54.2)	
Total	260 (39.9)	199 (30.6)	109 (16.7)	83 (12.7)	651 (100.0)	
	χ²= 1.2	47	DF= 3 F	P= 0.742		

n= number of animals, χ^2 = Chi-square result, DF= degree of freedom, P= significance level.

Table 4. Distribution of deliveries d	uring the day according	ng to difficult and normal	deliveries lambs
---------------------------------------	-------------------------	----------------------------	------------------

Diuth	Time Period						
BIRUI	06:01-12:00 n (%)	12:01-18:00 n (%)	18:01-00:00 n (%) 00:01-06:00 n (%)	n (%)		
Difficult	54 (20.8)	58 (29.1)	41 (37.6)	17 (20.5)	170 (26.1)		
Normal	206 (79.2)	141 (70.9)	68 (62.4)	66 (79.5)	481 (73.9)		
Total	260 (39.9)	199 (30.6)	109 (16.7)	83 (12.7)	651 (100.0)		
	χ²= 13	3.634	DF= 3	P= 0.003			

n= number of animals, χ^2 = Chi-square result, DF= degree of freedom, P= significance level.

Normal and difficult birth rates were 55.9% and 44.1% in the Awassi breed (161 heads), respectively, and 73.7% and 26.3% in the Naidi breed (19 heads). The maternal and fetal birth rate in the 1st lactation was reported as 81.1% and 18.9%, respectively, and as 43.2% and 56.8%, respectively, in multiple (2nd lactation and later) lactation. Kuru et al. (2016) reported that the incidence of difficult delivery in sheep and goats varied between 3-5% on average, and the most common cause of congenital disabilities was fetal congenital disabilities with a rate of 50-60%. They stated that 35 of them were due to obstructions in the birth canal in sheep and 20% of them were due to the pelvic diameter disproportion of the fetus and the maternal in goats. Mostefai et al. (2019) stated that while the rate of fetal causes in difficult birth is 75%, it is common in 16% of maternal causes, and it constitutes 9% of both fetal and maternal causes. According to Jacobson et al. (2020), risk factors for dystocia in lambs include malpresentation, sickness, or congenital abnormalities, as well as fetopelvic disproportion, uterine inertia, the difficulty of the cervix to fully dilate, and malpresentation. High (fat) or low liveweight ewes, as well as tiny first parity ewes, all enhance the risk of dystocia. Inadequate levels of muscle glycogen, pregnancy toxicity, mineral imbalances causing hypocalcaemia, and a lack of antioxidant nutrients are all possible contributors. For this reason, sheep with single and multiple pregnancies must be fed differently.

The current study's finding of a difficult birth rate of 26.1% may be related to the high rate of multiple births in Bafra sheep, as well as the literature findings noted above.

3.5. Distribution of Births within the Time of Day According to Lactation Number

The distribution of births within the time of day according to lactation number is shown in Table 5.

In Table 5, the highest number of births occurred in the sheep in the first lactation. While 33.9% of the sheep in the first lactation gave birth between 06.01-12.00, the lowest birth rate during this lactation was 16.7% in the range of 01.01-06.00. However, the lowest birth rate (4.6%) was seen in the 4th lactation. In the fourth lactation, the deliveries were highest at 43.3% between 18.01-00.00 and lowest at 3.3% between 00.01-06.00.

As can be seen from Table 5, sheep with lactation number 1 accounted for the highest proportion of 366 lambs at

56.2%, while the least lamb birth occurred with 30 lambs with 4.6% in lactation number 4. In the time period of the day, 260 (39.9%) lambs were born between 06:01-12:00 at the most, and 83 (12.7%) lambs were born at the least between 00:01-06:00. Lamb birth of sheep with lactation number 1 and 2 was 88.8% with 578 lambs. According to the χ 2 test, it was found significant that the distribution of deliveries during the day differed according to the lactation number (P<0.01).

In the literature, few sources (Karabacak et al., 2012; Zülkadir and Karabacak, 2013; Karabacak and Zülkadir, 2014; Karabacak et al., 2015) have been found in the domestic sheep breeds regarding the distribution of births during the day according to the lactation number and maternal age was considered as factor instead of lactation number. However, Karabacak et al. (2012) observed Akkaraman sheep in all time periods of the day; 26.9% (32 heads) of sheep giving birth for the first time, 34.5% (41 heads) in the 3rd lactation, 21.9% (26 heads) in the 4th lactation, 10.9% (13 heads) in the 5th lactation and 5.8% (7 heads) in the 6th lactation. They found that the highest number of births in the time periods between 04.01-10.00 was with 43.75% (14 heads) in the 1st lactation and 36.58% (15 heads) in the 3rd lactation between 10.01-16.00. Zülkadir and Karabacak (2013) reported the number and rates of births in Akkaraman breed at 23.01-05.00, 05.01-11.00, 11.01-17.00 and 17.01-23.00 time periods, respectively, as 67 (41.88%), 38 (23.75%), 26 (16.25%) and 29 (18.13%), and in the Awassi breed as 37 (38.95%), 25 (26.32%), 21 (22.11%) and 12 (12.63%). The same researchers stated that the highest number of births in Akkaraman breed occurred in sheep in the 3rd lactation and they occurred at the rates of 37.31%, 28.95%, 42.31% and 37.93%, respectively, at 23.01-05.00, 05.01-11.00, 11.01-17.00 and 17.01-23.00 hours. In the Awassi breed, they reported 57.14% in the 1st lactation between 11.01-17.00 hours, and those in the 6th lactation and above in the 23.01-05.00, 05.01-11.00 and 17.01- 23.00 time periods, respectively, as 24.32%, 24.00% and 33.33%. Karabacak and Zülkadir (2014) stated that the highest number of births occurred between 04:01-10:00 (27.18%) when considering the distribution of births during the day according to the lactation number in the Anatolian Merino breed.

Table 5. Distribution of births within the time of day according to lactation number

Lactation		Time Period					
number	06:01-12:00 n (%)	12:01-18:00 n (%)	18:01-00:00 n (%)	00:01-06:00 n (%)	n (%)		
1	124 (33.9)	118 (32.2)	63 (17.2)	61 (16.7)	366 (56.2)		
2	106 (50.0)	66 (31.1)	32 (15.1)	8 (3.8)	212 (32.6)		
3	19 (44.2)	10 (23.3)	1 (2.3)	13 (30.2)	43 (6.6)		
4	11 (36.7)	5 (16.7)	13 (43.3)	1 (3.3)	30 (4.6)		
Total	260 (39.9)	199 (30.6)	109 (16.7)	83 (12.7)	651 (100.0)		
	χ²= 60.6	514	DF= 9 P	9= 0.000			

n= number of animals, χ^2 = Chi-square result, DF= degree of freedom, P= significance level.

The same researchers reported the highest birth rates of those in the 2nd, 3rd and 4th lactations in the same time period as 28.88%, 31.78% and 29.26%, respectively. Karabacak et al. (2015) found that the highest birth rate was 30.82% between 23.01-05.00 hours, and the highest birth rate (35.61%) was observed in 3 years old of dams. According to the results of the current study, when all lactations are taken into account, it can be stated that 56.2% of the sheep in the first lactation had the highest birth rate, and 33.8% (124/366) of them occurred in the range of 06.01-12.00 and 32.2% in the 12.01-18.00 time period. In other words, 66% of the sheep in the first lactation gave birth during working hours (06.01-12.00 and 12.01-18.00). The birth rate of sheep with two lactation numbers was in the second rank (32.6%). The total share of sheep in the first and second lactation is 88.8%. Accordingly, the sheep's birth in the first and second lactation should be followed more carefully in herd management. In both lactations, a very important part of the births occurred between 06.01-18.00, which can be considered working hours.

4. Conclusion

The distribution of a total of 651 lambs of sheep in the Altepe Bafra Sheep Breeder Farm during the day; 260 lambs were born in the 1st time periods (06:01-12:00), 199 lambs in the 2nd time periods (12:01-18:00), 109 lambs in the 3rd time (18:01-00:00) and 83 lambs were born at the 4th time periods (00:01-06:00). According to the 1st and 2nd time periods, 70.5% of the births took place during the working hours of the enterprise, and the other 29.5% occurred outside of working hours from evening to morning. One factor affecting the enterprise's profitability is fertility, and the first thing that comes to mind when it comes to the sheep farm is lamb delivery. Sucking the dam and lamb as soon as possible after birth and their communication with each other will increase the survival power of the lambs. Increasing the viability of born lambs is possible with proper herd management. Because lamb losses are one of the factors affecting enterprise profitability, minimizing the losses is an important issue. In addition, lamb vield means meat yield. Therefore, the fact that 29.5% of birth distributions occur outside of working hours from evening to morning is a considerable level that cannot be underestimated. In herd management, measures such as knowing the distribution of births during the day, controlling the animals during the peak times of birth, ensuring adequate workforce, monitoring individual care and feeding, employment of labor specific to the birth season outside of working hours will contribute to the prevention of lamb losses and increase the lamb's viability.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author contribution is present below. The author reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	Ö.Ş.
С	100
D	100
S	100
DCP	100
DAI	100
L	100
W	100
CR	100
SR	100
PM	100
FA	100

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The author declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

Data collection and animal husbandry procedures were carried out in compliance with Law No. 5996's Article 9's rules for animal welfare. This work did not involve the use of animal for laboratory studies. There is no violation of animal right. No approval from research ethics committee was required to accomplish the goals of this study. However, the use of all the animals was with the consent of the participating farmer.

Acknowledgments

The author would like to thank Altepe Bafra Sheep Breeder Farm for their contributions.

References

Akbaş A. 2013. Farm animal behaviour and welfare relationship. MAKU J Health Sci Inst, 1(1): 42-49.

- Ali AMH. 2011. Causes and management of dystocia in small ruminants in Saudi Arabia. J Agri Vet Sci, 4(2): 95-108.
- Aytekin İ, Boztepe S, Kan A. 2015. The importance of sheep breeding in reducing the dependence on cattle in red meat production. 2nd International Conference on Sustainable Agriculture and Environment (2nd ICSAE), September 30-October 3, Konya, Türkiye, pp: 1-14.
- Bracke MB, Hopster H. 2006. Assessing the importance of natural behavior for animal welfare. J Agri Environ Ethics, 19(1): 77-89.
- Büyüktekin M, Öztürk A, Zülkadir U. 2015. The distribution of birth in a day of Akkaraman ewes. 9th National Animal Science Congress, September 3-5, Konya, Türkiye, pp: 501-509.
- Erduran H, Yaman B. 2014. Effect of some environmental factors on the distribution of daily kidding of Saanen goats in farms conditions. J Bahri Dagdas Anim Res, 1(1-2): 8-12.

Güngör İ, Akçapınar H. 2013. The production traits of Bafra

sheep reared in Ankara conditions. J Lalahan Livest Res Inst, 53(2): 59-73.

- Jacobson C, Bruce M, Kenyon PR, Lockwood A, Miller D, Refshauge G, Masters DG. 2020. A review of dystocia in sheep. Small Rumin Res, 192: 106209.
- Karabacak A, Zülkadir U, Aköz M. 2012. Some reproductive behavior of Akkaraman sheep. Selcuk J Agri Food Sci, 26(4): 55-59.
- Karabacak A, Zulkadir U, Aytekin İ. 2015. Some birth behavior of Anatolian Merino sheep. 9th National Animal Science Congress, September 3-5, Konya, Türkiye, pp: 68-74.
- Karabacak A, Zulkadir U. 2014. Distribution of births by Anatolian Merino Sheep according to time of day. 12th International Academic Conference, September 1-4, Prague, Czechia, pp: 666-675.
- Konyalı A, Tölü C, Daş G, Göncü C, Savaş T. 2004. A Study on the birth and birth behavior of goats. J Agri Sci, 10(4): 397-401.
- Kuru M, Mülazımoğlu SB, Kaya D. 2016. Dystocia in sheep and goats. J Vet Sci Obstet Gynecol, 2(1): 74-77.
- Metin J, Kaliber M. 2011. Behavioral characteristics of sheep. 7. National Student Congress. May 20-22, Aydın, Türkiye, pp:

84-92.

- Mostefai E, Kouidri M, Selles SMA. 2019. Causes of sheep dystocia in Djelfa area (Algeria). Revue Marocaine des Sciences Agronomiques et Veterinaires, 7(2):284-287.
- Özçalık O. 2010. The distribution of lambings in a day of Akkaraman ewes. MSc Thesis, Selçuk University, Institute of Science, Konya, Türkiye, pp: 24.
- Öztürk A. 2012. The Distribution of lambings in a day of Akkaraman Ewes. J Inst Sci Tech, 2(2Sp: A): 113-116.
- R Core Team, 2020. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Retrieved from https:// www.Rproject. org/.
- Ramirez A, Quiles A, Hevia M, Sotillo F. 1995. Observations on the birth of goats. Canadian J Anim Sci, 75(1): 165-167.
- Sönmez R, Kaymakçı M, Eliçin A, Tuncel E, Wassmuth R, Taşkın T. 2009. Improvement studies in Turkey sheep husbandry. Uludağ Üniv Zir Fak Derg, 23(2): 43-65.
- Zülkadir U, Karabacak A. 2013. Distribution of birth within a day of Akkaraman and Awassi sheep. J Anim Prod Adv, 3(4): 120-125.

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1249974



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578

Research Article

Volume 6 - Issue 2: 204-209 / March 2023

SOME BIOLOGICAL FEATURES OF TENCH (*Tinca tinca*, L., 1758) INHABITING SIDDIKLI DAM

Okan YAZICIOĞLU1*, Ramazan YAZICI²

¹Kırşehir Ahi Evran University, Vocational School of Technical Sciences, Department of Plant and Animal Production, 40100, Kırşehir, Türkiye.

²Kırşehir Ahi Evran University, Çiçekdağı Vocational School, Department of Veterinary, 40700, Kırşehir, Türkiye

Abstract: The length–weight relationship, length–length relationship and the condition factor values of Tench, *Tinca tinca* (L., 1758) inhabiting the Siddıklı Dam was described in this study. A total of 102 specimens captured between September 2015 and August 2016 were used to conduct this study. For each individual, the total length (TL), fork length (FL) and standard length (SL) as well as body weight were measured. Sex composition was determined as 49.02 % female, 43.14 % male and %7.84 undetermined sexes. The overall sex ratio showed no significant difference from the expected value of 1:1. Total length and weight of all specimens ranged from 5.9 to 38.6 cm and from 2.4 to 783.24 g, respectively. The length-weight relationships of females and males were W = 0.0068*TL3.232 (R² = 0.991) and W = 0.0084*TL3.157 (R² = 0.997), respectively. Weight increased positive allometrically with the total length for both sexes (b> 3, P< 0.001). The mean condition factor values of female and male were 1.305 and 1.330, respectively. This study brought the first data about the species in the Siddikli Dam to the literature.

Keywords: Length-weight relationship, Condition factor, *Tinca tinca*, Sıddıklı Dam

*Corresponding author: Kırşehir Ahi Evran University, Vocational School of Technical Sciences, Department of Plant and Animal Production, 40100, Kırşehir, Türkiye			
E mail: okan.yaziciogl	u@ah	ievran.edu.tr (O. YAZICIOĞLU)	
Okan YAZICIOĞLU	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4302-2181	Received: January 20, 2023
Ramazan YAZICI	Ð	https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2274-0707	Accepted: February 28, 2023
			Published: March 01, 2023
Cite as: Yazıcıoğlu	0, Ya	zıcı R. 2023. Some biological features of Tench (<i>Tinca tinc</i> a)	1, L., 1758) inhabiting Sıddıklı dam. BSJ Agri, 6(2): 204-209.

1. Introduction

Tench (Tinca tinca (L., 1758)) is a freshwater fish of Tincidae family included Cypriniformes group (Kottelat and Freyhof, 2007). It is really hard to determine the original distribution model in continental Europe as stocking operations were done in European scale during centuries. However, it has been assumed as a native species in most of Europe. There are no natural distribution areas in Ireland, Scandinavia, Western and Southern Greece, and the Eastern Adriatic basin. It naturally spreads in regions from east of Asia to the Western Yenisey drainage south of 60° North latitudes. It has also been reported in North and South Africa, Tasmania, Australia, New Zealand, India, North America, Chile and many other regions (Kottelat and Freyhof, 2007). Besides it has been reported in North and South Africa, Tasmania, Australia, New Zeeland, India, North America, Chile and many other areas (Kottelat and Freyhof, 2007).

Tench fish deploying initially in Black Sea coasts and also Thrace, Central Anatolia and Mediterranean basin in our country has an economic significance (Geldiay and Balık, 2007). The species quite resisted to lower oxygen levels is important ecologically. They typically live in shallow lakes having intense plant cover (vegetation) and in still water. They generally spend winter as bogged down. They spawn (lay) in areas in fresh water having intense plant cover. They can live up to age 20. The Tench reaching sexual maturity between the ages 2-6 carries out reproductive activity between May and September. Detritus, adults of the species feeding with herbal and zoological materials adopt the feeding strategy mostly on molluscs (Kottelat and Freyhof, 2007). Length-weight relationship is a commonly used parameter in fishing management and giving information about biology of fish population (Bolger and Connoly, 1989). This parameter that bases mathematical relationship between length and weight of the fish can change during lifecycles of the species (Le Cren, 1951). Condition factor can be used to indicate the biological condition of a fish and even to determine sub-populations of a species (Wootton, 1998; Jones, 2002). It is also the reflection of relationship of fish welfare with biotic and abiotic environment (Keyombe et al., 2017). These parameters are needed to analyze the data is necessary for species protection biology and to make healthy comparison with other populations.

There aren't any researches about this species in Sıddıklı Dam. This study is conducted for the purpose of not only to expand the scientific knowledge about the species but also to be a source to other researches. In this study it is aimed to determine *Tinca tinca*'s length-weight relationship and condition factor.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study Area

Sıddıklı Dam (Figure 1) located in nearby Sıddıklı Küçükboğaz Village in 40 km west of Kırşehir was built for watering purposes. The surface area of Sıddıklı Dam is 1.65 km². Thanks to the dam, 4945 ha of agricultural land is irrigated. In addition, fishing activities are carried out economically in the Sıddıklı Dam (Anonymous, 2008).



Figure 1. The location of Sıddıklı Dam.

2.2. Sampling

Fish samples were collected monthly from different parts of the Sıddıklı Dam using gill nets (25×25 , 30×30 , 35×35 , 40×40 , 45×45 , 50×50 , 55×55 , 60×60 , 65×65 , 70×70 , 75×75 and 80×80 knot to knot) between September 2015 and August 2016. A total of 102 *Tinca tinca* samples were obtained during the study.

The total, fork and standard lengths of each fish were measured with an accuracy of 0.1 cm and their weights

were weighed using a digital scale with an accuracy of 0.01 g. Sex determination was made by macroscopic examination of the gonads.

2.3. Statistical Analysis

Whether there was a deviation from the expected value (1:1) in the sex ratio was checked with the chi-square (x^2) test. The following formula (equation 1) is used for length-weight relationship.

$$W = a \times L^b \tag{1}$$

In this formula, W is body weight (g), L is total length (cm), a is the intersection point and b is the slope (Bagenal and Tesch, 1978). The b coefficient obtained from the length-weight relationship was used to determine the growth type of the fish. Whether fish growth was isometric (b = 3) or allometric (b > 3, b < 3) was estimated by Student's t-test (Zar, 1999). Fulton's condition factor was calculated using the formula (equation 2) below (Ricker, 1975).

$$K = 100 \times \frac{W}{I^3} \tag{2}$$

In addition, relationships between TL vs FL, FL vs SL, and SL vs TL were determined separately according to females, males, and overall samples.

3. Results

Of the total amount of the 102 Tench obtained, 50 (49.02%) were female, 44 (43.14%) were male, and 8 (7.84%) were unidentified sex. The female: male ratio was determined as 1.00:0.88. It was determined that this ratio did not show a significant deviation from the expected 1:1 ratio (x^2 =0.383, P>0.05). The total length of the examined fish varied between 5.9 - 38.6 cm. The highest number of specimens were in the length groups of 10.0-14.9 cm (56.7%) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Length-frequency distribution of Tench inhabiting Sıddıklı Dam.

The weights of the fish ranged between 2.4-783.24 g. 76.5% of the samples weighed less than 100 g (Figure 3). The b value of the length-weight relationship was determined as 3.232, 3.157 and 3.177 in females, males all individuals, respectively. and Very strong relationships were found in the length-weight relationship (Figure 4). According to the t-test results, the b value was different from 3 in females, males and all individuals (t-test, b>3, P<0.001). It can be stated that the species performed a positive allometric growth in the Sıddıklı Dam.

The average condition factor of *T. tinca* inhabiting Siddıklı Dam was found to be 1.305 in female individuals, 1.330 in male individuals and 1.308 in all individuals. The difference between the average condition factor values of female and male individuals was not statistically significant (t-test, P> 0.05).

The relationships between total, fork and standard length in *T. tinca* individuals are shown in Table 1. It was determined that there were strong linear relationships between different length types ($R^2 > 0.993$, P < 0.001).



Figure 3. Weight-frequency distribution of Tench inhabiting Sıddıklı Dam.



Figure 4. Length-weight relationship of Tench inhabiting Sıddıklı Dam.

8 8	1 1		0		
Sex	Ν	Equation	а	b	R ²
		TL= a + bFL	0.1977	1.0289	0.998
Female	50	TL= a + bSL	0.352	1.1863	0.997
		FL= a + bSL	0.177	1.1509	0.995
		TL= a + bFL	0.1730	1.0289	0.999
Male	44	TL= a + bSL	0.445	1.1804	0.997
		FL= a + bSL	0.271	1.1468	0.996
		TL= a + bFL	0.1865	1.0288	0.993
All Samples*	102	TL= a + bSL	0.3322	1.1866	0.997
		FL= a + bSL	0.1540	1.1525	0.996

Table 1. Length-length relationship parameters of Tench inhabiting Siddıklı Dam.

*Including non-sexed samples, N= sample size, a, b and R²: the parameters of length-weight relationships.

4. Discussion

In this study, some biological characteristics of *T. tinca* species inhabiting Sıddıklı Dam were determined. The sex ratio (Female/Male) of the strain did not differ from the expected 1:1 ratio. Although the proportion of males is found to be higher in some studies (Ergüden and Göksu, 2010), the expected proportional equality has been reported in the literature in general. (Altındağ et al., 1998; Altındağ et al., 2002).

minimum length value reported in the existing literature was obtained in this study. In addition, it may be an indication that the size distribution is in a very wide range and that the findings obtained in this way reflect the various biological periods of the fish. Possible reasons for the differences in length distributions in the literature (Table 2) are sampling times, hunting methods, size types used and differences in growth according to habitats. In order to make healthier comparisons, agelength data should be obtained.

Considering the length distribution of the species, the

Table 2: Length-weight relationship parameters and average condition factor values for tench reported from different studies.

Reference	Habitat	Sex	Length Distrubition (cm)	b	R ²	Growth Type	К
Altındağ et al.,	Kesikköprü Dam	F+M	15.4-41.4	3.17	0.97	Ι	1.95
1998	Lake						
Altındağ et al.,	Bayındır Dam	F+M	15.2-34.7	3.17	-	-	1.55
2002	Lake						
Balık et al., 2009	Beyşehir Lake	F+M	9.0-37.0	2.99	0.99	Ι	1.51
Şanlı Benzer et	Hirfanlı Dam	F+M	17.9-34.2	2.93	-	-	1.09
al., 2009	Lake						
Ergüden and	Seyhan Dam	F+M	11.0-26.5	2.78	0.97	-	-
Göksu, 2009	Lake						
Ergüden and	Seyhan Dam	F+M	12.0-29.0	2.51	0.98	A (-)	1.58
Göksu, 2010	Lake						
Yılmaz et al.,	Hirfanlı Dam	F+M	13.9-30.0	3.15	0.97	A (+)	1.65
2010	Lake						
Moradinasab et	Anzali Wetlands	F+M	15.0-26.5	2.53	0.90	A (-)	1.60
al., 2012							
Kırankaya et al.,	Hirfanlı Dam	F+M	13.8-33.9	3.10	0.99	A (+)	1.58
2014	Lake						
Saylar et al.,	Hirfanlı Dam	F+M	20.5-34.5	2.41	0.84	-	1.49
2014	Lake						
Saylar et al.,	Asartepe Dam	F+M	19.0-42.9	3.05	-	A (+)	1.68
2018	Lake						
This Study	Sıddıklı Dam	F+M	5.9-38.6	3.17	0.99	A (+)	1.30

I= isometric, A (+)= positive allometric, A (-)= negative allometric, F= female, M= male, K= Fulton's condition factor, b and R²: the parameters of length-weight relationship.

In this study, strong relationships were determined between the length and weight of the species. a and b values were obtained from this relationship. The b value indicates the shape of the fish according to the conditions it is in. Although it is known that the b value varies between 2.5 and 3.5 in many fish species (Erkoyuncu, 1995), it has also been stated that it varies between 2 and 4 (Tesch, 1971). The b value of Tench was determined as 3.177 in this study. When we look at the literature, it is seen that the b value of the species is generally above 3 and exhibits allometric growth. The species generally exhibited positive allometric growth in the Sıddıklı Dam and surrounding habitats. On the other hand, in some habitats, the b value was found to be less than 3 and showed negative allometry or isometric growth (Table 2). These differences may have been caused by the number of samples, length-weight distributions, sampling time, size type used and ecological conditions of the environments. In addition, the length-weight relationship in fish varies depending on factors such as nutritional adequacy, feeding rate, gonad development and breeding period (Bagenal and Tesch, 1978).

According to the values of Fulton's condition factor, it is seen that the species cannot effectively benefit from the nutritive capacity of the Sıddıklı Dam. Having lower condition values compared to the literature may be an indicator of this (Table 2). A low condition factor may be related to predation pressure, competition for nutrients, or habitat capacity.

Length conversions are very useful for comparing the results of different studies with each other. In this study, conversions of total length-fork length, total lengthstandard length and fork length-standard length were determined. A high correlation coefficient has been obtained, and researchers will benefit from these data in future studies using different length types.

4. Conclusion

As a result, it can be said that the species has a positive allometric growth pattern in Siddikh Dam and its fatness level is lower compared to other habitats. In terms of the future of the species, its biology should be investigated in more detail and various measures should be taken in particular for the Siddikh Dam. In addition, the findings of this study will be a source for future studies.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author contribution is present below. The author reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	0.Y.	R.Y.
С	55	45
D	60	40
DCP	50	50
DAI	45	55
L	40	60
W	60	40
CR	50	50
SR	70	30

C=Concept, D= design, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision.

Conflict of Interest

The author declared that there is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Consideration

The authors confirm that the ethical policies of the journal, as noted on the journal's author guidelines page, have been adhered to. The laboratory procedures were approved by the Local Animal Care and Ethics Committee of Kırşehir Ahi Evran University (Approve number: 68429034/05, Approve date: June 15, 2015).

References

- Altındağ A, Shah SL, Yiğit S. 2002. The growth features of Tench (*Tinca tinca* L., 1758) in Bayındır Dam Lake, Ankara, Turkey. Turk J Zool, 26: 385-391.
- Altındağ A, Yiğit S, Ahıska S, Özkurt Ş. 1998. The growth features of Tench (*Tinca tinca* L., 1758) in the Kesikköprü Dam Lake. Turk J Zool, 22: 311-318.
- Anonymous. 2008. Kırşehir il çevre durum raporu. Kırşehir Valiliği, Kırşehir, Türkiye, pp: 157.
- Bagenal TB, Tesch FW. 1978. Age and growth. In: Bagenal TB, editor. Methods for assessment of fish production in Freshwaters. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK, 1st ed., pp: 101-136.
- Balık İ, Çubuk H, Çınar Ş, Özkök R. 2009. Population structure, growth, mortality and estimated stock size of the introduced Tench, *Tinca tinca* (L.), population in Lake Beyşehir, Turkey. J Appl Ichthyol, 25: 206-210.
- Bolger T, Connolly PL. 1989. The selection of suitable indices for the measurement and analysis of fish condition. J Fish Biol, 34: 171-182.
- Erguden SA, Goksu MZL. 2009. Length-weight relationships for 12 fish species caught in Seyhan Dam Lake in southern Anatolia, Adana, Turkey. J Appl Ichthyol, 25: 501-502.
- Erguden SA, Goksu MZL. 2010. Age, growth and sex ratio of Tench *Tinca tinca* (L., 1758) in Seyhan Dam Lake, Turkey. J Appl Ichthyol, 26: 546-549.
- Erkoyuncu İ. 1995. Balıkçılık biyolojisi ve populasyon dinamiği. Ondokuz Mayıs Üniversitesi Yayınları, Samsun, Türkiye, pp: 95.
- Geldiay R, Balık S. 2007. Türkiye Tatlısu balıkları. Ege Üniversitesi Su Ürünleri Fakültesi Yayınları, İzmir, Türkiye, pp: 644.
- Jones CM. 2002. Age and growth. In: Fuiman LA, Werner RG, editors. Fishery science: the unique contributions of early life stages. Blackwell Science, Bodmin, Cornwal, UK, 1st ed., pp: 33-63.
- Keyombe JL, Malala JO, Waithaka E, Lewo RM, Obwanga BO. 2017. Seasonal changes in length-weight relationship and condition factor of Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Cichlidae) in Lake Naivasha, Kenya. Int J Aquat Biol, 5: 1-11.
- Kırankaya ŞG, Ekmekçi FG, Yalçın-Özdilek Ş, Yoğurtçuoğlu B, Gençoğlu L. 2014. Condition, length-weight and length-length relationships of five fish species from Hirfanlı Reservoir, Turkey. J Fish Sci, 8: 208-213.
- Kottelat M, Freyhof J. 2007. Handbook of European freshwater fishes. Publications Kottelat, Cornol, Berlin, Germany, 1st ed., pp: 646.
- Le Cren CD. 1951. The length-weight relationship and seasonal cycle in gonad weight and condition in Perch, *Perca fluviatilis*. J Anim Ecol, 20: 201-219.
- Moradinasab GH, Daliri M, Ghorbani R, Paighambari SY,
Davoodi R, Daliri, M. 2012. Length-weight and length-length relationships, Relative condition factor and Fulton's condition factor of Five Cyprinid species in Anzali wetland, southwest of the Caspian Sea. Casp J Environ Sci, 10: 25-31.

- Ricker WE. 1975. Computation and interpretation of biological statistics of fish populations. Bulletin of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, Ottawa, Canada, pp: 400.
- Şanlı Benzer S, Gül A, Yılmaz M. 2009. Growth properties of Tench (*Tinca tinca* L., 1758) living in Hirfanlı Reservoir (Kırşehir, Turkey). Kastamonu Eğitim Derg, 18: 839-848.
- Saylar Ö, Gül A, Düzel S. 2014. Hirfanlı Baraj Gölünde yaşayan *Cyprinus carpio* L 1758 ve *Tinca tinca* L 1758'nın boy ağırlık ilişkisi ve kondisyon faktörü. Karadeniz Fen Bilim Derg, 3: 27-36.

Saylar Ö, Gül G, Yılmaz M, Gül A. 2018. Some biological features

of *Tinca tinca* population in Asartepe Reservoir (Ankara). J Agric Sci Technol B, 8: 466-471.

- Tesch FW. 1971. Age and growth. In: Ricker WE, editor. Methods for assessment of Fish production in fresh waters. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK, 1st ed., pp: 99-130.
- Wootton RJ. 1998. Ecology of teleost fishes. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Holland, 1st ed., pp: 404.
- Yılmaz S, Yazıcıoğlu O, Yılmaz M, Polat N. 2010. Hirfanlı Baraj Gölü'nde yaşayan *Cyprinus carpio* L., 1758 ve *Tinca tinca* (L., 1758)'nın boy-ağırlık ve boy-boy ilişkileri ile mevsimsel kondisyon faktörleri. Süleyman Demirel Üniv Fen Edeb Fak Fen Derg, 5: 154-162.
- Zar JH. 1999. Biostatistical analysis. Prentice Hall, New Jersey, USA, 4th ed., pp: 663.

Black Sea Journal of Agriculture

doi: 10.47115/bsagriculture.1155604



Open Access Journal e-ISSN: 2618 – 6578

Review

Volume 6 - Issue 2: 210-214 / March 2023

AN OVERVIEW OF ADDING RHO-ASSOCIATED COILED-COIL KINASE AND KNOCKOUT SERUM REPLACEMENT WITH TREHALOSE TO A LOW GLYCEROL TRIS-BASED SEMEN EXTENDER

Halil Ozancan ARSLAN^{1*}, Esin KELES¹, Behnam ROSTAMI², Damla Arslan ACARÖZ³, Ali SOLEIMANZADEH⁴, Omar BENNOUNNE⁵, Abdelhanine AYAD⁶, Meziane RAHLA⁵, Ibrahim AKINCI⁷

¹Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Agriculture and Foresty, International Center for Livestock Reserach and Training, 06850, Ankara, Türkiye

²University of Zanjan, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Animal Science, M9PX+FX7, Zanjan, Iran

³Afyon Kocatepe University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Biochemistry, 03030, Afyonkarahisar, Türkiye

⁴Urmia University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Theriogenology, 24, Urmia, Iran

⁵University of Batna, Institute of Veterinary and Agronomic Sciences, Laboratory of Environment, Health and Animal Production, 05000, Batna, Algeria 17

⁶University of Bejaia, Faculty of Nature and Life Sciences, Department of Environmental and Biological Science, 06000, Bejaia, Algeria ⁷Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Agriculture and Foresty, Poultry Research Institute, 06170, Ankara, Türkiye

Abstract: It is known that livestock animal semen is very sensitive to cold shock during freezing processes, and this sensitivity directly affects post-thaw sperm qualities which are progressive motility, mitochondrial membrane potential, sperm nuclear DNA integrity and in vitro spermatological parameters such as plasma membrane and acrosome integrity, and sperm fertility. In addition, with the sudden decrease in the total antioxidant level of the semen after thawing, the sperm cells are insufficient to tolerate their damage. Consequently, significant losses occur in sperm fertility. For this reason, researches on freezing the semen of livestock animals include semen processing; cryopreservation/cryogenic damage – thawing methods - sperm extenders, added antioxidants, the mechanisms of action and metabolic pathways of these antioxidants and physiological and metabolic parameters such as sperm fertility. It has been explained that low dose glycerol (trehalose added to increase the cryoprotectant effect) added to the extender in the freezing of livestock animal semen, knockout serum replacement (KSR) and Rho-associated coiled-coil kinase (ROCK), which are antioxidant additives, can increase the in vitro quality parameters of frozen thawed semen.

Keywords: Sperm, Extender, Glycerol, Trehalose, Antioxidant, KSR, ROCK

*Corresponding author: Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Agriculture and Foresty, International Center for Livestock Reserach and Training, 06850, Ankara, Türkiye

E mail: ozancan_arslan@ho	tmail.com (H. O. ARSLAN)	
Halil Ozancan ARSLAN	b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1262-4713	Received: August 05, 2022
Esin KELES	b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1849-5502	Accepted: January 26, 2023
Behnam ROSTAMI	b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3987-4664	Published: March 01, 2023
Damla Arslan ACARÖZ	b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9230-6725	
Ali SOLEIMANZADEH	b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1591-2198	
Omar BENNOUNNE	b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2952-6327	
Abdelhanine AYAD	https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9325-7889	
Meziane RAHLA	bttps://orcid.org/0000-0003-4672-7929	
Ibrahim AKINCI	b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3619-7146	
Charles A. L. HOLK L		

Cite as: Arslan HO, Keles E, Rostami B, Acaröz DA, Soleimanzadeh A, Bennounne O, Ayad A, Rahla M, Akinci I. 2023. An overview of adding rho-associated coiled-coil kinase and knockout serum replacement with trehalose to a low glycerol tris-based semen extender. BSJ Agri, 6(2): 210-214.

1. Introduction

The membranes of spermatozoa are physiologically fluid mosaics. This membrane structure consists of two sequential phospholipid layers surrounded by glycolipids, glycoproteins and proteins (Wolf et al., 1984). Since these thermodynamic structures consist of 65-70% unsaturated fatty acids, sperm membranes are vulnerable to cryoshock damage. In addition, irreversible phase changes occur during the freezing of semen (transition from a liquid phase to gel phase) (Khan et al., 2021; Keles et al., 2021). The crystallization that occurs in the membrane due to the temperature change, especially between 5 °C and -5 °C, damages the sperm cells during the freezing process, (Said et al., 2010). Moreover, these phase changes in the membrane cause changes in the amount and kinetics of the enzymes in the membrane, resulting in a decrease in sperm viability and plasma membrane integrity (Gürler et al., 2016). Antioxidant and oxidant balance during and after sperm freezing is vital for sperm survival and function. Antioxidant structures protect cells against sperm dysfunction and developing peroxidative damage (Alvarez et al., 1983; Bilodeau et al., 2000,

Bilodeau et al., 2001, Arslan et al., 2019). As a result of the deterioration of the stabilization of the sperm membrane, the antioxidant - oxidant balance of the cells is disrupted and oxidative stress damages occur (Watson, 1995; Watson, 2000; Gürler et al., 2016).

2. The Usage of Antioxidants and Cryoprotectants

Antioxidant agents and cryoprotectants have recently started to be used in sperm extenders against the decrease in sperm quality parameters (motility, plasma membrane and acrosome integrity, acrosome reaction, vitality, DNA break, lipid peroxidation, total antioxidant capacity) (Maxwell and Watson 1996; Gadea et al., 2004; Bucak et al., 2007; Bucak and Uysal 2008; Amini et al., 2019; Arslan et al., 2019). Sperm cells are equilibrated with the cryoprotectants contained in the extender before the freezing process. Because they must be stabilized intracellularly. It has been observed that they are based on two bases when the mechanisms of action of cryoprotectants are examined; These additives reduce the number of ions in the environment and increase the amount of the unfrozen fraction. Furthermore, structural and molecular cryoprotectants have two basic properties. These have low molecular weight and create toxic effects only when they are added at high rates, respectively (Palasz and Mapletopt 1996). To reduce the toxicity of cryoprotectants; applications such as using low amounts in the extender, shortening the exposure time of sperm cells (incubation/equilibrium) and using non-permeable cryoprotectants should be done (Massip 2001). The cryoprotectants used in the extender as a preservative are biochemically divided into two main groups. They are divided into permeable and non-permeable. For those with permeable cryoprotectant properties; examples include glycerol, ethylene glycol, formamide, and dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO). Permeable ones show their effects by penetrating the cell membrane as they are permeable and 'colligative'. The working mechanism of cryoprotectants, which are in permeable structure, is as follows; they minimize the osmotic shrinkage caused by low temperatures, reduce the electrolyte density formed in the environment during the cryopreservation process, and regulate the dehydration that will occur during the freezing process and create protection in the protein structures of the sperm (Mcgann 1978; Leeuw et al., 1993; Holt, 2000a).

3. Use of Glycerol, Trehalose and Antioxidant Substances in Semen Extenders Glycerol, which is widely used in sperm extenders and provides high success; It is a hydrophilic polyol compound. One of the main reasons that glycerol is successful in the freezing process, as the C/OH ratio is equal in biochemical structure. However, glycerol creates a toxic effect above a certain concentration in diluents. These effects are as follows; they cause osmotic stress and

change the membrane bioenergy balance (Katkov et al., 1998; Woods et al., 2000; Alveranga et al., 2005). The toxic effect of glycerol is species-specific, it can irritate in the female genital tract when used in extenders of rabbit, fish and poultry semen. This irritation can have a contraceptive effect (preventing fertilization and pregnancy) in sperm fertilization. The glycerol used in the extender has threshold values for animal species. This threshold value is 4-5% in stallion sperm, 4-8% in ruminants, 5% in bucks, 3% in pigs and 1.75% in mice. Toxic effects can be seen when these threshold values are exceeded. Especially these toxic effects can change the membrane structure, protein and glycoprotein structures. In addition to these, decreases may occur in mitochondrial membrane potential due to the toxic effect, and serious declines may be observed in total and progressive motility. Also, these undesirable effects have been reported to cause irreversible damage to the acrosomal region of the sperm (Hammerstedt et al., 1990; Sinha et al., 1996; Katkov et al., 1998; Morrell and Hodge 1998; Holt, 2000b; Alvarenga et al., 2000). External cryoprotectants used in the extender try to reduce the peroxidative damage (lipid peroxidation) that occurs during freezing/thawing in the cell. Because these structures provide the cell membrane to gain a flexible structure. These external cryoprotectants cause increased membrane permeability to cations. If these structures are used in the diluent, a low rate of permeable cryoprotectant (glycerol, ethylene glycol, etc.) is used, and as a result of this process, the toxic effects of internal cryoprotectants will be minimized (Arav et al., 1993; Cabria et al., 2001). Another substance used as an external cryoprotectant in sperm extenders is trehalose. As a biochemical structure, it is a disaccharide compound and is formed by the bonding of two D-glucose molecules (Richards et al., 2002). The working mechanism of trehalose is not known exactly. However, they penetrate the sperm plasma membrane and expand the surface area by forming hydrogen bonds with the polar head groups of the phospholipids in this region during freezing/thawing. It is also thought that they act as a buffer and exert an osmotic protective effect and reduce the release of free oxygen radicals formed during freezing (Mcwilliams et al., 1995; Gao and Crister 2000; Aisen et al., 2005; Purdy 2006). Studies conducted in recent years have shown that the use of trehalose in mammalian sperm extenders and the endof-solution quality parameters of sperm have increased. These are, respectively, increasing sperm motility, plasma membrane and acrosome integrity, protecting the total antioxidant capacity and reducing the lipid peroxidation that occurs (Aisen et al. 2000, 2002; Aboagla and Terada 2003; Bucak et al. 2007). Cryoprotective agents are known to have an indirect and direct effect on the fertility of frozen thawed semen. Due to the contraceptive effects of structures such as glycerol, it should be added to diluents in lower amounts and supplemented with trehalose to freeze sperm cells. Antioxidant additives must be added to the extender to achieve high sperm fertility (Hammerstedt

1993; Purdy 2006; Bucak et al., 2021). Since oxidative stress damage (superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radicals, etc.) is thought to minimize and increase the total antioxidant capacity of semen due to lipid peroxidation that develops during freezing and thawing. However, the release of ROS products at the basal level is a positive effect on sperm fertility (for spermatozoa fusogenetics and necessary membrane lubrication). For this reason, it is not desired to eliminate ROS products in the environment and to increase the total antioxidant capacity excessively (Sies 1993). Classical extenders such as Trisegg yolk, which are not commercial preparations and prepared by enterprises and laboratories, are also very sensitive to freezing damage due to the presence of traces and/or low antioxidants (Parrish et al., 1986). Antioxidant agents minimize cold shock damage, prevent intracellular crystal formation and have a protective effect against decrystallization and destabilization of the developing plasma membrane during solution. For this purpose, one of the additives with high antioxidant properties, which is extremely new today; it is thought to have a positive effect on the freezing of livestock animal sperm by adding Knockout Serum Replacement (KSR) and Rho-associated coiled coil kinases (ROCK). Also, these additives could increase motility values and mitochondrial membrane potential, reduce plasma membrane acrosome integrity damage, protect sperm viability and DNA integrity, suppress apoptosis and activate antioxidant response signalling pathways. For this, it is of great importance to use additional doses with an optimum effect so that antioxidants do not have a toxic effect on semen and adversely affect sperm fertility (Alvarez and Storey 1984; Aitken and Baker, 2004; Uysal et al., 2005; Bucak et al., 2007).

4. Knockout Serum Replacement

Knouckout Serum Replacement (KSR) is a rich source of antioxidants, vitamins, proteins, amino acids and trace elements. Recent studies have shown that it is a necessary serum substitute for mammalian cell survival, growth and development in vitro (Sato et al., 2011; Aoshima et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2016, Taher-Mofrad et al., 2020). In addition, the use of KSR, which has an antioxidant effect, in the cryopreservation of different cell types has been reported and positive results have been obtained (Lee et al., 2014; Ha et al., 2016; Park et al., 2018). KSR provides activation of a protein structure, AKT (Protein Kinase B), as a working mechanism. AKT enables the glucose transport protein (GLUT-4) in the cell cytosol to move towards the plasma membrane and allows glucose, which is its main task here, to enter the cell (Ishii et al., 2015). In addition, KSR BIM (BCL 2-like protein 11) inhibits cytochrome C (electron-carrying structures for oxidative phosphorylation) originating from and secreted by mitochondria, positively affecting cell viability and preventing apoptosis (Ishii et al., 2015). Studies have shown that KSR stimulates the formation of BIM-resistant mitochondria and KSR has a direct and indirect effect on the energy pathways of the cell (Ishii et al., 2015). Adding 10% KSR to the extender had a positive effect on sperm acrosome and DNA integrity (Taher-Mofrad et al., 2020).

5. Rho-Associated Coiled-Coil Kinase (ROCK)

The Rho-associated coiled coil is a small G protein that mediates and/or transports intracellular signaling mechanisms. One of the effectors of this material is the Rho-associated helix-helix kinase (ROCK) (Ark et al., 2010; Karaşör et al., 2022). ROCKs have a multifunctional effect on the cell. It has numerous effects on cell cycle regulation, increased motility, regulation of actin dynamics that cause cell invasion, cell adhesion, migration, and inflammatory response (Ark et al., 2010; Schofield et al., 2012). ROCKs exert their primary inhibitory effects in the phagocytosis of apoptotic (programmed death of cells) cells because ROCKs act as complementary receptors in cell phagocytosis. Cells producing apoptosis need mature phagosomes to be cleared by fibroblasts and/or macrophages. This maturation pathway is the Rho-ROCK-ERM pathway (Tosello- Trampont et al., 2003; Erwig et al., 2006). The addition of 10, 20, and 40 μ M ROCK to

frozen-thawed cat sperm had a positive effect on sperm motility and membrane function.

In a study conducted on cats, the best sperm quality parameters were obtained with the addition of 10 μ M ROCK (Tharasanit et al., 2020). Studies have shown that ROCKs contribute to increasing the in vitro fertilization ability of sperm cells (Tharasanit et al., 2020).

6. Conclusion

In the light of literature studies, successful freezing of sperms that are difficult to freeze will be achieved with future studies. In addition, it will be possible to benefit from reducing the number of spermatozoa used in insemination doses and benefiting from the breeders at the highest level.

BSJ Agri / Halil Ozancan ARSLAN et al.

Author Contributions

The percentage of the author(s) contributions is present below. All authors reviewed and approved final version of the manuscript.

	H.O.A.	E.K.	B.R.	D.A.A.	A.S.	0.B.	A.A.	M.R.	I.A.
С	20	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
D	20	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
S	20	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
L	20	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
W	20	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
CR	20	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
SR	20	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10

C=Concept, D= design, S= supervision, DCP= data collection and/or processing, DAI= data analysis and/or interpretation, L= literature search, W= writing, CR= critical review, SR= submission and revision, PM= project management, FA= funding acquisition.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declared that there is no conflict of interest.

References

- Aboagla EME, Terada T. 2003. Trehalose-enhanced fluidity of the goat sperm membrane and its protection during freezing. Biol Reprod, 69: 1245-1250.
- Aisen EG, Alvarez HI, Venturino A, Gadre JJ. 2000. Effect of trehalose and EDTA on cryoprotective action of ram semen diluents. Theriogenology, 53: 1053-1061.
- Aisen EG, Medina VH, Venturino A. 2002. Cryopreservation and post-thawed fertility of ram semen frozen in different trehalose concentrations. Theriogenology, 57: 1801-1808.
- Aisen EG, Quintana M, Medina V, Morello H, Venturino A. 2005. Ultramicroscopic and biochemical changes in ram spermatozoa cryopreserved with trehalose-based hypertonic extenders. Cryobiol, 50: 239-249.
- Aitken RJ, Baker MA. 2004. Oxidative stress and male reproductive biology. Reprod Fertil Dev, 16: 581-588.
- Alvarenga MA, Papa FO, Landim-Alvarenga FC, Medeiros A.SL. 2005. Amides as cryoprotectants for freezing stallion semen. Anim Reprod Sci, 89: 105-113.
- Alvarez JG, Storey BT. 1983. Taurine, hypotaurine, epinephrine and albumin inhibit lipid peroxidation in rabbit spermatozoa and protect against loss of motility. Biol Reprod, 29: 548-555.
- Alvarez JG, Storey BT. 1984. Assessment of cell damage caused by spontaneous lipid peroxidation in rabbit spermatozoa. Biol Reprod, 30: 833-841.
- Amini S, Masoumi R, Rostami B, Shahir MH, Taghilou P, Arslan HO. 2019. Effects of supplementation of Tris-egg yolk extender with royal jelly on chilled and frozen-thawed ram semen characteristics. Cryobiol, 88: 75-80.
- Aoshima K, Baba A, Makino Y, Okada Y. 2013. Establishment of alternative culture method for spermatogonial stem cells using knockout serum replacement. PLoS One, 8(10): e77715.
- Arav A, Hehu D, Mattioli M. 1993. Osmotic and cytotoxic study of vitrification of immature bovine oocytes. J Reprod Fertil, 99: 353-358.
- Ark M, Özdemir A, Polat B. 2010. Ouabain-induced apoptosis and Rho kinase: a novel caspase-2 cleavage site and fragment of Rock-2. Apoptosis, 15(12): 1494-1506.
- Arslan HO, Herrera C, Malama E, Siuda M, Leiding C, Bollwein,H. 2019. Effect of the addition of different catalase

concentrations to a TRIS-egg yolk extender on quality and in vitro fertilization rate of frozen-thawed bull sperm. Cryobiol, 91: 40-52.

- Bilodeau JF, Blanchette S, Gagnon IC, Sirard MA. 2001. Thiols prevent H2O2-mediated loss of spermmotility in cryopreserved bullsemen. Theriogenology, 56: 275-286.
- Bilodeau JF, Chatterjee S, Sirard MA, Gagnon C. 2000. Levels of antioxidant defenses are decreased in bovine spermatozoa after a cycle of freezing and thawing. Mol Reprod Dev, 55: 282-288.
- Bucak MN, Akalın PP, Keskin N, Bodu M, Öztürk AE, İli P, Özkan H, Topraggaleh TR, Arslan HO, Başpınar N, Dursun Ş. 2021. Combination of fetuin and trehalose in presence of low glycerol has beneficial effects on freeze-thawed ram spermatozoa. Andrology, 9(3): 1000-1009.
- Bucak MN, Ateşşahin A, Varışlı Ö, Yüce A, Tekin N, Akçay A. 2007. The influence of trehalose, taurine, cysteamine and hyaluronan on ram semen: Microscopic and oxidative stress parameters after freeze-thawing process. Theriogenology, 60: 1060-1067.
- Bucak MN, Uysal O. 2008. The role of antioxidants in freezing of saanen goat semen. Indian Vet J, 85: 148-150.
- Cabria E, Anel L, Herraez MP. 2001. Effect of external cryoprotectants as membrane stabilizers on cryopreserved rainbow trout sperm. Theriogenology, 52: 623-635.
- Erwig LP, McPhilips KA, Wynes MW, Ivetic A, Ridley AJ, Henson PM. 2006. Differential regulation of phagosome maturation in macrophages and dendritic cells mediated by Rho GTPases and ezrin-radixin-moesin (ERM) proteins. PNAS, 103(34): 12825-12830.
- Gadea J, Selles E, Marco MA, Coy P, Matas C, Romar R, Ruiz S. 2004. Decrease in glutathione content in boar sperm after cryopreservation. Effect of the addition of reduced glutathione to the freezing and thawing extenders. Theriogenology, 62: 690-701.
- Gao DY, Crister JK. 2000. Mechanisms of cryoinjury in living cells. Ilar J, 41: 187-96.
- Griveau JF, Dumont E, Renard P, Callegari JP, Le Lannou D. 1995. Reactive oxygen species, lipid peroxidation and enzymatic defence systems in human spermatozoa. J Reprod Fertil, 103: 17-26.
- Gürler H, Malama E, Heppelmann M, Calisici O, Leiding C, Kastelic JP, Bollwein H. 2016. Effects of cryopreservation on sperm viability, synthesis of reactive oxygen species, and DNA damageof bovine sperm. Theriogenology, 86: 562-571.
- Ha SJ, Kim BG, Lee YA, Kim YH, Kim BJ, Jung SE, Pang MG, Ryu BY. 2016. Effect of antioxidants and apoptosis inhibitors on cryopreservation of murine germ cells enriched for spermatogonial stem cells. PloS One, 11(8): e0161372.
- Hammerstedt RH, Graham JK, Nolan JP. 1990. Cryopreservation of mammalian sperm: what we ask them to survive. J Androl, 11(1): 73-88.
- Holmes RP, Goodman HO, Shihabi ZK, Jarow JP. 1992. The taurine and hypotaurine content of human semen. J Androl, 13: 289-292.
- Holt WT. 2000. Basic aspects of frozen storage of semen. Anim Reprod Sci: 62: 3-22.
- Holt WT. 2000. Fundemental aspects of sperm cryobiology: the importance of species and individual differences. Theriogenology, 53: 47-58.
- Ishii Y, Nhiayi MK, Tse E, Cheng J, Massimino M, Durden DL, Vigneri P, Wang J. Y. 2015. Knockout serum replacement promotes cell survival by preventing BIM from inducing mitochondrial cytochrome C release. PloS one, 10(10): e0140585.

- Karaşör ÖF, Bucak MN, Cenariu M, Bodu M, Taşpınar M, Taşpınar F. 2022. The effects of different doses of ROCK inhibitor, antifreeze protein III, and boron added to semen extender on semen freezeability of Ankara bucks. Molecul, 27(22): 8070.
- Katkov II, Katkova N, Crister JK, Mazur P. 1998. Mouse spermatozoa in high concentrations of glycerol: chemical toxicity vs osmotic shock at normal and reduced oxygen concentrations. Cryobiol, 37: 325-338.
- Keles E, Malama E, Bozukova S, Siuda M, Wyck S, Witschi U, Bollwein H. 2021. The micro-RNA content of unsorted cryopreserved bovine sperm and its relation to the fertility of sperm after sex-sorting. BMC Genom, 22(1): 1-19.
- Khan A, Khan RU, Qureshi MS, Mobashar M, Gohar A, Ahmad S, Naz, S. 2021. Effects of different equilibration times on postthaw cryopreserved semen quality of cattle and buffalo bulls. Pakistan J Zool, 53(2): 613-618.
- Lee YA, Kim YH, Ha SJ, Kim BJ, Kim KJ, Jung MS, Kim GB, Ryu BY. 2014. Effect of sugar molecules on the cryopreservation of mouse spermatogonial stem cells. Fertil Steril, 101(4): 1165-1175.
- Leeuw FED, Leeuw AMD, Daas JHG, Colenbrander BV, Erkleij AJ. 1993. Effects of various cryoprotective agents and membranestabilizing compounds on bull sperm membrane integrity after cooling and freezing. Cryobiol, 30: 32-44.
- Massip A. 2001. Cryopreservation of embryos of farm animal. Reprod Dom Anim, 36: 49-55.
- Maxwell WMC, Watson PF. 1996. Recent progress in the preservation of ram semen. Anim Reprod Sci, 42: 55-65.
- Mcgann LE. 1978. Differing action of penetrating and nonpenetrating agents. Cryobiol, 15: 382-390.
- Mcwilliams RB, Gibbons WE, Leibo SP. 1995. Osmotic and physiological responses zygotes and human oocytes to monoand disaccharides. Hum Reprod, 10: 1163-1171.
- Meister A, Anderson ME. 1983. Glutathione. Annu Rev Biochem, 52: 11-60.
- Morrell JM, Hodge JK. 1998. Cryopreservation of non-human primate sperm: priorities for future research. Anim Reprod Sci, 53: 43-63.
- Palasz AT, Mapletopt RJ. 1996. Cryopreservation of mammalian embryos and oocytes: recent advances. Biotechnol Adv, 14: 127-149.
- Park S, Lee DR, Nam JS, Ahn CW, Kim H. 2018. Fetal bovine serum-free cryopreservation methods for clinical banking of human adipose-derived stem cells. Cryobiol, 81: 65-73.
- Parrish JJ, Susko-Parrish JL, Leibfried-Rutledge ML, Criester ES, Eyestone WH, First NL. 1986. Bovine in vitro fertilization with frozen-thawed semen. Theriogenology, 25: 591-600.
- Purdy PH. 2006. A review on goat sperm cryopreservation. Small Rum Res, 63: 215-225.
- Richards AB, Krakowka S, Dexter LB, Schmid H, Wolterbeek APM, Waalkens-Berendsen DH, Shigoyuki A, Kurimoto M. 2002. Trehalose: a review of prpoperties, history of use and

human tolerance, and results of multiple safety studies. Food Chem Toxicol, 40: 871-898.

- Said TM, Gaglani A, Agarwal A. 2010. Sperm kriyoinjury apoptoz etkisi. Üreme Biyotıbbı, 21 (4): 456-462.
- Sato T, Katagiri K, Gohbara A, Inoue K, Ogonuki N, Ogura A, Kubota Y, Ogawa T. 2011. In vitro production of functional sperm in cultured neonatal mouse testes. Nature, 471(7339): 504-507.
- Schofield AV, Steel R, Bernard O. 2012. Rho-associated coiledcoil kinase (ROCK) protein controls microtubule dynamics in a novel signaling pathway that regulates cell migration. J Biol Chem, 287(52): 43620-43629.
- Sies H. 1993. Strategies of antioxidant defence. Eur J Biochem, 215: 213-219.
- Sinha MP, Sinha AK, Singh BK, Prasad RL. 1996. The effect of glutathione on the motility, enzyme leakage and fertility of frozen goat semen. Anim Reprod Sci, 41(3-4): 237-243.
- Taher-Mofrad SMJ, Topraggaleh TR, Ziarati N, Bucak MN, Nouri M, Seifi S, Esmaeilli V, Rahimizadeh P, Shahverdi A. 2020. Knockout serum replacement is an efficient serum substitute for cryopreservation of human spermatozoa. Cryobiol, 92: 208-214.
- Tharasanit T, Tiptanavattana N, Oravetdilok K, Tuangsintanakul T, Sirithanyakul P, Tanvetthayanont P. 2020. Optimal concentration of Rho-associated coiled-coil kinase (ROCK) inhibitor improved sperm membrane functionality and fertilizing ability of cryopreserved-thawed feline sperm. Theriogenology, 144: 27-32.
- Tosello-Trampont AC, Nakada-Tsukui K, Ravichandran KS. 2003. Engulfment of apoptotic cells is negatively regulated by Rhomediated Signaling. J Biol Chem, 278: 49911–49919
- Uysal O, Bucak MN, Yavaş İ, Varışlı Ö, Gürcan IS. 2005. Evaluation of ram Sperm frozen with various taurine concentrations. Indian Vet J, 82: 1059-1061.
- Watson PF. 1995. Recent developments and concepts in the cryopreservation of spermatozoa and the assessment of their post-thawing function. Reprod Fertil Dev, 7: 871-891.
- Watson PF. 2000. The causes of reduced fertility with cryopreserved semen. Anim Reprod Sci, 60: 481-492.
- Wolf DE, Voglmayr JK. 1984. Diffusion and regionalization in membranes of maturing ram spermatozoa. J Cell Biol, 98(5): 1678-1684.
- Woods EJ, Gilmore JA, Liu J. 2000. Cryoprotective agent and temperature effects on human sperm membrane permeabilities: convergence of theoretical and empirical approaches for optimal cryopreservation methods. Hum Reprod, 15: 335-343.
- Zhang S, Liu Z, Su G, Wu H. 2016. Comparative analysis of knockout[™] serum with fetal bovine serum for the in vitro long-term culture of human limbal epithelial cells. J Ophthalmol, 2016: 7304812.